CALIFORNIA BOARD OF ACCOUNTANCY
PUBLIC MEETING NOTICE FOR THE COMMITTEE ON PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT AND
CALIFORNIA BOARD OF ACCOUNTANCY MEETINGS
California Board of Accountancy
2450 Venture Oaks Way, Suite 420
Sacramento, CA 95833
Telephone: (916) 263-3680
Committee on Professional Conduct Meeting
Thursday, September 22, 2022, 9:00 a.m.
California Board of Accountancy Meeting
Thursday, September 22, 2022, 10:00 a.m.
Or Upon Adjournment of the Committee on Professional Conduct Meeting
California Board of Accountancy Meeting
Friday, September 23, 2022, 9:00 a.m. until adjournment
The California Board of Accountancy will hold a public meeting via in-person and
WebEx pursuant to the provisions of Government Code section 11133.
Enclosed for your information is a copy of the agendas for the Committee on
Professional Conduct and California Board of Accountancy meetings on
September 22-23, 2022.
The Committee and California Board of Accountancy meetings will commence at 9:00
a.m. or later. The order, start times, or both, of the Committee on Professional Conduct
meeting and the California Board of Accountancy meeting are subject to change without
notice. Agenda items may be discussed and action taken out of order at the discretion
of the California Board of Accountancy President or Committee Chair for convenience,
to accommodate speakers, or to maintain a quorum. Identified presenters are subject to
change.
INSTRUCTIONS FOR PARTICIPATING VIRTUALLY:
If joining the Thursday, September 22, 2022 meetings by computer:
Event address for attendees: https://dca-meetings.webex.com/dcameetings/j.php?MTID=m6bc93cf837518c6a0f78b5fe4c4a6b39
If joining using the link above
Webinar number: 2482 035 7088
Webinar password: CBA09222022
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Join by phone
+1-415-655-0001 US Toll
Access code: 248 203 57088
Passcode: 22209222
If joining the Friday, September 23, 2022 meeting by computer:
Event address for attendees: https://dca-meetings.webex.com/dcameetings/j.php?MTID=m1f106e0c63c91332a7b45afa5cea5fc5
If joining using the link above
Webinar number: 2489 627 6264
Webinar password: CBA09232022
If joining by phone
+1-415-655-0001 US Toll
Access code: 248 962 76264
Passcode: 22209232
Instructions on how to observe and participate in the meeting using the WebEx platform
can be found on the California Board of Accountancy’s website.
Members of the public may, but are not obligated to, provide their names or personal
information as a condition of observing or participating in the meeting. When signing
into the WebEx platform, participants may be asked for their name and email address.
Participants who choose not to provide their names will be required to provide a unique
identifier, such as their initials or another alternative, so that the meeting moderator can
identify individuals who wish to make a public comment. Participants who choose not to
provide their email address may utilize a fictitious email address in the following sample
format: XXXXX@mailinator.com.
Public comments will be limited to five minutes per person unless, in the discretion of
the California Board of Accountancy President or Committee Chair, circumstances
require a shorter period. Members of the public will not be permitted to "yield" their
allotted time to other members of the public to make comments.
Click here for information on how to interact and participate during a public meeting.
The meetings are accessible to individuals who are physically disabled. A person who needs a disability-related
accommodation or modification in order to participate in the meeting may make a request by contacting Rebecca
Reed at (916) 561-1716, or email rebecca.reed@cba.ca.gov, or send a written request to the California Board of
Accountancy at 2450 Venture Oaks Way, Suite 300, Sacramento, CA 95833. Providing your request at least five (5)
business days before the meeting will help to ensure availability of the requested accommodation.

CBA MISSION: To protect consumers by ensuring only qualified licensees practice
public accountancy in accordance with established professional standards.
CALIFORNIA BOARD OF ACCOUNTANCY
COMMITTEE ON PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT
MEETING AGENDA
Thursday, September 22, 2022
9:00 a.m. until Adjournment
California Board of Accountancy
2450 Venture Oaks Way, Suite 420
Sacramento, CA 95833
Telephone: (916) 263-3680
Important Notice to the Public
All times indicated, other than those identified as “time certain,” are approximate and subject to
change. Action may be taken on any item on the agenda. Agenda items may be discussed
and action taken out of order at the discretion of the Committee on Professional Conduct
Committee Chair for convenience, to accommodate speakers, or to maintain a quorum.
Identified presenters are subject to change. The meeting may be canceled without notice. For
verification of the meeting, call (916) 263-3680 or access the California Board of Accountancy’s
website.

Call to Order, Roll Call, Establishment of Quorum, and Opening Remarks
(Zuhdia “Dee Dee” Owens, CPA, Chair).
Agenda Item
I.

Public Comments for Items Not on the Agenda.*

II.

Approve Minutes of the July 21, 2022 Committee on
Professional Conduct Meeting.

CBA Item #

XI.B.

Agenda Item

CBA Item #

III.

Discussion and Possible Action to Initiate a Rulemaking to
Amend California Code of Regulations, Title 16, Sections 6 –
Examination Required, Passing Grades, Provisions for
Disabled Applicants, 7.1 – Credit Status for the Computerized
Uniform CPA Examination, 8.2 – Requirements for Issuance
of the Authorization to Test, 9.2 – Education Required Under
Business and Professions Code Sections 5092 and 5093, and
13 – Applicants Who Applied for the Examination Prior to May
12, 2002, and to Add California Code of Regulations, Title 16,
Sections 7.3 – Transition to Core Plus Discipline Uniform CPA
Examination and 9.3 – Early Admission to the Uniform CPA
Examination Under Business and Professions Code Section
5093.5 (Michelle Center, Chief, Licensing Division).

IV.

Discussion and Possible Action to Initiate a Rulemaking to
Add California Code of Regulations, Title 16, Section 54.3 –
Sale or Transfer of Licensee’s Practice and 54.4 –
Discontinuance of Licensee’s Practice (Dominic Franzella,
Chief, Enforcement Division).

V.

Agenda Items for Next Meeting.

XIII.A.2.

XIII.A.3.

Adjournment.
In accordance with the Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act, all meetings of the California Board of Accountancy are open to the public.
While the California Board of Accountancy intends to webcast this meeting, it may not be possible to webcast the entire open
meeting due to limitations on resources or technical difficulties.
*Government Code section 11125.7 provides the opportunity for the public to address each agenda item during discussion or
consideration by the Committee on Professional Conduct prior to the Committee on Professional Conduct taking any action on said
item. Members of the public will be provided appropriate opportunities to comment on any issue before the Committee on
Professional Conduct, but the Committee on Professional Conduct Chair may, at their discretion, apportion available time among
those who wish to speak. Individuals may appear before the Committee on Professional Conduct to discuss items not on the
agenda; however, the Committee on Professional Conduct can neither discuss nor take official action on these items at the time of
the same meeting (Government Code sections 11125, 11125.7(a)).
California Board of Accountancy members who are not members of the Committee on Professional Conduct may be attending the
meeting. However, if a majority of members of the full board are present at the Committee on Professional Conduct meeting,
members who are not Committee on Professional Conduct members may attend the meeting only as observers.
The meeting is accessible to individuals who are physically disabled. A person who needs a disability-related accommodation or
modification in order to participate in the meeting may make a request by contacting Rebecca Reed at (916) 561-1716, or email
rebecca.reed@cba.ca.gov, or send a written request to the California Board of Accountancy at 2450 Venture Oaks Way, Suite 300,
Sacramento, CA 95833. Providing your request at least five (5) business days before the meeting will help to ensure availability of
the requested accommodation.
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CBA MISSION: To protect consumers by ensuring only qualified licensees practice
public accountancy in accordance with established professional standards.
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS
CALIFORNIA BOARD OF ACCOUNTANCY
Revised
MEETING AGENDA
Thursday, September 22, 2022, 10:00 a.m.
Or Upon Adjournment of the
Committee on Professional Conduct Meeting
Friday, September 23, 2022
9:00 a.m. until Adjournment
California Board of Accountancy
2450 Venture Oaks Way, Suite 420
Sacramento, CA 95833
Telephone: (916) 263-3680
Important Notice to the Public
All times indicated, other than those identified as “time certain,” are approximate and subject to
change. Action may be taken on any item on the agenda. Agenda items may be discussed
and action taken out of order at the discretion of the California Board of Accountancy President
for convenience, to accommodate speakers, or to maintain a quorum. Identified presenters are
subject to change. The meeting may be canceled without notice. For verification of the meeting,
call (916) 263-3680 or access the California Board of Accountancy’s website.
Thursday,
September 22,
2022

Call to Order, Roll Call, Establishment of Quorum, and Opening
Remarks (Michael M. Savoy, CPA, President).
Agenda Item

10:00 a.m. –
10:05 a.m.

I. Public Comments for Items Not on the Agenda.*

10:05 a.m. –
11:30 a.m.

II. Report of the President.
A. Discussion of the Process for Annual Officer Elections.

Agenda Item
B. Discussion of the Process for the Annual Executive Officer Evaluation.
C. Discussion and Possible Action Regarding California Board of
Accountancy Meeting Locations and a Change to the July 2023
Meeting Date (Deanne Pearce, Assistant Executive Officer).
D. Overview of Process for Review of Exposure Drafts (Deanne Pearce,
Assistant Executive Officer).
E. Discussion and Possible Action on the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants Exposure Draft on Maintaining the Relevance of the
Uniform CPA Examination – Aligning the Exam With the CPA Evolution
Licensure Model (Michelle Center, Chief, Licensing Division).
F. Presentation Regarding the Process the National Association of State
Boards of Accountancy Uses for Approving Mutual Recognition
Agreements (Patricia Hartman, Director of Client Services, National
Association of State Boards of Accountancy).
G. Discussion and Possible Action Regarding Reviewing Applicants’
Recent Peer Review Ratings as a Condition of
Appointment/Reappointment to Serve on a California Board of
Accountancy Advisory Committee (Dominic Franzella, Chief,
Enforcement Division).
H. California Board of Accountancy 2022 Legislative Tracking Chart, 2022
Legislative Calendar, and Considerations for Taking Positions on
Legislation (Patrick Ibarra, Information and Planning Officer).
I. Update, Discussion, and Possible Action on Legislation Which the
California Board of Accountancy Has Taken a Position (Patrick Ibarra,
Information and Planning Officer).
1. Assembly Bill 1604 – Civil Service: The Upward Mobility Act of
2022.
2. Senate Bill 731 – Criminal Records: Relief.
3. Senate Bill 1387 – Gubernatorial Appointments: Report.
4. Senate Bill 1443 – The Department of Consumer Affairs.
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Agenda Item
J. Discussion and Possible Action to Modify the Composition of the
Consideration of the CPA Experience Requirements Taskforce and
Confirmation of Appointment.
K. Department of Consumer Affairs Director’s Report on Departmental
Activities (Representative, Department of Consumer Affairs).
11:30 a.m. –
11:40 a.m.

III. Report of the Vice President (Michael M. Savoy, CPA, President).
A. Recommendations for Appointment(s)/Reappointment(s) to the
Enforcement Advisory Committee.
B. Recommendations for Appointment(s)/Reappointment(s) to the
Qualifications Committee.
C. Recommendations for Appointment(s)/Reappointment(s) to the Peer
Review Oversight Committee.
IV. Report of the Secretary/Treasurer (Yen Tu, Secretary/Treasurer).
There is no report on this agenda item.

11:40 a.m. –
12:00 p.m.

V. Report of the Executive Officer (Patti Bowers, Executive Officer).
A. Presentation of the California Board of Accountancy Annual Report
(Deanne Pearce, Assistant Executive Officer).
B. Report of the Administration Division (Deanne Pearce, Assistant
Executive Officer).
C. Update on the California Board of Accountancy’s Communications and
Outreach (Patrick Ibarra, Information and Planning Officer).

12:00 p.m. –
12:15 p.m.

VI. Report on the Enforcement Advisory Committee, Qualifications Committee,
and Peer Review Oversight Committee.
A. Enforcement Advisory Committee (Doug Aguilera, CPA, Chair).
There is no report on this agenda item.
B. Qualifications Committee (Michael L. Williams, CPA, Chair).
1. Report of the July 27, 2022 Qualifications Committee Meeting.
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Agenda Item
2. Approval of the 2023 Qualifications Committee Meeting Dates.
C. Peer Review Oversight Committee (Jeffrey De Lyser, CPA, Chair).
1. Report of the August 12, 2022 Peer Review Oversight Committee
Meeting.
2. Approval of the 2023 Peer Review Oversight Committee Meeting
Dates.
12:15 p.m. –
12:30 p.m.

VII. Report of the Enforcement Chief (Dominic Franzella, Chief,
Enforcement Division).
A. Enforcement Activity Report.

12:30 p.m. –
1:30 p.m.
1:30 p.m.
Time Certain

Lunch.
VIII. Petition Hearings.
A. Yongmei Hu, Unlicensed – Petition for Admission to the Uniform
Certified Public Accountant Examination.
B. Soheil Rabbani, CPA 89562/Rabbani, Inc. Certified Public Accountants,
COR 5801 – Petition for Reduction of Penalty and Reinstatement of
Restricted Area of Practice.
IX. Closed Session: Pursuant to Government Code Section 11126(c)(3), the
California Board of Accountancy will Convene into Closed Session to
Deliberate on the Petitions.
Recess until September 23, 2022.

Friday,
September 23,
2022
9:00 a.m. –
9:15 a.m.

Call to Order, Roll Call, Establishment of Quorum, and Opening
Remarks (Michael M. Savoy, CPA, President).
X. Report of the Licensing Chief (Michelle Center, Chief, Licensing
Division).
A. Licensing Activity Report.

9:15 a.m. –
9:25 a.m.

XI. Meeting Minutes (Michael M. Savoy, CPA, President).
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Agenda Item
A. Adoption of the Minutes of the July 21, 2022 California Board of
Accountancy Meeting.
B. Acceptance of the Minutes of the July 21, 2022 Committee on
Professional Conduct Meeting.
C. Acceptance of the Minutes of the May 19, 2022 Consideration of the
CPA Experience Requirements Taskforce Meeting.
D. Acceptance of the Minutes of the January 26, 2022 Qualifications
Committee Meeting.
9:25 a.m. –
9:40 a.m.

XII. Other Business.
A. American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
1. Report on Meetings of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants Attended by a California Board of Accountancy
Representative.
a. Board of Examiners (Katrina L. Salazar, CPA).
b. State Board Committee (Katrina L. Salazar, CPA).
B. National Association of State Boards of Accountancy.
1. Report of the National Association of State Boards of Accountancy
Director-at-Large (Katrina L. Salazar, CPA).
2. Report of the National Association of State Boards of Accountancy
Pacific Regional Director (Nancy J. Corrigan, CPA).
3. Report on Activities of Meetings of the National Association of State
Boards of Accountancy Attended by a California Board of
Accountancy Member.
a. Continuing Professional Education Committee
(Katrina L. Salazar, CPA, Chair).
b. Computer-Based Test Administration Committee
(Nancy J. Corrigan, CPA, Chair).
c. Relations With Member Boards Committee
(Nancy J. Corrigan, CPA).
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Agenda Item

4. Discussion and Approval of Staff Responses to the National
Association of State Boards of Accountancy’s Focus Questions
(Deanne Pearce, Assistant Executive Officer).
9:40 a.m. –
10:10 a.m.

XIII. Report on the Committee on Professional Conduct and Consideration of
the CPA Experience Requirements Taskforce.
A. Committee on Professional Conduct (Zuhdia “Dee Dee” Owens, CPA,
Chair).
1. Report of the September 22, 2022 Committee on Professional
Conduct Meeting.
2. Discussion and Possible Action to Initiate a Rulemaking to Amend
California Code of Regulations, Title 16, Sections 6 – Examination
Required, Passing Grades, Provisions for Disabled Applicants, 7.1 –
Credit Status for the Computerized Uniform CPA Examination, 8.2 –
Requirements for Issuance of the Authorization to Test, 9.2 –
Education Required Under Business and Professions Code
Sections 5092 and 5093, and 13 – Applicants Who Applied for the
Examination Prior to May 12, 2002, and to Add California Code of
Regulations, Title 16, Sections 7.3 – Transition to Core Plus
Discipline Uniform CPA Examination and 9.3 – Early Admission to
the Uniform CPA Examination Under Business and Professions
Code Section 5093.5.
3. Discussion and Possible Action to Initiate a Rulemaking to Add
California Code of Regulations, Title 16, Section 54.3 –Sale or
Transfer of Licensee’s Practice and 54.4 – Discontinuance of
Licensee’s Practice.
B. Consideration of the CPA Experience Requirements Taskforce
(Karriann Farrell Hinds, Esq., Vice Chair).
1. Report of the September 15, 2022 Consideration of the CPA
Experience Requirements Taskforce Meeting.

10:10 a.m. –
10:20 a.m.

XIV. Closing Business (Michael M. Savoy, CPA, President).
A. Agenda Items for Future California Board of Accountancy Meetings.
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Agenda Item
10:20 a.m. –
11:30 a.m.

XV. Closed Session: Pursuant to Government Code Section 11126(e), the
California Board of Accountancy Will Convene into Closed Session to
Receive Advice From Legal Counsel on Litigation.
A. Lanfeng Zhao and ELZ Accountancy Corporation v. California Board of
Accountancy, Los Angeles Superior Court, Case No. 18STCP02951.
B. Michael D. Robinson v. California Board of Accountancy, San
Francisco County Superior Court, Case No. CPF-19-516602.
XVI. Closed Session: Pursuant to Government Code Section 11126(c)(3), the
California Board of Accountancy Will Convene into Closed Session to
Deliberate on Enforcement Matters.
Adjournment.

In accordance with the Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act, all meetings of the California Board of Accountancy
are open to the public. While the California Board of Accountancy intends to webcast this meeting, it may not
be possible to webcast the entire open meeting due to limitations on resources or technical difficulties.
*Government Code section 11125.7 provides the opportunity for the public to address each agenda item during
discussion or consideration by the California Board of Accountancy prior to the California Board of Accountancy
taking any action on said item. Members of the public will be provided appropriate opportunities to comment on
any issue before the California Board of Accountancy, but the California Board of Accountancy President may,
at their discretion, apportion available time among those who wish to speak. Individuals may appear before the
California Board of Accountancy to discuss items not on the agenda; however, the California Board of
Accountancy can neither discuss nor take official action on these items at the time of the same meeting
(Government Code sections 11125, 11125.7(a)).
The meeting is accessible to individuals who are physically disabled. A person who needs a disability-related
accommodation or modification in order to participate in the meeting may make a request by contacting
Rebecca Reed at (916) 561-1716, or email rebecca.reed@cba.ca.gov, or send a written request to the
California Board of Accountancy at 2450 Venture Oaks Way, Suite 300, Sacramento, CA 95833. Providing your
request at least five (5) business days before the meeting will help to ensure availability of the requested
accommodation.
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CBA Item II.A.
September 22-23, 2022

Discussion of the Process for Annual Officer Elections
Presented by: Michael M. Savoy, CPA, President
Purpose of the Item

The purpose of this agenda item is to provide information to the California Board of
Accountancy (CBA) regarding the annual officer election process for President, Vice
President, and Secretary/Treasurer.

Consumer Protection Objectives

Annually electing a President, Vice President, and Secretary/Treasurer assists the CBA
in ensuring it meets its statutory mandate of consumer protection.

Action(s) Needed

Action is only needed by those CBA members who wish to be considered for an officer
position.

Background

The process for the election of officers and a detailed listing of applicable duties is
outlined in the CBA Member Guidelines and Procedures Manual, pages 5-7
(Attachment).

Comments

Each November, the CBA elects a President, Vice President, and Secretary/Treasurer.
CBA members who wish to be considered for a leadership position are encouraged to
submit a one-page Statement of Qualifications to the Board Relations Analyst,
Rebecca Reed, by email at rebecca.reed@cba.ca.gov on or before October 7, 2022.
The Statements of Qualifications will be included in the November 2022 CBA meeting
materials, as part of an agenda item.
At the November 2022 CBA meeting, the CBA President will provide an opportunity for
additional candidates for the officer positions to express their interest. All candidates
may be given up to five minutes of floor time to describe why they are qualified for the
position.

Discussion of the Process for Annual Officer Elections
Page 2 of 2
Please note that the President, Vice President and Secretary/Treasurer each serve oneyear terms, and may not serve more than two consecutive terms.

Fiscal/Economic Impact Considerations

There are no fiscal/economic impact considerations.

Recommendation

Staff do not have a recommendation on this agenda item.

Attachment

Excerpt from CBA Member Guidelines and Procedures Manual

Attachment

California Board of Accountancy

CBA Member
Guidelines and Procedures
Manual

Updated
January 2022
AMENDMENTS TO THE GUIDELINES AND PROCEDURES MANUAL
Formerly: BOARD OPERATIONS MANUAL
September 30, 1994
March 15, 1995
June 10, 1997
November 21, 1997
January 23, 1998
March 21, 1998
January 26, 2001
January 1, 2003
April 1, 2004

Revised and Restated
January, 2010

Amendments to the Guidelines and Procedures Manual
July 2012
January 2013
January 2014
January 2015
June 2015
January 2016
December 2016
February 2017
August 2017
January 2018
January 2019
January 2020
January 2021
January 2022

The information provided in this document is for the purpose of providing a general overview of the California Board of
Accountancy guidelines and procedures. It is not intended to cover all topics or issues. The document does not
supersede any statutes, regulations, or case law; and if there is a conflict, the statute, regulation, or case law is
controlling. Further, this does not override legal advice by Department of Consumer Affairs or Attorney General’s
Office.

F.

OFFICERS (Ref. Business & Professions Code §§ 5003, 5004 & 5007).

The officers of the CBA are President, Vice President, and Secretary/Treasurer.

1. Election of Officers.

The process for the election of officers is as follows:
•

•

•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•

•

At the September CBA meeting, the President shall inform members that the election
of officers will be held at the November CBA meeting.
Interested candidates are requested to prepare a one-page written summary
outlining their qualifications for the position for which they are applying, which will
serve as a self-nomination. Candidates are limited to being nominated for one officer
position. The summary is to be sent to the Board Relations Analyst by a date
determined by the Executive Officer and CBA President.
The nominations shall be distributed as part of the agenda items for the November
CBA meeting.

At the November CBA meeting, the President shall ask if there are any additional
nominations for the officer positions. Any member who is nominated may be given up
to five minutes of floor time to describe why they are qualified for the position.
After all nominations have been confirmed, the President will close nominations.

The vote for officer positions shall be held in the following order:
Secretary/Treasurer, Vice President, and President.

A roll call vote will be taken for each officer position nominee, starting in alphabetical
order by the candidate’s last name.
Members can vote “Yes,” “No,” or abstain from the vote for each nominee.
The first nominee to receive a majority vote will win the officer position.

In the event none of the nominees receive a majority vote, the voting will continue
until a majority vote is received. To assist in this process, the President may allow
nominees to make a statement regarding their qualifications, within an established
and reasonable time limit.

The President, Vice President, and Secretary/Treasurer serve one-year terms and may
not serve more than two consecutive one-year terms. The newly elected President,
Vice President, and Secretary/Treasurer shall assume the duties of their respective
offices at the conclusion of the meeting at which they were elected.

2. Vacancy.

In the event of a vacancy of the Vice President or Secretary/Treasurer prior to the annual
election of officers, the CBA President shall make an interim appointment to fill the
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3.

vacancy effective until the next election cycle. In the event of a vacancy of the President,
the Vice-President shall become the President.
Duties.

a. President.

The President shall perform general administrative duties, as well as the following:
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

•

Preside over CBA meetings

Approve the agenda and time schedule

Appoint CBA members as Liaison to the Enforcement Advisory Committee, Peer
Review Oversight Committee, and Qualifications Committee
Appoint CBA members to CBA committees and task forces
Establish other CBA committees as needed

Make decisions regarding CBA matters between meetings
Coordinate the annual evaluation of the Executive Officer

When necessary, make interim appointments to the Enforcement Advisory
Committee, Peer Review Oversight Committee, and Qualifications Committee,
subject to ratification at the next CBA Meeting
Monitor CBA member attendance at CBA Meetings and report issues to DCA

Make interim appointments to the Vice President and Secretary/Treasurer
positions should they become vacant mid-term

Assign travel expense claims to be reviewed internally by CBA staff for adherence
to established travel guidelines and subsequently delegate approval to DCA’s
Director or Deputy Director of Board and Bureau Relations

Interface with the CBA staff regarding internal audit matters affecting the CBA.
These matters include such issues as internal audit findings, requests for special
reviews, and other related concerns or topics.

b. Vice President.

The Vice President shall perform the following:
•
•

Act in the absence of the President

Review applications and recommend appointments for membership on the
Enforcement Advisory Committee, Qualifications Committee, and Peer Review
Page 6

•
•
c.

Perform any other duties as assigned by the CBA President

Review and act upon time sensitive appeals to the CBA by CPA Licensure
candidates

Secretary/Treasurer.

The Secretary/Treasurer shall perform the following:
•

•

G.

Oversight Committee. Recommend reappointments of existing members,
including appointments and reappointments for leadership roles.

Act as Liaison to CBA staff for fiscal/budgetary functions and routinely report to
the CBA regarding relevant matters. This includes reviewing the quarterly and
year-end financial statements, in concert with the President. After review, the
Secretary/Treasurer presents the financial statement to the CBA

Perform other duties as requested by the CBA President

MEETINGS (Ref. Business & Professions Code §§ 5016 & 5017).

All meetings of the CBA and its committees, subcommittees and task forces are subject to the
Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act. This Act is summarized in a document developed by DCA,
and includes statutory requirements for conducting Teleconference, Emergency Meetings, or
both. (Appendix 1) Pursuant to the provisions of Government Code section 11133 and
Governor Gavin Newsom’s directives in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, travel
restrictions and social distancing requirements may necessitate CBA and committee meetings
being conducted by way of video conference.
1. Frequency.

The CBA meets regularly during the year. The dates are normally established annually at
the January or March meeting for the following calendar year.

2. Locations.

3.

The CBA chooses locations that are American’s with Disabilities Act compliant and easily
accessible to the public, applicants, and licensees. Pursuant to Business and Professions
Code section 101.7, the CBA must meet at least two times each calendar year, once in
Northern California and once in Southern California to facilitate participation by the
public and its licensees. The CBA also recognizes its responsibility regarding the public’s
concern for the judicious use of public funds when choosing meeting facilities and
overnight accommodations.
Attendance.

Members are expected to attend all scheduled CBA meetings. Regular attendance ensures
current knowledge of procedures and policies as well as an equitable sharing of duties
and responsibilities.
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CBA Item II.B.
September 22-23, 2022

Discussion of the Process for the Annual Executive Officer Evaluation
Presented by: Michael M. Savoy, CPA, President
Purpose of the Item

The purpose of this agenda item is to provide the California Board of Accountancy
(CBA) with information regarding the annual Executive Officer Evaluation.

Consumer Protection Objectives

The annual performance appraisal provides CBA members and the Department of
Consumer Affairs’ (DCA) leadership team an opportunity to evaluate the performance of
the Executive Officer in a fair, impartial, and transparent manner to ensure the
performance assists the CBA in meeting its consumer protection mission.

Action(s) Needed

Upon receipt, CBA members are asked to complete the Executive Officer performance
evaluation form.

Background

The CBA President and Vice President issue an evaluation to the Executive Officer on
an annual basis, typically occurring at the November CBA meeting. The evaluation is
based on input from all CBA members and DCA’s leadership team. Once the evaluation
is complete, a copy is placed in the Executive Officer’s Official Personnel file.

Comments

Following the September CBA meeting, DCA will provide CBA members with an
evaluation form to offer feedback regarding the Executive Officer’s performance. Each
CBA member independently completes the form, rating and commenting on the
Executive Officer’s performance in each applicable category.
To assist members in completing the evaluation, the CBA Annual Report provides an
excellent resource. The fiscal year 2021-22 CBA Annual Report is included as CBA
Agenda Item V.A. Additionally, members may wish to reflect on the Executive Officer
Monthly Reports, presentations at prior CBA meetings, and the many communications
that have been provided during the prior fiscal year. All of these resources provide an

Discussion of the Process for the Annual Executive Officer Evaluation
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overview of the activities, projects, programs, and accomplishments for which the CBA
Executive Officer has overseen.
CBA members will have available their completed evaluation forms at the November
CBA meeting where they will convene into a closed session to discuss the forms, review
the performance appraisals from DCA’s leadership team, and finalize the performance
evaluation for the CBA Executive Officer.

Fiscal/Economic Impact Considerations

There are no fiscal/economic impact considerations.

Recommendation

Staff do not have a recommendation on this agenda item.

Attachment
None.

CBA Item II.C.
September 22-23, 2022

Discussion and Possible Action Regarding California Board of Accountancy
Meeting Locations and a Change to the July 2023 Meeting Date
Presented by: Deanne Pearce, Assistant Executive Officer
Purpose of the Item

The purpose of this agenda item is to:
1. Discuss conducting all California Board of Accountancy (CBA) and committee
meetings in Sacramento through July 1, 2023.
2. Propose a change to the July 2023 CBA meeting date.

Consumer Protection Objectives

The CBA meets regularly during the year to conduct business related to the practice of
public accountancy and its consumer protection mandate.

Action(s) Needed

The CBA is being asked to decide whether to:
1. Conduct all CBA and committee meetings in Sacramento through July 1, 2023.
2. Approve a change to the July 2023 CBA meeting date to avoid a scheduling
conflict with a National Association of State Boards of Accountancy (NASBA)
meeting.

Background

CBA and Committee Meeting Structure
Business and Professions Code (BPC) section 101.7, subsection (a) states:
“Notwithstanding any other provision of law, boards shall meet at least two times each
calendar year. Boards shall meet at least once each calendar year in northern California
and once each calendar year in southern California in order to facilitate participation by
the public and its licensees.”
In response to COVID-19, Governor Gavin Newsom issued a number of executive
orders and signed legislation in 2021 suspending certain Bagley-Keene Open Meeting
Act requirements and enabling agencies to hold meetings via teleconference. One of
the provisions suspended was BPC section 101.7, eliminating the need to meet in both
Northern and Southern California. The executive orders and the 2021 legislation that
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enabled the changes to the Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act ended on March 31, 2022
requiring agencies to resume meetings as conducted pre-COVID-19 effective April 1,
2022.
On June 30, 2022, the Governor signed Senate Bill 189 (Chapter 48, Statutes of 2022),
that again, suspended various provisions of the Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act and
enabled state bodies to meet via teleconference through July 1, 2023. One of the
provisions suspended was BPC section 101.7, eliminating the requirement to meet in
both Northern and Southern California.
Potential Conflict with CBA Meeting Date
At its March 2022 meeting, the CBA adopted proposed meeting dates for the 2023
calendar year. While developing the schedule of proposed dates, staff attempted to
avoid conflict with potential stakeholder meetings. CBA consulted various stakeholders
including the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and NASBA.
Unfortunately, at the time, NASBA had not solidified its 2023 meeting schedule. It is
important to ensure that CBA members who participate on national committees and
represent the CBA at national meetings are able to participate in national meetings as
well as CBA meetings.

Comments

CBA and Committee Meeting Structure
Presently, the CBA and committee meetings are conducted in-person at the CBA office
in Sacramento and include a feature that allows public participation through WebEx.
This format is meeting the needs of the CBA and consumers and eliminates the need to
contract for meeting space, reducing the meeting costs.
While the current meetings are being held in-person and in Sacramento, and the CBA is
not presently required to have a meeting in Southern California, staff have explored this
option. The following chart indicates the CBA costs per Southern California meeting
location 1 prior to COVID-19 and an estimate for its November 2022 meeting. As
reflected, prices have risen sharply.
Year
2017
2017
2017
2018
2018
2019
2022

1

Month
January
March
May
March
July
July
November

Hotel
Wyndam (Irvine)
Westin (LAX)
Westin (LAX)
Wyndam (Irvine)
Hilton (LAX)
Hilton (LAX)
Westin (LAX)

Rate
Note
$10,313.76 Incl. QC mtg.
$7,806.52
$7,806.52
$6,866.23
$7,844.11
$7,310.67
$17,435.06 Estimate only

The cost includes meeting room and audio/visual equipment. No travel costs are included.
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In addition to an increase in meeting room costs, staff was informed that if the CBA
holds in-person meetings outside of Sacramento, the Department of Consumer Affairs
(DCA) will be unable to moderate and allow the public to use the WebEx feature, due to
technology challenges at a non-DCA/CBA conference room.
The CBA is being asked to consider conducting all CBA and committee meetings solely
in Sacramento, through July 1, 2023, while legislation is in place allowing this. This is
also fiscally prudent and will enable maximum participation from the public.
Potential Conflict with CBA Meeting Date
To eliminate a conflict with a NASBA meeting in July 2023, the CBA is being asked to
move its July 20-21, 2023 meeting to July 27-28, 2023. This will enable CBA member
participation at both meetings.

Fiscal/Economic Impact Considerations

The CBA will have cost savings if it elects to conduct its meetings in Sacramento, which
will eliminate the need to pay for a conference room and associated audio and video
requirements.

Recommendation

Staff recommends the following:
1. Conduct all CBA and committee meetings in Sacramento through July 1, 2023.
2. Change the CBA meeting date from July 20-21, 2023 to July 27-28, 2023 to
avoid conflicts with a NASBA meeting.

Attachment
None.

CBA Item II.D.
September 22-23, 2022

Overview of Process for Review of Exposure Drafts
Presented by: Deanne Pearce, Assistant Executive Officer
Purpose of the Item

The purpose of this agenda item is to provide the California Board of Accountancy
(CBA) with an overview of the process staff follow when reviewing exposure drafts and
determining whether to present at a CBA meeting for discussion and possible response.

Consumer Protection Objectives

Monitoring exposure drafts ensures the CBA is aware of, and can provide comment on,
proposed changes to various professional standards and changes to regulatory
provisions as developed by various national accounting organizations. The focus on the
proposed changes relates to those that may impact the CBA’s rules and regulations or
otherwise impact its ability to effectively oversight the accounting profession in
California and meet its consumer protection mandate.

Action(s) Needed

No specific action is required on this agenda item.

Background

There are a number of national organizations that promulgate standards and guidelines
impacting the accountancy profession. Generally, when changes are being considered
to these standards/guidelines, the national organizations will publish the proposed
changes prior to adoption to expose them to the public for comment – leading to the
term exposure draft.

Comments

Exposure drafts received by the CBA typically fall into two categories – those that can
be considered regulatory in nature and those that are considered standard setting.
Regulatory exposure drafts may include revisions being considered to the Uniform
Accountancy Act (UAA), UAA Model Rules or administration of the Uniform CPA
Examination. For example, CBA Item II.E. is an exposure draft that is regulatory in
nature and relates to examination requirements and the new CPA Evolution licensure
model.
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Standard setting exposure drafts involve the actual standards that accountancy
professionals employ in conducting their business. These types of exposure drafts are
not generally brought before the CBA unless specifically requested by a member, or is
deemed to have a negative impact on our enforcement abilities. Further, staff limit its
review to how it may impact the CBA’s rules and regulations. An example of a standard
setting exposure draft is Certain Risk Disclosures, which was released by the Financial
Accounting Standards Board.
The current process employed by staff as it relates to reviewing exposure drafts,
includes the following:
•
•

•
•

On a monthly basis, staff monitor the various standard setting websites, including
AICPA, and also that of NASBA to determine what, if any, exposure drafts have
been issued.
The Legislative Analyst does a cursory review to determine whether the
exposure draft applies to the practice of public accountancy. If there are
questions regarding the impact the exposure draft may have on the CBA’s
mission, the Legislative analyst works with Senior Management.
Exposure drafts that impact the CBA’s consumer protection mission or that
impact its rules and regulations are brought to the CBA for discussion and
possible response regarding the proposed changes.
If an exposure draft is not presented for CBA discussion, it is included in the
monthly Executive Officer’s Report and CBA members have an opportunity to
comment individually.

Fiscal/Economic Impact Considerations

There are no fiscal/economic impact considerations.

Recommendation

Staff do not have a recommendation on this agenda item.

Attachment
None.

CBA Item II.E.
September 22-23, 2022

Discussion and Possible Action on the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants Exposure Draft on Maintaining the Relevance of the Uniform CPA
Examination – Aligning the Exam With the CPA Evolution Licensure Model
Presented by: Michelle Center, Chief, Licensing Division
Purpose of the Item

The purpose of this agenda item is to provide the California Board of Accountancy
(CBA) with an opportunity to offer the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(AICPA) with feedback on its recently released exposure draft: Maintaining the
Relevance of the Uniform CPA Examination – Aligning the Exam with the CPA
Evolution Licensure Model (Exposure Draft).

Consumer Protection Objectives

The Uniform Certified Public Accountant Examination (CPA Exam) is a requirement to
obtain a certified public accountant (CPA) license. Passage of the CPA Exam, along
with education and experience, provides assurance to state boards of accountancy that
individuals possess the minimum level of technical knowledge and skills necessary to
qualify for a CPA license, safeguarding consumer protection by ensuring only qualified
individuals practice public accountancy.

Action(s) Needed

The CBA is being asked to discuss and provide feedback on the Exposure Draft
(Attachment 1). Staff have provided a proposed response to the AICPA for CBA
consideration (Attachment 2).

Background

CPA Evolution is intended to transform the CPA licensure model in recognition of the
rapidly changing skills and competencies the practice requires today, and will require in
the future. In 2020, the AICPA conducted a practice analysis to elicit input about the
work newly licensed CPAs are required to perform, particularly focused on aligning the
CPA Exam to the CPA Evolution licensure model. Appendix B of the Exposure Draft
provides a detailed description of the practice analysis. The CBA should note that the
periodic execution of a practice analysis is required by Business and Professions Code
section 139 and necessary to ensure that the CPA Exam:
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•
•
•

Supports the profession’s commitment to protecting the public interest.
Remains current, relevant, reliable, psychometrically valid, and legally defensible.
Fulfills the needs of the Boards of Accountancy in carrying out their licensing
responsibilities.

The CPA Evolution licensure model requires all candidates pass three Core exam
sections: Financial Accounting and Reporting (FAR), Auditing and Attestation (AUD),
and Taxation and Regulation (REG). Additionally, each candidate must pass one of the
three new Discipline sections: Business Analysis and Reporting (BAR), Information
Systems and Controls (ISC), or Tax Compliance and Planning (TCP).
In July 2021, the AICPA released a CPA Exam practice analysis background and
survey to state boards, state societies, accounting firms, business and industry, and
academia. The CBA responded with feedback on the draft Core and Discipline CPA
Exam sections (Attachment 3). The CBA will find that the present Exposure Draft
provides far more detail than what was available in 2021 which may alleviate concerns
expressed in 2021 on the draft Core and Discipline CPA Exam sections.

Comments

On June 30, 2022, the AICPA released the Exposure Draft that included the
draft Uniform CPA Examination Blueprints (Exam Blueprint) in Appendix A. The
Exposure draft and blueprints represent the findings and conclusions of the practice
analysis conducted by the AICPA. The AICPA requests the CBA consider the following
when providing feedback on the Exposure Draft:
1. Do the Core CPA Exam Blueprints include the knowledge and skills required of
all newly licensed CPAs to protect the public interest? If not:
a. Is there content missing from the Core CPA Exam Blueprints? If so, please
explain what content you believe should be added, including examples of
how this is affecting newly licensed CPA practice.
b. Is there content included in the Core CPA Exam Blueprints that is not
relevant to newly licensed CPA practice that should be removed? If so,
please provide the details of what content you believe should be removed
and why it should not be considered newly licensed CPA practice.
2. Do each of the Discipline CPA Exam Blueprints include the knowledge and skills
required of a newly licensed CPA to protect the public interest? If not:
a. Is there content missing from the Discipline CPA Exam Blueprints? If so,
please explain what content you believe should be added, including
examples of how this is affecting newly licensed CPA practice.
b. Is there content included in the Discipline CPA Exam Blueprints that is not
relevant to newly licensed CPA practice that should be removed? If so,
please provide the details of what content you believe should be removed
and why it should not be considered newly licensed CPA practice.
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AICPA has requested all responses by September 30, 2022. After considering all
comments, the final CPA Exam Blueprints are anticipated to be approved in December
2022 and published in January 2023, with a planned CPA Exam launch in January
2024.

Fiscal/Economic Impact Considerations

There are no fiscal/economic impact considerations.

Recommendation

Staff recommend that the CBA take one of the following actions:
1. If no concerns are noted with the Exam Blueprint, direct staff to submit Attachment
2 to the AICPA on behalf of the CBA.
2. If concerns are noted with the Exam Blueprint, delegate authority to the CBA
President to work with staff to finalize the response for submission to the AICPA.

Attachments

1. Maintaining the Relevance of the Uniform CPA Examination - Aligning the Exam with the
CPA Evolution Licensure Model (143 pages). This attachment is available on the AICPA
website at https://www.aicpa.org/resources/download/exposure-draft-proposed-2024cpa-exam-changes.
2. Draft Exposure Draft Response to AICPA
3. CBA Exam Core and Discipline Survey Response, 2021

STATE OF CALIFORNIA – BUSINESS, CONSUMER SERVICES AND HOUSING AGENCY

GAVIN NEWSOM, GOVERNOR

California Board of Accountancy
2450 Venture Oaks Way, Suite 300
Sacramento, CA 95833
phone: (916) 263-3680

fax: (916) 263-3675

September 23, 2022

web: www.cba.ca.gov

Attachment 2

Barry C. Melancon, CPA, CGMA
President & CEO
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
12 E. 49th Street, 12th Floor
New York, NY 10017
Dear Barry Melancon:
On behalf of the California Board of Accountancy (CBA), I am pleased to submit our
comments to the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) regarding
the exposure draft on Maintaining the Relevance of the Uniform CPA Examination –
Aligning the Exam with the CPA Evolution Licensure Model (Exposure Draft).
The execution of a technically sound practice analysis ensures the validity of the
Uniform CPA Examination (CPA Exam) and supports CBA’s mission to protect
consumers by ensuring only qualified licensees practice public accountancy. The CBA
agrees that the Core and Discipline examination blueprints within the Exposure Draft
which are based on the practice analysis represent knowledge and skills required of
newly licensed Certified Public Accountants and support its mission of consumer
protection.
The proposed changes specific to the CPA Exam will necessitate regulatory changes in
California. The CBA is currently working on proposed language for these regulations.
The CBA appreciates the opportunity to comment on this exposure draft and your
continued hard work to ensure the CPA Exam supports the profession’s commitment to
protect the public interest.
Sincerely,
Michael M. Savoy, CPA
President
c:

Members, California Board of Accountancy
Patti Bowers, Executive Officer
Michelle Center, Chief, Licensing Division

Attachment 3

Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey [2021]
Introduction

In the following survey, we are seeking your views on the preliminary content proposed for the
Core and Discipline sections of the CPA Exam, redesigned for the CPA Evolution licensure
model. You will be asked to indicate your level of agreement with the content that could be
assessed within each area of the Core and Discipline sections. Your rating should consider all
the proposed content for that area as it relates to the practice of newly licensed CPAs. A newly
licensed CPA is an individual who has fulfilled the applicable jurisdiction’s educational and
experience requirements and has the knowledge and skills typically possessed by a person with
one to two years of experience.
This survey will allow the profession to provide feedback on the initial vision for the CPA Exam
prior to the release of the full exposure draft currently planned for July 1, 2022. Refer to the CPA
Exam Practice Analysis site for more information. The survey should take 20 to 25 minutes to
complete and will be available until September 7, 2021.

NOTE: The following is a copy of the complete Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey. It does not
include any of the online survey functionality.
In the online survey, you will be asked to indicate your level of agreement with the content that could
be assessed within each area of the Core and Discipline sections. Your rating should consider all the
proposed content for that area as it relates to the practice of newly licensed CPAs. In the online survey,
if you select “Disagree” or “Strongly Disagree” with any of the areas, you will be routed to a subsequent
screen to describe which topics of that area with which you disagree. Subsequent feedback is only
requested when you select “Disagree” or “Strongly Disagree.” You will have an opportunity to provide
feedback on (i) additional content that you believe has not been identified and should be considered for
inclusion in a CPA Exam Core or Discipline and (ii) any other comments related to the content
allocations in CPA Exam Core or Disciplines at the end of the survey.
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Contact Information

* Please provide contact and background information so that we can contact you with
any follow up questions. We will not share your contact information with any third
parties.
Name

Patti Bowers

Firm or
organization

CA Board of Accountancy

Title

Executive Officer

California

State
Email Address

Patti.Bowers@cba.ca.gov

* Please indicate if you are responding on behalf of yourself or an organization:
As an individual
On behalf of a public accounting firm

● On behalf of a State Board of Accountancy
On behalf of a State Society
On behalf of a government agency
On behalf of an academic institution
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Organization information

* What is the name of the organization you are responding on behalf of?
California Board of Accountancy

* Who should we contact in the organization if we have any questions?
Patti Bowers
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Instructions

On the following screens, you will be asked to indicate your level of agreement with the content
that could be assessed within each area of the Core and Discipline sections. Each section will
be presented separately and you will be able to select only the sections you feel confident
rating.
Each area contains more detailed content topics. Your area rating should take into account
all of the proposed content for that area as it relates to the practice of newly licensed
CPAs. A newly licensed CPA is an individual who has fulfilled the applicable jurisdiction’s
educational and experience requirements and has the knowledge and skills typically possessed
by a person with one to two years of experience.
The rating scale is a four-point scale (Strongly Disagree, Disagree, Agree, Strongly Agree). Your
rating should be an overall rating, taking into account the full range of content included. If overall
you disagree with the content proposed to be assessed in an area, you will have the opportunity
to indicate why you disagree. If you don’t feel comfortable rating a specific content area, you can
select “N/A” to indicate you do not know enough about this content to provide a rating. If you so
choose, you will have an opportunity to provide detailed feedback at the end of the survey.

* Which exam section(s) do you feel confident rating?

● Core: Auditing & Attestation
● Core: Accounting
●Core: Tax

● Discipline: Information Systems &
Controls (ISC)

● Discipline: Business Analysis & Reporting
(BAR)

● Discipline: Tax Compliance & Planning
(TCP)
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Core: Accounting

On the following screens you will rate content included in the Accounting Core section.
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Core: Accounting

Area 1: Financial Reporting
General-Purpose Financial Statements: For-Profit Business Entities
Balance sheet, income statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of
changes in equity, statement of cash flows, notes to the financial statements, and
consolidations
General-Purpose Financial Statements: Nongovernmental Not-for-Profit Entities
Statement of financial position, statement of activities, statement of cash flows, notes
to the financial statements and nonreciprocal transfers, including net asset
classification of contributions
State and Local Government Basics: Measurement focus, basis of accounting, and purpose
of funds
Public Company Reporting Topics: U.S. SEC reporting requirements, basic and diluted
EPS
Special Purpose Frameworks: Cash basis, modified cash basis, and income tax basis of
accounting
Financial Statement Metrics: Key ratios and measures of financial performance

* Indicate your level of agreement with content included in Area 1: Financial
Reporting.
Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Agree
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Strongly Agree

N/A
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Core: Accounting

Area 2: Select Financial Statement Accounts
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables
Inventory
Property, plant and equipment
Investments (financial assets at fair value, financial assets at amortized cost, and equity
method investments)
Definite-lived intangible assets (identify criteria for recognition other than in business
combinations, identify impairment indicators, calculate carrying amount including
amortization and impairment)
Payables and accrued liabilities
Long-term debt (notes and bonds payable and debt covenant compliance)
Equity
Revenue (recall and apply the 5-step revenue recognition model, including recording of
journal entries)
Accounting for income taxes

* Indicate your level of agreement with the content included in Area 2: Select
Financial Statement Accounts.
Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Agree
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Strongly Agree

N/A
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Core: Accounting

Area 2: Select Financial Statement Accounts

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables
Inventory
Property, plant and equipment
Investments (financial assets at fair value, financial assets at amortized cost, and
equity method investments)
Definite-lived intangible assets (identify criteria for recognition other than in business
combinations, identify impairment indicators, calculate carrying amount including
amortization and impairment)
Payables and accrued liabilities
Long-term debt (notes and bonds payable and debt covenant compliance)
Equity
Revenue (recall and apply the 5-step revenue recognition model, including recording
of journal entries)
Accounting for income taxes

•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

You indicated that you {{ Q15.R1 }} with the content allocated to Area 2: Select
Financial Statement Accounts. Please explain which specific topics in the area you
disagree with and why.
•
•

Third bullet, modify to: Inventory prepaid expenses/deferred charges/other
receivables
Eighth bullet, modify to: Deferred liabilities long-term debt (notes and bonds payable
and debt covenant compliance)
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Core: Accounting

Area 3: Select Transactions
Accounting changes and error corrections
Contingencies and commitments
Leases (recall and apply the lease accounting standard for a lessee only, including
recording of journal entries)
Subsequent events
Fair value measurements

* Indicate your level of agreement with the content included in Area 3: Select
Transactions.
Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Agree
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Strongly Agree

N/A
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Core: Accounting

Area 3: Select Transactions
Accounting changes and error corrections
Contingencies and commitments
Leases (recall and apply the lease accounting standard for a lessee only, including
recording of journal entries)
Subsequent events
Fair value measurements

You indicated that you {{ Q17.R1 }} with the content allocated to Area 3: Select
Transactions. Please explain which specific topics in the area you disagree with and
why.
•
•

First bullet, modify to: Accounting changes, changes in estimates and error corrections
Add a sixth bullet: Business Combinations
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Core: Auditing and Attestation (Auditing)

On the following screens you will rate content included in the Auditing and Attestation Core
section.
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Core: Auditing

Area 1: Ethics, Professional Responsibilities and General Principles
Nature and scope of engagement: audit engagements, engagements conducted under
GAGAS, other engagements including attestation and accounting and review services
Ethics, independence and professional conduct: AICPA Code of Professional Conduct,
requirements of the SEC and PCAOB, requirements of the GAO and DOL, professional
skepticism and professional judgement
Terms of engagement: preconditions for an engagement, terms of engagement and
engagement letter
Requirements for engagement documentation
Communications with management and those charged with governance: planned scope
and timing of an engagement and internal control related matters
A firm’s system of quality control, including quality control at the engagement level

* Indicate your level of agreement with the content included in Area 1: Ethics,
Professional Responsibilities and General Principles.
Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Agree
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Strongly Agree

N/A
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Core: Auditing

Area 1: Ethics, Professional Responsibilities and General Principles
Nature and scope of engagement: audit engagements, engagements conducted under
GAGAS, other engagements including attestation and accounting and review services
Ethics, independence and professional conduct: AICPA Code of Professional Conduct,
requirements of the SEC and PCAOB, requirements of the GAO and DOL, professional
skepticism and professional judgement
Terms of engagement: preconditions for an engagement, terms of engagement and
engagement letter
Requirements for engagement documentation
Communications with management and those charged with governance: planned scope
and timing of an engagement and internal control related matters
A firm’s system of quality control, including quality control at the engagement level

You indicated that you {{ Q19.R1 }} with the content allocated to Area 1: Ethics,
Professional Responsibilities and General Principles. Please explain which specific
topics in the area you disagree with and why.
•

Fifth bullet, modify to: Communications with management and those charged with
governance: planned scope and timing of an engagement and internal control
related matters, arrange for and communicate with predecessor auditors
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Core: Auditing

Area 2: Assessing Risk and Developing a Planned Response
Planning an engagement: developing an overall engagement strategy and developing a
detailed engagement plan
Understanding an entity and its environment: external factors (including economic
indicators) and internal factors
Understanding an entity’s control environment and business processes, including IT
systems: control environment, IT general controls and entity-level controls, business
processes and design of internal controls, including IT systems, implications of an entity
using a service organization, and limitations of controls and risk of management override
Assessing risks due to fraud, including discussions among the engagement team about the
risk of material misstatement due to error or fraud
Identifying and assessing the risk of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud,
and planning further procedures responsive to identified risks: impact of risks at the
financial statement level, impact of risks for each relevant assertion at the class of
transaction, account balance, and disclosure levels, and further procedures responsive to
identified risks
Materiality: for the financial statement as a whole and tolerable misstatement and
performance materiality
Planning for and using the work of others
Specific areas of engagement risk: an entity’s compliance with laws and regulations,
including possible illegal acts, accounting estimates, related parties and related party
transactions

* Indicate your level of agreement with the content included in Area 2: Assessing Risk
and Developing a Planned Response.
Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Agree
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Strongly Agree

N/A
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Core: Auditing

Area 2: Assessing Risk and Developing a Planned Response
Planning an engagement: developing an overall engagement strategy and developing a
detailed engagement plan
Understanding an entity and its environment: external factors (including economic
indicators) and internal factors
Understanding an entity’s control environment and business processes, including IT
systems: control environment, IT general controls and entity-level controls, business
processes and design of internal controls, including IT systems, implications of an entity
using a service organization, and limitations of controls and risk of management override
Assessing risks due to fraud, including discussions among the engagement team about the
risk of material misstatement due to error or fraud
Identifying and assessing the risk of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud,
and planning further procedures responsive to identified risks: impact of risks at the
financial statement level, impact of risks for each relevant assertion at the class of
transaction, account balance, and disclosure levels, and further procedures responsive to
identified risks
Materiality: for the financial statement as a whole and tolerable misstatement and
performance materiality
Planning for and using the work of others
Specific areas of engagement risk: an entity’s compliance with laws and regulations,
including possible illegal acts, accounting estimates, related parties and related party
transactions

You indicated that you {{ Q21.R1 }} with the content allocated to Area 2: Assessing
Risk and Developing a Planned Response. Please explain which specific topics in the
area you disagree with and why.
•

•

Third bullet, modify to: Understanding an entity’s control environment, IT general controls and
entity-level controls, business processes and design of internal controls, including IT systems,
implications of an entity using a service organization, and limitations of controls and risk of
management override
Last bullet, modify to: Specific areas of engagement risk: an entity’s compliance with
laws and regulations, including possible illegal acts, accounting estimates, related
parties and related party transactions and off-balance sheet transactions
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Core: Auditing

Area 3: Performing Further Procedures and Obtaining Evidence
Sufficient appropriate evidence
General procedures to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence
Specific procedures to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence: analytical procedures,
external confirmations, and audit data analytics, including extract, transform and load (ETL)
and data visualizations
Specific matters that require special consideration: accounting estimates, investments in
securities, inventory and inventory held by others, litigation, claims and assessments, and
an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern
Misstatements and internal control deficiencies
Written representations
Subsequent events and subsequently discovered facts

* Indicate your level of agreement with the content included in Area 3: Performing
Further Procedures and Obtaining Evidence.
Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Agree
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Strongly Agree

N/A

22

Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Core: Auditing

Area 3: Performing Further Procedures and Obtaining Evidence
Sufficient appropriate evidence
General procedures to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence
Specific procedures to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence: analytical procedures,
external confirmations, and audit data analytics, including extract, transform and load (ETL)
and data visualizations
Specific matters that require special consideration: accounting estimates, investments in
securities, inventory and inventory held by others, litigation, claims and assessments, and
an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern
Misstatements and internal control deficiencies
Written representations
Subsequent events and subsequently discovered facts

You indicated that you {{ Q23.R1 }} with the content allocated to Area 3: Performing
Further Procedures and Obtaining Evidence. Please explain which specific topics in
the area you disagree with and why.

•

Area 3 is unclear. Is there content on handling exceptions or deficiencies? Is there
content around testing and testing methods? Or, is that embedded in the existing bullets?

•

Delete the first bullet, this seems to be covered in the next two bullets.

For discussion purposes only.
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Core: Auditing

Area 4: Forming Conclusions and Reporting

Reports on auditing engagements: forming and audit opinion, including modification of an
auditor’s opinion, form and content of an audit report, including the use of emphasis-ofmatter and other matter (explanatory) paragraphs, and audit of internal control integrated
with an audit of financial statements
Reports on attestation engagements: general standards for attestation reports and agreed
upon procedures (Except for SOC reports, which will be covered in ISC)
Accounting and review service engagements: preparation, compilation and review reports
Reporting on compliance
Other reporting considerations: comparative statements and consistency between periods,
other information in documents with audited statements, review of interim financial
information, supplementary information, additional reporting requirements under GAGAS,
and special-purpose frameworks

* Indicate your level of agreement with the content included in Area 4: Forming
Conclusions and Reporting.
Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Agree

For discussion purposes only.

Strongly Agree

N/A
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Core: Auditing

Area 4: Forming Conclusions and Reporting
Reports on auditing engagements: forming an audit opinion, including modification of an
auditor’s opinion, form and content of an audit report, including the use of emphasis-ofmatter and other matter (explanatory) paragraphs, and audit of internal control integrated
with an audit of financial statements
Reports on attestation engagements: general standards for attestation reports and agreed
upon procedures (Except for SOC reports, which will be covered in ISC)
Accounting and review service engagements: preparation, compilation and review reports
Reporting on compliance
Other reporting considerations: comparative statements and consistency between periods,
other information in documents with audited statements, review of interim financial
information, supplementary information, additional reporting requirements under GAGAS,
and special-purpose frameworks

You indicated that you {{ Q25.R1 }} with the content allocated to Area 4: Forming
Conclusions and Reporting. Please explain which specific topics in the area you
disagree with and why.
First bullet, modify to: Reports on auditing engagements: forming an audit opinion,
including modification of an auditor’s opinion, form and content of an audit report,
including the use of emphasis-of-matter, reliance on predecessor auditors’ reports and
other matter (explanatory) paragraphs, and audit of internal control integrated with an
audit of financial statements

•

•

Add a last bullet: Disclosure of applicable standards issued and not yet effective

For discussion purposes only.
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Core: Tax

On the following screens you will rate content included in the Tax Core section.

For discussion purposes only.

26

Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Core: Tax

Area 1: Ethics, Professional Responsibility, and Federal Tax Procedures
Ethics and responsibilities in tax practice: regulations governing practice before the IRS and
Internal Revenue Code and Regulations related to tax return preparers
Licensing and disciplinary systems
Federal tax procedures: audits, appeals and judicial process, substantiation and disclosure
of tax positions, taxpayer penalties, and authoritative hierarchy
Legal duties and responsibilities: common law duties and liabilities to clients and third
parties and privileged communications, confidentiality, and privacy acts

* Indicate your level of agreement with the content included in Area 1: Ethics,
Professional Responsibility, and Federal Tax Procedures.
Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Agree

For discussion purposes only.

Strongly Agree

N/A
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Core: Tax

Area 2: Business Law
Agency: authority of agents and principals, duties and liabilities of agents and principals
Contracts: formation, performance, discharge, breach and remedies
Debtor-creditor relationships
Federal laws and regulations, including employment tax, qualified health plans, and worker
classification
Business structure: selection and formation of business entity and related operation and
termination, rights, duties, legal obligations, and authority of owners and management

* Indicate your level of agreement with the content included in Area 2: Business Law.

Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Agree

For discussion purposes only.

Strongly Agree

N/A
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Core: Tax

Area 3: Property Transactions
Basis of assets
Depreciation and amortization of assets

* Indicate your level of agreement with the content included in Area 3: Property
Transactions.
Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Agree
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Strongly Agree

N/A
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Core: Tax

Area 4: Federal Taxation of Individuals

Gross income (inclusions and exclusions)
Reporting of items from pass-through entities
Adjustments and deductions to arrive at adjusted gross income and taxable income
Loss limitations
Filing status
Computation of tax and credits

* Indicate your level of agreement with the content included in Area 4: Federal
Taxation of Individuals.
Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Agree
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Strongly Agree

N/A
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Core: Tax

Area 5: Federal Taxation of Entities
Differences between book and tax income (loss)
C Corporations: computations of taxable income, including current year NOLs, tax liability,
and allowable credits, state and local tax nexus considerations, and allocation and
apportionment of income between states
S Corporations: eligibility and election, determination of ordinary business income (loss)
and separately stated items, and basis of shareholder’s interest, including but not limited to
increase/decrease to shareholder’s basis resulting from share of ordinary business income
(loss), separately stated items, nondeductible expenses, tax-exempt income, and existing
debt basis
Partnerships: determination of ordinary business income (loss) and separately stated items,
and basis of partner’s interest, including but not limited to increase/decrease in partner
basis resulting from share of ordinary business income (loss), separately stated items,
nondeductible expenses, tax-exempt income, and liabilities incurred through routine
business operations
Limited liability companies
Tax-exempt organizations: types of organizations

* Indicate your level of agreement with the content included in Area 5: Federal
Taxation of Entities.
Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Agree
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Strongly Agree

N/A
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey

Discipline: Business Analysis and Reporting (BAR)
On the following screens you will rate content included in the Business Analysis and Reporting
Discipline section.

For discussion purposes only.
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Discipline Business Analysis & Reporting (BAR)
Area 1: Financial Statement Analysis
Current Period/Historical Analysis, including the use of data:
Analysis and interpretation of financial statements and financial statement note
disclosures
Analytical review and analysis leveraging data (i.e., data analytics), including the
analysis of trends in data sets (patterns, outliers, seasonality, etc.) and determining
their causes/drivers
Financial and nonfinancial measures of performance, including the use of key financial
metrics and competitor analysis, including benchmarking
Financial risk management, including market, interest, currency, liquidity, price and
other risks.
Cost/managerial accounting, including variance analysis to measure key cost drivers
Prospective Analysis, including the use of data:
Budgeting, forecasting and projection, including predictive analytics and sensitivity
analysis
Capital structure, including determining cost of capital and analyzing capital structures
Investment alternatives using financial valuation decision models (i.e., payback period,
net present value, cash flow analysis, and internal rate of return)
Financial risk management, including determining the effect of a proposed transaction
on key financial metrics or debt covenants
Market influences on business, including impact to an entity’s business strategy,
operations and risks.
COSO Enterprise Risk Management Framework - Integrating with Strategy and
Performance

* Indicate your level of agreement with the content included in Area 1: Financial
Statement Analysis.
Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Agree
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Strongly Agree

N/A
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey

Discipline: Business Analysis and Reporting (BAR)
Area 2: Technical Accounting & Reporting Topics
Revenue: Analysis level assessment of the 5-step revenue recognition model, including
interpreting contracts and analyzing accounting records to identify errors in the amount and
timing of revenue recognized
Leases: Analysis level assessment of lease standard from a lessee’s perspective, including
interpreting lease agreements to identify potential accounting errors, and recall and apply
the lease accounting standard from a lessor’s perspective
Consolidations: Recall and/or apply more complex consolidation topics such as VIE and
foreign currency translation and remeasurement
Business combinations, goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets including impairment
testing, stock-based compensation, derivatives/hedge accounting, research and
development costs, and software costs
SEC reporting requirements (disclosure requirements (S-K/S-X), segment reporting)
Emerging reporting frameworks (environmental, social and governance (ESG)/
sustainability)
Financial statements of employee-benefit plans, including disclosure requirements

* Indicate your level of agreement with the content included in Area 2: Technical
Accounting & Reporting Topics.
Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Agree
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Strongly Agree

N/A
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey

Discipline: Business Analysis and Reporting (BAR)
Area 2: Technical Accounting & Reporting Topics
Revenue: Analysis level assessment of the 5-step revenue recognition model, including
interpreting contracts and analyzing accounting records to identify errors in the amount and
timing of revenue recognized
Leases: Analysis level assessment of lease standard from a lessee’s perspective, including
interpreting lease agreements to identify potential accounting errors, and recall and apply
the lease accounting standard from a lessor’s perspective
Consolidations: Recall and/or apply more complex consolidation topics such as VIE and
foreign currency translation and remeasurement
Business combinations, goodwill, indefinite-lived intangible assets including impairment
testing, stock-based compensation, derivatives/hedge accounting, research and
development costs, and software costs
SEC reporting requirements (disclosure requirements (S-K/S-X), segment reporting)
Emerging reporting frameworks (environmental, social and governance (ESG)/
sustainability)
Financial statements of employee-benefit plans, including disclosure requirements

You indicated that you {{ Q39.R1 }} with the content allocated to Area 2: Technical
Accounting & Reporting Topics. Please explain which specific topics in the area you
disagree with and why.

•

Add a last bullet: Applicable upcoming professional standards not yet adopted

For discussion purposes only.
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey

Discipline: Business Analysis and Reporting (BAR)
Area 3: Accounting for State and Local Governments
Format and content of the financial section of the comprehensive annual financial report
(CAFR)
Government wide financial statements, financial statements of governmental funds,
proprietary funds and fiduciary funds, notes to the financial statements, MD&A,
budgetary comparison reporting, required supplementary information (RSI) other than
management’s discussion and analysis, and financial reporting entity, including
blended and discrete component units
Deriving government-wide financial statements and reconciliation requirements
Typical items and specific types of transactions and events: measurement, valuation,
calculation and presentation in governmental entity financial statements
Net position, fund balances, capital assets and infrastructure assets, general and
proprietary long-term liabilities, interfund activity, nonexchange revenue transactions,
expenditures and expenses, budgetary accounting and encumbrances

* Indicate your level of agreement with the content included in Area 3: Accounting for
State & Local Governments.
Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Agree
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Strongly Agree

N/A

36

Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey

Discipline: Information Systems and Controls (ISC)
On the following screens you will rate content included in the Information Systems and Controls
(ISC) Discipline section.

For discussion purposes only.
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey

Discipline: Information Systems and Controls (ISC)
Area 1: System and Organization Controls (SOC) Engagements
SOC 1 Engagements (Type 1 and Type 2)
Nature, scope and planning of engagement
Forming the opinion and preparing the service auditor’s report
SOC 2 Engagements (Type 1 and Type 2)
Nature, scope and planning of engagement
Forming the opinion and preparing the service auditor’s report
Note: Performing procedures and obtaining evidence for each engagement type will be
assessed to the extent applicable within Areas 2 and 3

* Indicate your level of agreement with the content included in Area 1: System and
Organization Controls (SOC) Engagements.
Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Agree

For discussion purposes only.

Strongly Agree

N/A
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey

Discipline: Information Systems and Controls (ISC)

Area 2: Governance, Processes, Risks and Controls
COSO Internal Control – Integrated Framework
AICPA 2017 Trust Services Criteria for Security, Availability, Processing Integrity,
Confidentiality, and Privacy
Understanding of business processes, including manual and automated controls
Understanding of information systems (e.g., ERP and other information systems) and IT
infrastructure
IT change management
Information systems aspects of business resilience, including system availability, business
continuity and disaster recovery
Incident response planning

* Indicate your level of agreement with the content included in Area 2: Governance,
Processes, Risks and Controls.

Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Agree
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Strongly Agree

N/A
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey

Discipline: Information Systems and Controls (ISC)
Area 2: Governance, Processes, Risks and Controls
COSO Internal Control - Integrated Framework
AICPA 2017 Trust Services Criteria for Security, Availability, Processing Integrity,
Confidentiality, and Privacy
Understanding of business processes, including manual and automated controls
Understanding of information systems (e.g., ERP and other information systems) and IT
infrastructure
IT change management
Information systems aspects of business resilience, including system availability, business
continuity and disaster recovery
Incident response planning

You indicated that you {{ Q45.R1 }} with the content allocated to Area 2: Governance,
Processes, Risks and Controls. Please explain which specific topics in the area you
disagree with and why.

•

Unclear if cyber is included in this section given it is not explicitly listed.

For discussion purposes only.
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey

Discipline: Information Systems and Controls (ISC)
Area 3: Information, System Security, Confidentiality, and Privacy
Information security frameworks and standards
Logical access and authentication controls
Hardware and physical access controls
Network, software, and endpoint security
Data governance standards and frameworks
Privacy regulations
Confidentiality and privacy controls

* Indicate your level of agreement with the content included in Area 3: Information,
System Security, Confidentiality, and Privacy.

Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Agree

For discussion purposes only.

Strongly Agree

N/A
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Discipline: Tax Compliance and Planning (TCP)

On the following screens you will rate content included in the Tax Compliance and Planning
(TCP) Discipline section.
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Discipline: Tax Compliance and Planning (TCP)
Area 1: Individual Tax and Financial Planning
Tax planning considerations for gross income (inclusions and exclusions)
Tax planning considerations for adjustments and deductions to arrive at adjusted gross
income and taxable income
Passive activity and at-risk loss limitations
Tax planning considerations for computation of tax, estimated taxes, and tax credits
Gift taxation compliance and planning
Personal financial planning for individuals: asset and liability determination, income and
spending patterns, cash flow management and budgeting, time value of money
considerations in decision making models, tax liability management - income shifting and
deduction planning, charitable giving planning, estate, gift, and wealth transfer planning,
employee and business owner planning, including executive compensation, stock options,
etc., education planning, investment planning, and retirement planning.
Note: Personal financial planning topics could be assessed within the aforementioned topics
above

* Indicate your level of agreement with the content included in Area 1: Individual Tax
and Financial Planning.
Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Agree
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Strongly Agree

N/A
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Discipline: Tax Compliance and Planning (TCP)
Area 2: Entity Tax Compliance
C corporations: net operating loss limitations, entity/owner transactions, including
contributions, loans and distributions, consolidated tax returns, and international tax issues
S Corporations: basis of shareholder’s interest (including but not limited to
increase/decrease to shareholder basis resulting from shareholder contributions and
distributions, new loans from shareholder to the S-Corporation, S-Corporations basis in
contributed assets, and loss limited to shareholder stock and debt basis), entity/owner
transactions, including contributions, loans and distributions
Partnerships: basis of partner’s interest (including but not limited to increase/decrease to
partner’s basis resulting from partner contributions and distributions, new loans from
partner to the partnership, recourse versus non-recourse loans and liabilities, and
partnership basis in assets contributed), partnership and partner elections, transactions
between a partner and the partnership including contributions to the partnership,
distributions from the partnership, services performed by a partner, loans, and ownership
changes
Trusts
Tax-exempt organizations: obtaining and maintaining tax-exempt status and unrelated
business income

* Indicate your level of agreement with the content included in Area 2: Entity Tax
Compliance.
Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Agree
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Strongly Agree

N/A
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Discipline: Tax Compliance and Planning (TCP)
Area 3: Entity Tax Planning
Tax treatment of formation and liquidations of business entities
Tax planning for C corporations, including but not limited to: role of tax-free interest, tax
credit expiration dates, NOLs and capital loss carryforward expiration dates in planning,
impact of audit findings, changes in method of accounting, tax accounting for inventories,
succession planning, employee/shareholder planning
Tax planning for S corporations, including but not limited to: planning considerations for
distributions (i.e., disproportionate distributions), planning for built-in gains tax, changes in
method of accounting, tax accounting for inventories, succession planning,
employee/shareholder planning
Tax planning for partnerships, including but not limited to: guaranteed payment vs.
distribution to a partner, changes in method of accounting, tax accounting for inventories,
succession planning, employee/shareholder planning

* Indicate your level of agreement with the content included in Area 3: Entity Tax
Planning.
Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Agree
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Strongly Agree

N/A
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Core and Discipline Draft Content Survey
Discipline: Tax Compliance and Planning (TCP)
Area 4: Property Transactions

Information security frameworks and standards
Logical access and authentication controls
Hardware and physical access controls

* Indicate your level of agreement with the content included in Area 4: Property
Transactions.
Strongly Disagree

Disagree

Agree
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Strongly Agree

N/A
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After completing this survey and reviewing the CPA Exam Practice Analysis
Survey Background, is there any additional content that you believe has not
been identified and should be considered for inclusion in a CPA Exam Core or
Discipline? For recommended content, please suggest the Core or Discipline
you believe it belongs.

Do you have any other comments related to the content allocations in CPA
Exam Core or Discipline?

CBA Item II.G.
September 22-23, 2022

Discussion and Possible Action Regarding Reviewing Applicants’ Recent Peer
Review Ratings as a Condition of Appointment/Reappointment to Serve on a
California Board of Accountancy Advisory Committee
Presented by: Dominic Franzella, Chief, Enforcement Division
Purpose of the Item

The purpose of this agenda item is to provide the California Board of Accountancy
(CBA) the opportunity to discuss whether it wishes to modify the recruitment review
process for individuals seeking appointment to one of the CBA’s advisory committees.

Consumer Protection Objectives

Ensuring individuals seeking appointment to the CBA’s advisory committees maintain
appropriate qualifications is consistent with the CBA’s consumer protection mandate.

Action(s) Needed

The CBA is being asked to determine whether it wishes to modify the recruitment review
process for individuals seeking appointment to one of the CBA’s advisory committees
by having staff confirm individuals’ peer review ratings.

Background

This item has been placed on the agenda at the request of a CBA member.
The CBA has three standing advisory committees – Qualifications Committee (QC),
Enforcement Advisory Committee (EAC), and Peer Review Oversight Committee
(PROC). Provided below is information regarding the memberships and roles of these
committees.
QC
The QC is comprised of 13 members and acts as an advisory committee and assists the
CBA in its licensure activities by:
•
•

Conducting work paper reviews of experience of applicants appearing before the
committee.
Interviewing employers that appear before the committee under the provision of
California Code of Regulations (CCR), title 16, section 69.
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•

Making recommendations and forwarding reports to the CBA for action on any
matter on which it is authorized to act.

EAC
The EAC is comprised of 13 members and assists the CBA in an advisory nature with
its enforcement activities by:
•

•
•
•
•

Serving in a technical advisory capacity to the Executive Officer and the
Enforcement Program. The EAC members may participate in investigative
hearings along with staff investigators; counsel from the Attorney General's
Office and where appropriate, outside counsel.
In an appropriate manner, consistent with the Administrative Procedure Act,
reporting its findings from any investigation or hearing to the CBA, or upon
direction of the CBA, to the Executive Officer.
Reviewing open investigations upon request by Enforcement staff and providing
technical assistance.
Reviewing closed investigations and reporting its findings and recommendations
to the CBA or upon direction of the CBA, to the Executive Officer.
Making recommendations and forwarding reports to the CBA for action on any
matter on which it is authorized by the CBA to consider.

PROC
The PROC is comprised of seven members and acts as an advisory committee and
assists the CBA in its oversight of the Peer Review Program by:
•
•

•
•

Holding meetings as necessary in order to conduct business and report to the
CBA regarding the effectiveness of mandatory peer review.
Ensuring that Board-recognized peer review program providers (Provider)
administer peer reviews in accordance with the standards set forth in CCR
section 48:
o Conduct an annual administrative site visit.
o Attend peer review board meetings, as necessary but sufficient to
evaluate and assess the effectiveness of the program.
o Attend peer review committee meetings, as necessary but sufficient to
evaluate and assess the effectiveness of the program.
o Attend meetings conducted for the purposes of accepting peer review
reports, as necessary but sufficient to evaluate and assess the
effectiveness of the program.
o Conduct reviews of peer review reports on a sample basis.
o Attend, on a regular basis, peer reviewer training courses.
Evaluating any Application to Become A Board-recognized Peer Review Provider
and recommending approval or denial to the CBA.
Referring to the CBA any Provider that fails to respond to any request.
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•
•
•

Collecting and analyzing statistical monitoring and reporting data from each
Provider on an annual basis.
Preparing an Annual Report to the CBA regarding the results of its oversight.
Evaluating the Peer Reviewer Population.

Peer Review
The California Accountancy Act requires California accounting firms (including sole
proprietorships) that provide accounting and auditing services to undergo a peer review
once every three years as a condition of license renewal. The goal of peer review is to
promote quality in the accounting and auditing services provided by accounting firms,
and to ensure that licensees are adhering to professional standards.
Consumer protection is increased in two crucial areas through peer review:
1. The peer review requirement helps to monitor and educate accounting firms to
promote quality in the accounting and auditing services they provide. This goal
serves the public interest and protects the consumer through an increase in the
quality of the product provided to clients.
2. The CBA requires accounting firms receiving substandard peer review ratings to
notify the CBA. The CBA reviews the information to assess whether to pursue
enforcement actions against accounting firms receiving substandard ratings. This
consumer protection mechanism provides assurance that only qualified licensees
are practicing public accounting and providing services to consumers in
California.
At the conclusion of a peer review, an accounting firm receives one of three ratings:
pass, pass with deficiencies, or substandard (fail). The ratings vary slightly depending
on whether the peer review performed is a System Review or an Engagement Review.
System Reviews
Accounting firms undergo a System Review, if as their highest level of service, they
perform engagements under the Statements on Auditing Standards, Government
Auditing Standards, examinations of prospective financial statements under the
Statements on Standards for Attest Engagements, or audits of non-Security Exchange
Commission issuers performed pursuant to the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board.
The scope of a System Review is to test firms’ system of quality control and provide the
peer reviewer with a reasonable assurance that accounting firms’ system of quality
control are designed in accordance with professional standards and complied with by
the accounting firm’s personnel. In a System Review, the ratings have the following
meanings:
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•

•

•

Pass – The accounting firm's system of quality control was suitably designed
and complied with by the accounting firm’s personnel, which provides the firm
with reasonable assurance of performing and reporting on engagements in
conformity with applicable standards.
Pass with Deficiencies – The accounting firm’s system of quality control was
suitably designed and complied with by the accounting firm's personnel with
the exception of a certain deficiency or deficiencies that are described in the
report. The deficiencies are such that the accounting firm’s design of or
compliance with its system could create a situation in which the accounting
firm would have less than reasonable assurance of performing and/or
reporting on engagements in conformity with applicable professional
standards. At least one engagement must be nonconforming to receive a
pass with deficiencies rating. The pass with deficiencies rating is a wide
spectrum and may range from minor deviations from the Standards to
significant deficiencies.
Substandard – The accounting firm’s system of quality control is not suitably
designed or complied with by the firm’s personnel, and thus, does not provide
the accounting firm with reasonable assurance of performing and reporting on
engagements in conformity with applicable professional standards.

For System Reviews, the distinction between pass with deficiencies and substandard is
arrived at using professional judgement and a holistic approach that takes the entire
comprehensive review into consideration. Generally, report acceptance bodies will
review documentation provided by a team captain to determine if the report rating
arrived at by the team captain appears appropriate.
Engagement Reviews
Accounting firms under an Engagement Review, if as their highest level of service, they
perform engagements under the Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review
Services or under Statements on Standards for Attestation Engagements not
encompassed in the System Review requirements undergo.
During Engagement Reviews, peer reviewers look at cross-sections of an accounting
firm’s engagements to assess whether they are performed in conformity with
professional standards. In an Engagement Review, the ratings have the following
meanings:
•
•

Pass – The engagements performed by accounting firms are performed in
conformity with applicable professional standards.
Pass with Deficiencies – The engagements performed by accounting firms
and submitted for review were performed in conformity with applicable
professional standards, with the exception of a certain deficiency or
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•

deficiencies, nothing would cause the peer reviewer to believe that the
engagements performed by the accounting firm and submitted for review
were not performed in conformity with applicable professional standards. The
deficiencies identified were such that the peer reviewer concluded they were
material to the understanding of the report or financial statements or
represented omission of critical procedures required by applicable
professional standards.
Substandard – The engagements reviewed were not performed and/or
reported on in conformity with applicable professional standards. In issuing
such report, the peer reviewer shall assess both the significance of the
deficiencies identified and the pervasiveness of the deficiencies.

For Engagement Reviews, the distinction between a pass with deficiencies and a
substandard report rating is relatively straightforward. The difference is based on
whether some (or all) engagements selected for review are identified as nonconforming.
If an engagement is found to be nonconforming in any way, the firm will receive a peer
review report rating of substandard; however, the violation may not necessarily be
egregious, and in some cases may be fairly minor.

Comments

When individuals send in their information showing interest in serving on or seeking
reappointment to an advisory committee, staff perform a review of individuals’
qualifications. Staff verify that potential appointees have met the appropriate
requirements for license renewal, including continuing education requirements and peer
review (if subject). A check is also made to ensure there are no pending enforcement
actions.
The peer review verification performed by staff at this time consists of ensuring
compliance with the peer review requirement, whether individuals are operating as a
sole practitioner or within an accounting firm. This review does not include performing a
review of the most recent peer review rating.
The question before the CBA is: Does the CBA want staff to include a review of
individuals’ most recent peer review rating as part of the verification process?
The CBA may wish to consider other factors both in answering this question and how to
apply a verification process should the CBA move forward with implementing this step.
•
•

Will the CBA require individuals’ firms (whether operating as a sole proprietor or
within an accounting firm) have a pass rating on the most recent peer review?
Many individuals work for accounting firms with multiple
owners/shareholders/partners. Peer review, and more specifically a System
Review, looks at a cross section of the accounting firms work to determine if the
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•
•

•

system of quality control is suitably designed and is being followed. The peer
review is not necessarily an indication of specific individuals’ knowledge and
understanding.
Some individuals work for accounting firms that are multistate and national. And,
similar to the prior factor, the peer review is not necessarily an indication of
specific individuals’ knowledge an understanding.
Some individuals may not be owners/partners/shareholders in an accounting
firm, and while they may be part of the accounting and auditing practice, they are
not the individuals tasked with ensuring the accounting and auditing services of
the accounting firm.
Some individuals that apply are part of an accounting firm where they are not
part of the accounting and auditing practice. They may work in the tax practice,
consulting practice, etc. These are not services that require a peer review and
the peer review rating the accounting firm receives would not provide insight into
these individuals’ knowledge and understanding.

Based on the CBA’s response to the question regarding implementing a verification
process for peer review, and it’s consideration of the various factors identified, staff will
update the verification process as necessary.

Fiscal/Economic Impact Considerations

There are no fiscal/economic impact considerations.

Recommendation

Staff do not have a recommendation on this agenda item.

Attachment
None.

CBA Item II.H.
September 22-23, 2022

California Board of Accountancy 2022 Legislative Tracking Chart, 2022 Legislative
Calendar, and Considerations for Taking Positions on Legislation
Presented by: Patrick Ibarra, Information and Planning Officer
Purpose of the Item

The purpose of this agenda item is to provide an overview of those bills on which the
California Board of Accountancy (CBA) has taken a position during the 2021 and 2022
Legislative Session (Attachment 1).

Consumer Protection Objectives

It is critical to ensure the CBA is informed regarding legislative proposals that may
impact its consumer protection mission.

Action(s) Needed

No specific action is required on this agenda item.

Background

Each year, members of the Legislature introduce bills that propose wide-ranging
impacts for California. Staff review the proposed legislation and present those measures
to the CBA that relate to its consumer protection mission and oversight of the practice of
public accountancy in California.

Comments

The bills listed on the Legislative Tracking Chart for September 2022 reflect those on
which the CBA previously took a position.
The Legislature concluded its business on August 31, 2022 and transmitted many bills
to Governor Newsom’s desk for his signature or veto. The Governor has until
September 30, 2022 to sign or veto bills in his possession, should he fail to act on any
measure it will become statute.

Fiscal/Economic Impact Considerations

There are no fiscal/economic impact considerations.
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Recommendation
None.
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Attachment 3

Considerations for Taking Positions on Legislation
As new bills are introduced or amended in the Legislature, the California Board of
Accountancy (CBA) may take a variety of positions, which are outlined below.
Introduced legislation rarely passes through the legislative process without amendments
and those amendments may change the CBA’s position. Should the CBA take a
position on a bill, staff will track the legislation and update the CBA on any
developments.
Positions the CBA May Take
Sponsor:
The CBA is the sponsor of a bill, meaning the CBA participated in the
development of the legislation, will provide technical assistance to the author on
any related policy areas, and advocate its passage.
Support:
CBA supports the bill as currently written and sends a letter of support to
interested legislators. The CBA may decide to take proactive action in favor of
the bill.
Support if Amended:
The CBA supports the concept, or certain portions of the bill, but requests an
amendment to obtain the CBA’s full support. This position would be
communicated to legislators along with the requested amendment. If the CBA’s
amendment is accepted without further significant amendments, the CBA’s
position will be changed automatically to support the bill, and a letter reflecting
this new position will be sent to the Legislature.
Neutral:
The bill in question may affect the CBA’s interests in some way, but the CBA
does not have a formal position. If the CBA adopts a Neutral positon, it may wish
to consider sending a letter to explain its viewpoint.
Oppose unless Amended:
The CBA opposes the bill as presently written, but if the bill were amended as
requested by the CBA, the CBA’s position would change to neutral. This position
will be communicated to the author and other legislators, along with the
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suggested amendment. If the CBA’s amendment is accepted without a significant
change, a letter will be sent withdrawing the CBA’s opposition and stating a new
position.
Oppose:
The CBA opposes the bill. There are no reasonable or anticipated amendments
that would change the CBA’s position. The CBA would send a letter of opposition
to the author and other legislators and may consider taking proactive action
against the bill.
Watch:
The bill may develop into an item of interest for the CBA. Staff will continue to
monitor the bill and update the CBA on any developments.
Discontinue Following:
The bill has changed in such a way that it is no longer of interest to the CBA.
Staff will stop monitoring and providing updates on the bill.
Throughout the legislative process, staff will track the bills that the CBA takes a position
on, and monitor other legislation that may be of interest to the CBA.

CBA Item II.I.1.
September 22-23 2022
CALIFORNIA BOARD OF ACCOUNTANCY
LEGISLATIVE ANALYSIS
AB 1604
Subject:
Version:
Status:

Civil Service: The Upward
Mobility Act of 2022.
August 11, 2022
Governor’s Desk

CBA Position: Watch
Author:
Holden
Sponsor:
Author

Summary

Assembly Bill (AB) 1604 (Attachment 1) proposes to establish the Upward Mobility Act
of 2022. The bill requires that the California Department of Human Resources (CalHR)
and the State Personnel Board (SPB) establish best practices for each aspect of the
design, announcement, and administration of examinations for the purpose of
increasing diversity of applicant pools on employments lists.
CalHR shall establish minimum qualifications for determining the fitness and
qualifications of employees for each class of position, including education, experience,
knowledge, and abilities that each applicant is required to have to be considered eligible
for a classification.
The SPB may conduct audits and investigations of personnel practices of the
department and appointing authorities to ensure compliance with civil service policies,
procedures, and statutes, and shall post notices of proposed changes to regulations for
public comment.
The upward mobility goals may include race, gender, Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual,
Transgender, Queer (LGBTQ), and disability status as factors to the extent permissible
under state and federal equal protection and antidiscrimination laws.
Not later than July 1 of each year, each department shall provide to CalHR a report that
demonstrates progress made toward meeting upward mobility goals. CalHR will post
each department’s upward mobility goals on its website.

Recommendation

Maintain Watch Position. Staff recommend the California Board of Accountancy (CBA)
maintain its Watch position on this bill. This bill was amended on August 11, 2022 to
delete requirements related to diversity on boards and commissions and the collection
of demographic data and modified the reporting requirements to the Legislature.

Background

The California State Constitution (Article VII) establishes the SPB. The SPB is
mandated to enforce the civil service statutes and, by majority vote of all its members,
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shall prescribe probationary periods and classifications, adopt other rules authorized by
statute, and review disciplinary actions.
In May 2011, Governor Brown announced his Reorganization Plan Number 1 (GRP 1,
Statutes of 2011), which among other items would have consolidated the Department of
Personnel Administration and most functions of SPB into one department, CalHR. In
2012, Senate Bill (SB) 1308 (Committee on Public Employment and Retirement,
Chapter 665, Statutes of 2012) and SB 1309 (Negrete McLeod, Chapter 360, Statutes
of 2012) were introduced to implement the Governor’s plan.
Existing law (Government Code section 19402) requires state departments to annually
develop upward mobility goals and timetables and provide the data to CalHR. These
goals shall include: the number of employees expected to progress from positions in
low-paying occupational groups to entry-level technical, professional, and administrative
positions, and the timeframe within which this progress shall occur. Existing law
provides that any appointing authority that determines that it will be unable to achieve
the goals may ask CalHR for a reduction in the goals. If CalHR determines that the
appointing authority has not made a good faith effort to achieve the goals, CalHR shall
hold public hearings to determine the reasons for the deficiencies and to establish a
program to overcome these deficiencies.
Currently, an appointing power, or its authorized representative, may take adverse
action against an employee if a written notice is served on the employee prior to the
effective date of the action, as defined by SPB rule. The notice shall be served upon the
employee either personally or by mail and shall include: 1) a statement of the nature of
the adverse action; 2) the effective date of the action; 3) a statement of the reasons
therefore in ordinary language; 4) a statement advising the employee of the right to
answer the notice orally or in writing; and 5) a statement advising the employee of the
time within which an appeal must be filed.
The SPB shall authorize or assess the ability of appointing powers to design, announce,
or administer designated examinations for the establishment of employment lists. The
SPB may audit examinations and order corrective action or nullify any examination or
parts thereof which have been conducted improperly. A designated appointing power
may contract with the CalHR or another designated appointing power for the purpose of
designing, publicizing, or administering an examination.
As introduced, AB 1604 was similar to AB 105 (Holden, 2021). The CBA took a “Watch”
position on AB 105 (Attachment 2), which Governor Newsom subsequently vetoed
(Attachment 3).

Analysis

Upward Mobility Goal
Upward mobility for all employees is integral to achieving equal opportunity goals. The
existing systems in place at state agencies attempt to foster those opportunities. The

AB 1604
Page 3 of 5
author has indicated that even with existing policies, the state fails to create inclusive
workplace environments and hinders qualified individuals in moving up within their
department due to arbitrary barriers that do not reflect their workplace capabilities.
Provisions of the Bill
Under AB 1604, CalHR would establish minimum qualifications for determining the
fitness of employees for each position class, including education, experience,
knowledge, and abilities that each applicant is required to have to be considered eligible
for a classification. The SPB shall conduct audits and investigations of personnel
practices of the department and appointing authorities to ensure compliance with civil
service policies, procedures, and statutes, and shall post notices of proposed changes
to regulations for public comment. To determine areas of compliance for non-merit
related audits the SPB may enter into memoranda of understanding and train SPB staff
on areas of compliance.
Process and Standards
The bill requires the SPB to establish a process that includes diversity and best
practices in each aspect of the design, announcement, and administration of
examinations for the establishment of employment lists. The bill would also require the
announcement for an examination including the core competencies, as defined, and the
standard statement of qualifications, if applicable.
The SPB, in conjunction with the CalHR, must create standards for statements of
qualifications used as examination criteria for the State of California in determining the
fitness and qualifications of employees for each class of position. The department may
require applicants for examination or appointment to provide documentation as it deems
necessary to establish the applicants’ qualifications.
Establishment of Goals
The bill would require each department to develop model upward mobility goals and
submit them to CalHR for submission to a Legislative report, as well at posting on its
internet website. These model upward mobility goals may include race, gender, LGBTQ,
and disability, as factors to the extent permissible under state and federal equal
protection laws.
If the appointing authority is unable to meet its annual upward mobility goals and
timetables for two consecutive fiscal years, the appointing authority shall include in the
report submitted an explanation as to why it failed to achieve its goals and what
requirements are necessary to facilitate achieving tis goals in the subsequent two fiscal
years
Potential Impacts to the CBA
There have been numerous legislative proposals over the years involving matters
relating to inequities in salary, race, gender and other aspects of equal opportunity
within the state’s civil service process and workforce. In addition, a number of recent
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executive administrations have worked, and continue to work, to address the
recruitment and retention of a diverse civil service and exempt employee workforce that
broadly reflects the public in California.
The provisions of this bill would require the CBA to consider any established upward
mobility goals in its hiring practices.
The fact sheet prepared by the author’s office is included as Attachment 4.

Fiscal Estimate

This bill has no direct fiscal impact for the CBA. However, the Senate Appropriations
Committee analysis states that CalHR indicates that it would incur both one-time and
ongoing General Fund costs resulting from the bill. The magnitude is unknown, but
likely in the millions of dollars. In addition, the bill would result in unknown, likely
significant ongoing costs to state agencies to comply with the bill’s reporting
requirements (General Fund and special funds).

Support/Opposition [verified: August 13, 2022]
Support:

California Insurance Commissioner Ricardo Lara
Association of California State Employees with Disabilities
California Federation of Teachers AFL-CIO
California Hawaii State Conference of the NAACP
California Immigrant Policy Center
California Pan - Ethnic Health Network
California Teachers Association
Coalition for A Just and Equitable California
Disability Rights California
Hewlett-Packard Company
Laurel Leadership Institute Dba Diversity in Leadership Institute
National Assembly of American Slavery Descendants Los Angeles
National Association of Social Workers, California Chapter

Opposition: Californians for Equal Rights Foundation
Pacific Legal Foundation

Effective/Operative Date
January 1, 2023.

Related Bills
•

•

AB 105 (Holden, 2021) this was the “Upward Mobility Act of 2021: Boards and
Commissions: Civil Service: Examinations: Classifications.” (Vetoed by the
Governor)
SB 702 (Limon, 2021) would have required that on or before March 1, 2022, the
Governor’s office convene a working group to discuss and make recommendations
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•

on the most effective way to ensure the state’s leadership on boards and
commissions to ensure diversity in race, gender identity, class, region, and creed,
among other things. (Vetoed by the Governor)
AB 979 (Holden, Chapter 316, Statutes of 2020) requires each publicly held
corporation whose principal executive offices are located in California to have a
minimum number of directors from underrepresented communities on its board of
directors.

Attachments
1.
2.
3.
4.

Assembly Bill 1604
Assembly Bill 105 CBA Letter
Assembly Bill 105 Veto Message
Assembly Bill 1604 Fact Sheet

Attachment 1
AMENDED IN SENATE AUGUST 11, 2022
AMENDED IN SENATE JUNE 30, 2022
AMENDED IN ASSEMBLY MARCH 7, 2022
AMENDED IN ASSEMBLY FEBRUARY 23, 2022
california legislature—2021–22 regular session

ASSEMBLY BILL

No. 1604

Introduced by Assembly Member Holden
January 4, 2022

An act to amend Sections 11140, 18502, 18931, 18933, 18936, 19402,
and 19574 and 19402 of, and to add Sections 8310.6, 18553, 18553
and 18930.1 to, the Government Code, relating to human resources.
legislative counsel’s digest

AB 1604, as amended, Holden. The Civil service: the Upward
Mobility Act of 2022: boards and commissions: civil service:
examinations: classifications. 2022.
Existing law provides that it is the policy of the State of California
that the composition of state boards and commissions shall be broadly
reflective of the general public, including ethnic minorities and women.
This bill would, except as specified, require that, on or after January
1, 2023, all state boards and commissions consisting of one or more
volunteer members have at least one board member or commissioner
from an underrepresented community. The bill would define the term
“board member or commissioner from an underrepresented community”
to include, but not be limited to, an individual who self-identifies as
Black, African American, Hispanic, Latino, Asian, Pacific Islander,
Native American, Native Hawaiian, or Alaska Native; who self-identifies
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as gay, lesbian, bisexual, or transgender; who is a veteran, as defined;
or who has a disability, as defined. The bill would apply these
requirements only as vacancies on state boards and commissions occur.
The California Constitution establishes the State Personnel Board
(board) and requires the board to, among other things, enforce the civil
service statutes, prescribe probationary periods and classifications,
adopt rules authorized by statute, and review disciplinary actions. The
Constitution also requires the executive officer of the board to administer
the civil service statutes under the rules of the board. Under existing
law, the board is authorized to conduct audits and investigations of the
personnel practices of the Department of Human Resources and
appointing authorities to ensure compliance with civil service policies,
procedures, and statutes. Existing law exempts regulations of the board
from the Administrative Procedure Act, except as specified. Existing
law establishes the Department of Human Resources (department) and
provides that, subject to the requirements of the California Constitution,
it succeeds to and is vested with the duties, purposes, responsibilities,
and jurisdiction exercised by the board as its designee with respect to
the board’s administrative and ministerial functions.
This bill, among other things, would instead authorize the department,
at the direction of and in conjunction with the State Personnel Board,
to conduct audits and investigations of personnel practices of other
departments and appointing authorities to ensure compliance with civil
service policies, procedures, and statutes. The bill would require the
department to oversee compliance with rules prescribed by the board
consistent with a merit-based civil service system to govern
appointments, classifications, examinations, probationary periods,
disciplinary actions, and other matters related to the board’s
constitutional authority, and require the department, pursuant to a
process established by the State Personnel Board, to investigate
complaints filed by employees in a state department’s equal employment
opportunity program and personnel office, other civil service employees,
applicants, and members of the public alleging violations of civil service
laws and report findings to the board for adjudication. require the board
to post notices of proposed changes to regulations for public comment.
The bill would require the Department of Human Resources and the
board to enter into a memorandum of understanding to determine areas
of compliance for nonmerit-related audits and to train board staff on
the areas of compliance.
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Existing law requires any state agency, board, or commission that
directly or by contract collects demographic data as to the ancestry or
ethnic origin of Californians to use separate collection categories and
tabulations for major Asian and Pacific Islander groups, as specified.
This bill would require any state agency, board, or commission that
directly or by contract collects demographic data as to the ancestry or
ethnic origin of Californians to use separate collection categories and
tabulations for specified African American groups. The bill would
distinguish between African Americans who are descendants of persons
enslaved in the United States and African Americans who are not
descendants of persons enslaved in the United States, as defined.
Existing law requires that lists of eligible applicants for civil service
positions be established as a result of free competitive examinations.
Existing law, with regard to the requirements governing examinations
for establishing employment lists, authorizes the department Department
of Human Resources to designate an appointing power to design,
announce, or administer examinations and requires the board to establish
minimum qualifications for determining the fitness and qualifications
of employees for each class of position.
This bill would require instead that the board Department of Human
Resources establish a process that includes diversity and best practices
in for each aspect of the design, announcement, and administration of
the examinations and, in developing qualifications for determining the
fitness and qualifications of employees, create for the purpose of
increasing diversity of applicant pools on employment lists and develop
standards for statements of qualifications used as the examination criteria
for the State of California method in determining the fitness and
qualifications of employees applicants for each class of position. The
bill would also require that examinations with an oral component be
video and otherwise electronically recorded and all other examination
materials be maintained for each examination, as specified. position,
when applicable. The bill would also require the announcement for an
examination to include the core competencies, as defined, and the type
of exam method, including the standard statement of qualifications, if
applicable.
Existing law requires all appointing authorities of state government
to establish an effective program of upward mobility for employees in
low-paying occupational groups. Existing law requires each upward
mobility program to include annual goals for upward mobility and a
timetable for when progress will occur, and requires the department to
95
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approve the goals and timetables. Existing law authorizes an appointing
authority that determines that it will be unable to achieve the goals to
ask the department for a reduction in the goals, as specified.
This bill would, no later than July 1 of each year, require each
department to provide a report to the Department of Human Resources
that demonstrates the department’s progress made toward meeting its
upward mobility goals. The bill would repeal the authorization for an
appointing authority to ask the department Department of Human
Resources for a reduction in their annual upward mobility goals, and
would instead require the appointing authority to submit a include in
the progress report explaining an explanation for the failure to achieve
the goals and what requirements are necessary to facilitate achieving
the goals, as specified, and then submit the report to specified persons.
specified. The bill would, on or before July 1, 2023, 2024, require the
department to develop model upward mobility goals that include race,
gender, LGBTQ, veteran status, or physical or mental disability as
factors, and Department of Human Resources to post each department’s
upward mobility goals on its internet website. The bill would, on or
before January 1 of the following year after each department provides
these reports, require the Department of Human Resources to provide
a report copy of the upward mobility goals and these progress reports
to the Legislature outlining the department workforce analysis used to
develop those model goals. Legislature.
Existing law authorizes a state appointing power to take adverse action
against state civil service employees for specified causes for discipline,
and provides procedures for state civil service disciplinary proceedings.
Existing law authorizes the board to hold hearings and make
investigations concerning all matters relating to the enforcement and
effect of the State Civil Service Act, as specified.
This bill would require each appointing power to provide the
Department of Human Resources with a report, no later than April 1 of
each year, detailing certain information regarding adverse actions against
state employees, including, but not limited to, the ethnicity, race, gender
identity, or sexual orientation of each employee served with an adverse
action in the preceding calendar year.
Vote: majority. Appropriation: no. Fiscal committee: yes.
State-mandated local program: no.
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The people of the State of California do enact as follows:
line 1
line 2
line 3
line 4
line 5
line 6
line 7
line 8
line 9
line 10
line 11
line 12
line 13
line 14
line 15
line 16
line 17
line 18
line 19
line 20
line 21
line 22
line 23
line 24
line 25
line 26
line 27
line 28
line 29
line 30
line 31
line 32
line 33
line 34
line 35
line 36
line 37
line 38

SECTION 1. This act shall be known, and may be cited, as the
Upward Mobility Act of 2022.
SEC. 2. Section 8310.6 is added to the Government Code, to
read:
8310.6. (a) A state agency, board, or commission that directly
or by contract collects demographic data as to the ancestry or ethnic
origin of Californians shall use separate collection categories and
tabulations for the following:
(1) African Americans who are descendants of persons enslaved
in the United States.
(2) African Americans who are not descendants of persons
enslaved in the United States, including, but not limited to, African
Blacks, Caribbean Blacks, and other African Americans or Blacks.
(b) The data collected pursuant to the different collection
categories and tabulations described in subdivision (a) shall be
included in every demographic report on ancestry or ethnic origins
of Californians by the state agency, board, or commission published
or released on or after January 1, 2023. The data shall be made
available to the public in accordance with state and federal law,
except for personal identifying information, which shall be deemed
confidential.
(c) As used in this section, the following definitions apply:
(1) “African Americans who are descendants of persons enslaved
in the United States” means individuals who self-identify as Black
or African American with at least one ancestor who was enslaved
or subject to chattelization in the United States.
(2) “African Blacks” means individuals with origins from the
continent of Africa, including, but not limited to, one or more of
the following countries: Algeria, Angola, Benin, Botswana,
Burkina Faso, Burundi, Cabo Verde, Cameroon, Central African
Republic, Chad, Comoros, Côte d’Ivoire, Democratic Republic of
Congo, Djibouti, Egypt, Equatorial Guinea, Eritrea, Eswatini,
Ethiopia, Gabon, Gambia, Ghana, Guinea, Guinea-Bissau, Kenya,
Lesotho, Liberia, Libya, Madagascar, Malawi, Mali, Mauritania,
Mauritius, Morocco, Mozambique, Namibia, Niger, Nigeria,
Republic of the Congo, Rwanda, São Tomé and Príncipe, Senegal,
Seychelles, Sierra Leone, Somalia, South Africa, South Sudan,
Sudan, Tanzania, Togo, Tunisia, Uganda, Zambia, or Zimbabwe.
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line 1
(3) “Caribbean Blacks” means individuals with origins from
line 2 Caribbean countries, including, but not limited to, one or more of
line 3 the following countries: Belize, Puerto Rico, Cuba, Jamaica, Haiti,
line 4 Trinidad and Tobago, Guyana, Barbados, Grenada, St. Croix, St.
line 5 Kitts, the Bahamas, and the Dominican Republic.
line 6
(4) “Other African Americans or Blacks” means individuals
line 7 with African ancestry originating from any country not included
line 8 in paragraph (2) or (3).
line 9
SEC. 3. Section 11140 of the Government Code is amended
line 10 to read:
line 11
11140. (a) It is the policy of the State of California that the
line 12 composition of state boards and commissions shall be broadly
line 13 reflective of the general public, including ethnic minorities and
line 14 women.
line 15
(b) (1) On or after January 1, 2023, all state boards and
line 16 commissions consisting of one or more volunteer members or
line 17 commissioners shall have at least one volunteer board member or
line 18 commissioner from an underrepresented community.
line 19
(2) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), this subdivision shall not
line 20 apply to a state board or commission concerning public
line 21 employment, public education, or public contracting.
line 22
(c) For purposes of this section, the following definitions apply:
line 23
(1) “Board member or commissioner from an underrepresented
line 24 community” includes, but is not limited to, all of the following:
line 25
(A) An individual who self-identifies as Black, African
line 26 American, Hispanic, Latino, Asian, Pacific Islander, Native
line 27 American, Native Hawaiian, or Alaska Native.
line 28
(B) An individual who self-identifies as gay, lesbian, bisexual,
line 29 or transgender.
line 30
(C) An individual who has served in and has been discharged
line 31 under other than dishonorable conditions from service in the United
line 32 States Army, Navy, Air Force, Marine Corps, or Coast Guard.
line 33
(D) An individual who has a “physical disability” or a “mental
line 34 disability” as defined in Section 12926.
line35
(2) “Volunteer member or commissioner” means an
line 36 “administrative volunteer” as defined in subdivision (b) of Section
line 37 3111, who is selected to serve on a board or commission by the
line 38 appropriate nominating authority and who does not receive any
line 39 compensation or financial gain from any state agency, as defined
line 40 in Section 11000. A volunteer may receive per diem and remain
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a volunteer within the meaning of this section, and that volunteer
shall not be considered to be an employee solely on the basis of
receiving the per diem.
(d) Notwithstanding the date specified in paragraph (1) of
subdivision (b), the requirements of this section shall only apply
as vacancies on state boards and commissions occur.
(e) Subject to subdivision (d), this section shall only apply to a
vacancy appointment by the Governor or the Governor’s designees,
the chair of a board or commission or the chair’s designees, the
Speaker of the Assembly, and the President pro Tempore of the
Senate or Senate Rules Committee, or any combination thereof.
SEC. 4.
SEC. 2. Section 18502 of the Government Code is amended
to read:
18502. (a) There is hereby created in state government the
Department of Human Resources. The department succeeds to and
is vested with the following:
(1) All of the powers and duties exercised and performed by
the Department of Personnel Administration.
(2) Those powers, duties, and authorities necessary to operate
the state civil service system pursuant to Article VII of the
California Constitution, this code, the merit principle, and
applicable rules duly adopted by the State Personnel Board.
(b) (1) The State Personnel Board shall prescribe rules
consistent with a merit based civil service system to govern
appointments, classifications, examinations, probationary periods,
disciplinary actions, and other matters related to the board’s
authority under Article VII of the California Constitution. The
State Personnel Board shall ensure that all changes to regulations
are circulated for public comment. may conduct audits and
investigations of personnel practices of the department and
appointing authorities to ensure compliance with civil service
policies, procedures, and statutes, and shall post notices of
proposed changes to regulations for public comment.
(2) The department and the State Personnel Board shall enter
into a memorandum of understanding to determine areas of
compliance for nonmerit-related audits and to train State Personnel
Board staff on the areas of compliance.
(2) The department shall oversee compliance with rules
prescribed by the State Personnel Board consistent with a
95
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merit-based civil service system to govern appointments,
classifications, examinations, probationary periods, disciplinary
actions, and other matters related to the board’s authority under
Article VII of the California Constitution.
(3) The department, at the direction of and in conjunction with
the State Personnel Board, may conduct audits and investigations
of personnel practices of other departments and appointing
authorities to ensure compliance with civil service policies,
procedures, and statutes.
(4) Pursuant to a process established by the State Personnel
Board, the department shall investigate complaints filed by
employees in a state department’s equal employment opportunity
program and personnel office, other civil service employees,
applicants, and members of the public alleging violations of civil
service laws and report findings to the State Personnel Board for
adjudication.
(c) This section shall not limit the authority of the Department
of Human Resources and the State Personnel Board to delegate,
share, or transfer between them responsibilities for programs within
their respective jurisdictions pursuant to an agreement.
(d) The rules and regulations of the State Personnel Board and
of the Department of Personnel Administration shall remain in
effect unless and until contradicted by the terms of this chapter or
amended or repealed by the board or the Department of Human
Resources.
SEC. 5.
SEC. 3. Section 18553 is added to the Government Code, to
read:
18553. “Core competencies” mean the particular education,
experience, knowledge, and abilities that each applicant is required
to have in order to be considered eligible for a particular group of
classifications.
SEC. 6.
SEC. 4. Section 18930.1 is added to the Government Code, to
read:
18930.1. The board department shall establish a process that
includes diversity and best practices in for each aspect of the
design, announcement, and administration of examinations for the
establishment of purpose of increasing diversity of applicant pools
on employment lists.
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SEC. 7.
SEC. 5. Section 18931 of the Government Code is amended
to read:
18931. (a) The board shall establish minimum qualifications
for determining the fitness and qualifications of employees for
each class of position. position, including education, experience,
knowledge, and abilities that each applicant is required to have
to be considered eligible for a classification. The department may
require applicants for examination or appointment to provide
documentation as it deems necessary to establish the applicants’
qualifications.
(b) The board, in developing the qualifications referenced in
subdivision (a), department shall also incorporate develop standards
for statements of qualifications used as the examination criteria
for the State of California method in determining the fitness and
qualifications of employees applicants for each class of position.
position, when applicable. The department may require applicants
for examination or appointment to provide documentation as it
deems necessary to establish the applicants’ qualifications.
(c) Whenever the law requires that an applicant for a position
as a peace officer be screened to ensure that the applicant is free
from emotional and mental impairment, the department or the
designated appointing authority shall undertake that screening
subject to the applicant’s right to appeal to the board.
SEC. 8.
SEC. 6. Section 18933 of the Government Code is amended
to read:
18933. (a) Within a reasonable time before the scheduled date,
the department or a designated appointing power shall announce
or advertise examinations for the establishment of eligible lists.
The announcement shall include the following:
(1) The date and place of the examination.
(2) The nature of the minimum qualifications and the functional
core competencies.
(3) The general scope of the examination.
(4) The relative weight of its several parts if more than one type
of test is to be utilized.
(5) The type of exam method, including the standard statement
of qualifications, if applicable.
(5)
95

AB 1604
line 1
line 2
line 3
line 4
line 5
line 6
line 7
line 8
line 9
line 10
line 11
line 12
line 13
line 14
line 15
line 16
line 17
line 18
line 19
line 20
line 21
line 22
line 23
line 24
line 25
line 26
line 27
line 28
line 29
line 30
line 31
line 32
line 33
line 34
line 35
line 36
line 37
line 38
line 39
line 40

— 10 —

(6) Any other information the department deems proper.
(6) The standard statement of qualifications, if applicable.
(b) The department shall notify the Department of Veterans
Affairs when any promotional examination for the establishment
of an eligible list is announced or advertised to eligible candidates.
The notification shall state the job position and include all of the
information listed in paragraphs (1) to (6), inclusive, of subdivision
(a).
SEC. 9. Section 18936 of the Government Code is amended
to read:
18936. (a) All examination materials, including examination
questions and any written material, shall be maintained for each
examination for three years, after which they shall be disposed of
pursuant to a policy adopted by the board.
(b) Examinations that have an oral examination component shall
be video or otherwise electronically recorded. Examinees shall be
informed that they are being recorded. The recordings shall be
maintained for each examination for three years, after which they
shall be disposed of pursuant to a policy adopted by the board.
(c) The final earned rating of each person competing in any
examination shall be determined by the weighted average of the
earned ratings on all phases of the examination, according to the
weights for each phase established by the department or a
designated appointing power in advance of the giving of the
examination and published as a part of the announcement of the
examination.
(d) The department or a designated appointing power may set
minimum qualifying ratings for each phase of an examination and
may provide that competitors failing to achieve those ratings in
any phase shall be disqualified from any further participation in
the examination.
SEC. 10.
SEC. 7. Section 19402 of the Government Code is amended
to read:
19402. (a) (1) All upward mobility programs shall include
annual goals that include the number of employees expected to
progress from positions in low-paying occupational groups to
entry-level positions to higher level technical, professional, and
administrative positions, and the timeframe within which this
progress shall occur. The For appointing powers that participate
95
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line 1 in apprenticeship programs, the upward mobility program shall
line 2 also include annual goals that include the number of employees
line 3 expected to progress from apprenticeship positions to permanent
line 4 civil service positions.
line 5
(2) The upward mobility goals may include race, gender,
line 6 LGBTQ, and disability status as factors to the extent permissible
line 7 under state and federal equal protection and antidiscrimination
line 8 laws.
line 9
(3) The Department of Human Resources shall be responsible
line 10 for approving each department’s annual upward mobility goals
line 11 and timetables.
line 12
(b) (1) By July 1, 2023, the Department of Human Resources
line 13 shall develop model upward mobility goals based on department
line 14 workforce analysis and shall post the model goals on its internet
line 15 website.
line 16
(2) The model upward mobility goals may include race, gender,
line 17 LGBTQ, veteran status, and physical or mental disability as factors
line 18 to the extent permissible under state and federal equal protection
line 19 laws.
line 20
(b) (1) No later than July 1 of each year, each department shall
line 21 provide a report to the Department of Human Services that
line 22 demonstrates progress made toward meeting upward mobility
line 23 goals. At a minimum, this report shall include the number of
line 24 employees that have progressed from positions in entry-level
line 25 occupational groups to technical, professional, and administrative
line 26 positions in the last calendar year. If the appointing authority is
line 27 unable to meet its annual upward mobility goals and timetables
line 28 for two consecutive fiscal years, the appointing authority shall
line 29 include in the report submitted pursuant to subdivision (b) an
line 30 explanation for why it failed to achieve its goals and what
line 31 requirements are necessary to facilitate achieving its goals in the
line 32 subsequent two fiscal years.
line 33
(3)
line 34
(2) On or before July 1, 2023, January 1 of the following year
line 35 after each department provides the report described in paragraph
line 36 (1), the Department of Human Resources shall provide a copy of
line 37 the model upward mobility goals and a corresponding report
line 38 outlining the workforce analysis used to develop the model upward
line 39 mobility goals to each member of and the report described in
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paragraph (1) to the Legislature. The report shall be submitted in
compliance with Section 9795.
(c) If the appointing authority is unable to meet its annual
upward mobility goals and timetables for two consecutive fiscal
years, the appointing authority shall submit a report explaining
why it failed to achieve its goals and what requirements are
necessary to facilitate achieving its goals in the subsequent two
fiscal years. The appointing authority shall submit the report to
the department, the Director of the Department of Finance, and
the Legislative Analyst.
(3) By July 1, 2024, the Department of Human Resources shall
post each department’s upward mobility goals on its internet
website.
SEC. 11. Section 19574 of the Government Code is amended
to read:
19574. (a) The appointing power, or its authorized
representative, may take adverse action against an employee for
one or more of the causes for discipline specified in this article.
Adverse action is valid only if a written notice is served on the
employee prior to the effective date of the action, as defined by
board rule. The notice shall be served upon the employee either
personally or by mail and shall include: (1) a statement of the
nature of the adverse action; (2) the effective date of the action;
(3) a statement of the reasons therefor in ordinary language; (4) a
statement advising the employee of the right to answer the notice
orally or in writing; and (5) a statement advising the employee of
the time within which an appeal must be filed. The notice shall be
filed with the board not later than 15 calendar days after the
effective date of the adverse action.
(b) Effective January 1, 1996, this subdivision shall apply only
to state employees in State Bargaining Unit 5. This section shall
not apply to discipline as defined by Section 19576.1.
(c) (1) No later than April 1 of each year, each appointing power
shall provide to the Department of Human Resources a report
detailing all of the following information:
(A) The total number of adverse actions served on state
employees in the preceding calendar year.
(B) The ethnicity or race of each employee served with an
adverse action in the preceding calendar year, if available.
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line 1
(C) The gender identity or sexual orientation of each employee
line 2 served with an adverse action in the preceding calendar year, if
line 3 available.
line 4
(D) The statutory basis for discipline under Section 19572 for
line 5 each adverse action served in the preceding calendar year.
line 6
(E) A brief factual summary of the basis for discipline for each
line 7 adverse action served in the preceding calendar year.
line 8
(F) The type of discipline imposed in each adverse action,
line 9 including, but not limited to, outright termination, the nature of
line 10 any demotion, the length of any suspension, or any other type of
line 11 discipline.
line 12
(2) No later than June 1 of each year, the department shall
line 13 include in its annual workforce analysis and census report the items
line 14 as reported by each appointing authority pursuant to this
line 15 subdivision and submit this report to the Legislature.
line 16
(3) This report shall be submitted in compliance with Section
line 17 9795.
line 18
(4) The information required pursuant to subparagraphs (B) and
line 19 (C) of paragraph (1) may be provided at the discretion of the
line 20 employee, and an appointing power shall not require an employee
line 21 to disclose this information.
line 22
SEC. 12.
line 23
SEC. 8. The provisions of this act are severable. If any
line 24 provision of this act or its application is held invalid, that invalidity
line 25 shall not affect other provisions or applications that can be given
line 26 effect without the invalid provision or application.
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Attachment 2

August 20, 2021
The Honorable Chris R. Holden
State Capitol, Room 5132
Sacramento, CA 95814
Bill:
Position:

AB 105
Watch

Dear Assemblymember Holden:
At its July 23, 2021 meeting, the California Board of Accountancy (CBA) voted to take a
Watch position on Assembly Bill (AB) 105, as amended on July 15, 2021.
This bill would require that by January 1, 2022, all state boards and commissions must
have at least one volunteer member from an underrepresented community (Black,
African American, Hispanic, Latino, Asian, Pacific Islander, Native American, Native
Hawaiian, or Alaska Native, or who self-identifies as gay, lesbian, bisexual, or
transgender). This requirement is to apply as vacancies occur.
AB 105 requires the Department of Human Resources (CalHR), in conjunction with the
State Personnel Board (SPB), to oversee compliance with a merit-based civil service
system to govern appointments, classifications, examinations, probationary periods, and
disciplinary actions. The bill authorizes CalHR to: 1) conduct audits and investigations of
personnel practices; and 2) investigate complaints filed by employees in a state
department’s equal employment opportunity program.
The bill requires the SPB to establish a process that includes diversity and best
practices in each aspect of the design, announcement, and administration of
examinations for the establishment of employment lists. The SPB, in conjunction with
CalHR, must create standards for statements of qualifications used in determining the
fitness and qualifications of employees for each class of position, and would require oral
examinations to be electronically recorded, and all materials to be retained.
The CBA supports the concept of greater representation for traditionally
underrepresented communities in government. The CBA did; however, raise two issues
regarding the language of the bill, namely: 1) how will an appointing authority know
whether an applicant is a member of one of these underrepresented communities
unless they self-identify, and 2) why individuals with disabilities were not included within
the definition of an underrepresented community within the bill.
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If you have questions, please contact CBA Assistant Executive Officer Deanne Pearce
at (916) 561-1740 or deanne.pearce@cba.ca.gov.
Sincerely,

Nancy J. Corrigan, CPA
President
c:

Members, California Board of Accountancy
Patti Bowers, Executive Officer, California Board of Accountancy
Members, Assembly Business and Professions Committee
Members, Senate Business, Professions and Economic Development Committee

Attachment 3

OFFICE OF THE GOVERNOR

OCT O8 2021
To the Members of the California State Assembly:
I am returning Assembly Bill 105 without my signature.
This bill would modify several processes related to civil service job
announcements, examinations, classifications, and hiring practices. Additionally,
it would require certain boards and commissions to include appointed
representatives of underrepresented groups and institute new data collection
requirements.
I believe that California has a responsibility to recruit and retain a workforce that
reflects California's diversity and treats all of our employees with respect, dignity,
and equity. My Administration remains committed to furthering that cause and
that's why we have established the California Leads as an Employer Initiative.
The goal of this initiative is to implement policies that promote a diverse and
inclusive workforce reflective of California, ensure a respectful workplace free of
harassment, and address gender and racial pay gaps in the state workforce.
Additionally, we established a Chief Equity Officer at the Government
Operations Agency this year who will focus on diversifying state hiring,
recruitment, retention, and training.
While the goals of AB 105 are laudable, elements of the bill conflict with existing
constitutional requirements, labor agreements, and current data collection
efforts. Therefore, it may have unintended consequences that warrant further
consideration. Furthermore, as AB 105 would cost tens of millions of dollars, these

GOVERNOR GAVIN NEWSOM • SACRAMENTO, CA 95814 • (916) 445-2841
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one-time and significant ongoing costs should be considered through the
annual state budget process.
I would encourage the author to collaborate with the Administration to address
these concerns and look forward to continued partnership as we continue to
work to build a more inclusive state government.

Sincerely,

Attachment 4

Assembly Bill 1604 - Upward Mobility Act of
2022 Assemblymember Chris R. Holden
SUMMARY

THE SOLUTION

AB 1604 establishes the Upward Mobility Act
of 2022. Specifically, this proposal identifies
and reforms processes that hinder upward
mobility for people of color in the civil service
system. Attention is given to the following
four categories: exams, compliance, the appeals
process, and annual parity goals for upward
mobility.

BACKGROUND
Over the past few months, the Sacramento Bee
has published a series of letters written on behalf
of African American employees working at
organizations such as the California Air
Resources Board (CARB), our California prison
system, and the Office of State Publishing. All
of these instances have a common denominator;
there are barriers to upward mobility and
inclusion.
In 2021, Governor Newsom took a bold step
forward by signing my bill, AB 979, which
requires each publicly held corporation whose
principal executive offices are located in
California to have a minimum number of
directors from underrepresented communities on
its board of directors. The goal was plain and
simple; we need to increase upward mobility
opportunities for people of color. This was a
praise-worthy step for employees in the private
sector. However, there are perpetual barriers to
upward mobility that exists in our public sector
civil service system.

AB 1604 requires that all state boards and
commissions have a minimum number of
directors or commissioners from an
underrepresented community. The bill states that
this requirement would only apply as vacancies
on state boards and commissions occur.
Additionally, the bill requires that SPB establish
a process that includes diversity and best
practices in each aspect of the design,
announcement, and administration of
examinations for the establishment of
employment lists. A diverse perspective in all
aspects of the design, administration, and
execution process provides for a more diverse
workforce and better outcomes.
AB 1604 states that CalHR shall establish, and
update annually, a list of approved independent
arbitrators from the American Arbitration
Association or JAMS to conduct Skelly hearings
performed in accordance with Government Code
19574.3. This gives the employee the
opportunity to have his/her case reviewed from
an independent arbitrator and creates a more
transparent process.
By July 1, 2023, the Department of Human
Resources shall develop model upward mobility
goals to include race, gender, and LGBTQ as
factors to the extent permissible under state and
federal equal protection laws. The goals will be
based on department workforce analysis and
shall post the model goals on its internet website.

EXISTING LAW

SUPPORT

An act to amend Government Code Sections
18502, 18931, 18933, 18935, 18936, 19402,
19818.6, 19889.3 and to add Section 18930.5,
19754.3

Support:

Contact: Willie J. Armstrong, Chief of Staff
Willie.Armstrong@asm.ca.gov
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CBA Item II.I.2.
September 22-23, 2022
CALIFORNIA BOARD OF ACCOUNTANCY
LEGISLATIVE ANALYSIS
SB 731
Subject:
Version:
Status:

Criminal Records: Relief.
June 23, 2022
Governor’s Desk

CBA Position: Oppose Unless Amended
Author: Durazo
Sponsor: Californians for Safety and Justice

Summary

Senate Bill (SB) 731 (Attachment 1), would require the Department of Justice (DOJ) to
expand the provisions regarding criminal record relief, without requiring a petition or
motion by a party for that relief, to include an arrest and a conviction of a felony, if
specified conditions are met.
Relief granted by this bill would not be available for a felony, if that conviction requires
registration as a sex offender. Further, it does not release a defendant from any
unexpired criminal protective orders. These provisions do not limit people from seeking
relief under any other provisions. Provides that a person denied relief will continue to be
eligible to relief under other provisions.
The bill clarifies that the provision stating that the order does not relieve the defendant
from an obligation to disclose the conviction to any direct question contained in an
application for public office or licensure by a state or federal agency also includes
applications or licensure by a federally recognized tribe.
The bill provides that if a probation is transferred, an electronic notice of such a transfer
will be furnished to the new jurisdiction.

Recommendation

Maintain Oppose, Unless Amended Position. Staff recommend the California Board
of Accountancy (CBA) maintain its Oppose, Unless Amended position on this bill. Based
on CBA direction at its July meeting, staff sent a letter detailing the concerns with the bill
and included a request to meet with the author (Attachment 2). Staff also sent a
separate request to schedule a meeting to discuss the concerns identified in this
analysis; however, there has been no response.
SB 731 was presented to Governor Newsom on August 26, 2022. The CBA sent a veto
request letter (Attachment 3) on August 29, 2022.

Background

Existing law, Business and Professions Code (BPC) section 480(c), states that a person
shall not be denied a license on the basis of any conviction, or on the basis of the acts
underlying the conviction, that has been dismissed pursuant to Section 1203.4,
1203.4a, 1203.41, or 1203.425 of the Penal Code (PC), or a comparable dismissal or

SB 731
Page 2 of 7
expungement. An applicant who has a conviction that has been dismissed pursuant to
PC sections 1203.4, 1203.4a, or 1203.41 shall provide proof of the dismissal if it is not
reflected on the report furnished by DOJ.
PC section 425(a)(1)(B) currently provides that a person is eligible for automatic
conviction relief if they meet specified conditions. Further, existing law authorizes a
person to petition the court to seal their arrest record if:
•
•
•
•

The person was arrested and successfully completed a pre-filing diversion
program.
The person successfully completed a specified drug diversion program.
The person successfully completed a specified deferred entry of judgment
program.
The person suffered an arrest that did not result in a conviction, under certain
conditions.

If a defendant successfully completes certain diversion programs, the arrest for the
crime for which the defendant was diverted is deemed to have never occurred.
If relief is granted, existing law requires the court to dismiss the accusation or
information against the defendant and release the defendant from the penalties and
disabilities resulting from the offense, with certain exceptions. The defendant is
authorized to file a similar petition if convicted of a misdemeanor and not granted
probation, was convicted of an infraction, or completed a sentence for certain felonies
and met specified conditions.
Pursuant to PC 851.93, DOJ is to review its criminal justice databases on a monthly
basis, identify persons who meet specific conditions for relief by having either their
arrest records or conviction records withheld from disclosure, and grant relief to an
eligible person without the current law requirement of a petition or motion being filed in
the Superior Court. The DOJ is prohibited from disclosing information concerning an
arrest or conviction that has been granted relief to boards and bureaus within the
Department of Consumer Affairs (DCA).
The CBA can only deny an application for licensure under the following conditions:
•

•

Conviction of a crime substantially related to the qualifications, functions, or
duties of a Certified Public Accountant (CPA) within the preceding seven years;
however, the seven-year time frame does not apply if the felony or the felony
financial crime is directly and adversely related to the functions, qualifications, or
duties of a CPA at any time in the past.
If the applicant, within the preceding seven years, was formally disciplined by a
licensing board due to professional misconduct that would have been cause for
discipline before the CBA.
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In addition, beginning July 1, 2020, the CBA is not able to deny a license on the basis of
an arrest that resulted in a disposition other than a conviction, including an arrest that
resulted in an infraction, citation, or juvenile adjudication.

Analysis

According to the fact sheet (Attachment 4), the author states:
Nationally, an estimated 70 million people (nearly one in three adults, and 8 million
people in California alone) have a past arrest or conviction on their record. The
vast majority of people with convictions have long finished their sentence in prison,
jail, parole or probation and exited the ‘deepest end’ of the justice system.
The DOJ maintains the state summary criminal history information, which is the master
record of information compiled by the Attorney General pertaining to the identification
and criminal history of a person (PC section 11105(a)). This information is currently
distributed by the DOJ to an entity to check the background of a potential or current
licensee, employee, or volunteer. What criminal history is released differs based on the
agency, employer, or volunteer organization and is specified in law (PC section
11105(b)-(u))
SB 731 states that commencing July 1, 2023, notwithstanding any other law, state or
federal summary criminal history furnished by DOJ shall not include any of the following
when distributing summary criminal history information:
•
•

Records of arrest that were granted relief under PC section 851.93, if two years
has passed since that relief was granted and there was no new conviction for a
felony offense.
Records granted relief under numerous sections to expunge, change a plea, seal
a record etc., and if two years have passed and there is no new conviction for a
felony offense.

The DOJ shall annually publish on the OpenJustice web portal, statistics for each
county indicating the number of arrests granted relief under this provision and the
percentage of arrests for which the state summary criminal history information notes not
include a disposition
This bill provides that the above does not apply to any of the following:
•

•

Any record for which the subject is required to register as a sex offender, has an
active record for state, local, or federal supervision in the Supervised Release
File, it appears as if the person is currently serving a sentence for an offense, or
there is an indication of a pending criminal charge.
Records that are given to the courts, district attorneys, peace officers, probation
or parole officers, public defenders for peace officer certification, or for
employment at a criminal justice agency.
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•
•
•
•

If the dissemination is required by federal law.
The furnishing of records relating to the regulation of firearms.
The furnishing of records to the subject of the records.
Records of specified assault offenses when they are being distributed to an
agency licensing a community care facility, foster home, or similar.

Conviction Records Available for Relief
A person is eligible for automatic conviction relief pursuant to Section 1203.425 of the
Penal Code if they meet all of the following conditions:
• The person is not required to register pursuant to the Sex Offender Registration
Act.
• The person does not have an active record for local, state, or federal supervision
in the Supervised Release File.
• Based upon the information available in the department’s record, including
disposition dates and sentencing terms, it does not appear that the person is
currently serving a sentence for an offense and there is no indication of pending
criminal charges.
• The conviction meets either of the following criteria:
o The conviction occurred on or after January 1, 1973, and meets either of
the following criteria:
 The defendant was sentenced to probation and, based upon the
disposition date and the term of probation specified in the
department’s records, appears to have completed their term of
probation without revocation.
 The defendant was convicted of an infraction or misdemeanor, was
not granted probation, and, based upon the disposition date and the
term specified in the department’s records, the defendant appears to
have completed their sentence, and at least one calendar year has
elapsed since the date of judgment.
• The defendant was convicted on or after January 1, 2005 of a felony for which
they did not complete probation without revocation if the defendant appears to
have completed all terms of incarceration, probation, mandatory supervision,
post-release community supervision, and parole, and a period of four years has
elapsed during which the defendant was not convicted of a new felony offense,
except as specified. The bill would specify that conviction record relief does not
release the defendant from the terms and conditions of unexpired criminal
protective orders.
Impacts to CBA Licensure
SB 731 broadens the applicability of relief provisions and further limits the CBA’s access
to information related to any conviction that has been dismissed or expunged through
either the current judicial process or the proposed administrative process. The
conviction relief under the bill would apply to all felonies, even convictions that led to
time in state prison.
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There may be a conflict with the language in this bill and the CBA’s provisions relating
to financially-related matters being expunged. Currently, the CBA’s provisions in BPC
5100.2 provide the authority to look at matters beyond the seven-year period that is
referenced in BPC section 480(a)(1).
Under this bill, pursuant to the provisions of PC 851.93, DOJ would be prohibited from
furnishing to the CBA any records of arrest that were granted relief, if two years has
passed since that relief was granted and there was no new conviction for a felony
offense.
If an individual’s arrest or conviction is directly and adversely related to the functions,
qualifications, or duties of a CPA, SB 731 could significantly impact the CBA’s ability to
ensure only qualified licensees practice public accountancy. The CBA is concerned that
this bill would prevent it from considering financial felony crime convictions for CPA
licensure applicants.

Fiscal Estimate

The fiscal impact of SB 731 to the CBA is unclear; however, if the CBA has less
authority to deny a license, there may be a minor reduction in Enforcement Program
workload.

Support/Opposition
Support:

California for Safety and Justice (source), A New Way of Life Re-entry
Project, All of Us or None Los Angeles, All of Us or None Riverside,
Alliance of Californians for Community Empowerment Action, American
Civil Liberties Union/Northern California/Southern California/San Diego
and Imperial Counties, Anti-Recidivism Coalition, Arts for Healing and
Justice Network, Asian Americans Advancing Justice – California, Asian
Solidarity Collective, Bend the Arc: Jewish Action, Black Los Angeles
Young Democrats, Blameless and Forever Free Ministries, Building
Opportunities for Self-Sufficiency, California Attorneys for Criminal Justice,
California Calls, California Catholic Conference, California Immigrant
Policy Center, California Labor Federation AFL-CIO, California Public
Defenders Association, California Religious Action Center of Reform
Judaism, California State Council of Laborers, Californians Coalition for
Women Prisoners, Californians United for a Responsible Budget, Cat
Clark Consulting Services LLC, Center of Hope LA, Chrysalis Center,
Code for America, Communities United for Restorative Youth Justice,
Community Advocates for Just and Moral Governance, Community Legal
Services in East Palo Alto, Community Works, County of Los Angeles
Board of Supervisors, Courage California, Cure California, Defy Ventures,
Dignity and Power Now, Drug Policy Alliance, Ella Baker Center for
Human Right, Faith in Action Bay Area, Faith in Action East Bay, Family
Reunification Equity & Empowerment, Felony Murder Elimination Project,
Forward Impact Dba Represent Justice, Fresno Barrios Unidos, Friends
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Committee on Legislation of California, Homeboy Industries, Initiate
Justice, Inland Empire Fair Chance Coalition, Inland Equity Partnership,
Kehilla Community Synagogue, LA Voice, Last Prisoner Project, Law
Enforcement Action Partnership, Legal Aid At Work, Legal Services for
Prisoners With Children, Livefree California, Los Angeles Regional
Reentry Partnership, Michelson Center for Public Policy, National
Association of Social Workers - California Chapter, People Objective LLC,
Phenomenal Angels of the Community, Pico California, Pillars of the
Community, Re:store Justice, Riverside Community College District, Root
& Rebound, Rubicon Programs, San Bernardino Free Them All, San
Francisco Public Defender, Santa Cruz Barrios Unidos Inc., Shields for
Families, Showing Up for Racial Justice Bay Area, Showing Up for Racial
Justice North County, Showing Up for Racial Justice San Diego, Smart
Justice California, Social & Environmental Justice Committee of the
Universalist Unitarian Church of Riverside, Social Justice Research
Partnership, Starting Over Inc., Team Justice, The Dream Corps, The
Experience Christian Ministries, The Reverence Project, Think Dignity,
Time for Change Foundation, Timelist Group, Transitions Clinic Network,
Uncommon Law, Underground Grit, Underground Scholars Initiative at UC
Riverside, Underground Scholars Initiative Berkeley, Underground
Scholars Initiative at University of California Davis, Unite-la Inc., We the
People - San Diego, Young Women's Freedom Center
Opposition: Alliance for Constitutional Sex Offense Laws
California Association of Licensed Investigators
California Board of Accountancy
California Board of Psychology
California District Attorneys Association
California Statewide Law Enforcement Association
Dental Hygiene Board of California
Peace Officers Research Association of California
Physician Assistant Board
Veterinary Medical Board
One individual

Effective/Operative Date
July 1, 2023

Related Bills
•

AB 1076 (Ting, Chapter 578, Statutes of 2019) required the DOJ, beginning January
1, 2021 and contingent upon a Budget Act appropriation, to review its criminal justice
databases on a monthly basis, identify persons who meet specific conditions for
relief by having either their arrest records or conviction records withheld from
disclosure, and grant relief to an eligible person without the current law requirement
of a petition or motion being filed in the Superior Court. The bill prohibits the DOJ
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•

from disclosing information concerning an arrest or conviction that has been granted
relief to boards and bureaus within the DCA.
AB 2138 (Chiu, Chapter 995, Statutes of 2018) reduced barriers to licensure for
individuals with prior criminal convictions by limiting a regulatory board's discretion to
deny a new license application to cases where the applicant was formally convicted
of a substantially related crime or subjected to formal discipline by a licensing board,
with offenses older than seven years no longer eligible for license denial, with
several enumerated exemptions.

Attachments
1.
2.
3.
4.

Senate Bill 731
CBA Oppose, Unless Amended Letter
CBA Veto Request Letter
Senate Bill 731 Fact Sheet

Attachment 1

AMENDED IN ASSEMBLY JUNE 23, 2022
AMENDED IN ASSEMBLY SEPTEMBER 2, 2021
AMENDED IN ASSEMBLY AUGUST 30, 2021
AMENDED IN ASSEMBLY JUNE 23, 2021
AMENDED IN SENATE MAY 20, 2021
AMENDED IN SENATE APRIL 20, 2021
AMENDED IN SENATE APRIL 5, 2021
AMENDED IN SENATE MARCH 3, 2021

SENATE BILL

No. 731

Introduced by Senators Durazo and Bradford
(Coauthors: Senators Becker, Hertzberg, Kamlager, Skinner, and
Wiener)
(Coauthors: Assembly Members Bryan, Carrillo, Cristina Garcia,
Gipson, Kalra, Lee, Medina, and Stone)
February 19, 2021

An act to amend Section Sections 44242.5 and 44346 of the Education
Code, and to amend Sections 1203.41 and 11105 of, and to amend,
repeal, and add Sections 851.93 and 1203.425 of, the Penal Code,
relating to criminal records.
legislative counsel’s digest

SB 731, as amended, Durazo. Criminal records: relief.
(1) Existing law establishes the Commission on Teacher
Credentialing to, among other things, issue teaching and services
credentials. Existing law requires the commission to appoint a
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Committee of Credentials and requires allegations of acts or omissions
for which adverse action may be taken against applicants or holders
of teaching or services credentials to be reported to the committee,
including conviction for a controlled substance offense, as defined.
Existing law requires the commission to deny an application for the
issuance of a credential or the renewal of a credential who has been
convicted of a controlled substance offense.
This bill would prohibit the record of a conviction for possession of
specified controlled substances that is more than 5 years old and for
which relief was granted from being presented to the committee or from
being used to deny a credential.
Existing
(2) Existing law authorizes a defendant who was sentenced to a
county jail for the commission of a felony and who has met specified
criteria to petition to withdraw their plea of guilty or nolo contendere
and enter a plea of not guilty after the completion of their sentence, as
specified. Existing law requires the court to dismiss the accusations or
information against the defendant and release them from all penalties
and disabilities resulting from the offense, except as specified.
This bill would make this relief available to a defendant who has been
convicted of any felony. a felony, as long as that conviction does not
require registration as a sex offender.
Commencing July 1, 2022, existing
Existing law requires the Department of Justice, on a monthly basis,
to review the records in the statewide criminal justice databases and
identify persons who are eligible for specified automatic conviction
and records of arrest relief without requiring the filing of a petition or
motion. Under existing law, a person is eligible for arrest record relief
if they were arrested on or after January 1, 1973, and the arrest was for
a misdemeanor and the charge was dismissed or criminal proceedings
have not been initiated within one year after the arrest, or the arrest was
for a felony punishable in the county jail and criminal proceedings have
not been initiated within 3 years after the date of the arrest. Under
existing law, a person is eligible for automatic conviction record relief
if, on or after January 1, 1973, they were sentenced to probation, and
completed it without revocation, or if they were convicted of an
infraction or a misdemeanor, and other criteria are met, as specified.
This bill would, commencing July 1, 2023, generally make this arrest
record relief available to a person who has been arrested for a felony,
including a felony punishable in the state prison, as specified. The bill
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would, commencing July 1, 2023, additionally make this conviction
record relief available for a defendant convicted, on or after January 1,
2005, of a felony for which they did not complete probation without
revocation if the defendant appears to have completed all terms of
incarceration, probation, mandatory supervision, postrelease supervision,
and parole, and a period of four years has elapsed during which the
defendant was not convicted of a new offense, except as specified.
This bill would incorporate additional changes to Section 1203.425
of the Penal Code proposed by AB 898 and AB 1281 to be operative
only if this bill, AB 898, and AB 1281 are enacted and this bill is enacted
last.
Existing law, commencing January 1, 2022, and subject to
appropriation, requires the Department of Justice, on a monthly basis,
to review the records in the statewide criminal justice databases and
identify persons who are eligible for automatic conviction record relief.
Under existing law, a person is eligible for automatic conviction record
relief if, on or after January 1, 1973, they were sentenced to probation,
and completed it without revocation, or if they were convicted of an
infraction or a misdemeanor, and other criteria are met, as specified.
The bill, commencing July 1, 2023, would additionally make this
conviction record relief available for a defendant convicted, on or after
January 1, 2005, of a felony for which they did not complete probation
without revocation if the defendant appears to have completed all terms
of incarceration, probation, mandatory supervision, postrelease
community supervision, and parole, and a period of 4 years has elapsed
during which the defendant was not convicted of a new felony offense,
except as specified. The bill would specify that conviction record relief
does not release the defendant from the terms and conditions of
unexpired criminal protective orders.
This bill would state that conviction record relief does not affect the
authority to receive, or take adverse action based on, criminal history
information for purposes of teacher credentialing or employment in
public education, as specified. The bill would prohibit disclosure of
information relating to a conviction for possession of specified
controlled substances when the conviction is more than 5 years old and
when relief has been granted under these provisions.
(3) Existing law requires the Department of Justice to maintain state
summary criminal history information, as defined, and to furnish this
information to various state and local government officers, officials,
and other prescribed entities, if needed in the course of their duties.
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Existing law requires the department to provide the Commission on
Teacher Credentialing with every conviction rendered against an
applicant, retroactive to January 1, 2020, regardless of relief granted.
Existing law makes it a crime for a person authorized by law to receive
state summary criminal history information to knowingly furnish that
information to a person who is not authorized to receive it.
This bill would require the department to also provide that information
to school districts, county offices of education, charter schools, private
schools, state special schools for the blind and deaf, or any other entity
required to have a background check because of a contract with any
of those entities. The bill would prohibit the department from
disseminating information for a conviction for possession of specified
controlled substances if that conviction is more than 5 years old and
relief has been granted. By expanding the scope of a crime, this bill
would impose a state-mandated local program.
The California Constitution requires the state to reimburse local
agencies and school districts for certain costs mandated by the state.
Statutory provisions establish procedures for making that
reimbursement.
This bill would provide that no reimbursement is required by this act
for a specified reason.
Vote: majority. Appropriation: no. Fiscal committee: yes.
State-mandated local program: no yes.
The people of the State of California do enact as follows:
line 1
line 2
line 3
line 4
line 5
line 6
line 7
line 8
line 9
line 10
line 11
line 12
line 13
line 14

SECTION 1. Section 44242.5 of the Education Code is amended
to read:
44242.5. (a) Each allegation of an act or omission by an
applicant for, or holder of, a credential for which he or she the
applicant may be subject to an adverse action shall be presented
to the Committee of Credentials.
(b) The committee has jurisdiction to commence an initial
review upon receipt of any of the following:
(1) (A) Official records of the Department of Justice, of a law
enforcement agency, of a state or federal court, and of any other
agency of this state or another state.
(B) For purposes of subparagraph (A), “agency of this state”
has the same meaning as that of “state agency” as set forth in
Section 11000 of the Government Code.
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line 1
line 2
line 3
line 4
line 5
line 6
line 7
line 8
line 9
line 10
line 11
line 12
line 13
line 14
line 15
line 16
line 17
line 18
line 19
line 20
line 21
line 22
line 23
line 24
line 25
line 26
line 27
line 28
line 29
line 30
line 31
line 32
line 33
line 34
line 35
line 36
line 37
line 38
line 39
line 40
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(2) An affidavit or declaration signed by a person or persons
with personal knowledge of the acts alleged to constitute
misconduct.
(3) (A) A statement from an employer notifying the commission
that, as a result of an allegation of misconduct, or while an
allegation of misconduct is pending, a credentialholder has been
dismissed, nonreelected, suspended for more than 10 days, or
placed pursuant to a final adverse employment action on unpaid
administrative leave for more than 10 days, or has resigned or
otherwise left employment.
(B) The employer shall provide the notice described in
subparagraph (A) to the commission not later than 30 days after
the dismissal, nonreelection, suspension, placement on unpaid
administrative leave, resignation, or departure from employment
of the employee.
(C) For purposes of subparagraphs (A) and (B), a change in
status due solely to unsatisfactory performance pursuant to
paragraph (4) of subdivision (a) of Section 44932 or a reduction
in force pursuant to Sections 44955 to 44958, inclusive, is not a
result of an allegation of misconduct.
(4) A notice from an employer that a complaint was filed with
the school district alleging sexual misconduct by a credentialholder.
Results of an investigation by the committee based on this
paragraph shall not be considered for action by the committee
unless there is evidence presented to the committee in the form of
a written or oral declaration under penalty of perjury that confirms
the personal knowledge of the declarant regarding the acts alleged
to constitute misconduct.
(5) A notice from a school district, employer, public agency, or
testing administrator of a violation of Section 44420, 44421.1,
44421.5, or 44439.
(6) (A) An affirmative response on an application submitted
to the commission as to any conviction, adverse action on, or denial
of, a license, or pending investigation into a criminal allegation or
pending investigation of a noncriminal allegation of misconduct
by a governmental licensing entity.
(B) Failure to disclose any matter set forth in subparagraph (A).
(c) An initial review commences on the date that the written
notice is mailed to the applicant or credentialholder that his or her
their fitness to hold a credential is under review. Upon
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commencement of a formal review pursuant to Section 44244, the
committee shall investigate all alleged misconduct and the
circumstances in mitigation and aggravation. The investigation
shall include, but not be limited to, all of the following:
(1) Investigation of the fitness and competence of the applicant
or credentialholder to perform the duties authorized by the
credential for which he or she has they have applied or that he or
she presently holds. they presently hold.
(2) Preparation of a summary of the applicable law, a summary
of the facts, contested and uncontested, and a summary of any
circumstances in aggravation or mitigation of the allegation.
(3) Determination of probable cause for an adverse action on
the credential. If the allegation is for unprofessional or immoral
conduct, the committee, in any formal review conducted pursuant
to Section 44244 to determine probable cause, shall permit the
employer of the credentialholder to be present while testimony is
taken. If the allegation of unprofessional or immoral conduct
involves sexual abuse, the employer shall be examined in the
meeting for any relevant evidence relating to the sexual abuse.
(A) If the committee determines that probable cause for an
adverse action does not exist, the committee shall terminate the
investigation.
(B) If the committee determines that probable cause for an
adverse action on the credential exists, upon receipt of a request
from an applicant or a credentialholder pursuant to Section
44244.1, the commission shall initiate an adjudicatory hearing, as
prescribed by Chapter 5 (commencing with Section 11500) of Part
1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code, by filing an
accusation or statement of issues.
(d) The committee has jurisdiction to commence a formal review
pursuant to Section 44244 upon receipt of any of the following:
(1) (A) Official records of a state or federal court that reflect a
conviction or plea, including a plea of nolo contendere, to a
criminal offense or official records of a state court that adjudge a
juvenile to be a dependent of the court pursuant to Section 300 of
the Welfare and Institutions Code due to allegations of sexual
misconduct or physical abuse by a credentialholder or applicant.
(B) Nothing in subparagraph (A) shall be construed to
Subparagraph (A) does not relieve the commission from the
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confidentiality provisions, notice, and due process requirements
set forth in Section 827 of the Welfare and Institutions Code.
(2) An affidavit or declaration signed by a person or persons
with personal knowledge of the acts alleged to constitute
misconduct.
(3) A statement described in paragraph (3) of subdivision (b).
(4) Official records of a governmental licensing entity that
reflect an administrative proceeding or investigation, otherwise
authorized by law or regulation, which that has become final.
(5) A notice described in paragraph (5) of subdivision (b).
(6) A response or failure to disclose, as described in paragraph
(6) of subdivision (b).
(e) (1) Upon completion of its investigation, the committee
shall report its actions and recommendations to the commission,
including its findings as to probable cause, and if probable cause
exists, its recommendations as to the appropriate adverse action.
(2) The findings shall be available, upon its request, to the
employing or last known employing school district, or, if adverse
action is recommended by the committee and the credentialholder
has not filed a timely appeal of the recommendation of the
committee pursuant to Section 44244.1, upon a request made within
five years of the date of the committee’s recommendations to a
school district providing verification that the credentialholder has
applied for employment in the school district. The findings, for all
purposes, shall remain confidential and limited to school district
personnel in a direct supervisory capacity in relation to the person
investigated. Any A person who otherwise releases findings
received from the committee or the commission, absent a verified
release signed by the person who is the subject of the investigation,
shall be guilty of a misdemeanor.
(3) The findings shall not contain any information that reveals
the identity of persons other than the person who is the subject of
the investigation.
(f) (1) Except as provided in paragraph (2) and, notwithstanding
subdivision (b), for purposes of determining whether jurisdiction
exists under subdivision (b), the commission, in accordance with
Section 44341, may make inquiries and requests for production
of information and records only from the Department of Justice,
a law enforcement agency, a state or federal court, and a licensing
agency of this state state, or a licensing agency of another state.
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(2) For purposes of determining whether jurisdiction exists,
paragraph (1) does not apply to release of personnel records.
(g) Notwithstanding subdivision (a), convictions for controlled
substance offenses listed in Section 11350 or 11377, or former
Section 11500 or 11500.5, of the Health and Safety Code that are
more than five years old, for which relief is granted pursuant to
Section 1203.4, 1203.4a, 1203.41, 1203.42, 1203.425, or 1203.49
of the Penal Code, shall not be presented to the Committee on
Credentials.
SEC. 2. Section 44346 of the Education Code is amended to
read:
44346. (a) The commission shall deny any an application for
the issuance of a credential or for the renewal of a credential made
by any applicant who comes within any of the following classes:
(1) Has been determined to be a sexual psychopath under the
provisions of former Article 1 (commencing with Section 6300)
of Chapter 2 of Part 2 of Division 6 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code or under similar provisions of law of any other state.
(2) Has been convicted of any a sex offense, as defined in
Section 44010.
(3) Has been convicted of a controlled substance offense, as
defined in Section 44011.
(4) Has been found to be insane through a criminal proceeding
by a federal court or a court in this or any other state.
(b) (1) Notwithstanding paragraphs (2) and (3) of subdivision
(a), no a person shall not be denied a credential solely on the basis
that he or she the person has been convicted of a crime specified
in paragraphs (2) and (3) of subdivision (a) if the person has
obtained a certificate of rehabilitation and pardon pursuant to
Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 4852.01) of Title 6 of Part
3 of the Penal Code, and if his or her probation has been terminated
and the information or accusation has been dismissed pursuant to
Section 1203.4 of the Penal Code.
(2) Notwithstanding any other law, the commission shall deny
the application of any an applicant who is required to register as
a sex offender pursuant to either of the following:
(A) Section 290 of the Penal Code.
(B) A law of any other state or of the United States when the
underlying offense, if committed or attempted in this state, would
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require registration as a sex offender under Section 290 of the
Penal Code.
(c) (1) Notwithstanding paragraph (3) of subdivision (a) or
subdivision (b), the commission may issue a credential to a person
convicted of a controlled substance offense offense, as defined in
Section 44011 44011, if the commission determines from the
evidence presented that the person has been rehabilitated for at
least five years, or has received a certificate of rehabilitation and
pardon pursuant to Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 4852.01)
of Title 6 of Part 3 of the Penal Code, or if the accusation or
information against the person has been dismissed and he or she
the person has been released from all disabilities and penalties
resulting from the offense pursuant to Section 1203.4 of the Penal
Code.
(2) Notwithstanding paragraph (3) of subdivision (a), a person
shall not be denied a credential solely on the basis that they have
been convicted of a crime specified in Section 11350 or 11377, or
former Section 11500 or 11500.5, of the Health and Safety Code,
if that conviction is more than five years old, and for which relief
has been granted pursuant to Section 1203.4, 1203.4a, 1203.41,
1203.42, 1203.425, or 1203.49 of the Penal Code.
(d) Notwithstanding paragraph (4) of subdivision (a), the
commission may issue a credential to a person found to be insane
through a criminal proceeding by a federal court or a court in this
or any other state if the commission determines from the evidence
presented that the person has been rehabilitated for at least five
years.
SECTION 1.
SEC. 3. Section 851.93 of the Penal Code is amended to read:
851.93. (a) (1) On a monthly basis, the Department of Justice
shall review the records in the statewide criminal justice databases,
and based on information in the state summary criminal history
repository, shall identify persons with records of arrest that meet
the criteria set forth in paragraph (2) and are eligible for arrest
record relief.
(2) A person is eligible for relief pursuant to this section, if the
arrest occurred on or after January 1, 1973, and meets any of the
following conditions:
(A) The arrest was for a misdemeanor offense and the charge
was dismissed.
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(B) The arrest was for a misdemeanor offense, there is no
indication that criminal proceedings have been initiated, at least
one calendar year has elapsed since the date of the arrest, and no
conviction occurred, or the arrestee was acquitted of any charges
that arose, from that arrest.
(C) The arrest was for an offense that is punishable by
imprisonment pursuant to paragraph (1) or (2) of subdivision (h)
of Section 1170, there is no indication that criminal proceedings
have been initiated, at least three calendar years have elapsed since
the date of the arrest, and no conviction occurred, or the arrestee
was acquitted of any charges arising, from that arrest.
(D) The person successfully completed any of the following,
relating to that arrest:
(i) A prefiling diversion program, as defined in Section 851.87,
administered by a prosecuting attorney in lieu of filing an
accusatory pleading.
(ii) A drug diversion program administered by a superior court
pursuant to Section 1000.5, or a deferred entry of judgment
program pursuant to Section 1000 or 1000.8.
(iii) A pretrial diversion program, pursuant to Section 1000.4.
(iv) A diversion program, pursuant to Section 1001.9.
(v) A diversion program described in Chapter 2.8 (commencing
with Section 1001.20), Chapter 2.8A (commencing with Section
1001.35), Chapter 2.81 (commencing with Section 1001.40),
Chapter 2.9 (commencing with Section 1001.50), Chapter 2.9A
(commencing with Section 1001.60), Chapter 2.9B (commencing
with Section 1001.70), Chapter 2.9C (commencing with Section
1001.80), Chapter 2.9D (commencing with Section 1001.81), or
Chapter 2.92 (commencing with Section 1001.85), of Title 6.
(b) (1) The department shall grant relief to a person identified
pursuant to subdivision (a), without requiring a petition or motion
by a party for that relief if the relevant information is present in
the department’s electronic records.
(2) The state summary criminal history information shall
include, directly next to or below the entry or entries regarding the
person’s arrest record, a note stating “arrest relief granted,” listing
the date that the department granted relief, and this section. This
note shall be included in all statewide criminal databases with a
record of the arrest.
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(3) Except as otherwise provided in subdivision (d), an arrest
for which arrest relief has been granted is deemed not to have
occurred, and a person who has been granted arrest relief is released
from any penalties and disabilities resulting from the arrest, and
may answer any question relating to that arrest accordingly.
(c) On a monthly basis, the department shall electronically
submit a notice to the superior court having jurisdiction over the
criminal case, informing the court of all cases for which a
complaint was filed in that jurisdiction and for which relief was
granted pursuant to this section. Commencing on August 1, 2022,
for any record retained by the court pursuant to Section 68152 of
the Government Code, except as provided in subdivision (d), the
court shall not disclose information concerning an arrest that is
granted relief pursuant to this section to any person or entity, in
any format, except to the person whose arrest was granted relief
or a criminal justice agency, as defined in Section 851.92.
(d) Relief granted pursuant to this section is subject to the
following conditions:
(1) Arrest relief does not relieve a person of the obligation to
disclose an arrest in response to a direct question contained in a
questionnaire or application for employment as a peace officer, as
defined in Section 830.
(2) Relief granted pursuant to this section has no effect on the
ability of a criminal justice agency, as defined in Section 851.92,
to access and use records that are granted relief to the same extent
that would have been permitted for a criminal justice agency had
relief not been granted.
(3) This section does not limit the ability of a district attorney
to prosecute, within the applicable statute of limitations, an offense
for which arrest relief has been granted pursuant to this section.
(4) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect a
person’s authorization to own, possess, or have in the person’s
custody or control a firearm, or the person’s susceptibility to
conviction under Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 29800) of
Division 9 of Title 4 of Part 6, if the arrest would otherwise affect
this authorization or susceptibility.
(5) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect any
prohibition from holding public office that would otherwise apply
under law as a result of the arrest.
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(6) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect the
authority to receive, or take adverse action based on, criminal
history information, including the authority to receive certified
court records received or evaluated pursuant to Section 1522,
1568.09, 1569.17, or 1596.871 of the Health and Safety Code, or
pursuant to any statutory or regulatory provisions that incorporate
the criteria of those sections.
(e) This section does not limit petitions, motions, or orders for
arrest record relief, as required or authorized by any other law,
including, but not limited to, Sections 851.87, 851.90, 851.91,
1000.4, and 1001.9.
(f) The department shall annually publish statistics for each
county regarding the total number of arrests granted relief pursuant
to this section and the percentage of arrests for which the state
summary criminal history information does not include a
disposition, on the OpenJustice Web portal, as defined in Section
13010.
(g) This section shall be operative commencing July 1, 2022,
subject to an appropriation in the annual Budget Act.
(h) This section shall remain in effect only until July 1, 2023,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 2.
SEC. 4. Section 851.93 is added to the Penal Code, to read:
851.93. (a) (1) On a monthly basis, the Department of Justice
shall review the records in the statewide criminal justice databases,
and based on information in the state summary criminal history
repository, shall identify persons with records of arrest that meet
the criteria set forth in paragraph (2) and are eligible for arrest
record relief.
(2) A person is eligible for relief pursuant to this section, if the
arrest occurred on or after January 1, 1973, and meets any of the
following conditions:
(A) The arrest was for a misdemeanor offense and the charge
was dismissed.
(B) The arrest was for a misdemeanor offense, there is no
indication that criminal proceedings have been initiated, at least
one calendar year has elapsed since the date of the arrest, and no
conviction occurred, or the arrestee was acquitted of any charges
that arose, from that arrest.
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(C) (i) The arrest was for a felony offense not described in
clause (ii), there is no indication that criminal proceedings have
been initiated, at least three calendar years have elapsed since the
date of the arrest, and no conviction occurred, or the arrestee was
acquitted of any charges arising, from that arrest.
(ii) If the arrest was for an offense punishable by imprisonment
in the state prison for eight years or more or by imprisonment
pursuant to subdivision (h) of Section 1170 for eight years or more,
there is no indication that criminal proceedings have been initiated,
at least six years have elapsed since the date of the arrest, and no
conviction occurred, or the arrestee was acquitted of any charges
arising, from that arrest.
(D) The person successfully completed any of the following,
relating to that arrest:
(i) A prefiling diversion program, as defined in subdivision (d)
of Section 851.87, administered by a prosecuting attorney in lieu
of filing an accusatory pleading.
(ii) A drug diversion program administered by a superior court
pursuant to Section 1000.5, or a deferred entry of judgment
program pursuant to Section 1000 or 1000.8.
(iii) A pretrial diversion program, pursuant to Section 1000.4.
(iv) A diversion program, pursuant to Section 1001.9.
(v) A diversion program described in Chapter 2.8 (commencing
with Section 1001.20), Chapter 2.8A (commencing with Section
1001.35), Chapter 2.81 (commencing with Section 1001.40),
Chapter 2.9 (commencing with Section 1001.50), Chapter 2.9A
(commencing with Section 1001.60), Chapter 2.9B (commencing
with Section 1001.70), Chapter 2.9C (commencing with Section
1001.80), Chapter 2.9D (commencing with Section 1001.81), or
Chapter 2.92 (commencing with Section 1001.85), of Title 6.
(b) (1) The department shall grant relief to a person identified
pursuant to subdivision (a), without requiring a petition or motion
by a party for that relief if the relevant information is present in
the department’s electronic records.
(2) The state summary criminal history information shall
include, directly next to or below the entry or entries regarding the
person’s arrest record, a note stating “arrest relief granted,” listing
the date that the department granted relief, and this section. This
note shall be included in all statewide criminal databases with a
record of the arrest.
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(3) Except as otherwise provided in subdivision (d), an arrest
for which arrest relief has been granted is deemed not to have
occurred, and a person who has been granted arrest relief is released
from any penalties and disabilities resulting from the arrest, and
may answer any question relating to that arrest accordingly.
(c) On a monthly basis, the department shall electronically
submit a notice to the superior court having jurisdiction over the
criminal case, informing the court of all cases for which a
complaint was filed in that jurisdiction and for which relief was
granted pursuant to this section. Commencing on August 1, 2022,
for any record retained by the court pursuant to Section 68152 of
the Government Code, except as provided in subdivision (d), the
court shall not disclose information concerning an arrest that is
granted relief pursuant to this section to any person or entity, in
any format, except to the person whose arrest was granted relief
or a criminal justice agency, as defined in Section 851.92.
(d) Relief granted pursuant to this section is subject to all of the
following conditions:
(1) Arrest relief does not relieve a person of the obligation to
disclose an arrest in response to a direct question contained in a
questionnaire or application for employment as a peace officer, as
defined in Section 830.
(2) Relief granted pursuant to this section has no effect on the
ability of a criminal justice agency, as defined in Section 851.92,
to access and use records that are granted relief to the same extent
that would have been permitted for a criminal justice agency had
relief not been granted.
(3) This section does not limit the ability of a district attorney
to prosecute, within the applicable statute of limitations, an offense
for which arrest relief has been granted pursuant to this section.
(4) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect a
person’s authorization to own, possess, or have in the person’s
custody or control a firearm, or the person’s susceptibility to
conviction under Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 29800) of
Division 9 of Title 4 of Part 6, if the arrest would otherwise affect
this authorization or susceptibility.
(5) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect any
prohibition from holding public office that would otherwise apply
under law as a result of the arrest.
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(6) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect the
authority to receive, or take adverse action based on, criminal
history information, including the authority to receive certified
court records received or evaluated pursuant to Section 1522,
1568.09, 1569.17, or 1596.871 of the Health and Safety Code, or
pursuant to any statutory or regulatory provisions that incorporate
the criteria of those sections.
(e) This section does not limit petitions, motions, or orders for
arrest record relief, as required or authorized by any other law,
including, but not limited to, Sections 851.87, 851.90, 851.91,
1000.4, and 1001.9.
(f) The department shall annually publish on the OpenJustice
Web portal, as described under Section 13010, statistics for each
county regarding the total number of arrests granted relief pursuant
to this section and the percentage of arrests for which the state
summary criminal history information does not include a
disposition.
(g) This section shall be operative commencing July 1, 2023,
subject to an appropriation in the annual Budget Act.
SEC. 3.
SEC. 5. Section 1203.41 of the Penal Code is amended to read:
1203.41. (a) If a defendant is convicted of a felony, the court,
in its discretion and in the interests of justice, may order the
following relief, subject to the conditions of subdivision (b):
(1) The court may permit the defendant to withdraw their plea
of guilty or plea of nolo contendere and enter a plea of not guilty,
or, if the defendant has been convicted after a plea of not guilty,
the court shall set aside the verdict of guilty, and, in either case,
the court shall dismiss the accusations or information against the
defendant and the defendant shall thereafter be released from all
penalties and disabilities resulting from the offense of which they
have been convicted, except as provided in Section 13555 of the
Vehicle Code.
(2) The relief available under this section may be granted only
after the lapse of one year following the defendant’s completion
of the sentence, if the sentence was imposed pursuant to
subparagraph (B) of paragraph (5) of subdivision (h) of Section
1170, or after the lapse of two years following the defendant’s
completion of the sentence, if the sentence was imposed pursuant
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to subparagraph (A) of paragraph (5) of subdivision (h) of Section
1170 or if the defendant was sentenced to the state prison.
(3) The relief available under this section may be granted only
if the defendant is not on parole or under supervision pursuant to
subparagraph (B) of paragraph (5) of subdivision (h) of Section
1170, and is not serving a sentence for, on probation for, or charged
with the commission of any offense.
(4) The defendant shall be informed, either orally or in writing,
of the provisions of this section and of their right, if any, to petition
for a certificate of rehabilitation and pardon at the time they are
sentenced.
(5) The defendant may make the application and change of plea
in person or by attorney, or by a probation officer authorized in
writing.
(6) If the defendant seeks relief under this section for a felony
that resulted in a sentence to the state prison, the relief available
under this section may only be granted if that felony did not result
in a requirement to register as a sex offender pursuant to Chapter
5.5 (commencing with Section 290) of Title 9 of Part 1.
(b) Relief granted pursuant to subdivision (a) is subject to all
of the following conditions:
(1) In any subsequent prosecution of the defendant for any other
offense, the prior conviction may be pleaded and proved and shall
have the same effect as if the accusation or information had not
been dismissed.
(2) The order shall state, and the defendant shall be informed,
that the order does not relieve them of the obligation to disclose
the conviction in response to any direct question contained in any
questionnaire or application for public office, for licensure by any
state or local agency or by a federally recognized tribe, or for
contracting with the California State Lottery Commission.
(3) Dismissal of an accusation or information pursuant to this
section does not permit a person to own, possess, or have in their
custody or control any firearm or prevent their conviction under
Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 29800) of Division 9 of Title
4 of Part 6.
(4) Dismissal of an accusation or information underlying a
conviction pursuant to this section does not permit a person
prohibited from holding public office as a result of that conviction
to hold public office.
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(c) This section applies to any conviction specified in
subdivision (a) that occurred before, on, or after January 1, 2021.
(d) A person who petitions for a change of plea or setting aside
of a verdict under this section may be required to reimburse the
court for the actual costs of services rendered, whether or not the
petition is granted and the records are sealed or expunged, at a rate
to be determined by the court not to exceed one hundred fifty
dollars ($150), and to reimburse the county for the actual costs of
services rendered, whether or not the petition is granted and the
records are sealed or expunged, at a rate to be determined by the
county board of supervisors not to exceed one hundred fifty dollars
($150), and to reimburse any city for the actual costs of services
rendered, whether or not the petition is granted and the records are
sealed or expunged, at a rate to be determined by the city council
not to exceed one hundred fifty dollars ($150). Ability to make
this reimbursement shall be determined by the court using the
standards set forth in paragraph (2) of subdivision (g) of Section
987.8 and shall not be a prerequisite to a person’s eligibility under
this section. The court may order reimbursement in any case in
which the petitioner appears to have the ability to pay, without
undue hardship, all or any portion of the costs for services
established pursuant to this subdivision.
(e) (1) Relief shall not be granted under this section unless the
prosecuting attorney has been given 15 days’ notice of the petition
for relief. The probation officer shall notify the prosecuting attorney
when a petition is filed, pursuant to this section.
(2) It shall be presumed that the prosecuting attorney has
received notice if proof of service is filed with the court.
(f) If, after receiving notice pursuant to subdivision (e), the
prosecuting attorney fails to appear and object to a petition for
dismissal, the prosecuting attorney shall not move to set aside or
otherwise appeal the grant of that petition.
(g) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not release the
defendant from the terms and conditions of any unexpired criminal
protective orders that have been issued by the court pursuant to
paragraph (1) of subdivision (i) of Section 136.2, subdivision (j)
of Section 273.5, subdivision (l) of Section 368, or subdivision
(k) of Section 646.9. These protective orders shall remain in full
effect until expiration or until any further order by the court
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modifying or terminating the order, despite the dismissal of the
underlying accusation or information.
(h) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect the
authority to receive, or take adverse action based on, criminal
history information, including the authority to receive certified
court records received or evaluated pursuant to Section 1522,
1568.09, 1569.17, or 1596.871 of the Health and Safety Code, or
pursuant to any statutory or regulatory provisions that incorporate
the criteria of those sections. Relief granted pursuant to this section
does not make eligible a person who is otherwise ineligible to
provide, or receive payment for providing, in-home supportive
services pursuant to Article 7 (commencing with Section 12300)
of Chapter 3 of Part 3 of Division 9 of the Welfare and Institutions
Code, or pursuant to Section 14132.95, 14132.952, or 14132.956
of the Welfare and Institutions Code.
SEC. 4. Section 1203.425 of the Penal Code is amended to
read:
1203.425. (a) (1) (A) Commencing July 1, 2022, and subject
to an appropriation in the annual Budget Act, on a monthly basis,
the Department of Justice shall review the records in the statewide
criminal justice databases, and based on information in the state
summary criminal history repository and the Supervised Release
File, shall identify persons with convictions that meet the criteria
set forth in subparagraph (B) and are eligible for automatic
conviction record relief.
(B) A person is eligible for automatic conviction relief pursuant
to this section if they meet all of the following conditions:
(i) The person is not required to register pursuant to the Sex
Offender Registration Act.
(ii) The person does not have an active record for local, state,
or federal supervision in the Supervised Release File.
(iii) Based upon the information available in the department’s
record, including disposition dates and sentencing terms, it does
not appear that the person is currently serving a sentence for an
offense and there is no indication of pending criminal charges.
(iv) Except as otherwise provided in subclause (III) of clause
(v), there is no indication that the conviction resulted in a sentence
of incarceration in the state prison.
(v) The conviction occurred on or after January 1, 1973, and
meets either of the following criteria:
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(I) The defendant was sentenced to probation and, based upon
the disposition date and the term of probation specified in the
department’s records, appears to have completed their term of
probation without revocation.
(II) The defendant was convicted of an infraction or
misdemeanor, was not granted probation, and, based upon the
disposition date and the term specified in the department’s records,
the defendant appears to have completed their sentence, and at
least one calendar year has elapsed since the date of judgment.
(2) (A) Except as specified in subdivision (b), the department
shall grant relief, including dismissal of a conviction, to a person
identified pursuant to paragraph (1) without requiring a petition
or motion by a party for that relief if the relevant information is
present in the department’s electronic records.
(B) The state summary criminal history information shall
include, directly next to or below the entry or entries regarding the
person’s criminal record, a note stating “relief granted,” listing the
date that the department granted relief and this section. This note
shall be included in all statewide criminal databases with a record
of the conviction.
(C) Except as otherwise provided in paragraph (4) and in Section
13555 of the Vehicle Code, a person granted conviction relief
pursuant to this section shall be released from all penalties and
disabilities resulting from the offense of which the person has been
convicted.
(3) Commencing July 1, 2022, and subject to an appropriation
in the annual Budget Act, on a monthly basis, the department shall
electronically submit a notice to the superior court having
jurisdiction over the criminal case, informing the court of all cases
for which a complaint was filed in that jurisdiction and for which
relief was granted pursuant to this section. Commencing on August
1, 2022, for any record retained by the court pursuant to Section
68152 of the Government Code, except as provided in paragraph
(4), the court shall not disclose information concerning a conviction
granted relief pursuant to this section or Section 1203.4, 1203.4a,
1203.41, or 1203.42, to any person or entity, in any format, except
to the person whose conviction was granted relief or a criminal
justice agency, as defined in Section 851.92.
(4) Relief granted pursuant to this section is subject to the
following conditions:
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(A) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not relieve a
person of the obligation to disclose a criminal conviction in
response to a direct question contained in a questionnaire or
application for employment as a peace officer, as defined in Section
830.
(B) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not relieve a
person of the obligation to disclose the conviction in response to
a direct question contained in a questionnaire or application for
public office, or for contracting with the California State Lottery
Commission.
(C) Relief granted pursuant to this section has no effect on the
ability of a criminal justice agency, as defined in Section 851.92,
to access and use records that are granted relief to the same extent
that would have been permitted for a criminal justice agency had
relief not been granted.
(D) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not limit the
jurisdiction of the court over a subsequently filed motion to amend
the record, petition or motion for postconviction relief, or collateral
attack on a conviction for which relief has been granted pursuant
to this section.
(E) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect a
person’s authorization to own, possess, or have in the person’s
custody or control a firearm, or the person’s susceptibility to
conviction under Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 29800) of
Division 9 of Title 4 of Part 6, if the criminal conviction would
otherwise affect this authorization or susceptibility.
(F) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect a
prohibition from holding public office that would otherwise apply
under law as a result of the criminal conviction.
(G) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect the
authority to receive, or take adverse action based on, criminal
history information, including the authority to receive certified
court records received or evaluated pursuant to Section 1522,
1568.09, 1569.17, or 1596.871 of the Health and Safety Code, or
pursuant to any statutory or regulatory provisions that incorporate
the criteria of those sections.
(H) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not make eligible
a person who is otherwise ineligible to provide, or receive payment
for providing, in-home supportive services pursuant to Article 7
(commencing with Section 12300) of Chapter 3 of Part 3 of
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line 1 Division 9 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, or pursuant to
line 2 Section 14132.95, 14132.952, or 14132.956 of the Welfare and
line 3 Institutions Code.
line 4
(I) In a subsequent prosecution of the defendant for any other
line 5 offense, the prior conviction may be pleaded and proved and shall
line 6 have the same effect as if the relief had not been granted.
line 7
(5) This section shall not limit petitions, motions, or orders for
line 8 relief in a criminal case, as required or authorized by any other
line 9 law, including, but not limited to, Sections 1203.4 and 1204.4a.
line 10
(6) Commencing July 1, 2022, and subject to an appropriation
line 11 in the annual Budget Act, the department shall annually publish
line 12 statistics for each county regarding the total number of convictions
line 13 granted relief pursuant to this section and the total number of
line 14 convictions prohibited from automatic relief pursuant to
line 15 subdivision (b), on the OpenJustice Web portal, as defined in
line 16 Section 13010.
line 17
(b) (1) The prosecuting attorney or probation department may,
line 18 no later than 90 calendar days before the date of a person’s
line 19 eligibility for relief pursuant to this section, file a petition to
line 20 prohibit the department from granting automatic relief pursuant
line 21 to this section, based on a showing that granting that relief would
line 22 pose a substantial threat to the public safety.
line 23
(2) The court shall give notice to the defendant and conduct a
line 24 hearing on the petition within 45 days after the petition is filed.
line 25
(3) At a hearing on the petition pursuant to this subdivision, the
line 26 defendant, the probation department, the prosecuting attorney, and
line 27 the arresting agency, through the prosecuting attorney, may present
line 28 evidence to the court. Notwithstanding Sections 1538.5 and 1539,
line 29 the hearing may be heard and determined upon declarations,
line 30 affidavits, police investigative reports, copies of state summary
line 31 criminal history information and local summary criminal history
line 32 information, or any other evidence submitted by the parties that
line 33 is material, reliable, and relevant.
line 34
(4) The prosecutor or probation department has the initial burden
line 35 of proof to show that granting conviction relief would pose a
line 36 substantial threat to the public safety. In determining whether
line 37 granting relief would pose a substantial threat to the public safety,
line 38 the court may consider any relevant factors including, but not
line 39 limited to, either of the following:
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line 1
(A) Declarations or evidence regarding the offense for which a
line 2 grant of relief is being contested.
line 3
(B) The defendant’s record of arrests and convictions.
line 4
(5) If the court finds that the prosecutor or probation department
line 5 has satisfied the burden of proof, the burden shifts to the defendant
line 6 to show that the hardship of not obtaining relief outweighs the
line 7 threat to the public safety of providing relief. In determining
line 8 whether the defendant’s hardship outweighs the threat to the public
line 9 safety, the court may consider any relevant factors including, but
line 10 not limited to, either of the following:
line 11
(A) The hardship to the defendant that has been caused by the
line 12 conviction and that would be caused if relief is not granted.
line 13
(B) Declarations or evidence regarding the defendant’s good
line 14 character.
line 15
(6) If the court grants a petition pursuant to this subdivision,
line 16 the court shall furnish a disposition report to the Department of
line 17 Justice pursuant to Section 13151, stating that relief pursuant to
line 18 this section was denied, and the department shall not grant relief
line 19 pursuant to this section.
line 20
(7) A person denied relief pursuant to this section may continue
line 21 to be eligible for relief pursuant to Section 1203.4 or 1203.4a. If
line 22 the court subsequently grants relief pursuant to one of those
line 23 sections, the court shall furnish a disposition report to the
line 24 Department of Justice pursuant to Section 13151, stating that relief
line 25 was granted pursuant to the applicable section, and the department
line 26 shall grant relief pursuant to that section.
line 27
(c) At the time of sentencing, the court shall advise a defendant,
line 28 either orally or in writing, of the provisions of this section and of
line 29 the defendant’s right, if any, to petition for a certificate of
line 30 rehabilitation and pardon.
line 31
(d) This section shall remain in effect only until July 1, 2023,
line 32 and as of that date is repealed.
line 33
SEC. 4.1. Section 1203.425 of the Penal Code is amended to
line 34 read:
line 35
1203.425. (a) (1) (A) Commencing July 1, 2022, and subject
line 36 to an appropriation in the annual Budget Act, on a monthly basis,
line 37 the Department of Justice shall review the records in the statewide
line 38 criminal justice databases, and based on information in the state
line 39 summary criminal history repository and the Supervised Release
line 40 File, shall identify persons with convictions that meet the criteria
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set forth in subparagraph (B) and are eligible for automatic
conviction record relief.
(B) A person is eligible for automatic conviction relief pursuant
to this section if they meet all of the following conditions:
(i) The person is not required to register pursuant to the Sex
Offender Registration Act.
(ii) The person does not have an active record for local, state,
or federal supervision in the Supervised Release File.
(iii) Based upon the information available in the department’s
record, including disposition dates and sentencing terms, it does
not appear that the person is currently serving a sentence for an
offense and there is no indication of pending criminal charges.
(iv) Except as otherwise provided in subclause (III) of clause
(v), there is no indication that the conviction resulted in a sentence
of incarceration in the state prison.
(v) The conviction occurred on or after January 1, 1973, and
meets either of the following criteria:
(I) The defendant was sentenced to probation and, based upon
the disposition date and the term of probation specified in the
department’s records, appears to have completed their term of
probation without revocation.
(II) The defendant was convicted of an infraction or
misdemeanor, was not granted probation, and, based upon the
disposition date and the term specified in the department’s records,
the defendant appears to have completed their sentence, and at
least one calendar year has elapsed since the date of judgment.
(2) (A) Except as specified in subdivision (b), the department
shall grant relief, including dismissal of a conviction, to a person
identified pursuant to paragraph (1) without requiring a petition
or motion by a party for that relief if the relevant information is
present in the department’s electronic records.
(B) The state summary criminal history information shall
include, directly next to or below the entry or entries regarding the
person’s criminal record, a note stating “relief granted,” listing the
date that the department granted relief and this section. This note
shall be included in all statewide criminal databases with a record
of the conviction.
(C) Except as otherwise provided in paragraph (4) and in Section
13555 of the Vehicle Code, a person granted conviction relief
pursuant to this section shall be released from all penalties and
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line 1 disabilities resulting from the offense of which the person has been
line 2 convicted.
line 3
(3) (A) Commencing July 1, 2022, and subject to an
line 4 appropriation in the annual Budget Act, on a monthly basis, the
line 5 department shall electronically submit a notice to the superior court
line 6 having jurisdiction over the criminal case, informing the court of
line 7 all cases for which a complaint was filed in that jurisdiction and
line 8 for which relief was granted pursuant to this section. Commencing
line 9 on August 1, 2022, for any record retained by the court pursuant
line 10 to Section 68152 of the Government Code, except as provided in
line 11 paragraph (4), the court shall not disclose information concerning
line 12 a conviction granted relief pursuant to this section or Section
line 13 1203.4, 1203.4a, 1203.41, or 1203.42, to any person or entity, in
line 14 any format, except to the person whose conviction was granted
line 15 relief or a criminal justice agency, as defined in Section 851.92.
line 16
(B) If probation is transferred pursuant to Section 1203.9, the
line 17 department shall electronically submit a notice as provided in
line 18 subparagraph (A) to both the transferring court and any subsequent
line 19 receiving court. The electronic notice shall be in a mutually agreed
line 20 upon format.
line 21
(C) If a receiving court reduces a felony to a misdemeanor
line 22 pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 17, or dismisses a conviction
line 23 pursuant to law, including, but not limited to, Section 1203.4,
line 24 1203.4a, 1203.41, 1203.42, 1203.43, or 1203.49, it shall furnish
line 25 a disposition report to the department with the original case number
line 26 and CII number from the transferring court. The department shall
line 27 electronically submit a notice to the superior court that sentenced
line 28 the defendant. If probation is transferred multiple times, the
line 29 department shall electronically submit a notice to all other involved
line 30 courts. The electronic notice shall be in a mutually agreed upon
line 31 format.
line 32
(D) If a court receives notification from the department pursuant
line 33 to subparagraph (B), the court shall update its records to reflect
line 34 the reduction or dismissal. If a court receives notification that a
line 35 case was dismissed pursuant to this section or Section 1203.4,
line 36 1203.4a, 1203.41, or 1203.42, the court shall update its records to
line 37 reflect the dismissal and shall not disclose information concerning
line 38 a conviction granted relief to any person or entity, in any format,
line 39 except to the person whose conviction was granted relief or a
line 40 criminal justice agency, as defined in Section 851.92.
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(4) Relief granted pursuant to this section is subject to the
following conditions:
(A) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not relieve a
person of the obligation to disclose a criminal conviction in
response to a direct question contained in a questionnaire or
application for employment as a peace officer, as defined in Section
830.
(B) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not relieve a
person of the obligation to disclose the conviction in response to
a direct question contained in a questionnaire or application for
public office, or for contracting with the California State Lottery
Commission.
(C) Relief granted pursuant to this section has no effect on the
ability of a criminal justice agency, as defined in Section 851.92,
to access and use records that are granted relief to the same extent
that would have been permitted for a criminal justice agency had
relief not been granted.
(D) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not limit the
jurisdiction of the court over a subsequently filed motion to amend
the record, petition or motion for postconviction relief, or collateral
attack on a conviction for which relief has been granted pursuant
to this section.
(E) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect a
person’s authorization to own, possess, or have in the person’s
custody or control a firearm, or the person’s susceptibility to
conviction under Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 29800) of
Division 9 of Title 4 of Part 6, if the criminal conviction would
otherwise affect this authorization or susceptibility.
(F) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect a
prohibition from holding public office that would otherwise apply
under law as a result of the criminal conviction.
(G) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect the
authority to receive, or take adverse action based on, criminal
history information, including the authority to receive certified
court records received or evaluated pursuant to Section 1522,
1568.09, 1569.17, or 1596.871 of the Health and Safety Code, or
pursuant to any statutory or regulatory provisions that incorporate
the criteria of those sections.
(H) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not make eligible
a person who is otherwise ineligible to provide, or receive payment
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line 1 for providing, in-home supportive services pursuant to Article 7
line 2 (commencing with Section 12300) of Chapter 3 of Part 3 of
line 3 Division 9 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, or pursuant to
line 4 Section 14132.95, 14132.952, or 14132.956 of the Welfare and
line 5 Institutions Code.
line 6
(I) In a subsequent prosecution of the defendant for any other
line 7 offense, the prior conviction may be pleaded and proved and shall
line 8 have the same effect as if the relief had not been granted.
line 9
(5) This section shall not limit petitions, motions, or orders for
line 10 relief in a criminal case, as required or authorized by any other
line 11 law, including, but not limited to, Sections 1203.4 and 1204.4a.
line 12
(6) Commencing July 1, 2022, and subject to an appropriation
line 13 in the annual Budget Act, the department shall annually publish
line 14 statistics for each county regarding the total number of convictions
line 15 granted relief pursuant to this section and the total number of
line 16 convictions prohibited from automatic relief pursuant to
line 17 subdivision (b), on the OpenJustice Web portal, as defined in
line 18 Section 13010.
line 19
(b) (1) The prosecuting attorney or probation department may,
line 20 no later than 90 calendar days before the date of a person’s
line 21 eligibility for relief pursuant to this section, file a petition to
line 22 prohibit the department from granting automatic relief pursuant
line 23 to this section, based on a showing that granting that relief would
line 24 pose a substantial threat to the public safety. If probation was
line 25 transferred pursuant to Section 1203.9, the prosecuting attorney
line 26 or probation department in either the receiving county or the
line 27 transferring county shall file the petition in the county of current
line 28 jurisdiction.
line 29
(2) The court shall give notice to the defendant and conduct a
line 30 hearing on the petition within 45 days after the petition is filed.
line 31
(3) At a hearing on the petition pursuant to this subdivision, the
line 32 defendant, the probation department, the prosecuting attorney, and
line 33 the arresting agency, through the prosecuting attorney, may present
line 34 evidence to the court. Notwithstanding Sections 1538.5 and 1539,
line 35 the hearing may be heard and determined upon declarations,
line 36 affidavits, police investigative reports, copies of state summary
line 37 criminal history information and local summary criminal history
line 38 information, or any other evidence submitted by the parties that
line 39 is material, reliable, and relevant.
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line 1
(4) The prosecutor or probation department has the initial burden
line 2 of proof to show that granting conviction relief would pose a
line 3 substantial threat to the public safety. In determining whether
line 4 granting relief would pose a substantial threat to the public safety,
line 5 the court may consider any relevant factors including, but not
line 6 limited to, either of the following:
line 7
(A) Declarations or evidence regarding the offense for which a
line 8 grant of relief is being contested.
line 9
(B) The defendant’s record of arrests and convictions.
line 10
(5) If the court finds that the prosecutor or probation department
line 11 has satisfied the burden of proof, the burden shifts to the defendant
line 12 to show that the hardship of not obtaining relief outweighs the
line 13 threat to the public safety of providing relief. In determining
line 14 whether the defendant’s hardship outweighs the threat to the public
line 15 safety, the court may consider any relevant factors including, but
line 16 not limited to, either of the following:
line 17
(A) The hardship to the defendant that has been caused by the
line 18 conviction and that would be caused if relief is not granted.
line 19
(B) Declarations or evidence regarding the defendant’s good
line 20 character.
line 21
(6) If the court grants a petition pursuant to this subdivision,
line 22 the court shall furnish a disposition report to the Department of
line 23 Justice pursuant to Section 13151, stating that relief pursuant to
line 24 this section was denied, and the department shall not grant relief
line 25 pursuant to this section. If probation was transferred pursuant to
line 26 Section 1203.9, the department shall electronically submit a notice
line 27 to the transferring court, and, if probation was transferred multiple
line 28 times, to all other involved courts.
line 29
(7) A person denied relief pursuant to this section may continue
line 30 to be eligible for relief pursuant to Section 1203.4 or 1203.4a. If
line 31 the court subsequently grants relief pursuant to one of those
line 32 sections, the court shall furnish a disposition report to the
line 33 Department of Justice pursuant to Section 13151, stating that relief
line 34 was granted pursuant to the applicable section, and the department
line 35 shall grant relief pursuant to that section. If probation was
line 36 transferred pursuant to Section 1203.9, the department shall
line 37 electronically submit a notice that relief was granted pursuant to
line 38 the applicable section to the transferring court and, if probation
line 39 was transferred multiple times, to all other involved courts.
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line 1
(c) At the time of sentencing, the court shall advise a defendant,
line 2 either orally or in writing, of the provisions of this section and of
line 3 the defendant’s right, if any, to petition for a certificate of
line 4 rehabilitation and pardon.
line 5
(d) This section shall remain in effect only until July 1, 2023,
line 6 and as of that date is repealed.
line 7
SEC. 4.2. Section 1203.425 of the Penal Code is amended to
line 8 read:
line 9
1203.425. (a) (1) (A) Commencing July 1, 2022, and subject
line 10 to an appropriation in the annual Budget Act, on a monthly basis,
line 11 the Department of Justice shall review the records in the statewide
line 12 criminal justice databases, and based on information in the state
line 13 summary criminal history repository and the Supervised Release
line 14 File, shall identify persons with convictions that meet the criteria
line 15 set forth in subparagraph (B) and are eligible for automatic
line 16 conviction record relief.
line 17
(B) A person is eligible for automatic conviction relief pursuant
line 18 to this section if they meet all of the following conditions:
line 19
(i) The person is not required to register pursuant to the Sex
line 20 Offender Registration Act.
line 21
(ii) The person does not have an active record for local, state,
line 22 or federal supervision in the Supervised Release File.
line 23
(iii) Based upon the information available in the department’s
line 24 record, including disposition dates and sentencing terms, it does
line 25 not appear that the person is currently serving a sentence for an
line 26 offense and there is no indication of pending criminal charges.
line 27
(iv) Except as otherwise provided in subclause (III) of clause
line 28 (v), there is no indication that the conviction resulted in a sentence
line 29 of incarceration in the state prison.
line 30
(v) The conviction occurred on or after January 1, 1973, and
line 31 meets either of the following criteria:
line 32
(I) The defendant was sentenced to probation and, based upon
line 33 the disposition date and the term of probation specified in the
line 34 department’s records, appears to have completed their term of
line 35 probation without revocation.
line 36
(II) The defendant was convicted of an infraction or
line 37 misdemeanor, was not granted probation, and, based upon the
line 38 disposition date and the term specified in the department’s records,
line 39 the defendant appears to have completed their sentence, and at
line 40 least one calendar year has elapsed since the date of judgment.
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(2) (A) Except as specified in subdivision (b), the department
shall grant relief, including dismissal of a conviction, to a person
identified pursuant to paragraph (1) without requiring a petition
or motion by a party for that relief if the relevant information is
present in the department’s electronic records.
(B) The state summary criminal history information shall
include, directly next to or below the entry or entries regarding the
person’s criminal record, a note stating “relief granted,” listing the
date that the department granted relief and this section. This note
shall be included in all statewide criminal databases with a record
of the conviction.
(C) Except as otherwise provided in paragraph (4) and in Section
13555 of the Vehicle Code, a person granted conviction relief
pursuant to this section shall be released from all penalties and
disabilities resulting from the offense of which the person has been
convicted.
(3) Commencing July 1, 2022, and subject to an appropriation
in the annual Budget Act, on a monthly basis, the department shall
electronically submit a notice to the superior court having
jurisdiction over the criminal case, informing the court of all cases
for which a complaint was filed in that jurisdiction and for which
relief was granted pursuant to this section. Commencing on August
1, 2022, for any record retained by the court pursuant to Section
68152 of the Government Code, except as provided in paragraph
(4), the court shall not disclose information concerning a conviction
granted relief pursuant to this section or Section 1203.4, 1203.4a,
1203.41, or 1203.42, to any person or entity, in any format, except
to the person whose conviction was granted relief or a criminal
justice agency, as defined in Section 851.92.
(4) Relief granted pursuant to this section is subject to the
following conditions:
(A) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not relieve a
person of the obligation to disclose a criminal conviction in
response to a direct question contained in a questionnaire or
application for employment as a peace officer, as defined in Section
830.
(B) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not relieve a
person of the obligation to disclose the conviction in response to
a direct question contained in a questionnaire or application for
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public office, or for contracting with the California State Lottery
Commission.
(C) Relief granted pursuant to this section has no effect on the
ability of a criminal justice agency, as defined in Section 851.92,
to access and use records that are granted relief to the same extent
that would have been permitted for a criminal justice agency had
relief not been granted.
(D) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not limit the
jurisdiction of the court over a subsequently filed motion to amend
the record, petition or motion for postconviction relief, or collateral
attack on a conviction for which relief has been granted pursuant
to this section.
(E) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect a
person’s authorization to own, possess, or have in the person’s
custody or control a firearm, or the person’s susceptibility to
conviction under Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 29800) of
Division 9 of Title 4 of Part 6, if the criminal conviction would
otherwise affect this authorization or susceptibility.
(F) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect a
prohibition from holding public office that would otherwise apply
under law as a result of the criminal conviction.
(G) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not release a
person from the terms and conditions of any unexpired criminal
protective order that has been issued by the court pursuant to
paragraph (1) of subdivision (i) of Section 136.2, subdivision (j)
of Section 273.5, subdivision (l) of Section 368, or subdivision
(k) of Section 646.9. These protective orders shall remain in full
effect until expiration or until any further order by the court
modifying or terminating the order, despite the dismissal of the
underlying conviction.
(H) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect the
authority to receive, or take adverse action based on, criminal
history information, including the authority to receive certified
court records received or evaluated pursuant to Section 1522,
1568.09, 1569.17, or 1596.871 of the Health and Safety Code, or
pursuant to any statutory or regulatory provisions that incorporate
the criteria of those sections.
(I) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not make eligible
a person who is otherwise ineligible to provide, or receive payment
for providing, in-home supportive services pursuant to Article 7
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line 1 (commencing with Section 12300) of Chapter 3 of Part 3 of
line 2 Division 9 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, or pursuant to
line 3 Section 14132.95, 14132.952, or 14132.956 of the Welfare and
line 4 Institutions Code.
line 5
(J) In a subsequent prosecution of the defendant for any other
line 6 offense, the prior conviction may be pleaded and proved and shall
line 7 have the same effect as if the relief had not been granted.
line 8
(5) This section shall not limit petitions, motions, or orders for
line 9 relief in a criminal case, as required or authorized by any other
line 10 law, including, but not limited to, Sections 1203.4 and 1204.4a.
line 11
(6) Commencing July 1, 2022, and subject to an appropriation
line 12 in the annual Budget Act, the department shall annually publish
line 13 statistics for each county regarding the total number of convictions
line 14 granted relief pursuant to this section and the total number of
line 15 convictions prohibited from automatic relief pursuant to
line 16 subdivision (b), on the OpenJustice Web portal, as defined in
line 17 Section 13010.
line 18
(b) (1) The prosecuting attorney or probation department may,
line 19 no later than 90 calendar days before the date of a person’s
line 20 eligibility for relief pursuant to this section, file a petition to
line 21 prohibit the department from granting automatic relief pursuant
line 22 to this section, based on a showing that granting that relief would
line 23 pose a substantial threat to the public safety.
line 24
(2) The court shall give notice to the defendant and conduct a
line 25 hearing on the petition within 45 days after the petition is filed.
line 26
(3) At a hearing on the petition pursuant to this subdivision, the
line 27 defendant, the probation department, the prosecuting attorney, and
line 28 the arresting agency, through the prosecuting attorney, may present
line 29 evidence to the court. Notwithstanding Sections 1538.5 and 1539,
line 30 the hearing may be heard and determined upon declarations,
line 31 affidavits, police investigative reports, copies of state summary
line 32 criminal history information and local summary criminal history
line 33 information, or any other evidence submitted by the parties that
line 34 is material, reliable, and relevant.
line 35
(4) The prosecutor or probation department has the initial burden
line 36 of proof to show that granting conviction relief would pose a
line 37 substantial threat to the public safety. In determining whether
line 38 granting relief would pose a substantial threat to the public safety,
line 39 the court may consider any relevant factors including, but not
line 40 limited to, either of the following:
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line 1
(A) Declarations or evidence regarding the offense for which a
line 2 grant of relief is being contested.
line 3
(B) The defendant’s record of arrests and convictions.
line 4
(5) If the court finds that the prosecutor or probation department
line 5 has satisfied the burden of proof, the burden shifts to the defendant
line 6 to show that the hardship of not obtaining relief outweighs the
line 7 threat to the public safety of providing relief. In determining
line 8 whether the defendant’s hardship outweighs the threat to the public
line 9 safety, the court may consider any relevant factors including, but
line 10 not limited to, either of the following:
line 11
(A) The hardship to the defendant that has been caused by the
line 12 conviction and that would be caused if relief is not granted.
line 13
(B) Declarations or evidence regarding the defendant’s good
line 14 character.
line 15
(6) If the court grants a petition pursuant to this subdivision,
line 16 the court shall furnish a disposition report to the Department of
line 17 Justice pursuant to Section 13151, stating that relief pursuant to
line 18 this section was denied, and the department shall not grant relief
line 19 pursuant to this section.
line 20
(7) A person denied relief pursuant to this section may continue
line 21 to be eligible for relief pursuant to Section 1203.4 or 1203.4a. If
line 22 the court subsequently grants relief pursuant to one of those
line 23 sections, the court shall furnish a disposition report to the
line 24 Department of Justice pursuant to Section 13151, stating that relief
line 25 was granted pursuant to the applicable section, and the department
line 26 shall grant relief pursuant to that section.
line 27
(c) At the time of sentencing, the court shall advise a defendant,
line 28 either orally or in writing, of the provisions of this section and of
line 29 the defendant’s right, if any, to petition for a certificate of
line 30 rehabilitation and pardon.
line 31
(d) This section shall remain in effect only until July 1, 2023,
line 32 and as of that date is repealed.
line 33
SEC. 4.3. Section 1203.425 of the Penal Code is amended to
line 34 read:
line 35
1203.425. (a) (1) (A) Commencing July 1, 2022, and subject
line 36 to an appropriation in the annual Budget Act, on a monthly basis,
line 37 the Department of Justice shall review the records in the statewide
line 38 criminal justice databases, and based on information in the state
line 39 summary criminal history repository and the Supervised Release
line 40 File, shall identify persons with convictions that meet the criteria
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set forth in subparagraph (B) and are eligible for automatic
conviction record relief.
(B) A person is eligible for automatic conviction relief pursuant
to this section if they meet all of the following conditions:
(i) The person is not required to register pursuant to the Sex
Offender Registration Act.
(ii) The person does not have an active record for local, state,
or federal supervision in the Supervised Release File.
(iii) Based upon the information available in the department’s
record, including disposition dates and sentencing terms, it does
not appear that the person is currently serving a sentence for an
offense and there is no indication of pending criminal charges.
(iv) Except as otherwise provided in subclause (III) of clause
(v), there is no indication that the conviction resulted in a sentence
of incarceration in the state prison.
(v) The conviction occurred on or after January 1, 1973, and
meets either of the following criteria:
(I) The defendant was sentenced to probation and, based upon
the disposition date and the term of probation specified in the
department’s records, appears to have completed their term of
probation without revocation.
(II) The defendant was convicted of an infraction or
misdemeanor, was not granted probation, and, based upon the
disposition date and the term specified in the department’s records,
the defendant appears to have completed their sentence, and at
least one calendar year has elapsed since the date of judgment.
(2) (A) Except as specified in subdivision (b), the department
shall grant relief, including dismissal of a conviction, to a person
identified pursuant to paragraph (1) without requiring a petition
or motion by a party for that relief if the relevant information is
present in the department’s electronic records.
(B) The state summary criminal history information shall
include, directly next to or below the entry or entries regarding the
person’s criminal record, a note stating “relief granted,” listing the
date that the department granted relief and this section. This note
shall be included in all statewide criminal databases with a record
of the conviction.
(C) Except as otherwise provided in paragraph (4) and in Section
13555 of the Vehicle Code, a person granted conviction relief
pursuant to this section shall be released from all penalties and
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line 1 disabilities resulting from the offense of which the person has been
line 2 convicted.
line 3
(3) (A) Commencing July 1, 2022, and subject to an
line 4 appropriation in the annual Budget Act, on a monthly basis, the
line 5 department shall electronically submit a notice to the superior court
line 6 having jurisdiction over the criminal case, informing the court of
line 7 all cases for which a complaint was filed in that jurisdiction and
line 8 for which relief was granted pursuant to this section. Commencing
line 9 on August 1, 2022, for any record retained by the court pursuant
line 10 to Section 68152 of the Government Code, except as provided in
line 11 paragraph (4), the court shall not disclose information concerning
line 12 a conviction granted relief pursuant to this section or Section
line 13 1203.4, 1203.4a, 1203.41, or 1203.42, to any person or entity, in
line 14 any format, except to the person whose conviction was granted
line 15 relief or a criminal justice agency, as defined in Section 851.92.
line 16
(B) If probation is transferred pursuant to Section 1203.9, the
line 17 department shall electronically submit a notice as provided in
line 18 subparagraph (A) to both the transferring court and any subsequent
line 19 receiving court. The electronic notice shall be in a mutually agreed
line 20 upon format.
line 21
(C) If a receiving court reduces a felony to a misdemeanor
line 22 pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 17, or dismisses a conviction
line 23 pursuant to law, including, but not limited to, Section 1203.4,
line 24 1203.4a, 1203.41, 1203.42, 1203.43, or 1203.49, it shall furnish
line 25 a disposition report to the department with the original case number
line 26 and CII number from the transferring court. The department shall
line 27 electronically submit a notice to the superior court that sentenced
line 28 the defendant. If probation is transferred multiple times, the
line 29 department shall electronically submit a notice to all other involved
line 30 courts. The electronic notice shall be in a mutually agreed upon
line 31 format.
line 32
(D) If a court receives notification from the department pursuant
line 33 to subparagraph (B), the court shall update its records to reflect
line 34 the reduction or dismissal. If a court receives notification that a
line 35 case was dismissed pursuant to this section or Section 1203.4,
line 36 1203.4a, 1203.41, or 1203.42, the court shall update its records to
line 37 reflect the dismissal and shall not disclose information concerning
line 38 a conviction granted relief to any person or entity, in any format,
line 39 except to the person whose conviction was granted relief or a
line 40 criminal justice agency, as defined in Section 851.92.
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(4) Relief granted pursuant to this section is subject to the
following conditions:
(A) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not relieve a
person of the obligation to disclose a criminal conviction in
response to a direct question contained in a questionnaire or
application for employment as a peace officer, as defined in Section
830.
(B) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not relieve a
person of the obligation to disclose the conviction in response to
a direct question contained in a questionnaire or application for
public office, or for contracting with the California State Lottery
Commission.
(C) Relief granted pursuant to this section has no effect on the
ability of a criminal justice agency, as defined in Section 851.92,
to access and use records that are granted relief to the same extent
that would have been permitted for a criminal justice agency had
relief not been granted.
(D) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not limit the
jurisdiction of the court over a subsequently filed motion to amend
the record, petition or motion for postconviction relief, or collateral
attack on a conviction for which relief has been granted pursuant
to this section.
(E) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect a
person’s authorization to own, possess, or have in the person’s
custody or control a firearm, or the person’s susceptibility to
conviction under Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 29800) of
Division 9 of Title 4 of Part 6, if the criminal conviction would
otherwise affect this authorization or susceptibility.
(F) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect a
prohibition from holding public office that would otherwise apply
under law as a result of the criminal conviction.
(G) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not release a
person from the terms and conditions of any unexpired criminal
protective order that has been issued by the court pursuant to
paragraph (1) of subdivision (i) of Section 136.2, subdivision (j)
of Section 273.5, subdivision (l) of Section 368, or subdivision
(k) of Section 646.9. These protective orders shall remain in full
effect until expiration or until any further order by the court
modifying or terminating the order, despite the dismissal of the
underlying conviction.
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line 1
(H) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect the
line 2 authority to receive, or take adverse action based on, criminal
line 3 history information, including the authority to receive certified
line 4 court records received or evaluated pursuant to Section 1522,
line 5 1568.09, 1569.17, or 1596.871 of the Health and Safety Code, or
line 6 pursuant to any statutory or regulatory provisions that incorporate
line 7 the criteria of those sections.
line 8
(I) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not make eligible
line 9 a person who is otherwise ineligible to provide, or receive payment
line 10 for providing, in-home supportive services pursuant to Article 7
line 11 (commencing with Section 12300) of Chapter 3 of Part 3 of
line 12 Division 9 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, or pursuant to
line 13 Section 14132.95, 14132.952, or 14132.956 of the Welfare and
line 14 Institutions Code.
line 15
(J) In a subsequent prosecution of the defendant for any other
line 16 offense, the prior conviction may be pleaded and proved and shall
line 17 have the same effect as if the relief had not been granted.
line 18
(5) This section shall not limit petitions, motions, or orders for
line 19 relief in a criminal case, as required or authorized by any other
line 20 law, including, but not limited to, Sections 1203.4 and 1204.4a.
line 21
(6) Commencing July 1, 2022, and subject to an appropriation
line 22 in the annual Budget Act, the department shall annually publish
line 23 statistics for each county regarding the total number of convictions
line 24 granted relief pursuant to this section and the total number of
line 25 convictions prohibited from automatic relief pursuant to
line 26 subdivision (b), on the OpenJustice Web portal, as defined in
line 27 Section 13010.
line 28
(b) (1) The prosecuting attorney or probation department may,
line 29 no later than 90 calendar days before the date of a person’s
line 30 eligibility for relief pursuant to this section, file a petition to
line 31 prohibit the department from granting automatic relief pursuant
line 32 to this section, based on a showing that granting that relief would
line 33 pose a substantial threat to the public safety. If probation was
line 34 transferred pursuant to Section 1203.9, the prosecuting attorney
line 35 or probation department in either the receiving county or the
line 36 transferring county shall file the petition in the county of current
line 37 jurisdiction.
line 38
(2) The court shall give notice to the defendant and conduct a
line 39 hearing on the petition within 45 days after the petition is filed.
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line 1
(3) At a hearing on the petition pursuant to this subdivision, the
line 2 defendant, the probation department, the prosecuting attorney, and
line 3 the arresting agency, through the prosecuting attorney, may present
line 4 evidence to the court. Notwithstanding Sections 1538.5 and 1539,
line 5 the hearing may be heard and determined upon declarations,
line 6 affidavits, police investigative reports, copies of state summary
line 7 criminal history information and local summary criminal history
line 8 information, or any other evidence submitted by the parties that
line 9 is material, reliable, and relevant.
line 10
(4) The prosecutor or probation department has the initial burden
line 11 of proof to show that granting conviction relief would pose a
line 12 substantial threat to the public safety. In determining whether
line 13 granting relief would pose a substantial threat to the public safety,
line 14 the court may consider any relevant factors including, but not
line 15 limited to, either of the following:
line 16
(A) Declarations or evidence regarding the offense for which a
line 17 grant of relief is being contested.
line 18
(B) The defendant’s record of arrests and convictions.
line 19
(5) If the court finds that the prosecutor or probation department
line 20 has satisfied the burden of proof, the burden shifts to the defendant
line 21 to show that the hardship of not obtaining relief outweighs the
line 22 threat to the public safety of providing relief. In determining
line 23 whether the defendant’s hardship outweighs the threat to the public
line 24 safety, the court may consider any relevant factors including, but
line 25 not limited to, either of the following:
line 26
(A) The hardship to the defendant that has been caused by the
line 27 conviction and that would be caused if relief is not granted.
line 28
(B) Declarations or evidence regarding the defendant’s good
line 29 character.
line 30
(6) If the court grants a petition pursuant to this subdivision,
line 31 the court shall furnish a disposition report to the Department of
line 32 Justice pursuant to Section 13151, stating that relief pursuant to
line 33 this section was denied, and the department shall not grant relief
line 34 pursuant to this section. If probation was transferred pursuant to
line 35 Section 1203.9, the department shall electronically submit a notice
line 36 to the transferring court, and, if probation was transferred multiple
line 37 times, to all other involved courts.
line 38
(7) A person denied relief pursuant to this section may continue
line 39 to be eligible for relief pursuant to Section 1203.4 or 1203.4a. If
line 40 the court subsequently grants relief pursuant to one of those
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sections, the court shall furnish a disposition report to the
Department of Justice pursuant to Section 13151, stating that relief
was granted pursuant to the applicable section, and the department
shall grant relief pursuant to that section. If probation was
transferred pursuant to Section 1203.9, the department shall
electronically submit a notice that relief was granted pursuant to
the applicable section to the transferring court and, if probation
was transferred multiple times, to all other involved courts.
(c) At the time of sentencing, the court shall advise a defendant,
either orally or in writing, of the provisions of this section and of
the defendant’s right, if any, to petition for a certificate of
rehabilitation and pardon.
(d) This section shall remain in effect only until July 1, 2023,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 5. Section 1203.425 is added to the Penal Code, to read:
1203.425. (a) (1) (A) Commencing July 1, 2023, and subject
to an appropriation in the annual Budget Act, on a monthly basis,
the Department of Justice shall review the records in the statewide
criminal justice databases, and based on information in the state
summary criminal history repository and the Supervised Release
File, shall identify persons with convictions that meet the criteria
set forth in subparagraph (B) and are eligible for automatic
conviction record relief.
(B) A person is eligible for automatic conviction relief pursuant
to this section if they meet all of the following conditions:
(i) The person is not required to register pursuant to the Sex
Offender Registration Act.
(ii) The person does not have an active record for local, state,
or federal supervision in the Supervised Release File.
(iii) Based upon the information available in the department’s
record, including disposition dates and sentencing terms, it does
not appear that the person is currently serving a sentence for an
offense and there is no indication of pending criminal charges.
(iv) The conviction meets either of the following criteria:
(I) The conviction occurred on or after January 1, 1973, and
meets either of the following criteria:
(ia) The defendant was sentenced to probation and, based upon
the disposition date and the term of probation specified in the
department’s records, appears to have completed their term of
probation without revocation.
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(ib) The defendant was convicted of an infraction or
misdemeanor, was not granted probation, and, based upon the
disposition date and the term specified in the department’s records,
the defendant appears to have completed their sentence, and at
least one calendar year has elapsed since the date of judgment.
(II) The conviction occurred on or after January 1, 2005, the
defendant was convicted of a felony other than one for which the
defendant completed probation without revocation, and based upon
the disposition date and the sentence specified in the department’s
records, appears to have completed all terms of incarceration,
probation, mandatory supervision, postrelease supervision, and
parole, and a period of four years has elapsed since the date on
which the defendant completed probation or supervision for that
conviction and during which the defendant was not convicted of
a new felony offense. This subclause does not apply to a conviction
of a serious felony defined in subdivision (c) of Section 1192.7, a
violent felony as defined in Section 667.5, or a felony offense
requiring registration pursuant to Chapter 5.5 (commencing with
Section 290) of Title 9 of Part 1.
(2) (A) Except as specified in subdivision (b), the department
shall grant relief, including dismissal of a conviction, to a person
identified pursuant to paragraph (1) without requiring a petition
or motion by a party for that relief if the relevant information is
present in the department’s electronic records.
(B) The state summary criminal history information shall
include, directly next to or below the entry or entries regarding the
person’s criminal record, a note stating “relief granted,” listing the
date that the department granted relief and this section. This note
shall be included in all statewide criminal databases with a record
of the conviction.
(C) Except as otherwise provided in paragraph (4) and in Section
13555 of the Vehicle Code, a person granted conviction relief
pursuant to this section shall be released from all penalties and
disabilities resulting from the offense of which the person has been
convicted.
(3) Commencing July 1, 2022, and subject to an appropriation
in the annual Budget Act, on a monthly basis, the department shall
electronically submit a notice to the superior court having
jurisdiction over the criminal case, informing the court of all cases
for which a complaint was filed in that jurisdiction and for which
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relief was granted pursuant to this section. Commencing on August
1, 2022, for any record retained by the court pursuant to Section
68152 of the Government Code, except as provided in paragraph
(4), the court shall not disclose information concerning a conviction
granted relief pursuant to this section or Section 1203.4, 1203.4a,
1203.41, or 1203.42, to any person or entity, in any format, except
to the person whose conviction was granted relief or a criminal
justice agency, as defined in Section 851.92.
(4) Relief granted pursuant to this section is subject to the
following conditions:
(A) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not relieve a
person of the obligation to disclose a criminal conviction in
response to a direct question contained in a questionnaire or
application for employment as a peace officer, as defined in Section
830.
(B) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not relieve a
person of the obligation to disclose the conviction in response to
a direct question contained in a questionnaire or application for
public office, or for contracting with the California State Lottery
Commission.
(C) Relief granted pursuant to this section has no effect on the
ability of a criminal justice agency, as defined in Section 851.92,
to access and use records that are granted relief to the same extent
that would have been permitted for a criminal justice agency had
relief not been granted.
(D) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not limit the
jurisdiction of the court over a subsequently filed motion to amend
the record, petition or motion for postconviction relief, or collateral
attack on a conviction for which relief has been granted pursuant
to this section.
(E) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect a
person’s authorization to own, possess, or have in the person’s
custody or control a firearm, or the person’s susceptibility to
conviction under Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 29800) of
Division 9 of Title 4 of Part 6, if the criminal conviction would
otherwise affect this authorization or susceptibility.
(F) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect a
prohibition from holding public office that would otherwise apply
under law as a result of the criminal conviction.
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(G) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect the
authority to receive, or take adverse action based on, criminal
history information, including the authority to receive certified
court records received or evaluated pursuant to Section 1522,
1568.09, 1569.17, or 1596.871 of the Health and Safety Code, or
pursuant to any statutory or regulatory provisions that incorporate
the criteria of those sections.
(H) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not make eligible
a person who is otherwise ineligible to provide, or receive payment
for providing, in-home supportive services pursuant to Article 7
(commencing with Section 12300) of Chapter 3 of Part 3 of
Division 9 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, or pursuant to
Section 14132.95, 14132.952, or 14132.956 of the Welfare and
Institutions Code.
(I) In a subsequent prosecution of the defendant for any other
offense, the prior conviction may be pleaded and proved and shall
have the same effect as if the relief had not been granted.
(J) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not release the
defendant from the terms and conditions of any unexpired criminal
protective orders that have been issued by the court pursuant to
paragraph (1) of subdivision (i) of Section 136.2, subdivision (j)
of Section 273.5, subdivision (l) of Section 368, or subdivision
(k) of Section 646.9. These protective orders shall remain in full
effect until expiration or until any further order by the court
modifying or terminating the order, despite the dismissal of the
underlying accusation or information.
(5) This section shall not limit petitions, motions, or orders for
relief in a criminal case, as required or authorized by any other
law, including, but not limited to, Sections 1016.5, 1203.4, 1203.4a,
1203.4b, 1203.41, 1203.42, 1203.49 and 1473.7. This section shall
not limit petitions for a certificate of rehabilitation or pardon
pursuant to Chapter 3.5 of Title 6 of Part 3.
(6) Commencing July 1, 2022, and subject to an appropriation
in the annual Budget Act, the department shall annually publish
statistics for each county regarding the total number of convictions
granted relief pursuant to this section and the total number of
convictions prohibited from automatic relief pursuant to
subdivision (b), on the OpenJustice Web portal, as defined in
Section 13010.
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line 1
(b) (1) The prosecuting attorney or probation department may,
line 2 no later than 90 calendar days before the date of a person’s
line 3 eligibility for relief pursuant to this section, file a petition to
line 4 prohibit the department from granting automatic relief pursuant
line 5 to this section, based on a showing that granting that relief would
line 6 pose a substantial threat to the public safety.
line 7
(2) The court shall give notice to the defendant and conduct a
line 8 hearing on the petition within 45 days after the petition is filed.
line 9
(3) At a hearing on the petition pursuant to this subdivision, the
line 10 defendant, the probation department, the prosecuting attorney, and
line 11 the arresting agency, through the prosecuting attorney, may present
line 12 evidence to the court. Notwithstanding Sections 1538.5 and 1539,
line 13 the hearing may be heard and determined upon declarations,
line 14 affidavits, police investigative reports, copies of state summary
line 15 criminal history information and local summary criminal history
line 16 information, or any other evidence submitted by the parties that
line 17 is material, reliable, and relevant.
line 18
(4) The prosecutor or probation department has the initial burden
line 19 of proof to show that granting conviction relief would pose a
line 20 substantial threat to the public safety. In determining whether
line 21 granting relief would pose a substantial threat to the public safety,
line 22 the court may consider any relevant factors including, but not
line 23 limited to, either of the following:
line 24
(A) Declarations or evidence regarding the offense for which a
line 25 grant of relief is being contested.
line 26
(B) The defendant’s record of arrests and convictions.
line 27
(5) If the court finds that the prosecutor or probation department
line 28 has satisfied the burden of proof, the burden shifts to the defendant
line 29 to show that the hardship of not obtaining relief outweighs the
line 30 threat to the public safety of providing relief. In determining
line 31 whether the defendant’s hardship outweighs the threat to the public
line 32 safety, the court may consider any relevant factors including, but
line 33 not limited to, either of the following:
line 34
(A) The hardship to the defendant that has been caused by the
line 35 conviction and that would be caused if relief is not granted.
line 36
(B) Declarations or evidence regarding the defendant’s good
line 37 character.
line 38
(6) If the court grants a petition pursuant to this subdivision,
line 39 the court shall furnish a disposition report to the Department of
line 40 Justice pursuant to Section 13151, stating that relief pursuant to
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this section was denied, and the department shall not grant relief
pursuant to this section.
(7) A person denied relief pursuant to this section may continue
to be eligible for relief pursuant to law, including, but not limited
to, Section 1203.4, 1203.4a, 1203.4b, or 1203.41. If the court
subsequently grants relief pursuant to one of those sections, the
court shall furnish a disposition report to the Department of Justice
pursuant to Section 13151, stating that relief was granted pursuant
to the applicable section, and the department shall grant relief
pursuant to that section.
(c) At the time of sentencing, the court shall advise a defendant,
either orally or in writing, of the provisions of this section and of
the defendant’s right, if any, to petition for a certificate of
rehabilitation and pardon.
SEC. 5.1. Section 1203.425 is added to the Penal Code, to read:
1203.425. (a) (1) (A) Commencing July 1, 2023, and subject
to an appropriation in the annual Budget Act, on a monthly basis,
the Department of Justice shall review the records in the statewide
criminal justice databases, and based on information in the state
summary criminal history repository and the Supervised Release
File, shall identify persons with convictions that meet the criteria
set forth in subparagraph (B) and are eligible for automatic
conviction record relief.
(B) A person is eligible for automatic conviction relief pursuant
to this section if they meet all of the following conditions:
(i) The person is not required to register pursuant to the Sex
Offender Registration Act.
(ii) The person does not have an active record for local, state,
or federal supervision in the Supervised Release File.
(iii) Based upon the information available in the department’s
record, including disposition dates and sentencing terms, it does
not appear that the person is currently serving a sentence for an
offense and there is no indication of pending criminal charges.
(iv) The conviction meets either of the following criteria:
(I) The conviction occurred on or after January 1, 1973, and
meets either of the following criteria:
(ia) The defendant was sentenced to probation and, based upon
the disposition date and the term of probation specified in the
department’s records, appears to have completed their term of
probation without revocation.
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(ib) The defendant was convicted of an infraction or
misdemeanor, was not granted probation, and, based upon the
disposition date and the term specified in the department’s records,
the defendant appears to have completed their sentence, and at
least one calendar year has elapsed since the date of judgment.
(II) The conviction occurred on or after January 1, 2005, the
defendant was convicted of a felony other than one for which the
defendant completed probation without revocation, and based upon
the disposition date and the sentence specified in the department’s
records, appears to have completed all terms of incarceration,
probation, mandatory supervision, postrelease supervision, and
parole, and a period of four years has elapsed since the date on
which the defendant completed probation or supervision for that
conviction and during which the defendant was not convicted of
a new felony offense. This subclause does not apply to a conviction
of a serious felony defined in subdivision (c) of Section 1192.7, a
violent felony as defined in Section 667.5, or a felony offense
requiring registration pursuant to Chapter 5.5 (commencing with
Section 290) of Title 9 of Part 1.
(2) (A) Except as specified in subdivision (b), the department
shall grant relief, including dismissal of a conviction, to a person
identified pursuant to paragraph (1) without requiring a petition
or motion by a party for that relief if the relevant information is
present in the department’s electronic records.
(B) The state summary criminal history information shall
include, directly next to or below the entry or entries regarding the
person’s criminal record, a note stating “relief granted,” listing the
date that the department granted relief and this section. This note
shall be included in all statewide criminal databases with a record
of the conviction.
(C) Except as otherwise provided in paragraph (4) and in Section
13555 of the Vehicle Code, a person granted conviction relief
pursuant to this section shall be released from all penalties and
disabilities resulting from the offense of which the person has been
convicted.
(3) (A) Commencing July 1, 2022, and subject to an
appropriation in the annual Budget Act, on a monthly basis, the
department shall electronically submit a notice to the superior court
having jurisdiction over the criminal case, informing the court of
all cases for which a complaint was filed in that jurisdiction and
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line 1 for which relief was granted pursuant to this section. Commencing
line 2 on August 1, 2022, for any record retained by the court pursuant
line 3 to Section 68152 of the Government Code, except as provided in
line 4 paragraph (4), the court shall not disclose information concerning
line 5 a conviction granted relief pursuant to this section or Section
line 6 1203.4, 1203.4a, 1203.41, or 1203.42, to any person or entity, in
line 7 any format, except to the person whose conviction was granted
line 8 relief or a criminal justice agency, as defined in Section 851.92.
line 9
(B) If probation is transferred pursuant to Section 1203.9, the
line 10 department shall electronically submit a notice as provided in
line 11 subparagraph (A) to both the transferring court and any subsequent
line 12 receiving court. The electronic notice shall be in a mutually agreed
line 13 upon format.
line 14
(C) If a receiving court reduces a felony to a misdemeanor
line 15 pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 17, or dismisses a conviction
line 16 pursuant to law, including, but not limited to, Section 1203.4,
line 17 1203.4a, 1203.41, 1203.42, 1203.43, or 1203.49, it shall furnish
line 18 a disposition report to the department with the original case number
line 19 and CII number from the transferring court. The department shall
line 20 electronically submit a notice to the superior court that sentenced
line 21 the defendant. If probation is transferred multiple times, the
line 22 department shall electronically submit a notice to all other involved
line 23 courts. The electronic notice shall be in a mutually agreed upon
line 24 format.
line 25
(D) If a court receives notification from the department pursuant
line 26 to subparagraph (B), the court shall update its records to reflect
line 27 the reduction or dismissal. If a court receives notification that a
line 28 case was dismissed pursuant to this section or Section 1203.4,
line 29 1203.4a, 1203.41, or 1203.42, the court shall update its records to
line 30 reflect the dismissal and shall not disclose information concerning
line 31 a conviction granted relief to any person or entity, in any format,
line 32 except to the person whose conviction was granted relief or a
line 33 criminal justice agency, as defined in Section 851.92.
line 34
(4) Relief granted pursuant to this section is subject to the
line 35 following conditions:
line 36
(A) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not relieve a
line 37 person of the obligation to disclose a criminal conviction in
line 38 response to a direct question contained in a questionnaire or
line 39 application for employment as a peace officer, as defined in Section
line 40 830.
91

SB 731
line 1
line 2
line 3
line 4
line 5
line 6
line 7
line 8
line 9
line 10
line 11
line 12
line 13
line 14
line 15
line 16
line 17
line 18
line 19
line 20
line 21
line 22
line 23
line 24
line 25
line 26
line 27
line 28
line 29
line 30
line 31
line 32
line 33
line 34
line 35
line 36
line 37
line 38

— 46 —

(B) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not relieve a
person of the obligation to disclose the conviction in response to
a direct question contained in a questionnaire or application for
public office, or for contracting with the California State Lottery
Commission.
(C) Relief granted pursuant to this section has no effect on the
ability of a criminal justice agency, as defined in Section 851.92,
to access and use records that are granted relief to the same extent
that would have been permitted for a criminal justice agency had
relief not been granted.
(D) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not limit the
jurisdiction of the court over a subsequently filed motion to amend
the record, petition or motion for postconviction relief, or collateral
attack on a conviction for which relief has been granted pursuant
to this section.
(E) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect a
person’s authorization to own, possess, or have in the person’s
custody or control a firearm, or the person’s susceptibility to
conviction under Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 29800) of
Division 9 of Title 4 of Part 6, if the criminal conviction would
otherwise affect this authorization or susceptibility.
(F) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect a
prohibition from holding public office that would otherwise apply
under law as a result of the criminal conviction.
(G) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect the
authority to receive, or take adverse action based on, criminal
history information, including the authority to receive certified
court records received or evaluated pursuant to Section 1522,
1568.09, 1569.17, or 1596.871 of the Health and Safety Code, or
pursuant to any statutory or regulatory provisions that incorporate
the criteria of those sections.
(H) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not make eligible
a person who is otherwise ineligible to provide, or receive payment
for providing, in-home supportive services pursuant to Article 7
(commencing with Section 12300) of Chapter 3 of Part 3 of
Division 9 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, or pursuant to
Section 14132.95, 14132.952, or 14132.956 of the Welfare and
Institutions Code.
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line 1
(I) In a subsequent prosecution of the defendant for any other
line 2 offense, the prior conviction may be pleaded and proved and shall
line 3 have the same effect as if the relief had not been granted.
line 4
(J) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not release the
line 5 defendant from the terms and conditions of any unexpired criminal
line 6 protective orders that have been issued by the court pursuant to
line 7 paragraph (1) of subdivision (i) of Section 136.2, subdivision (j)
line 8 of Section 273.5, subdivision (l) of Section 368, or subdivision
line 9 (k) of Section 646.9. These protective orders shall remain in full
line 10 effect until expiration or until any further order by the court
line 11 modifying or terminating the order, despite the dismissal of the
line 12 underlying accusation or information.
line 13
(5) This section shall not limit petitions, motions, or orders for
line 14 relief in a criminal case, as required or authorized by any other
line 15 law, including, but not limited to, Sections 1016.5, 1203.4, 1203.4a,
line 16 1203.4b, 1203.41, 1203.42, 1203.49 and 1473.7. This section shall
line 17 not limit petitions for a certificate of rehabilitation or pardon
line 18 pursuant to Chapter 3.5 of Title 6 of Part 3.
line 19
(6) Commencing July 1, 2022, and subject to an appropriation
line 20 in the annual Budget Act, the department shall annually publish
line 21 statistics for each county regarding the total number of convictions
line 22 granted relief pursuant to this section and the total number of
line 23 convictions prohibited from automatic relief pursuant to
line 24 subdivision (b), on the OpenJustice Web portal, as defined in
line 25 Section 13010.
line 26
(b) (1) The prosecuting attorney or probation department may,
line 27 no later than 90 calendar days before the date of a person’s
line 28 eligibility for relief pursuant to this section, file a petition to
line 29 prohibit the department from granting automatic relief pursuant
line 30 to this section, based on a showing that granting that relief would
line 31 pose a substantial threat to the public safety. If probation was
line 32 transferred pursuant to Section 1203.9, the prosecuting attorney
line 33 or probation department in either the receiving county or the
line 34 transferring county shall file the petition in the county of current
line 35 jurisdiction.
line 36
(2) The court shall give notice to the defendant and conduct a
line 37 hearing on the petition within 45 days after the petition is filed.
line 38
(3) At a hearing on the petition pursuant to this subdivision, the
line 39 defendant, the probation department, the prosecuting attorney, and
line 40 the arresting agency, through the prosecuting attorney, may present
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evidence to the court. Notwithstanding Sections 1538.5 and 1539,
the hearing may be heard and determined upon declarations,
affidavits, police investigative reports, copies of state summary
criminal history information and local summary criminal history
information, or any other evidence submitted by the parties that
is material, reliable, and relevant.
(4) The prosecutor or probation department has the initial burden
of proof to show that granting conviction relief would pose a
substantial threat to the public safety. In determining whether
granting relief would pose a substantial threat to the public safety,
the court may consider any relevant factors including, but not
limited to, either of the following:
(A) Declarations or evidence regarding the offense for which a
grant of relief is being contested.
(B) The defendant’s record of arrests and convictions.
(5) If the court finds that the prosecutor or probation department
has satisfied the burden of proof, the burden shifts to the defendant
to show that the hardship of not obtaining relief outweighs the
threat to the public safety of providing relief. In determining
whether the defendant’s hardship outweighs the threat to the public
safety, the court may consider any relevant factors including, but
not limited to, either of the following:
(A) The hardship to the defendant that has been caused by the
conviction and that would be caused if relief is not granted.
(B) Declarations or evidence regarding the defendant’s good
character.
(6) If the court grants a petition pursuant to this subdivision,
the court shall furnish a disposition report to the Department of
Justice pursuant to Section 13151, stating that relief pursuant to
this section was denied, and the department shall not grant relief
pursuant to this section. If probation was transferred pursuant to
Section 1203.9, the department shall electronically submit a notice
to the transferring court, and, if probation was transferred multiple
times, to all other involved courts.
(7) A person denied relief pursuant to this section may continue
to be eligible for relief pursuant to law, including, but not limited
to, Section 1203.4, 1203.4a, 1203.4b, or 1203.41. If the court
subsequently grants relief pursuant to one of those sections, the
court shall furnish a disposition report to the Department of Justice
pursuant to Section 13151, stating that relief was granted pursuant
91

— 49 —

line 1
line 2
line 3
line 4
line 5
line 6
line 7
line 8
line 9
line 10
line 11
line 12
line 13
line 14
line 15
line 16
line 17
line 18
line 19
line 20
line 21
line 22
line 23
line 24
line 25
line 26
line 27
line 28
line 29
line 30
line 31
line 32
line 33
line 34
line 35
line 36
line 37
line 38
line 39
line 40

SB 731

to the applicable section, and the department shall grant relief
pursuant to that section. If probation was transferred pursuant to
Section 1203.9, the department shall electronically submit a notice
that relief was granted pursuant to the applicable section to the
transferring court and, if probation was transferred multiple times,
to all other involved courts.
(c) At the time of sentencing, the court shall advise a defendant,
either orally or in writing, of the provisions of this section and of
the defendant’s right, if any, to petition for a certificate of
rehabilitation and pardon.
SEC. 6. (a) Section 4.1 of this bill incorporates amendments
to Section 1203.425 of the Penal Code proposed by both this bill
and Assembly Bill 898. That section of this bill shall only become
operative if (1) both bills are enacted and become effective on or
before January 1, 2022, (2) each bill amends Section 1203.425 of
the Penal Code, and (3) Assembly Bill 1281 is not enacted or as
enacted does not amend that section, and (4) this bill is enacted
after Assembly Bill 898, in which case Sections 4, 4.2, and 4.3 of
this bill shall not become operative.
(b) Section 4.2 of this bill incorporates amendments to Section
1203.425 of the Penal Code proposed by both this bill and
Assembly Bill 1281. That section of this bill shall only become
operative if (1) both bills are enacted and become effective on or
before January 1, 2022, (2) each bill amends Section 1203.425 of
the Penal Code, (3) Assembly Bill 898 is not enacted or as enacted
does not amend that section, and (4) this bill is enacted after
Assembly Bill 1281 in which case Sections 4, 4.1, and 4.3 of this
bill shall not become operative.
(c) Section 4.3 of this bill incorporates amendments to Section
1203.425 of the Penal Code proposed by this bill, Assembly Bill
898, and Assembly Bill 1281. That section of this bill shall only
become operative if (1) all three bills are enacted and become
effective on or before January 1, 2022, (2) all three bills amend
Section 1203.425 of the Penal Code, and (3) this bill is enacted
after Assembly Bill 898 and Assembly Bill 1281, in which case
Sections 4, 4.1, and 4.2 of this bill shall not become operative.
SEC. 7. (a) Section 5.1 of this bill incorporates amendments
to Section 1203.425 of the Penal Code proposed by this bill and
Assembly Bill 898. That section of this bill shall become operative
if (1) both bills are enacted and become effective on or before
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January 1, 2022, (2) each bill amends Section 1203.425 of the
Penal Code, and (3) Assembly Bill 1281 is not enacted or as
enacted does not amend that section, and (4) this bill is enacted
after Assembly Bill 898, in which case Section 5 of this bill shall
not become operative and subdivision (b) of this section shall not
apply.
(b) Section 5.1 of this bill incorporates amendments to Section
1203.425 of the Penal Code proposed by this bill, Assembly Bill
898, and Assembly Bill 1281. That section of this bill shall become
operative if (1) all three bills are enacted and become effective on
or before January 1, 2022, (2) each bill amends Section 1203.425
of the Penal Code, and (3) this bill is enacted after Assembly Bill
898 and Assembly Bill 1281, in which case Section 5 of this bill
shall not become operative and subdivision (a) of this section shall
not apply.
SEC. 6. Section 1203.425 of the Penal Code is amended to
read:
1203.425. (a) (1) (A) Commencing July 1, 2022, and subject
to an appropriation in the annual Budget Act, on a monthly basis,
the Department of Justice shall review the records in the statewide
criminal justice databases, and based on information in the state
summary criminal history repository and the Supervised Release
File, shall identify persons with convictions that meet the criteria
set forth in subparagraph (B) and are eligible for automatic
conviction record relief.
(B) A person is eligible for automatic conviction relief pursuant
to this section if they meet all of the following conditions:
(i) The person is not required to register pursuant to the Sex
Offender Registration Act.
(ii) The person does not have an active record for local, state,
or federal supervision in the Supervised Release File.
(iii) Based upon the information available in the department’s
record, including disposition dates and sentencing terms, it does
not appear that the person is currently serving a sentence for an
offense and there is no indication of pending criminal charges.
(iv) Except as otherwise provided in subclause (III) of clause
(v), there is no indication that the conviction resulted in a sentence
of incarceration in the state prison.
(v) The conviction occurred on or after January 1, 1973, and
meets either of the following criteria:
91

— 51 —

line 1
line 2
line 3
line 4
line 5
line 6
line 7
line 8
line 9
line 10
line 11
line 12
line 13
line 14
line 15
line 16
line 17
line 18
line 19
line 20
line 21
line 22
line 23
line 24
line 25
line 26
line 27
line 28
line 29
line 30
line 31
line 32
line 33
line 34
line 35
line 36
line 37
line 38
line 39
line 40

SB 731

(I) The defendant was sentenced to probation and, based upon
the disposition date and the term of probation specified in the
department’s records, appears to have completed their term of
probation without revocation.
(II) The defendant was convicted of an infraction or
misdemeanor, was not granted probation, and, based upon the
disposition date and the term specified in the department’s records,
the defendant appears to have completed their sentence, and at
least one calendar year has elapsed since the date of judgment.
(2) (A) Except as specified in subdivision (b), the department
shall grant relief, including dismissal of a conviction, to a person
identified pursuant to paragraph (1) without requiring a petition
or motion by a party for that relief if the relevant information is
present in the department’s electronic records.
(B) The state summary criminal history information shall
include, directly next to or below the entry or entries regarding the
person’s criminal record, a note stating “relief granted,” listing the
date that the department granted relief and this section. This note
shall be included in all statewide criminal databases with a record
of the conviction.
(C) Except as otherwise provided in paragraph (4) and in Section
13555 of the Vehicle Code, a person granted conviction relief
pursuant to this section shall be released from all penalties and
disabilities resulting from the offense of which the person has been
convicted.
(3) (A) Commencing July 1, 2022, and subject to an
appropriation in the annual Budget Act, on a monthly basis, the
department shall electronically submit a notice to the superior court
having jurisdiction over the criminal case, informing the court of
all cases for which a complaint was filed in that jurisdiction and
for which relief was granted pursuant to this section. Commencing
on August 1, 2022, for any record retained by the court pursuant
to Section 68152 of the Government Code, except as provided in
paragraph (4), the court shall not disclose information concerning
a conviction granted relief pursuant to this section or Section
1203.4, 1203.4a, 1203.41, or 1203.42, to any person or entity, in
any format, except to the person whose conviction was granted
relief or a criminal justice agency, as defined in Section 851.92.
(B) If probation is transferred pursuant to Section 1203.9, the
department shall electronically submit a notice as provided in
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line 1 subparagraph (A) to both the transferring court and any subsequent
line 2 receiving court. The electronic notice shall be in a mutually agreed
line 3 upon format.
line 4
(C) If a receiving court reduces a felony to a misdemeanor
line 5 pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 17, or dismisses a conviction
line 6 pursuant to law, including, but not limited to, Section 1203.4,
line 7 1203.4a, 1203.41, 1203.42, 1203.43, or 1203.49, it shall furnish
line 8 a disposition report to the department with the original case number
line 9 and CII number from the transferring court. The department shall
line 10 electronically submit a notice to the superior court that sentenced
line 11 the defendant. If probation is transferred multiple times, the
line 12 department shall electronically submit a notice to all other involved
line 13 courts. The electronic notice shall be in a mutually agreed upon
line 14 format.
line 15
(D) If a court receives notification from the department pursuant
line 16 to subparagraph (B), the court shall update its records to reflect
line 17 the reduction or dismissal. If a court receives notification that a
line 18 case was dismissed pursuant to this section or Section 1203.4,
line 19 1203.4a, 1203.41, or 1203.42, the court shall update its records to
line 20 reflect the dismissal and shall not disclose information concerning
line 21 a conviction granted relief to any person or entity, in any format,
line 22 except to the person whose conviction was granted relief or a
line 23 criminal justice agency, as defined in Section 851.92.
line 24
(4) Relief granted pursuant to this section is subject to the
line 25 following conditions:
line 26
(A) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not relieve a
line 27 person of the obligation to disclose a criminal conviction in
line 28 response to a direct question contained in a questionnaire or
line 29 application for employment as a peace officer, as defined in Section
line 30 830.
line 31
(B) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not relieve a
line 32 person of the obligation to disclose the conviction in response to
line 33 a direct question contained in a questionnaire or application for
line 34 public office, or for contracting with the California State Lottery
line 35 Commission.
line 36
(C) Relief granted pursuant to this section has no effect on the
line 37 ability of a criminal justice agency, as defined in Section 851.92,
line 38 to access and use records that are granted relief to the same extent
line 39 that would have been permitted for a criminal justice agency had
line 40 relief not been granted.
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(D) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not limit the
jurisdiction of the court over a subsequently filed motion to amend
the record, petition or motion for postconviction relief, or collateral
attack on a conviction for which relief has been granted pursuant
to this section.
(E) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect a
person’s authorization to own, possess, or have in the person’s
custody or control a firearm, or the person’s susceptibility to
conviction under Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 29800) of
Division 9 of Title 4 of Part 6, if the criminal conviction would
otherwise affect this authorization or susceptibility.
(F) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect a
prohibition from holding public office that would otherwise apply
under law as a result of the criminal conviction.
(G) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not release a
person from the terms and conditions of any unexpired criminal
protective order that has been issued by the court pursuant to
paragraph (1) of subdivision (i) of Section 136.2, subdivision (j)
of Section 273.5, subdivision (l) of Section 368, or subdivision
(k) of Section 646.9. These protective orders shall remain in full
effect until expiration or until any further order by the court
modifying or terminating the order, despite the dismissal of the
underlying conviction.
(H) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect the
authority to receive, or take adverse action based on, criminal
history information, including the authority to receive certified
court records received or evaluated pursuant to Section 1522,
1568.09, 1569.17, or 1596.871 of the Health and Safety Code, or
pursuant to any statutory or regulatory provisions that incorporate
the criteria of those sections.
(I) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not make eligible
a person who is otherwise ineligible to provide, or receive payment
for providing, in-home supportive services pursuant to Article 7
(commencing with Section 12300) of Chapter 3 of Part 3 of
Division 9 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, or pursuant to
Section 14132.95, 14132.952, or 14132.956 of the Welfare and
Institutions Code.
(J) In a subsequent prosecution of the defendant for any other
offense, the prior conviction may be pleaded and proved and shall
have the same effect as if the relief had not been granted.
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line 1
(K) (i) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect
line 2 the authority to receive, or take adverse action based on, criminal
line 3 history information, including the authority to receive certified
line 4 court records received or evaluated pursuant to Article 1
line 5 (commencing with Section 44000) of Chapter 1, Article 3
line 6 (commencing with Section 44240) and Article 8 (commencing with
line 7 Section 44330) of Chapter 2, Article 1 (commencing with Section
line 8 44420) of Chapter 3, Article 3 (commencing with Section 44930)
line 9 of Chapter 4, and Article 1 (commencing with Section 45100) and
line 10 Article 6 (commencing with Section 45240) of Chapter 5, of Part
line 11 25 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Education Code, or pursuant to
line 12 any statutory or regulatory provisions that relate to, incorporate,
line 13 expand upon, or interpret the authority of those provisions.
line 14
(ii) Notwithstanding clause (i) or any other law, information
line 15 relating to a conviction for a controlled substance offense listed
line 16 in Section 11350 or 11377, or former Section 11500 or 11500.5,
line 17 of the Health and Safety Code that is more than five years old, for
line 18 which relief is granted pursuant to this section, shall not be
line 19 disclosed.
line 20
(5) This section shall not limit petitions, motions, or orders for
line 21 relief in a criminal case, as required or authorized by any other
line 22 law, including, but not limited to, Sections 1203.4 and 1204.4a.
line 23
(6) Commencing July 1, 2022, and subject to an appropriation
line 24 in the annual Budget Act, the department shall annually publish
line 25 statistics for each county regarding the total number of convictions
line 26 granted relief pursuant to this section and the total number of
line 27 convictions prohibited from automatic relief pursuant to
line 28 subdivision (b), on the OpenJustice Web portal, as defined in
line 29 Section 13010.
line 30
(b) (1) The prosecuting attorney or probation department may,
line 31 no later than 90 calendar days before the date of a person’s
line 32 eligibility for relief pursuant to this section, file a petition to
line 33 prohibit the department from granting automatic relief pursuant
line 34 to this section, based on a showing that granting that relief would
line 35 pose a substantial threat to the public safety. If probation was
line 36 transferred pursuant to Section 1203.9, the prosecuting attorney
line 37 or probation department in either the receiving county or the
line 38 transferring county shall file the petition in the county of current
line 39 jurisdiction.
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line 1
(2) The court shall give notice to the defendant and conduct a
line 2 hearing on the petition within 45 days after the petition is filed.
line 3
(3) At a hearing on the petition pursuant to this subdivision, the
line 4 defendant, the probation department, the prosecuting attorney, and
line 5 the arresting agency, through the prosecuting attorney, may present
line 6 evidence to the court. Notwithstanding Sections 1538.5 and 1539,
line 7 the hearing may be heard and determined upon declarations,
line 8 affidavits, police investigative reports, copies of state summary
line 9 criminal history information and local summary criminal history
line 10 information, or any other evidence submitted by the parties that
line 11 is material, reliable, and relevant.
line 12
(4) The prosecutor or probation department has the initial burden
line 13 of proof to show that granting conviction relief would pose a
line 14 substantial threat to the public safety. In determining whether
line 15 granting relief would pose a substantial threat to the public safety,
line 16 the court may consider any relevant factors including, but not
line 17 limited to, either of the following:
line 18
(A) Declarations or evidence regarding the offense for which a
line 19 grant of relief is being contested.
line 20
(B) The defendant’s record of arrests and convictions.
line 21
(5) If the court finds that the prosecutor or probation department
line 22 has satisfied the burden of proof, the burden shifts to the defendant
line 23 to show that the hardship of not obtaining relief outweighs the
line 24 threat to the public safety of providing relief. In determining
line 25 whether the defendant’s hardship outweighs the threat to the public
line 26 safety, the court may consider any relevant factors including, but
line 27 not limited to, either of the following:
line 28
(A) The hardship to the defendant that has been caused by the
line 29 conviction and that would be caused if relief is not granted.
line 30
(B) Declarations or evidence regarding the defendant’s good
line 31 character.
line 32
(6) If the court grants a petition pursuant to this subdivision,
line 33 the court shall furnish a disposition report to the Department of
line 34 Justice pursuant to Section 13151, stating that relief pursuant to
line 35 this section was denied, and the department shall not grant relief
line 36 pursuant to this section. If probation was transferred pursuant to
line 37 Section 1203.9, the department shall electronically submit a notice
line 38 to the transferring court, and, if probation was transferred multiple
line 39 times, to all other involved courts.
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line 1
(7) A person denied relief pursuant to this section may continue
line 2 to be eligible for relief pursuant to Section 1203.4 or 1203.4a. If
line 3 the court subsequently grants relief pursuant to one of those
line 4 sections, the court shall furnish a disposition report to the
line 5 Department of Justice pursuant to Section 13151, stating that relief
line 6 was granted pursuant to the applicable section, and the department
line 7 shall grant relief pursuant to that section. If probation was
line 8 transferred pursuant to Section 1203.9, the department shall
line 9 electronically submit a notice that relief was granted pursuant to
line 10 the applicable section to the transferring court and, if probation
line 11 was transferred multiple times, to all other involved courts.
line 12
(c) At the time of sentencing, the court shall advise a defendant,
line 13 either orally or in writing, of the provisions of this section and of
line 14 the defendant’s right, if any, to petition for a certificate of
line 15 rehabilitation and pardon.
line 16
(d) This section shall become inoperative on July 1, 2023, and,
line 17 as of January 1, 2024, is repealed.
line 18
SEC. 7. Section 1203.425 is added to the Penal Code, to read:
line 19
1203.425. (a) (1) (A) Commencing July 1, 2023, and subject
line 20 to an appropriation in the annual Budget Act, on a monthly basis,
line 21 the Department of Justice shall review the records in the statewide
line 22 criminal justice databases, and based on information in the state
line 23 summary criminal history repository and the Supervised Release
line 24 File, shall identify persons with convictions that meet the criteria
line 25 set forth in subparagraph (B) and are eligible for automatic
line 26 conviction record relief.
line 27
(B) A person is eligible for automatic conviction relief pursuant
line 28 to this section if they meet all of the following conditions:
line 29
(i) The person is not required to register pursuant to the Sex
line 30 Offender Registration Act.
line 31
(ii) The person does not have an active record for local, state,
line 32 or federal supervision in the Supervised Release File.
line 33
(iii) Based upon the information available in the department’s
line 34 record, including disposition dates and sentencing terms, it does
line 35 not appear that the person is currently serving a sentence for an
line 36 offense and there is no indication of pending criminal charges.
line 37
(iv) The conviction meets either of the following criteria:
line 38
(I) The conviction occurred on or after January 1, 1973, and
line 39 meets either of the following criteria:
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(ia) The defendant was sentenced to probation and, based upon
the disposition date and the term of probation specified in the
department’s records, appears to have completed their term of
probation without revocation.
(ib) The defendant was convicted of an infraction or
misdemeanor, was not granted probation, and, based upon the
disposition date and the term specified in the department’s records,
the defendant appears to have completed their sentence, and at
least one calendar year has elapsed since the date of judgment.
(II) The conviction occurred on or after January 1, 2005, the
defendant was convicted of a felony other than one for which the
defendant completed probation without revocation, and based
upon the disposition date and the sentence specified in the
department’s records, appears to have completed all terms of
incarceration, probation, mandatory supervision, postrelease
community supervision, and parole, and a period of four years
has elapsed since the date on which the defendant completed
probation or supervision for that conviction and during which the
defendant was not convicted of a new felony offense. This subclause
does not apply to a conviction of a serious felony defined in
subdivision (c) of Section 1192.7, a violent felony as defined in
Section 667.5, or a felony offense requiring registration pursuant
to Chapter 5.5 (commencing with Section 290) of Title 9 of Part
1.
(2) (A) Except as specified in subdivision (b), the department
shall grant relief, including dismissal of a conviction, to a person
identified pursuant to paragraph (1) without requiring a petition
or motion by a party for that relief if the relevant information is
present in the department’s electronic records.
(B) The state summary criminal history information shall
include, directly next to or below the entry or entries regarding
the person’s criminal record, a note stating “relief granted,”
listing the date that the department granted relief and this section.
This note shall be included in all statewide criminal databases
with a record of the conviction.
(C) Except as otherwise provided in paragraph (4) and in
Section 13555 of the Vehicle Code, a person granted conviction
relief pursuant to this section shall be released from all penalties
and disabilities resulting from the offense of which the person has
been convicted.
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(3) (A) Commencing July 1, 2022, and subject to an
appropriation in the annual Budget Act, on a monthly basis, the
department shall electronically submit a notice to the superior
court having jurisdiction over the criminal case, informing the
court of all cases for which a complaint was filed in that
jurisdiction and for which relief was granted pursuant to this
section. Commencing on August 1, 2022, for any record retained
by the court pursuant to Section 68152 of the Government Code,
except as provided in paragraph (4), the court shall not disclose
information concerning a conviction granted relief pursuant to
this section or Section 1203.4, 1203.4a, 1203.41, or 1203.42, to
any person or entity, in any format, except to the person whose
conviction was granted relief or a criminal justice agency, as
defined in Section 851.92.
(B) If probation is transferred pursuant to Section 1203.9, the
department shall electronically submit a notice as provided in
subparagraph (A) to both the transferring court and any
subsequent receiving court. The electronic notice shall be in a
mutually agreed upon format.
(C) If a receiving court reduces a felony to a misdemeanor
pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 17, or dismisses a conviction
pursuant to law, including, but not limited to, Section 1203.4,
1203.4a, 1203.41, 1203.42, 1203.43, or 1203.49, it shall furnish
a disposition report to the department with the original case
number and CII number from the transferring court. The
department shall electronically submit a notice to the superior
court that sentenced the defendant. If probation is transferred
multiple times, the department shall electronically submit a notice
to all other involved courts. The electronic notice shall be in a
mutually agreed upon format.
(D) If a court receives notification from the department pursuant
to subparagraph (B), the court shall update its records to reflect
the reduction or dismissal. If a court receives notification that a
case was dismissed pursuant to this section or Section 1203.4,
1203.4a, 1203.41, or 1203.42, the court shall update its records
to reflect the dismissal and shall not disclose information
concerning a conviction granted relief to any person or entity, in
any format, except to the person whose conviction was granted
relief or a criminal justice agency, as defined in Section 851.92.
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(4) Relief granted pursuant to this section is subject to the
following conditions:
(A) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not relieve a
person of the obligation to disclose a criminal conviction in
response to a direct question contained in a questionnaire or
application for employment as a peace officer, as defined in Section
830.
(B) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not relieve a
person of the obligation to disclose the conviction in response to
a direct question contained in a questionnaire or application for
public office, or for contracting with the California State Lottery
Commission.
(C) Relief granted pursuant to this section has no effect on the
ability of a criminal justice agency, as defined in Section 851.92,
to access and use records that are granted relief to the same extent
that would have been permitted for a criminal justice agency had
relief not been granted.
(D) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not limit the
jurisdiction of the court over a subsequently filed motion to amend
the record, petition or motion for postconviction relief, or collateral
attack on a conviction for which relief has been granted pursuant
to this section.
(E) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect a
person’s authorization to own, possess, or have in the person’s
custody or control a firearm, or the person’s susceptibility to
conviction under Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 29800) of
Division 9 of Title 4 of Part 6, if the criminal conviction would
otherwise affect this authorization or susceptibility.
(F) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect a
prohibition from holding public office that would otherwise apply
under law as a result of the criminal conviction.
(G) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not release a
person from the terms and conditions of any unexpired criminal
protective order that has been issued by the court pursuant to
paragraph (1) of subdivision (i) of Section 136.2, subdivision (j)
of Section 273.5, subdivision (l) of Section 368, or subdivision (k)
of Section 646.9. These protective orders shall remain in full effect
until expiration or until any further order by the court modifying
or terminating the order, despite the dismissal of the underlying
conviction.
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(H) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect the
authority to receive, or take adverse action based on, criminal
history information, including the authority to receive certified
court records received or evaluated pursuant to Section 1522,
1568.09, 1569.17, or 1596.871 of the Health and Safety Code, or
pursuant to any statutory or regulatory provisions that incorporate
the criteria of those sections.
(I) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not make eligible
a person who is otherwise ineligible to provide, or receive payment
for providing, in-home supportive services pursuant to Article 7
(commencing with Section 12300) of Chapter 3 of Part 3 of
Division 9 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, or pursuant to
Section 14132.95, 14132.952, or 14132.956 of the Welfare and
Institutions Code.
(J) In a subsequent prosecution of the defendant for any other
offense, the prior conviction may be pleaded and proved and shall
have the same effect as if the relief had not been granted.
(K) (i) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not affect
the authority to receive, or take adverse action based on, criminal
history information, including the authority to receive certified
court records received or evaluated pursuant to Article 1
(commencing with Section 44000) of Chapter 1, Article 3
(commencing with Section 44240) and Article 8 (commencing with
Section 44330) of Chapter 2, Article 1 (commencing with Section
44420) of Chapter 3, Article 3 (commencing with Section 44930)
of Chapter 4, Article 1 (commencing with Section 45100) and
Article 6 (commencing with Section 45240) of Chapter 5, of Part
25 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Education Code, or pursuant to
any statutory or regulatory provisions that relate to, incorporate,
expand upon or interpret the authority of those provisions.
(ii) Notwithstanding clause (i) or any other law, information
for a conviction for a controlled substance offense listed in Section
11350 or 11377, or former Section 11500 or 11500.5, of the Health
and Safety Code that is more than five years old, for which relief
is granted pursuant to this section, shall not be disclosed.
(L) Relief granted pursuant to this section does not release the
defendant from the terms and conditions of any unexpired criminal
protective orders that have been issued by the court pursuant to
paragraph (1) of subdivision (i) of Section 136.2, subdivision (j)
of Section 273.5, subdivision (l) of Section 368, or subdivision (k)
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of Section 646.9. These protective orders shall remain in full effect
until expiration or until any further order by the court modifying
or terminating the order, despite the dismissal of the underlying
accusation or information.
(5) This section shall not limit petitions, motions, or orders for
relief in a criminal case, as required or authorized by any other
law, including, but not limited to, Sections 1016.5, 1203.4, 1203.4a,
1203.4b, 1203.41, 1203.42, 1203.49, and 1473.7. This section
shall not limit petitions for a certificate of rehabilitation or pardon
pursuant to Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 4852.01) of
Title 6 of Part 3.
(6) Commencing July 1, 2022, and subject to an appropriation
in the annual Budget Act, the department shall annually publish
statistics for each county regarding the total number of convictions
granted relief pursuant to this section and the total number of
convictions prohibited from automatic relief pursuant to
subdivision (b), on the OpenJustice Web portal, as defined in
Section 13010.
(b) (1) The prosecuting attorney or probation department may,
no later than 90 calendar days before the date of a person’s
eligibility for relief pursuant to this section, file a petition to
prohibit the department from granting automatic relief pursuant
to this section, based on a showing that granting that relief would
pose a substantial threat to the public safety. If probation was
transferred pursuant to Section 1203.9, the prosecuting attorney
or probation department in either the receiving county or the
transferring county shall file the petition in the county of current
jurisdiction.
(2) The court shall give notice to the defendant and conduct a
hearing on the petition within 45 days after the petition is filed.
(3) At a hearing on the petition pursuant to this subdivision, the
defendant, the probation department, the prosecuting attorney,
and the arresting agency, through the prosecuting attorney, may
present evidence to the court. Notwithstanding Sections 1538.5
and 1539, the hearing may be heard and determined upon
declarations, affidavits, police investigative reports, copies of state
summary criminal history information and local summary criminal
history information, or any other evidence submitted by the parties
that is material, reliable, and relevant.
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(4) The prosecutor or probation department has the initial
burden of proof to show that granting conviction relief would pose
a substantial threat to the public safety. In determining whether
granting relief would pose a substantial threat to the public safety,
the court may consider any relevant factors including, but not
limited to, either of the following:
(A) Declarations or evidence regarding the offense for which
a grant of relief is being contested.
(B) The defendant’s record of arrests and convictions.
(5) If the court finds that the prosecutor or probation department
has satisfied the burden of proof, the burden shifts to the defendant
to show that the hardship of not obtaining relief outweighs the
threat to the public safety of providing relief. In determining
whether the defendant’s hardship outweighs the threat to the public
safety, the court may consider any relevant factors including, but
not limited to, either of the following:
(A) The hardship to the defendant that has been caused by the
conviction and that would be caused if relief is not granted.
(B) Declarations or evidence regarding the defendant’s good
character.
(6) If the court grants a petition pursuant to this subdivision,
the court shall furnish a disposition report to the Department of
Justice pursuant to Section 13151, stating that relief pursuant to
this section was denied, and the department shall not grant relief
pursuant to this section. If probation was transferred pursuant to
Section 1203.9, the department shall electronically submit a notice
to the transferring court, and, if probation was transferred multiple
times, to all other involved courts.
(7) A person denied relief pursuant to this section may continue
to be eligible for relief pursuant to law, including, but not limited
to, Section 1203.4, 1203.4a, 1203.4b, or 1203.41. If the court
subsequently grants relief pursuant to one of those sections, the
court shall furnish a disposition report to the Department of Justice
pursuant to Section 13151, stating that relief was granted pursuant
to the applicable section, and the department shall grant relief
pursuant to that section. If probation was transferred pursuant to
Section 1203.9, the department shall electronically submit a notice
that relief was granted pursuant to the applicable section to the
transferring court and, if probation was transferred multiple times,
to all other involved courts.
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(c) At the time of sentencing, the court shall advise a defendant,
either orally or in writing, of the provisions of this section and of
the defendant’s right, if any, to petition for a certificate of
rehabilitation and pardon.
(d) This section shall become operative on July 1, 2023.
SEC. 8. Section 11105 of the Penal Code is amended to read:
11105. (a) (1) The Department of Justice shall maintain state
summary criminal history information.
(2) As used in this section:
(A) “State summary criminal history information” means the
master record of information compiled by the Attorney General
pertaining to the identification and criminal history of a person,
such as name, date of birth, physical description, fingerprints,
photographs, dates of arrests, arresting agencies and booking
numbers, charges, dispositions, sentencing information, and similar
data about the person.
(B) “State summary criminal history information” does not refer
to records and data compiled by criminal justice agencies other
than the Attorney General, nor does it refer to records of complaints
to or investigations conducted by, or records of intelligence
information or security procedures of, the office of the Attorney
General and the Department of Justice.
(b) The Attorney General shall furnish state summary criminal
history information to the following, if needed in the course of
their duties, provided that when information is furnished to assist
an agency, officer, or official of state or local government, a public
utility, or any other entity, in fulfilling employment, certification,
or licensing duties, Chapter 1321 of the Statutes of 1974 and
Section 432.7 of the Labor Code shall apply:
(1) The courts of the state.
(2) Peace officers of the state, as defined in Section 830.1,
subdivisions (a) and (e) of Section 830.2, subdivision (a) of Section
830.3, subdivision (a) of Section 830.31, and subdivisions (a) and
(b) of Section 830.5.
(3) District attorneys of the state.
(4) Prosecuting city attorneys or city prosecutors of a city within
the state.
(5) City attorneys pursuing civil gang injunctions pursuant to
Section 186.22a, or drug abatement actions pursuant to Section
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3479 or 3480 of the Civil Code, or Section 11571 of the Health
and Safety Code.
(6) Probation officers of the state.
(7) Parole officers of the state.
(8) A public defender or attorney of record when representing
a person in proceedings upon a petition for a certificate of
rehabilitation and pardon pursuant to Section 4852.08.
(9) A public defender or attorney of record when representing
a person in a criminal case or a juvenile delinquency proceeding,
including all appeals and postconviction motions, or a parole,
mandatory supervision pursuant to paragraph (5) of subdivision
(h) of Section 1170, or postrelease community supervision
revocation or revocation extension proceeding, if the information
is requested in the course of representation.
(10) An agency, officer, or official of the state if the state
summary criminal history information is required to implement a
statute or regulation that expressly refers to specific criminal
conduct applicable to the subject person of the state summary
criminal history information, and contains requirements or
exclusions, or both, expressly based upon that specified criminal
conduct. The agency, officer, or official of the state authorized by
this paragraph to receive state summary criminal history
information may perform state and federal criminal history
information checks as provided for in subdivision (u). The
Department of Justice shall provide a state or federal response to
the agency, officer, or official pursuant to subdivision (p).
(11) A city, county, city and county, or district, or an officer or
official thereof, if access is needed in order to assist that agency,
officer, or official in fulfilling employment, certification, or
licensing duties, and if the access is specifically authorized by the
city council, board of supervisors, or governing board of the city,
county, or district if the state summary criminal history information
is required to implement a statute, ordinance, or regulation that
expressly refers to specific criminal conduct applicable to the
subject person of the state summary criminal history information,
and contains requirements or exclusions, or both, expressly based
upon that specified criminal conduct. The city, county, city and
county, district, or the officer or official thereof authorized by this
paragraph may also transmit fingerprint images and related
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line 1 information to the Department of Justice to be transmitted to the
line 2 Federal Bureau of Investigation.
line 3
(12) The subject of the state summary criminal history
line 4 information under procedures established under Article 5
line 5 (commencing with Section 11120).
line 6
(13) A person or entity when access is expressly authorized by
line 7 statute if the criminal history information is required to implement
line 8 a statute or regulation that expressly refers to specific criminal
line 9 conduct applicable to the subject person of the state summary
line 10 criminal history information, and contains requirements or
line 11 exclusions, or both, expressly based upon that specified criminal
line 12 conduct.
line 13
(14) Health officers of a city, county, city and county, or district
line 14 when in the performance of their official duties enforcing Section
line 15 120175 of the Health and Safety Code.
line 16
(15) A managing or supervising correctional officer of a county
line 17 jail or other county correctional facility.
line 18
(16) A humane society, or society for the prevention of cruelty
line 19 to animals, for the specific purpose of complying with Section
line 20 14502 of the Corporations Code for the appointment of humane
line 21 officers.
line 22
(17) Local child support agencies established by Section 17304
line 23 of the Family Code. When a local child support agency closes a
line 24 support enforcement case containing state summary criminal
line 25 history information, the agency shall delete or purge from the file
line 26 and destroy documents or information concerning or arising from
line 27 offenses for or of which the parent has been arrested, charged, or
line 28 convicted, other than for offenses related to the parent’s having
line 29 failed to provide support for minor children, consistent with the
line 30 requirements of Section 17531 of the Family Code.
line 31
(18) County child welfare agency personnel who have been
line 32 delegated the authority of county probation officers to access state
line 33 summary criminal history information pursuant to Section 272 of
line 34 the Welfare and Institutions Code for the purposes specified in
line 35 Section 16504.5 of the Welfare and Institutions Code. Information
line 36 from criminal history records provided pursuant to this subdivision
line 37 shall not be used for a purpose other than those specified in this
line 38 section and Section 16504.5 of the Welfare and Institutions Code.
line 39 When an agency obtains records both on the basis of name checks
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and fingerprint checks, final placement decisions shall be based
only on the records obtained pursuant to the fingerprint check.
(19) The court of a tribe, or court of a consortium of tribes, that
has entered into an agreement with the state pursuant to Section
10553.1 of the Welfare and Institutions Code. This information
may be used only for the purposes specified in Section 16504.5
of the Welfare and Institutions Code and for tribal approval or
tribal licensing of foster care or adoptive homes. Article 6
(commencing with Section 11140) shall apply to officers, members,
and employees of a tribal court receiving state summary criminal
history information pursuant to this section.
(20) Child welfare agency personnel of a tribe or consortium
of tribes that has entered into an agreement with the state pursuant
to Section 10553.1 of the Welfare and Institutions Code and to
whom the state has delegated duties under paragraph (2) of
subdivision (a) of Section 272 of the Welfare and Institutions Code.
The purposes for use of the information shall be for the purposes
specified in Section 16504.5 of the Welfare and Institutions Code
and for tribal approval or tribal licensing of foster care or adoptive
homes. When an agency obtains records on the basis of name
checks and fingerprint checks, final placement decisions shall be
based only on the records obtained pursuant to the fingerprint
check. Article 6 (commencing with Section 11140) shall apply to
child welfare agency personnel receiving criminal record offender
information pursuant to this section.
(21) An officer providing conservatorship investigations
pursuant to Sections 5351, 5354, and 5356 of the Welfare and
Institutions Code.
(22) A court investigator providing investigations or reviews
in conservatorships pursuant to Section 1826, 1850, 1851, or
2250.6 of the Probate Code.
(23) A person authorized to conduct a guardianship investigation
pursuant to Section 1513 of the Probate Code.
(24) A humane officer pursuant to Section 14502 of the
Corporations Code for the purposes of performing the officer’s
duties.
(25) A public agency described in subdivision (b) of Section
15975 of the Government Code, for the purpose of oversight and
enforcement policies with respect to its contracted providers.
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(26) (A) A state entity, or its designee, that receives federal tax
information. A state entity or its designee that is authorized by this
paragraph to receive state summary criminal history information
also may transmit fingerprint images and related information to
the Department of Justice to be transmitted to the Federal Bureau
of Investigation for the purpose of the state entity or its designee
obtaining federal level criminal offender record information from
the Department of Justice. This information shall be used only for
the purposes set forth in Section 1044 of the Government Code.
(B) For purposes of this paragraph, “federal tax information,”
“state entity” and “designee” are as defined in paragraphs (1), (2),
and (3), respectively, of subdivision (f) of Section 1044 of the
Government Code.
(c) The Attorney General may furnish state summary criminal
history information and, when specifically authorized by this
subdivision, federal level criminal history information upon a
showing of a compelling need to any of the following, provided
that when information is furnished to assist an agency, officer, or
official of state or local government, a public utility, or any other
entity in fulfilling employment, certification, or licensing duties,
Chapter 1321 of the Statutes of 1974 and Section 432.7 of the
Labor Code shall apply:
(1) A public utility, as defined in Section 216 of the Public
Utilities Code, that operates a nuclear energy facility when access
is needed in order to assist in employing persons to work at the
facility, provided that, if the Attorney General supplies the data,
the Attorney General shall furnish a copy of the data to the person
to whom the data relates.
(2) A peace officer of the state other than those included in
subdivision (b).
(3) An illegal dumping enforcement officer as defined in
subdivision (i) of Section 830.7.
(4) A peace officer of another country.
(5) Public officers, other than peace officers, of the United
States, other states, or possessions or territories of the United
States, provided that access to records similar to state summary
criminal history information is expressly authorized by a statute
of the United States, other states, or possessions or territories of
the United States if the information is needed for the performance
of their official duties.
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(6) A person when disclosure is requested by a probation, parole,
or peace officer with the consent of the subject of the state
summary criminal history information and for purposes of
furthering the rehabilitation of the subject.
(7) The courts of the United States, other states, or territories
or possessions of the United States.
(8) Peace officers of the United States, other states, or territories
or possessions of the United States.
(9) An individual who is the subject of the record requested if
needed in conjunction with an application to enter the United States
or a foreign nation.
(10) (A) (i) A public utility, as defined in Section 216 of the
Public Utilities Code, or a cable corporation as defined in
subparagraph (B), if receipt of criminal history information is
needed in order to assist in employing current or prospective
employees, contract employees, or subcontract employees who,
in the course of their employment, may be seeking entrance to
private residences or adjacent grounds. The information provided
shall be limited to the record of convictions and arrests for which
the person is released on bail or on their own recognizance pending
trial.
(ii) If the Attorney General supplies the data pursuant to this
paragraph, the Attorney General shall furnish a copy of the data
to the current or prospective employee to whom the data relates.
(iii) State summary criminal history information is confidential
and the receiving public utility or cable corporation shall not
disclose its contents, other than for the purpose for which it was
acquired. The state summary criminal history information in the
possession of the public utility or cable corporation and all copies
made from it shall be destroyed not more than 30 days after
employment or promotion or transfer is denied or granted, except
for those cases where a current or prospective employee is out on
bail or on their own recognizance pending trial, in which case the
state summary criminal history information and all copies shall be
destroyed not more than 30 days after the case is resolved.
(iv) A violation of this paragraph is a misdemeanor, and shall
give the current or prospective employee who is injured by the
violation a cause of action against the public utility or cable
corporation to recover damages proximately caused by the
violations. A public utility’s or cable corporation’s request for
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state summary criminal history information for purposes of
employing current or prospective employees who may be seeking
entrance to private residences or adjacent grounds in the course
of their employment shall be deemed a “compelling need” as
required to be shown in this subdivision.
(v) This section shall not be construed as imposing a duty upon
public utilities or cable corporations to request state summary
criminal history information on current or prospective employees.
(B) For purposes of this paragraph, “cable corporation” means
a corporation or firm that transmits or provides television,
computer, or telephone services by cable, digital, fiber optic,
satellite, or comparable technology to subscribers for a fee.
(C) Requests for federal level criminal history information
received by the Department of Justice from entities authorized
pursuant to subparagraph (A) shall be forwarded to the Federal
Bureau of Investigation by the Department of Justice. Federal level
criminal history information received or compiled by the
Department of Justice may then be disseminated to the entities
referenced in subparagraph (A), as authorized by law.
(11) A campus of the California State University or the
University of California, or a four-year college or university
accredited by a regional accreditation organization approved by
the United States Department of Education, if needed in
conjunction with an application for admission by a convicted felon
to a special education program for convicted felons, including, but
not limited to, university alternatives and halfway houses. Only
conviction information shall be furnished. The college or university
may require the convicted felon to be fingerprinted, and any inquiry
to the department under this section shall include the convicted
felon’s fingerprints and any other information specified by the
department.
(12) A foreign government, if requested by the individual who
is the subject of the record requested, if needed in conjunction with
the individual’s application to adopt a minor child who is a citizen
of that foreign nation. Requests for information pursuant to this
paragraph shall be in accordance with the process described in
Sections 11122 to 11124, inclusive. The response shall be provided
to the foreign government or its designee and to the individual
who requested the information.
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(d) Whenever an authorized request for state summary criminal
history information pertains to a person whose fingerprints are on
file with the Department of Justice and the department has no
criminal history of that person, and the information is to be used
for employment, licensing, or certification purposes, the fingerprint
card accompanying the request for information, if any, may be
stamped “no criminal record” and returned to the person or entity
making the request.
(e) Whenever state summary criminal history information is
furnished as the result of an application and is to be used for
employment, licensing, or certification purposes, the Department
of Justice may charge the person or entity making the request a
fee that it determines to be sufficient to reimburse the department
for the cost of furnishing the information. In addition, the
Department of Justice may add a surcharge to the fee to fund
maintenance and improvements to the systems from which the
information is obtained. Notwithstanding any other law, a person
or entity required to pay a fee to the department for information
received under this section may charge the applicant a fee sufficient
to reimburse the person or entity for this expense. All moneys
received by the department pursuant to this section, Sections
11105.3 and 26190, and former Section 13588 of the Education
Code shall be deposited in a special account in the General Fund
to be available for expenditure by the department to offset costs
incurred pursuant to those sections and for maintenance and
improvements to the systems from which the information is
obtained upon appropriation by the Legislature.
(f) Whenever there is a conflict, the processing of criminal
fingerprints and fingerprints of applicants for security guard or
alarm agent registrations or firearms qualification permits
submitted pursuant to Section 7583.9, 7583.23, 7596.3, or 7598.4
of the Business and Professions Code shall take priority over the
processing of other applicant fingerprints.
(g) It is not a violation of this section to disseminate statistical
or research information obtained from a record, provided that the
identity of the subject of the record is not disclosed.
(h) It is not a violation of this section to include information
obtained from a record in (1) a transcript or record of a judicial or
administrative proceeding or (2) any other public record if the
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line 1 inclusion of the information in the public record is authorized by
line 2 a court, statute, or decisional law.
line 3
(i) Notwithstanding any other law, the Department of Justice
line 4 or a state or local law enforcement agency may require the
line 5 submission of fingerprints for the purpose of conducting state
line 6 summary criminal history information checks that are authorized
line 7 by law.
line 8
(j) The state summary criminal history information shall include
line 9 any finding of mental incompetence pursuant to Chapter 6
line 10 (commencing with Section 1367) of Title 10 of Part 2 arising out
line 11 of a complaint charging a felony offense specified in Section 290.
line 12
(k) (1) This subdivision shall apply whenever state or federal
line 13 summary criminal history information is furnished by the
line 14 Department of Justice as the result of an application by an
line 15 authorized agency or organization and the information is to be
line 16 used for peace officer employment or certification purposes. As
line 17 used in this subdivision, a peace officer is defined in Chapter 4.5
line 18 (commencing with Section 830) of Title 3 of Part 2.
line 19
(2) Notwithstanding any other law, whenever state summary
line 20 criminal history information is initially furnished pursuant to
line 21 paragraph (1), the Department of Justice shall disseminate the
line 22 following information:
line 23
(A) Every conviction rendered against the applicant.
line 24
(B) Every arrest for an offense for which the applicant is
line 25 presently awaiting trial, whether the applicant is incarcerated or
line 26 has been released on bail or on their own recognizance pending
line 27 trial.
line 28
(C) Every arrest or detention, except for an arrest or detention
line 29 resulting in an exoneration, provided, however, that where the
line 30 records of the Department of Justice do not contain a disposition
line 31 for the arrest, the Department of Justice first makes a genuine effort
line 32 to determine the disposition of the arrest.
line 33
(D) Every successful diversion.
line 34
(E) Every date and agency name associated with all retained
line 35 peace officer or nonsworn law enforcement agency employee
line 36 preemployment criminal offender record information search
line 37 requests.
line 38
(F) Sex offender registration status of the applicant.
line 39
(G) Sentencing information, if present in the department’s
line 40 records at the time of the response.
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(l) (1) This subdivision shall apply whenever state or federal
summary criminal history information is furnished by the
Department of Justice as the result of an application by a criminal
justice agency or organization as defined in Section 13101, and
the information is to be used for criminal justice employment,
licensing, or certification purposes.
(2) Notwithstanding any other law, whenever state summary
criminal history information is initially furnished pursuant to
paragraph (1), the Department of Justice shall disseminate the
following information:
(A) Every conviction rendered against the applicant.
(B) Every arrest for an offense for which the applicant is
presently awaiting trial, whether the applicant is incarcerated or
has been released on bail or on their own recognizance pending
trial.
(C) Every arrest for an offense for which the records of the
Department of Justice do not contain a disposition or which did
not result in a conviction, provided that the Department of Justice
first makes a genuine effort to determine the disposition of the
arrest. However, information concerning an arrest shall not be
disclosed if the records of the Department of Justice indicate or if
the genuine effort reveals that the subject was exonerated,
successfully completed a diversion or deferred entry of judgment
program, or the arrest was deemed a detention, or the subject was
granted relief pursuant to Section 851.91.
(D) Every date and agency name associated with all retained
peace officer or nonsworn law enforcement agency employee
preemployment criminal offender record information search
requests.
(E) Sex offender registration status of the applicant.
(F) Sentencing information, if present in the department’s
records at the time of the response.
(m) (1) This subdivision shall apply whenever state or federal
summary criminal history information is furnished by the
Department of Justice as the result of an application by an
authorized agency or organization pursuant to Section 1522,
1568.09, 1569.17, or 1596.871 of the Health and Safety Code, or
a statute that incorporates the criteria of any of those sections or
this subdivision by reference, and the information is to be used for
employment, licensing, or certification purposes.
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line 1
(2) Notwithstanding any other law, whenever state summary
line 2 criminal history information is initially furnished pursuant to
line 3 paragraph (1), the Department of Justice shall disseminate the
line 4 following information:
line 5
(A) Every conviction of an offense rendered against the
line 6 applicant, except a conviction for which relief has been granted
line 7 pursuant to Section 1203.49.
line 8
(B) Every arrest for an offense for which the applicant is
line 9 presently awaiting trial, whether the applicant is incarcerated or
line 10 has been released on bail or on their own recognizance pending
line 11 trial.
line 12
(C) Every arrest for an offense for which the Department of
line 13 Social Services is required by paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) of
line 14 Section 1522 of the Health and Safety Code to determine if an
line 15 applicant has been arrested. However, if the records of the
line 16 Department of Justice do not contain a disposition for an arrest,
line 17 the Department of Justice shall first make a genuine effort to
line 18 determine the disposition of the arrest.
line 19
(D) Sex offender registration status of the applicant.
line 20
(E) Sentencing information, if present in the department’s
line 21 records at the time of the response.
line 22
(3) Notwithstanding the requirements of the sections referenced
line 23 in paragraph (1) of this subdivision, the Department of Justice
line 24 shall not disseminate information about an arrest subsequently
line 25 deemed a detention or an arrest that resulted in the successful
line 26 completion of a diversion program, exoneration, or a grant of relief
line 27 pursuant to Section 851.91.
line 28
(n) (1) This subdivision shall apply whenever state or federal
line 29 summary criminal history information, to be used for employment,
line 30 licensing, or certification purposes, is furnished by the Department
line 31 of Justice as the result of an application by an authorized agency,
line 32 organization, or individual pursuant to any of the following:
line 33
(A) Paragraph (10) of subdivision (c), when the information is
line 34 to be used by a cable corporation.
line 35
(B) Section 11105.3 or 11105.4.
line 36
(C) Section 15660 of the Welfare and Institutions Code.
line 37
(D) A statute that incorporates the criteria of any of the statutory
line 38 provisions listed in subparagraph (A), (B), or (C), or of this
line 39 subdivision, by reference.
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(2) With the exception of applications submitted by
transportation companies authorized pursuant to Section 11105.3,
and notwithstanding any other law, whenever state summary
criminal history information is initially furnished pursuant to
paragraph (1), the Department of Justice shall disseminate the
following information:
(A) Every conviction, except a conviction for which relief has
been granted pursuant to Section 1203.49, rendered against the
applicant for a violation or attempted violation of an offense
specified in subdivision (a) of Section 15660 of the Welfare and
Institutions Code. However, with the exception of those offenses
for which registration is required pursuant to Section 290, the
Department of Justice shall not disseminate information pursuant
to this subdivision unless the conviction occurred within 10 years
of the date of the agency’s request for information or the conviction
is over 10 years old but the subject of the request was incarcerated
within 10 years of the agency’s request for information.
(B) Every arrest for a violation or attempted violation of an
offense specified in subdivision (a) of Section 15660 of the Welfare
and Institutions Code for which the applicant is presently awaiting
trial, whether the applicant is incarcerated or has been released on
bail or on their own recognizance pending trial.
(C) Sex offender registration status of the applicant.
(D) Sentencing information, if present in the department’s
records at the time of the response.
(o) (1) This subdivision shall apply whenever state or federal
summary criminal history information is furnished by the
Department of Justice as the result of an application by an
authorized agency or organization pursuant to Section 379 or 1300
of the Financial Code, or a statute that incorporates the criteria of
either of those sections or this subdivision by reference, and the
information is to be used for employment, licensing, or certification
purposes.
(2) Notwithstanding any other law, whenever state summary
criminal history information is initially furnished pursuant to
paragraph (1), the Department of Justice shall disseminate the
following information:
(A) Every conviction rendered against the applicant for a
violation or attempted violation of an offense specified in Section
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1300 of the Financial Code, except a conviction for which relief
has been granted pursuant to Section 1203.49.
(B) Every arrest for a violation or attempted violation of an
offense specified in Section 1300 of the Financial Code for which
the applicant is presently awaiting trial, whether the applicant is
incarcerated or has been released on bail or on their own
recognizance pending trial.
(C) Sentencing information, if present in the department’s
records at the time of the response.
(p) (1) This subdivision shall apply whenever state or federal
criminal history information is furnished by the Department of
Justice as the result of an application by an agency, organization,
or individual not defined in subdivision (k), (l), (m), (n), or (o), or
by a transportation company authorized pursuant to Section
11105.3, or a statute that incorporates the criteria of that section
or this subdivision by reference, and the information is to be used
for employment, licensing, or certification purposes.
(2) Notwithstanding any other law, whenever state summary
criminal history information is initially furnished pursuant to
paragraph (1), the Department of Justice shall disseminate the
following information:
(A) Every conviction rendered against the applicant, except a
conviction for which relief has been granted pursuant to Section
1203.4, 1203.4a, 1203.41, 1203.42, 1203.425, or 1203.49. The
Commission on Teacher Credentialing Credentialing, school
districts, county offices of education, charter schools, private
schools, state special schools for the blind and deaf, or any other
entity required to have a background check because of a contract
with a school district, county office of education, charter school,
private school, or the state special schools for the blind and deaf,
shall receive every conviction rendered against an applicant,
retroactive to January 1, 2020, regardless of relief granted pursuant
to Section 1203.4, 1203.4a, 1203.41, 1203.42, 1203.425, or
1203.49.
(B) Notwithstanding subparagraph (A) or any other law,
information for a conviction for a controlled substance offense
listed in Section 11350 or 11377, or former Section 11500 or
11500.5, of the Health and Safety Code that is more than five years
old, for which relief is granted pursuant to Section 1203.4, 1203.4a,
1203.41, 1203.42, 1203.425, or 1203.49, shall not be disseminated.
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(B)
(C) Every arrest for an offense for which the applicant is
presently awaiting trial, whether the applicant is incarcerated or
has been released on bail or on their own recognizance pending
trial.
(C)
(D) Sex offender registration status of the applicant.
(D)
(E) Sentencing information, if present in the department’s
records at the time of the response.
(q) All agencies, organizations, or individuals defined in
subdivisions (k), (l), (m), (n), (o), and (p) may contract with the
Department of Justice for subsequent notification pursuant to
Section 11105.2. This subdivision shall not supersede sections that
mandate an agency, organization, or individual to contract with
the Department of Justice for subsequent notification pursuant to
Section 11105.2.
(r) This section does not require the Department of Justice to
cease compliance with any other statutory notification
requirements.
(s) The provisions of Section 50.12 of Title 28 of the Code of
Federal Regulations are to be followed in processing federal
criminal history information.
(t) Whenever state or federal summary criminal history
information is furnished by the Department of Justice as the result
of an application by an authorized agency, organization, or
individual defined in subdivisions (k) to (p), inclusive, and the
information is to be used for employment, licensing, or certification
purposes, the authorized agency, organization, or individual shall
expeditiously furnish a copy of the information to the person to
whom the information relates if the information is a basis for an
adverse employment, licensing, or certification decision. When
furnished other than in person, the copy shall be delivered to the
last contact information provided by the applicant.
(u) (1) If a fingerprint-based criminal history information check
is required pursuant to any statute, that check shall be requested
from the Department of Justice and shall be applicable to the person
identified in the referencing statute. The agency or entity identified
in the statute shall submit to the Department of Justice fingerprint
images and related information required by the Department of
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Justice of the types of applicants identified in the referencing
statute, for the purpose of obtaining information as to the existence
and content of a record of state or federal convictions and state or
federal arrests and also information as to the existence and content
of a record of the state or federal arrests for which the Department
of Justice establishes that the person is free on bail or on their own
recognizance pending trial or appeal.
(2) If requested, the Department of Justice shall transmit
fingerprint images and related information received pursuant to
this section to the Federal Bureau of Investigation for the purpose
of obtaining a federal criminal history information check. The
Department of Justice shall review the information returned from
the Federal Bureau of Investigation, and compile and disseminate
a response or a fitness determination, as appropriate, to the agency
or entity identified in the referencing statute.
(3) The Department of Justice shall provide a state- or
federal-level response or a fitness determination, as appropriate,
to the agency or entity identified in the referencing statute, pursuant
to the identified subdivision.
(4) The agency or entity identified in the referencing statute
shall request from the Department of Justice subsequent notification
service, as provided pursuant to Section 11105.2, for persons
described in the referencing statute.
(5) The Department of Justice shall charge a fee sufficient to
cover the reasonable cost of processing the request described in
this subdivision.
SEC. 9. No reimbursement is required by this act pursuant to
Section 6 of Article XIII B of the California Constitution because
the only costs that may be incurred by a local agency or school
district will be incurred because this act creates a new crime or
infraction, eliminates a crime or infraction, or changes the penalty
for a crime or infraction, within the meaning of Section 17556 of
the Government Code, or changes the definition of a crime within
the meaning of Section 6 of Article XIII B of the California
Constitution.

O
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Attachment 2

August 10, 2022

The Honorable María Elena Durazo
1021 O Street, Suite 7530
Sacramento, CA 95814
Bill:
Position:

SB 731
Oppose, Unless Amended

Dear Senator Durazo:
At its July 21, 2022 meeting, the California Board of Accountancy (CBA) voted to
change its Watch position to Oppose, Unless Amended on Senate Bill (SB) 731, as
amended on June 23, 2022.
Regrettably, the timing of the amendment and the date of the CBA’s meeting to discuss
the amendment has resulted in a late submission of this letter. Although the CBA is
changing its position, we would welcome the opportunity to meet with you to discuss the
bill and possibly work on amendments or continue discussions into the next legislative
session.
As you are aware, this bill would require the Department of Justice (DOJ) to expand the
provisions regarding criminal record relief, without requiring a petition or motion by a
party for that relief, to include an arrest and a conviction of a felony, if specified
conditions are met.
SB 731 appears to broaden existing law as implemented in Assembly Bill 1076 (Chapter
578, Statutes of 2019) regarding criminal record relief, and limits the CBA’s ability to
receive arrest or conviction information on individuals. The CBA voted to adopt an
Oppose, Unless Amended position to more expressly relate the CBA’s concerns
regarding the impact this and other criminal record relief provisions may have on the
CBA’s consumer protection mission.
Specifically, if an individual’s arrest or conviction is directly and adversely related to the
functions, qualifications, or duties of a CPA, SB 731 could significantly impact the CBA’s
ability to ensure only qualified licensees practice public accountancy. The CBA is
concerned that this bill would prevent it from considering financial felony crime
convictions for CPA licensure applicants.
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For example, under SB 731, an individual employed as a controller or chief financial
officer of a medical company who was convicted of a felony for a financial crime related
to fraudulent medical billings could be licensed as a CPA. Because SB 731 expands the
automatic criminal record relief to most felony convictions, including this example, the
CBA would be unaware of the conviction. SB 731 eliminates the CBA’s ability to assess
the matter to determine if the individual should be fully licensed, have a probationary
license, or not receive a license to ensure consumer protection.
SB 731 makes a significant leap to provide automatic conviction relief from a
misdemeanor, which could be trespassing, to a felony, which could include
embezzlement. This proposal could place California consumers at great risk as they rely
on regulators, such as the CBA, to ensure they are receiving services from an individual
who has been thoroughly vetted.
The CBA requests you consider an amendment to SB 731 that would exclude felony
financial crimes from automatic criminal record relief and enable the CBA to retain its
present authority to consider felony financial crimes, as referenced in Business and
Professions Code (BPC) section 5100.2.
As stated previously, we welcome the opportunity to meet with you and discuss SB 731
and possible solutions that would ensure consumer protection and accommodate the
bills overall goals. Further, if you have questions, or if we can be of assistance, please
contact CBA Executive Officer Patti Bowers at (916) 561-1711 or
Patti.Bowers@cba.ca.gov.
Sincerely,

Michael M. Savoy, CPA
President
c:

Members, California Board of Accountancy
Patti Bowers, Executive Officer, California Board of Accountancy
Members, Assembly Business and Professions Committee
Members, Senate Business, Professions and Economic Development Committee

Attachment 3

August 29, 2022

The Honorable Gavin Newsom
Governor of California
State Capitol
Sacramento, CA 95814
RE: SB 731 (Durazo) – Veto Request
Dear Governor Newsom:
On behalf of the California Board of Accountancy (CBA), I am writing to
respectfully request your veto of Senate Bill (SB) 731, which would require the
Department of Justice to expand the provisions regarding criminal record relief,
without requiring a petition or motion by a party for that relief, from a
misdemeanor to an arrest and a conviction of a felony, if specified conditions
are met.
SB 731 would further limit the CBA’s ability to receive arrest or conviction
information on individuals. Specifically, SB 731 would prevent the CBA from
considering financial felony crime convictions for CPA licensure applicants,
which are directly and adversely related to the functions, qualifications, or
duties of a CPA.
For example, under SB 731, an individual employed as a chief financial officer of
a medical company who was convicted of a felony for a financial crime related
to fraudulent medical billings could be licensed as a CPA. Because SB 731
expands the automatic criminal record relief to most felony convictions,
including this example, the CBA would be unaware of the conviction.
SB 731 eliminates the CBA’s ability to assess a felony conviction and determine if
an individual can safely and competently provide services as a CPA. This
proposal could place California consumers at great risk as they rely on
regulators, such as the CBA, to ensure they are receiving services from an
individual who has been thoroughly vetted.
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The CBA requests you consider a veto of SB 731 and enable the CBA to retain its
present authority to consider financial felony crime convictions when
determining whether to issue a CPA license.
If you have questions about this letter, please contact Patti Bowers, Executive
Officer, at (916) 561-1711 or patti.bowers@cba.ca.gov.
Sincerely,

Michael M. Savoy, CPA
President
c:

Senator María Durazo, 24th Senate District
Members, California Board of Accountancy
Patti Bowers, Executive Officer

Attachment 4

Sunsetting Records
Senate Bill 731
Summary:
SB 731 will implement a system to prospectively and
retroactively seal conviction and arrest records.

Solution:
SB 731 proposes a structured approach to expanding
arrest and conviction record relief:

Background:
Nationally, an estimated 70 million people—nearly one
in three adults, and 8 million people in California alone—
have a past arrest or conviction on their record.
California maintains an individual’s conviction records
until that person reaches 100 years of age.

1. Expand automatic arrest record sealing to felony
arrests, if the individual was neither charged nor
convicted either 6 years after the arrest, or
otherwise 3 years after the arrest for less serious
felonies.

As a result of the widespread usage of background
checks in today's society, the permanence of these
records present thousands of barriers resulting in
widespread constraints on civic participation.
Examples of these barriers are felt by families seeking to
live outside of impoverished areas, mothers that want
careers in education or healthcare, fathers who want to
coach, homeowners that want to join their HOA board,
couples that want to adopt, or grandchildren that want
to care for their elderly grandparent. Old conviction
records go beyond economics and into denial of human
decency, family responsibility, and basic citizenship.
Problem:
Successful civic reintegration requires more than a
demonstrated commitment to abide by the law. It also
expects an individual to support oneself and one’s family
through legal, gainful employment. Yet, because of the
legacy of their contact with the legal system, as many as
one in five Californians currently living with a past
conviction face unemployment or underemployment,
chronic economic insecurity and extreme poverty for
themselves and their families.
California’s principal remedy to seal conviction records
has been “expungement” which was adopted nearly 100
years ago and remains an incomplete and ineffective
solution. Expungement is only available for people with
misdemeanors and a small category of people with
felonies that did not result in prison or jail terms.

2. Expand eligibility for automatic conviction record
relief to nonserious, nonsexual, and nonviolent
felonies after an individual completes all terms of
incarceration, probation, mandatory supervision,
post release supervision and parole, and a further
period of four years without any new convictions.
This sealing would be available to individuals
retroactive to January 1, 2005.
3. Allow individuals convicted of a felony to petition
the court for sealing relief after completing all
terms of incarceration, probation, mandatory
supervision, post release supervision and parole,
and a further period of two years without any new
convictions. These petitions are done on a case-bycase basis, with final decision-making authority
retained by the courts.
Sponsors:
Anti-Recidivism Coalition
A New Way of Life
A Time for Change Foundation
Californians for Safety and Justice
Homeboy Industries
Legal Services for Prisoners with Children
Los Angeles Regional Reentry Partnership
Pillars of the Community
Contact:
Bethany Renfree – bethany.renfree@sen.ca.gov
(916) 651-4024

Support:
A New Way of Life Re-entry Project
All of Us or None Los Angeles
All of Us or None Riverside
Alliance of Californians for Community
Empowerment (ACCE) Action
ACLU California Action
American Civil Liberties Union/Northern
California/Southern California/San Diego and
Imperial Counties.
Arts for Healing and Justice Network
Asian Americans Advancing Justice – California
Asian Solidarity Collective
Bend the Arc: Jewish Action
Black Los Angeles Young Democrats
California Attorneys for Criminal Justice
California Calls
California Coalition for Women Prisoners
California Immigrant Policy Center
California Labor Federation, AFL-CIO
California Public Defenders Association
California Religious Action Center of Reform
Judaism
California State Council of Laborers
Californians United for a Responsible Budget
Cat Clark Consulting Services LLC
Center of Hope LA
Code for America
Communities United for Restorative Youth Justice
Community Advocates for Just and Moral
Governance
Courage California
Cure California
Defy Ventures
Dignity and Power Now
Drug Policy Alliance
Ella Baker Center for Human Rights
Faith in Action Bay Area
Family Reunification Equity & Empowerment
Forward Impact DBA Represent Justice
Fresno Barrios Unidos
Friends Committee on Legislation of California
Initiate Justice
Inland Empire Fair Chance Coalition
Inland Equity Project
Kehilla Community Synagogue
LA Voice
Last Prisoner Project

Legal Aid at Work
Legal Services for Prisoners with Children
Livefree California
Los Angeles Chamber of Commerce
Los Angeles County Board of Supervisors
Los Angeles Regional Reentry Project
Michelson Center for Public Policy
National Association of Social Workers, California
Chapter
Pillars of the Community
People Objective LLC
Prosecutors Alliance California
Re:Store Justice
Riverside Community College District
Rubicon Programs
San Francisco Public Defender
Shields for Families
Showing up for Racial Justice – Bay Area
Showing up for Racial Justice – San Diego
Showing up for Racial Justice – North County
Social and Environmental Justice Committee of the
Universalist Unitarian Church of Riverside
Social Justice Research Project
Starting Over Inc.
Team Justice
The Chrysalis Center
The Dream Corps
Think Dignity
Time for Change Foundation
Uncommon Law
Underground Scholars Initiative at UC Riverside
Underground Scholars Initiative at UC Berkeley
UNITE-LA, Inc.
We the People – San Diego
Young Women’s Freedom Center

CBA Item II.I.4.
September 22-23, 2022
CALIFORNIA BOARD OF ACCOUNTANCY
LEGISLATIVE ANALYSIS
SB 1443
Subject:
Version:
Status:

Professions and Vocations.
August 25, 2022
Governor’s Desk

CBA Position: Support
Author:
Roth
Sponsor:
Author

Summary

Senate Bill (SB) 1443 (Attachment 1) would extend the sunset date of specified
boards, bureaus, and commissions within the Department of Consumer Affairs (DCA)
for an additional year from January 1, 2024 to January 1, 2025. This extension would
also apply to the authority for boards and commissions to designate an executive
officer.
The boards, bureaus, and commissions impacted include, but are not limited to, the
California Board of Accountancy (CBA), Dental Board of California, California Architects
Board, California State Board of Landscape Architects, California Architects Board’s
Landscape Architects Technical Committee, Board for Professional Engineers, Land
Surveyors, and Geologists, Bureau of Investigative Services, Contractors State License
Board, Cemetery and Funeral Bureau, Court Reporters Board of California, Osteopathic
Medical Board of California, and the State Athletic Commission.

Recommendation

Maintain Support Position. Staff recommend the CBA maintain its Support position on
this bill. SB 1443 was amended on August 25, 2022; however, the provisions do no
relate to the CBA.
The CBA sent a letter to the author expressing its support of SB 1443 (Attachment 2)
and a letter to Governor Newsom requesting his signature (Attachment 3). In both
letters, the CBA expressed its recognition for the additional time needed to complete the
various sunset hearings and associated workload, which was impacted by the truncated
legislative sessions as a result of COVID-19.

Background

DCA is comprised of various boards, bureaus, commissions, committees, and similarly
constituted agencies that license and regulate the practice of various professions and
vocations in California.
The Legislature created the sunset review process in 1994 to further its oversight
responsibilities. Each year, the Assembly Business and Professions Committee and the
Senate Business, Professions, and Economic Development Committee meet in a joint
hearing to review the boards and bureaus under DCA.

SB 1443
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The term “sunset” is used because the statutory authority of those DCA boards and
bureaus, including the CBA, contain a deadline for the Legislature to reauthorize the
authority of that board or bureau.
Existing law (Business and Professions Code (BPC) section 5000) establishes the CBA
within DCA. The CBA consists of 15 members, seven of whom are to be licensees and
eight of whom are to be public members. Those members are to be appointed as
follows: four public and seven licensed members by the Governor, one public and one
license member by the Senate Rules Committee, and one public and one licensed
member by the Speaker of the Assembly.
Also, under existing law (BPC section 5015.6), authority is provided to the CBA to
appoint a person, exempt from civil service, who shall be designated as an executive
officer to exercise the powers and perform the duties delegated by the board and vested
in the executive officer by statute.
Both the authority of the CBA and its executive officer remain in effect until January 1,
2024, and as of that date are repealed.

Analysis

Provisions of the Bill
SB 1443 would extend the “sunset” date for several boards, bureaus, and commissions
within the DCA from January 1, 2024 to January 1, 2025, including the CBA.
The Legislative committees that undertake the Sunset Review process have stated this
measure is necessary to reflect updated sunset review hearing schedules and workload
stemming from the truncated legislative sessions as a result of COVID-19.
The June 21, 2022 version of the bill included statutory fee increases relating to the
Cemetery and Funeral Bureau.

Fiscal Estimate
None.

Support/Opposition
Support:

CBA
American Society of Civil Engineers, Region 9
Board for Professional Engineers, Land Surveyors, and Geologists
California Council/American Society of Landscape Architects
California Dental Association

Opposition: California Funeral Directors Association
Cemetery and Mortuary Association of California

Effective/Operative Date
January 1, 2023

SB 1443
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Related Bills
•

•

SB 607 (Min, Chapter 367, Statutes of 2021) among other provisions extended
the repeal dates for various boards, bureaus and commissions from January 1,
2023 to January 1, 2024. These included the: Dental Hygiene Board of
California, Professional Fiduciaries Bureau, Structural Pest Control Board,
Bureau of Household Goods and Services, Bureau of Automotive Repair,
California Tax Education Council, and the Bureau for Private Post-Secondary
Education.
AB 1521 (Low, Chapter 359, Statutes of 2019) was the CBA’s sunset bill and,
among other provisions, extended the CBA’s authority from January 1, 2020 to
January 1, 2024.

Attachments

1. Senate Bill 1443
2. CBA Support Letter
3. CBA Signature Request Letter

Attachment 1

AMENDED IN ASSEMBLY AUGUST 25, 2022
AMENDED IN ASSEMBLY JUNE 21, 2022
AMENDED IN SENATE MAY 19, 2022

SENATE BILL

No. 1443

Introduced by Senator Roth
February 18, 2022

An act to amend Sections 1601.1, 1616.5, 2092, 2456.1, 5000, 5015.6,
5510, 5517, 5620, 5621, 5622, 6710, 6714, 6981, 7000.5, 7011, 7511.5,
7512.3, 7512.14, 7512.15, 7520.3, 7525.1, 7529, 7533.5, 7538, 7538.5,
7539, 7573.5, 7576, 7588.8, 7593.1, 7593.5, 7599.80, 7599.345, 7602,
7653, 7712.5, 7712.9, 7729, 7729.3, 7729.4, 7729.5, 7729.6, 7729.7,
7729.8, 7729.10, 7730, 7730.1, 7730.2, 7730.3, 7730.4, 7730.5, 7730.6,
7730.7, 7730.8, 7730.10, 7730.11, 8000, 8005, 8030.2, 8030.4, 8030.6,
8030.8, 8050, 8051, 8710, 9812.5, 9830.5, 9832.5, 9847.5, 9849, 9851,
9853, 9855.9, 9860, 9862.5, 9863, 9873, and 18602 of, and to add
Section 7729.11 to, the Business and Professions Code, relating to
professions and vocations, and making an appropriation therefore.
legislative counsel’s digest

SB 1443, as amended, Roth. The Department of Consumer Affairs.
Professions and vocations.
Under existing law, the Department of Consumer Affairs is comprised
of various boards, bureaus, commissions, committees, and similarly
constituted agencies that license and regulate the practice of various
professions and vocations.
This bill would continue in existence several of these boards, bureaus,
and commissions, including the Dental Board of California, the
California Board of Accountancy, and the California Architects Board,
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among others, until January 1, 2025, and make related conforming
changes.
Existing law specifies that all osteopathic physician’s and surgeon’s
certificates shall expire at midnight on the last day of the birth month
of the licensee during the 2nd year of a 2-year term. Existing law
requires the Osteopathic Medical Board of California to establish by
regulation procedures for the administration of a birth date renewal
program.
This bill, instead, would specify that physician’s and surgeon’s
certificates shall be issued for 2 years and shall expire at midnight on
the last day of the month in which the license was issued. The bill would
also remove the provisions requiring the board to establish procedures
for the administration of a birth date renewal program.
Existing law, the Private Investigator Act, provides for the licensure
and regulation of private investigators by the Bureau of Security and
Investigative Services and makes violations of those provisions a crime.
Existing law, until January 1, 2024, authorizes the bureau to issue a
private investigator license to a limited liability company.
This bill would extend that date to January 1, 2025. By extending the
operation of these provisions, the bill would impose a state-mandated
local program.
Existing law, the Alarm Company Act, establishes the Bureau of
Security and Investigative Services headed by the Chief of the Bureau
of Security and Investigative Services within the Department of
Consumer Affairs and sets forth its powers and duties over the licensure,
registration, and regulation of alarm company operators. Existing law
prohibits a person from engaging in the activities of an alarm company
operator unless the person holds a valid alarm company operator’s
license. Existing law makes a violation of these provisions a crime.
Existing law authorizes the bureau to establish fees and penalties for
licensure and registration. Existing law, beginning on January 1, 2024,
prohibits an alarm company operator from conducting business under
these provisions as a limited liability company.
This bill would extend that date until January 1, 2025, and make other
conforming changes. By extending the operation of these provisions,
the bill would impose a state-mandated local program.
Existing law, the Cemetery and Funeral Act, establishes the Cemetery
and Funeral Bureau within the Department of Consumer Affairs and
sets forth its powers and duties relating to the licensure and regulation
of cemeteries, crematories, funeral establishments, and their personnel.
96
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Existing law authorizes the bureau to set the amount, within specified
parameters, of various fees and regulatory charges under the act,
including fees and charges relating to a certificate of authority, a
crematory license, a funeral director’s license, a funeral establishment’s
license, an embalmer’s license, a cemetery broker’s license, a cemetery
salesperson’s license, a cremated remains disposer, a crematory manager
license, a cemetery manager license, a cemetery authority operating a
cemetery, and a hydrolysis facility license.
This bill would remove the bureau’s authority to set the amount of
those fees and, instead, specify the amount of each fee. The bill would
establish a delinquent renewal fee for a funeral establishment license.
The bill would make other conforming changes.
Existing law authorizes a cemetery authority that maintains a cemetery
to place its cemetery under endowment care and establish, maintain,
and operate an endowment care fund. Existing law prohibits
commingling special care funds derived from trusts created by a
revocable agreement for investment and requires those funds to be
accounted for separately from all other funds. Existing law requires a
cemetery authority to file with the bureau an annual audit report of the
endowment care fund and special care fund, as specified.
This bill would establish fees for filing an annual report on the
endowment care fund and special care fund, as specified.
Existing law requires, until January 1, 2024, funds generated by fees
received by the Court Reporters Board of California, pursuant to
specified provisions, in excess of funds needed to support the board’s
operating budget for the fiscal year, to be transferred from the Court
Reporters’ Fund and used by the board for the purpose of establishing
and maintaining a Transcript Reimbursement Fund, which is
continuously appropriated, to provide shorthand reporting services to
low-income litigants in civil cases who are unable to otherwise afford
those services.
This bill would continue the operation of provisions that provide for
funds to be transferred into the Transcript Reimbursement Fund until
January 1, 2025, and make other conforming changes. By continuing
the transfer of funds into a continuously appropriated fund, the bill
would make an appropriation.
Existing law provides for the licensure and regulation of shorthand
reporters by the Court Reporters Board of California. Existing law
subjects a person or entity to certain penalties if the person or entity
engages in specified acts relating to shorthand reporting, including any
96
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act that constitutes shorthand reporting, unless the person or entity is a
licensed shorthand reporter, a shorthand reporting corporation, or one
of specified other persons or entities not subject to those provisions.
Existing law makes a violation of these provisions a misdemeanor.
Existing law, on and after July 1, 2022, and until January 1, 2024,
authorizes an entity that is not a shorthand reporting corporation to
engage in specified acts if the entity is approved for registration by the
board, as specified.
This bill would authorize an entity that is not a shorthand reporting
corporation to engage in those specified acts if the entity is approved
for registration by the board, as specified, until January 1, 2025. Because
a violation of the provisions regulating shorthand reporting is a crime,
by expanding the provisions described above to apply to these additional
registrants, the bill would expand the scope of a crime and impose a
state-mandated local program.
Existing law specifies that there is in the Department of Consumer
Affairs a Bureau of Household Goods and Services, under the
supervision and control of a director. Existing law, the Electronic and
Appliance Repair Dealer Registration Law, regulates service dealers,
as defined, and applies its provisions, until January 1, 2023, to service
contractors. Among other things, existing law, until January 1, 2023,
requires the director to gather evidence of specified violations by any
service contractor and to conduct spot check investigations of service
contractors throughout the state on a continuous basis. Existing law
establishes the Electronic and Appliance Repair Fund, a continuously
appropriated fund, and establishes a specified fee structure that, among
other things, specifies the initial registration fee and annual renewal fee
for a service dealer or service contractor who does not operate a place
of business in this state. Existing law revises those provisions and repeals
the provisions applicable to an out-of-state service contractor on January
1, 2023.
This bill would continue to extend applicability of those provisions
to service contractors, and would authorize the continued exercise of
specified responsibilities by the director to service contractors until
January 1, 2024. The bill would extend the fee schedule and provisions
applicable to an out-of-state service contractor until January 1, 2024.
Because the bill would continue the operation of provisions that require
service contractors to pay fees that are deposited into a continuously
appropriated fund, the Electronic and Appliance Repair Fund, this bill
would make an appropriation.
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This bill would make other technical and nonsubstantive changes,
including updating cross-references.
This bill would incorporate additional changes to Section 7520.3 of
the Business and Professions Code proposed by SB 1495 to be operative
only if this bill and SB 1495 are enacted and this bill is enacted last.
The California Constitution requires the state to reimburse local
agencies and school districts for certain costs mandated by the state.
Statutory provisions establish procedures for making that reimbursement.
This bill would provide that no reimbursement is required by this act
for a specified reason.
Vote: 2⁄3. Appropriation: yes. Fiscal committee: yes.
State-mandated local program: yes.
The people of the State of California do enact as follows:
line 1
SECTION 1. Section 1601.1 of the Business and Professions
line 2 Code is amended to read:
line 3
1601.1. (a) There shall be in the Department of Consumer
line 4 Affairs the Dental Board of California in which the administration
line 5 of this chapter is vested. The board shall consist of eight practicing
line 6 dentists, one registered dental hygienist, one registered dental
line 7 assistant, and five public members. Of the eight practicing dentists,
line 8 one shall be a member of a faculty of any California dental college,
line 9 and one shall be a dentist practicing in a nonprofit community
line 10 clinic. The appointing powers, described in Section 1603, may
line 11 appoint to the board a person who was a member of the prior board.
line 12 The board shall be organized into standing committees dealing
line 13 with examinations, enforcement, and other subjects as the board
line 14 deems appropriate.
line 15
(b) For purposes of this chapter, any reference in this chapter
line 16 to the Board of Dental Examiners shall be deemed to refer to the
line 17 Dental Board of California.
line 18
(c) The board shall have all authority previously vested in the
line 19 existing board under this chapter. The board may enforce all
line 20 disciplinary actions undertaken by the previous board.
line 21
(d) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
line 22 and as of that date is repealed. Notwithstanding any other law, the
line 23 repeal of this section renders the board subject to review by the
line 24 appropriate policy committees of the Legislature.

96

SB 1443
line 1
line 2
line 3
line 4
line 5
line 6
line 7
line 8
line 9
line 10
line 11
line 12
line 13
line 14
line 15
line 16
line 17
line 18
line 19
line 20
line 21
line 22
line 23
line 24
line 25
line 26
line 27
line 28
line 29
line 30
line 31
line 32
line 33
line 34
line 35
line 36
line 37
line 38
line 39
line 40

—6—

SEC. 2. Section 1616.5 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
1616.5. (a) The board, by and with the approval of the director,
may appoint a person exempt from civil service who shall be
designated as an executive officer and who shall exercise the
powers and perform the duties delegated by the board and vested
in the executive officer by this chapter.
(b) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 3. Section 2092 of the Business and Professions Code is
amended to read:
2092. (a) The board shall develop a process to give priority
review status to the application of an applicant for a physician and
surgeon’s certificate who can demonstrate that he or she intends
they intend to practice in a medically underserved area or serve a
medically underserved population as defined in Section 128565
128552 of the Health and Safety Code.
(b) An applicant may demonstrate his or her their intent to
practice in a medically underserved area or serve a medically
underserved population by providing proper documentation,
including, but not limited to, a letter from the employer indicating
that the applicant has accepted employment and stating the start
date.
SEC. 3.
SEC. 4. Section 2456.1 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
2456.1. All osteopathic physician’s and surgeon’s certificates
shall be issued for two years and shall expire at midnight on the
last day of the month in which the license was issued during the
second year of the two-year term if not renewed on or before that
day.
To renew an unexpired license, the licensee shall, on or before
the dates on which it would otherwise expire, apply for renewal
on a form prescribed by the board and pay the prescribed renewal
fee.
SEC. 4.
SEC. 5. Section 5000 of the Business and Professions Code is
amended to read:
5000. (a) There is in the Department of Consumer Affairs the
California Board of Accountancy, which consists of 15 members,
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7 of whom shall be licensees, and 8 of whom shall be public
members who shall not be licentiates of the board or registered by
the board. The board has the powers and duties conferred by this
chapter.
(b) The Governor shall appoint four of the public members, and
the seven licensee members as provided in this section. The Senate
Committee on Rules and the Speaker of the Assembly shall each
appoint two public members. In appointing the seven licensee
members, the Governor shall appoint individuals representing a
cross section of the accounting profession.
(c) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.
(d) Notwithstanding any other law, the repeal of this section
renders the board subject to review by the appropriate policy
committees of the Legislature. However, the review of the board
shall be limited to reports or studies specified in this chapter and
those issues identified by the appropriate policy committees of the
Legislature and the board regarding the implementation of new
licensing requirements.
SEC. 5.
SEC. 6. Section 5015.6 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
5015.6. The board may appoint a person exempt from civil
service who shall be designated as an executive officer and who
shall exercise the powers and perform the duties delegated by the
board and vested in the executive officer by this chapter.
This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 6.
SEC. 7. Section 5510 of the Business and Professions Code is
amended to read:
5510. There is in the Department of Consumer Affairs a
California Architects Board which consists of 10 members.
Any reference in law to the California Board of Architectural
Examiners shall mean the California Architects Board.
This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed. Notwithstanding any other law, the
repeal of this section renders the board subject to review by the
appropriate policy committees of the Legislature.
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SEC. 7.
SEC. 8. Section 5517 of the Business and Professions Code is
amended to read:
5517. The board may appoint a person exempt from civil
service who shall be designated as an executive officer and who
shall exercise the powers and perform the duties delegated by the
board and vested in the executive officer by this chapter.
This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 8.
SEC. 9. Section 5620 of the Business and Professions Code is
amended to read:
5620. The duties, powers, purposes, responsibilities, and
jurisdiction of the California State Board of Landscape Architects
that were succeeded to and vested with the Department of
Consumer Affairs in accordance with Chapter 908 of the Statutes
of 1994 are hereby transferred to the California Architects Board.
The Legislature finds that the purpose for the transfer of power is
to promote and enhance the efficiency of state government and
that assumption of the powers and duties by the California
Architects Board shall not be viewed or construed as a precedent
for the establishment of state regulation over a profession or
vocation that was not previously regulated by a board, as defined
in Section 477.
(a) There is in the Department of Consumer Affairs a California
Architects Board as defined in Article 2 (commencing with Section
5510) of Chapter 3 of Division 3.
Whenever in this chapter “board” is used, it refers to the
California Architects Board.
(b) Except as provided herein, the board may delegate its
authority under this chapter to the Landscape Architects Technical
Committee.
(c) After review of proposed regulations, the board may direct
the examining committee to notice and conduct hearings to adopt,
amend, or repeal regulations pursuant to Section 5630, provided
that the board itself shall take final action to adopt, amend, or
repeal those regulations.
(d) The board shall not delegate its authority to discipline a
landscape architect or to take action against a person who has
violated this chapter.
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(e) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 9.
SEC. 10. Section 5621 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
5621. (a) There is hereby created within the jurisdiction of the
board, a Landscape Architects Technical Committee, hereinafter
referred to in this chapter as the landscape architects committee.
(b) The landscape architects committee shall consist of five
members who shall be licensed to practice landscape architecture
in this state. The Governor shall appoint three of the members.
The Senate Committee on Rules and the Speaker of the Assembly
shall appoint one member each.
(c) The initial members to be appointed by the Governor are as
follows: one member for a term of one year; one member for a
term of two years; and one member for a term of three years. The
Senate Committee on Rules and the Speaker of the Assembly shall
initially each appoint one member for a term of four years.
Thereafter, appointments shall be made for four-year terms,
expiring on June 1 of the fourth year and until the appointment
and qualification of the member’s successor or until one year shall
have elapsed, whichever first occurs. Vacancies shall be filled for
the unexpired term.
(d) No person shall serve as a member of the landscape
architects committee for more than two consecutive terms.
(e) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 10.
SEC. 11. Section 5622 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
5622. (a) The landscape architects committee may assist the
board in the examination of candidates for a landscape architect’s
license and, after investigation, evaluate and make
recommendations regarding potential violations of this chapter.
(b) The landscape architects committee may investigate, assist,
and make recommendations to the board regarding the regulation
of landscape architects in this state.
(c) The landscape architects committee may perform duties and
functions that have been delegated to it by the board pursuant to
Section 5620.
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(d) The landscape architects committee may send a
representative to all meetings of the full board to report on the
committee’s activities.
(e) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 11.
SEC. 12. Section 6710 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
6710. (a) There is in the Department of Consumer Affairs a
Board for Professional Engineers, Land Surveyors, and Geologists,
which consists of 15 members.
(b) Any reference in any law or regulation to the Board of
Registration for Professional Engineers and Land Surveyors, or
the Board for Professional Engineers and Land Surveyors, is
deemed to refer to the Board for Professional Engineers, Land
Surveyors, and Geologists.
(c) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed. Notwithstanding any other law, the
repeal of this section renders the board subject to review by the
appropriate policy committees of the Legislature.
SEC. 12.
SEC. 13. Section 6714 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
6714. The board shall appoint an executive officer at a salary
to be fixed and determined by the board with the approval of the
Director of Finance.
This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 13.
SEC. 14. Section 6981 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
6981. Notwithstanding any other law, the powers and duties
of the bureau, as set forth in this chapter, shall be subject to review
by the appropriate policy committees of the Legislature. The review
shall be performed as if this chapter were scheduled to be repealed
as of January 1, 2025.
SEC. 14.
SEC. 15. Section 7000.5 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
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7000.5. (a) There is in the Department of Consumer Affairs
a Contractors State License Board, which consists of 15 members.
(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the repeal of
this section renders the board subject to review by the appropriate
policy committees of the Legislature.
(c) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 15.
SEC. 16. Section 7011 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
7011. (a) The board, by and with the approval of the director,
shall appoint a registrar of contractors and fix the registrar’s
compensation.
(b) The registrar shall be the executive officer and secretary of
the board and shall carry out all of the administrative duties as
provided in this chapter and as delegated to the registrar by the
board.
(c) For the purpose of administration of this chapter, there may
be appointed a deputy registrar, a chief reviewing and hearing
officer, and, subject to Section 159.5, other assistants and
subordinates as may be necessary.
(d) Appointments shall be made in accordance with the
provisions of civil service laws.
(e) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 16.
SEC. 17. Section 7511.5 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
7511.5. Notwithstanding any other law, the powers and duties
of the bureau, as set forth in this chapter, shall be subject to review
by the appropriate policy committees of the Legislature. The review
shall be performed as if this chapter were scheduled to be repealed
as of January 1, 2025.
SEC. 17.
SEC. 18. Section 7512.3 of the Business and Professions Code,
as amended by Section 76 of Chapter 312 of the Statutes of 2020,
is amended to read:
7512.3. (a) As used in this chapter, “person” includes any
individual, firm, company, limited liability company, association,
organization, partnership, and corporation.
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(b) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 18.
SEC. 19. Section 7512.3 of the Business and Professions Code,
as amended by Section 77 of Chapter 312 of the Statutes of 2020,
is amended to read:
7512.3. (a) As used in this chapter, “person” includes any
individual, firm, company, association, organization, partnership,
and corporation.
(b) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025.
SEC. 19.
SEC. 20. Section 7512.14 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
7512.14. (a) As used in this chapter, “member” means an
individual who is a member of a limited liability company as
specified in Section 17704.01 of the Corporations Code.
(b) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 20.
SEC. 21. Section 7512.15 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
7512.15. (a) As used in this chapter, “manager” means an
individual designated under an operating agreement of a
manager-managed limited liability company who is responsible
for performing the management functions for the limited liability
company specified in subdivision (c) of Section 17704.07 of the
Corporations Code.
(b) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 21.
SEC. 22. Section 7520.3 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
7520.3. (a) As a condition of the issuance, reinstatement,
reactivation, or continued valid use of a license under this chapter,
a limited liability company shall, in accordance with this section,
maintain a policy or policies of insurance against liability imposed
on or against it by law for damages arising out of claims based
upon acts, errors, or omissions arising out of the private investigator
services it provides.
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(b) The total aggregate limit of liability under the policy or
policies of insurance required under this section shall be as follows:
(1) For a limited liability company licensee with five or fewer
persons named as members pursuant to subdivision (i) of Section
7525.1, the aggregate limit shall not be less than one million dollars
($1,000,000).
(2) For a limited liability company licensee with more than five
persons named as members pursuant to subdivision (i) of Section
7525.1, an additional one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000) of
insurance shall be obtained for each person named as members of
the licensee except that the maximum amount of insurance is not
required to exceed five million dollars ($5,000,000) in any one
designated period, less amounts paid in defending, settling, or
discharging claims as set forth under this section.
(c) Prior to the issuance, reinstatement, or reactivation of a
limited liability company license as provided under this chapter,
the applicant or licensee shall, in the manner prescribed by the
bureau, submit the information and documentation required by
this section and requested by the bureau, demonstrating compliance
with the financial security requirements specified by this section.
(d) For any insurance policy secured by a licensee in satisfaction
of this section, a Certificate of Liability Insurance, signed by an
authorized agent or employee of the insurer, shall be submitted
electronically or otherwise to the bureau. The insurer issuing the
certificate shall report to the bureau the following information for
any policy required under this section: name, license number,
policy number, dates that coverage is scheduled to commence and
lapse, and cancellation date if applicable. The insurer shall list the
bureau as the certificate holder for the purposes of receiving
notifications related to the policy’s status.
(e) (1) If a licensee fails to maintain sufficient insurance as
required by this section, or fails to provide proof of the required
insurance upon request by the bureau, the license is subject to
suspension and shall be automatically suspended pursuant to this
subdivision until the date that the licensee provides proof to the
bureau of compliance with the insurance coverage requirement.
(2) Prior to an automatic suspension, the bureau shall notify the
licensee, in writing, that it has 30 days to provide proof to the
bureau of having the required insurance or the license shall be
automatically suspended.
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(3) If the licensee fails to provide proof of insurance coverage
within this period, the bureau may automatically suspend the
license.
(f) If the license of a limited liability company is suspended
pursuant to subdivision (e), each member of the limited liability
company shall be personally liable up to one million dollars
($1,000,000) each for damages resulting to third parties in
connection with the company’s performance, during the period of
suspension, of any act or contract when a license is required by
this chapter.
(g) On and after July 1, 2018, a licensee organized as a limited
liability company shall report a paid or pending claim against its
liability insurance to the bureau, which shall post a notice of the
claim on the Department of Consumer Affairs BreEZe License
Verification Internet Web page.
(h) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 22.5. Section 7520.3 of the Business and Professions
Code is amended to read:
7520.3. (a) As a condition of the issuance, reinstatement,
reactivation, or continued valid use of a license under this chapter,
a limited liability company shall, in accordance with this section,
maintain a policy or policies of insurance against liability imposed
on or against it by law for damages arising out of claims based
upon acts, errors, or omissions arising out of the private investigator
services it provides.
(b) The total aggregate limit of liability under the policy or
policies of insurance required under this section shall be as follows:
(1) For a limited liability company licensee with five or fewer
persons named as members pursuant to subdivision (i) of Section
7525.1, the aggregate limit shall not be less than one million dollars
($1,000,000).
(2) For a limited liability company licensee with more than five
persons named as members pursuant to subdivision (i) of Section
7525.1, an additional one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000) of
insurance shall be obtained for each person named as members of
the licensee except that the maximum amount of insurance is not
required to exceed five million dollars ($5,000,000) in any one
designated period, less amounts paid in defending, settling, or
discharging claims as set forth under this section.
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(c) Prior to the issuance, reinstatement, or reactivation of a
limited liability company license as provided under this chapter,
the applicant or licensee shall, in the manner prescribed by the
bureau, submit the information and documentation required by
this section and requested by the bureau, demonstrating compliance
with the financial security requirements specified by this section.
(d) For any insurance policy secured by a licensee in satisfaction
of this section, a Certificate of Liability Insurance, signed by an
authorized agent or employee of the insurer, shall be submitted
electronically or otherwise to the bureau. The insurer issuing the
certificate shall report to the bureau the following information for
any policy required under this section: name, license number,
policy number, dates that coverage is scheduled to commence and
lapse, and cancellation date if applicable. The insurer shall list the
bureau as the certificate holder for the purposes of receiving
notifications related to the policy’s status.
(e) (1) If a licensee fails to maintain sufficient insurance as
required by this section, or fails to provide proof of the required
insurance upon request by the bureau, the license is subject to
suspension and shall be automatically suspended pursuant to this
subdivision until the date that the licensee provides proof to the
bureau of compliance with the insurance coverage requirement.
(2) Prior to an automatic suspension, the bureau shall notify the
licensee, in writing, that it has 30 days to provide proof to the
bureau of having the required insurance or the license shall be
automatically suspended.
(3) If the licensee fails to provide proof of insurance coverage
within this period, the bureau may automatically suspend the
license.
(f) If the license of a limited liability company is suspended
pursuant to subdivision (e), each member of the limited liability
company shall be personally liable up to one million dollars
($1,000,000) each for damages resulting to third parties in
connection with the company’s performance, during the period of
suspension, of any act or contract when a license is required by
this chapter.
(g) On and after July 1, 2018, a licensee organized as a limited
liability company shall report a paid or pending claim against its
liability insurance to the bureau, which shall post a notice of the
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claim on the Department of Consumer Affairs BreEZe License
Verification Internet Web page.
(g) A licensee organized as a limited liability company shall
report annually to the bureau the date and amount of any claims
paid during the prior calendar year from any general liability
insurance policy held pursuant to this section. The licensee shall
report the information on a form provided by the bureau. The
licensee shall report the claim information no later than March
1. The creation of the form shall not be subject to the requirements
of Chapter 3.5 (commencing with Section 11340) of Part 1 of
Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government Code.
(h) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2024,
2025, and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 22.
SEC. 23. Section 7525.1 of the Business and Professions Code,
as amended by Section 81 of Chapter 312 of the Statutes of 2020,
is amended to read:
7525.1. An application shall be verified and shall include:
(a) The full name and business address of the applicant.
(b) The name under which the applicant intends to do business.
(c) A statement as to the general nature of the business in which
the applicant intends to engage.
(d) A verified statement of their experience qualifications.
(e) (1) If the applicant is an individual, a qualified manager, a
partner of a partnership, an officer of a corporation designated in
subdivision (h), or a member, officer, or manager of a limited
liability company designated in subdivision (i), one personal
identification form provided by the bureau upon which shall appear
a photograph taken within one year immediately preceding the
date of the filing of the application together with two legible sets
of fingerprints, one set of which shall be forwarded to the Federal
Bureau of Investigation for purposes of a background check, on a
form approved by the Department of Justice, and a personal
description of each person, respectively. The identification form
shall include residence addresses and employment history for the
previous five years and be signed under penalty of perjury.
(2) The bureau may impose a fee not to exceed three dollars
($3) for processing classifiable fingerprint cards submitted by
applicants, excluding those submitted into an electronic fingerprint
system using electronic fingerprint technology.
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(f) In addition, if the applicant for a license is an individual, the
application shall list all other names known as or used during the
past 10 years and shall state that the applicant is to be personally
and actively in charge of the business for which the license is
sought. If any other qualified manager is to be actively in charge
of the business, the application shall be subscribed, verified, and
signed by the applicant, under penalty of perjury. If any other
person is to be actively in charge of the business, the application
shall also be subscribed, verified, and signed by that person under
penalty of perjury.
(g) If the applicants for a license are copartners, the application
shall state the true names and addresses of all partners and the
name of the partner to be actively in charge of the business for
which the license is sought and list all other names known as or
used during the past 10 years. If a qualified manager other than a
partner is to be actively in charge of the business, then the
application shall be subscribed, verified, and signed by all of the
partners under penalty of perjury. If any other person is to be
actively in charge of the business, the application shall also be
subscribed, verified, and signed by that person, under penalty of
perjury, under penalty of perjury by all of the partners and the
qualified manager, or by all of the partners or the qualified
manager.
(h) If the applicant for a license is a corporation, the application
shall state the true names and complete residence addresses of the
chief executive officer, secretary, chief financial officer, and any
other corporate officer who will be active in the business to be
licensed. The application shall also state the name and address of
the designated person to be actively in charge of the business for
which the license is sought. The application shall be subscribed,
verified, and signed by a duly authorized officer of the applicant
and by the qualified manager thereof, under penalty of perjury.
(i) If the applicant for a license is a limited liability company,
the application shall state the true name and complete residence
address of each member, manager, and any officer who will be
active in the business to be licensed. A certified copy of the articles
of organization, as filed by the Secretary of State, shall be supplied
to the bureau upon request. In the case of a manager-managed
limited liability company, the application shall be subscribed,
verified, and signed by a manager; otherwise, in the case of a
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member-managed limited liability company, the application shall
be subscribed, verified, and signed by a duly authorized member
of the applicant and by the qualified manager thereof. The
application shall also state whether any of the members, managers,
officers, or the qualified manager has ever used an alias.
(j) Any other information, evidence, statements, or documents
as may be required by the director.
(k) At the discretion of the applicant, a valid email address.
(l) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 23.
SEC. 24. Section 7525.1 of the Business and Professions Code,
as amended by Section 82 of Chapter 312 of the Statutes of 2020,
is amended to read:
7525.1. An application shall be verified and shall include:
(a) The full name and business address of the applicant.
(b) The name under which the applicant intends to do business.
(c) A statement as to the general nature of the business in which
the applicant intends to engage.
(d) A verified statement of their experience qualifications.
(e) (1) If the applicant is an individual, a qualified manager, a
partner of a partnership, or an officer of a corporation designated
in subdivision (h), one personal identification form provided by
the bureau upon which shall appear a photograph taken within one
year immediately preceding the date of the filing of the application
together with two legible sets of fingerprints, one set of which
shall be forwarded to the Federal Bureau of Investigation for
purposes of a background check, on a form approved by the
Department of Justice, and a personal description of each person,
respectively. The identification form shall include residence
addresses and employment history for the previous five years and
be signed under penalty of perjury.
(2) The bureau may impose a fee not to exceed three dollars
($3) for processing classifiable fingerprint cards submitted by
applicants, excluding those submitted into an electronic fingerprint
system using electronic fingerprint technology.
(f) In addition, if the applicant for a license is an individual, the
application shall list all other names known as or used during the
past 10 years and shall state that the applicant is to be personally
and actively in charge of the business for which the license is
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sought. If any other qualified manager is to be actively in charge
of the business, the application shall be subscribed, verified, and
signed by the applicant, under penalty of perjury. If any other
person is to be actively in charge of the business, the application
shall also be subscribed, verified, and signed by that person under
penalty of perjury.
(g) If the applicants for a license are copartners, the application
shall state the true names and addresses of all partners and the
name of the partner to be actively in charge of the business for
which the license is sought and list all other names known as or
used during the past 10 years. If a qualified manager other than a
partner is to be actively in charge of the business, then the
application shall be subscribed, verified, and signed by all of the
partners under penalty of perjury. If any other person is to be
actively in charge of the business, the application shall also be
subscribed, verified, and signed under penalty of perjury by that
person, by all of the partners and the qualified manager, or by all
of the partners or the qualified manager.
(h) If the applicant for a license is a corporation, the application
shall state the true names and complete residence addresses of the
chief executive officer, secretary, chief financial officer, and any
other corporate officer who will be active in the business to be
licensed. The application shall also state the name and address of
the designated person to be actively in charge of the business for
which the license is sought. The application shall be subscribed,
verified, and signed by a duly authorized officer of the applicant
and by the qualified manager thereof, under penalty of perjury.
(i) Any other information, evidence, statements, or documents
as may be required by the director.
(j) At the discretion of the applicant, a valid email address.
(k) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025.
SEC. 24.
SEC. 25. Section 7529 of the Business and Professions Code,
as amended by Section 83 of Chapter 312 of the Statutes of 2020,
is amended to read:
7529. (a) (1) Upon the issuance of and with each biennial
renewal of a license, a license in the form of an enhanced photo
identification card of the size, design, and content as may be
determined by the director or the director’s designee shall be issued
by the bureau to each licensee, as follows:
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(A) If the licensee is an individual, the enhanced photo
identification card shall be issued to the licensee and to the
licensee’s qualified manager.
(B) If the licensee is a partnership, the enhanced photo
identification card shall be issued to each partner of the partnership
licensee active in the business and to the licensee’s qualified
manager.
(C) If the licensee is a corporation, the enhanced photo
identification card shall be issued to each officer active in the
business and to the licensee’s qualified manager.
(D) If the licensee is a limited liability company, the enhanced
photo identification card shall be issued to each member, officer,
and manager of the licensee active in the business and to the
licensee’s qualified manager.
(2) The enhanced photo identification card is evidence that the
licensee is licensed pursuant to this chapter. The card shall contain
the name of the licensee, license expiration date, and a photograph
of the licensee. The enhanced photo identification card shall clearly
state that the person is licensed as a private investigator or is the
qualified manager or officer of the licensee. The enhanced photo
identification card is to be composed of a durable material and
may incorporate technologically advanced security features. The
bureau may recover its costs in an amount sufficient to reimburse
the department’s costs for furnishing the enhanced photo
identification card. The fee charged shall not exceed the actual
direct costs for system development, maintenance, and processing
necessary to provide this service. The total amount of costs shall
be recovered by including that amount in the fee charged for the
initial application of and renewal of licensure. When the position,
office, or association with a licensee belonging to a person to whom
a card is issued is terminated, the person shall surrender the card
to the licensee and, within five days thereafter, the licensee shall
mail or deliver the card to the bureau for cancellation. Every
person, while engaged in any activity for which licensure is
required, shall display the person’s valid enhanced photo
identification card as provided by regulation.
(b) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.
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SEC. 25.
SEC. 26. Section 7529 of the Business and Professions Code,
as amended by Section 84 of Chapter 312 of the Statutes of 2020,
is amended to read:
7529. (a) Upon the issuance of and with each biennial renewal
of a license, a license in the form of an enhanced photo
identification card of the size, design, and content as may be
determined by the director or the director’s designee shall be issued
by the bureau to each licensee, as follows:
(1) If the licensee is an individual, the enhanced photo
identification card shall be issued to the licensee and to the
licensee’s qualified manager.
(2) If the licensee is a partnership, the enhanced photo
identification card shall be issued to each partner of the partnership
licensee active in the business and to the licensee’s qualified
manager.
(3) If the licensee is a corporation, the enhanced photo
identification card shall be issued to each officer active in the
business and to the licensee’s qualified manager.
(b) The enhanced photo identification card is evidence that the
licensee is licensed pursuant to this chapter. The card shall contain
the name of the licensee, license expiration date, and a photograph
of the licensee. The enhanced photo identification card shall clearly
state that the person is licensed as a private investigator or is the
qualified manager or officer of the licensee. The enhanced photo
identification card is to be composed of a durable material and
may incorporate technologically advanced security features. The
bureau may recover its costs in an amount sufficient to reimburse
the department’s costs for furnishing the enhanced photo
identification card. The fee charged shall not exceed the actual
direct costs for system development, maintenance, and processing
necessary to provide this service. The total amount of costs shall
be recovered by including that amount in the fee charged for the
initial application of and renewal of licensure. When the position,
office, or association with a licensee belonging to a person to whom
a card is issued is terminated, the person shall surrender the card
to the licensee and, within five days thereafter, the licensee shall
mail or deliver the card to the bureau for cancellation. Every
person, while engaged in any activity for which licensure is
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required, shall display the person’s valid enhanced photo
identification card as provided by regulation.
(c) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025.
SEC. 26.
SEC. 27. Section 7533.5 of the Business and Professions Code,
as amended by Section 85 of Chapter 312 of the Statutes of 2020,
is amended to read:
7533.5. (a) A licensee shall notify the bureau within 30 days
of any change in its corporate officers required to be named
pursuant to subdivision (h) of Section 7525.1 or members or
managers required to be named pursuant to subdivision (i) of
Section 7525.1, and of any addition of a new partner.
(b) Applications, on forms prescribed by the director, shall be
submitted by all new officers, members or managers, and partners.
The director may suspend or revoke a license issued under this
chapter if the director determines that the new officer, member or
manager, or partner of a licensee has committed any of the acts
constituting grounds to deny an application for a license or to take
disciplinary action against a licensee pursuant to Section 7538 or
7538.5, respectively.
(c) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 27.
SEC. 28. Section 7533.5 of the Business and Professions Code,
as amended by Section 86 of Chapter 312 of the Statutes of 2020,
is amended to read:
7533.5. (a) A licensee shall notify the bureau within 30 days
of any change in its corporate officers required to be named
pursuant to subdivision (h) of Section 7525.1, and of any addition
of a new partner.
(b) Applications, on forms prescribed by the director, shall be
submitted by all new officers and partners. The director may
suspend or revoke a license issued under this chapter if the director
determines that the new officer or partner of a licensee has
committed any of the acts constituting grounds to deny an
application for a license or to take disciplinary action against a
licensee pursuant to Section 7538 or 7538.5, respectively.
(c) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025.
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SEC. 28.
SEC. 29. Section 7538 of the Business and Professions Code,
as amended by Section 87 of Chapter 312 of the Statutes of 2020,
is amended to read:
7538. (a) After a hearing the director may deny a license unless
the applicant makes a showing satisfactory to the director that the
applicant, if an individual, and the applicant’s qualified manager
have not, or, if the applicant is a person other than an individual,
that its qualified manager and each of its officers, partners,
members, or managers have not:
(1) Committed any act that, if committed by a licensee, would
be a ground for the suspension or revocation of a license under
this chapter.
(2) Committed any act constituting dishonesty or fraud.
(3) Committed any act or crime constituting grounds for denial
of licensure under Section 480, including illegally using, carrying,
or possessing a deadly weapon.
(4) Been refused a license under this chapter or had a license
revoked.
(5) Been an officer, partner, qualified manager, member, or
manager of any person who has been refused a license under this
chapter or whose license has been revoked.
(6) While unlicensed committed, or aided and abetted the
commission of, any act for which a license is required by this
chapter.
(7) Knowingly made any false statement in their application.
(b) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 29.
SEC. 30. Section 7538 of the Business and Professions Code,
as amended by Section 88 of Chapter 312 of the Statutes of 2020,
is amended to read:
7538. (a) After a hearing the director may deny a license unless
the applicant makes a showing satisfactory to the director that the
applicant, if an individual, and the applicant’s qualified manager
have not, or, if the applicant is a person other than an individual,
that its qualified manager and each of its officers and partners have
not:
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(1) Committed any act that, if committed by a licensee, would
be a ground for the suspension or revocation of a license under
this chapter.
(2) Committed any act constituting dishonesty or fraud.
(3) Committed any act or crime constituting grounds for denial
of licensure under Section 480, including illegally using, carrying,
or possessing a deadly weapon.
(4) Been refused a license under this chapter or had a license
revoked.
(5) Been an officer, partner, or qualified manager of any person
who has been refused a license under this chapter or whose license
has been revoked.
(6) While unlicensed committed, or aided and abetted the
commission of, any act for which a license is required by this
chapter.
(7) Knowingly made any false statement in their application.
(b) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025.
SEC. 30.
SEC. 31. Section 7538.5 of the Business and Professions Code,
as amended by Section 89 of Chapter 312 of the Statutes of 2020,
is amended to read:
7538.5. (a) The director may refuse to issue any license
provided for in this chapter to any of the following:
(1) An individual who has had any license revoked, has a license
currently under suspension, or failed to renew their license while
under suspension.
(2) An individual who, while acting as a partner of a partnership,
an officer or director of a corporation, or a member, manager, or
officer of a limited liability company, had their license revoked,
has a license currently under suspension, or failed to renew their
license while under suspension.
(3) An individual who, while acting as a partner of the
partnership, an officer, director of the corporation, or a member,
manager, or officer of a limited liability company meets both of
the following conditions:
(A) The individual was a partner of any partnership, an officer
or director of any corporation, or a member, manager, or officer
of any limited liability company whose license was revoked, is
currently under suspension, or was not renewed while under
suspension.
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(B) While acting as a partner, officer, director, member, or
manager, they participated in any of the prohibited acts for which
the license was revoked or suspended.
(4) An individual who is serving or has served as the qualified
manager for any licensee that has had its license revoked, is
currently under suspension, or failed to renew while under
suspension.
(b) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 31.
SEC. 32. Section 7538.5 of the Business and Professions Code,
as amended by Section 90 of Chapter 312 of the Statutes of 2020,
is amended to read:
7538.5. (a) The director may refuse to issue any license
provided for in this chapter to any of the following:
(1) An individual who has had any license revoked, has a license
currently under suspension, or failed to renew their license while
under suspension.
(2) An individual who, while acting as a partner of a partnership,
or an officer or director of a corporation, had their license revoked,
has a license currently under suspension, or failed to renew their
license while under suspension.
(3) An individual, who, while acting as a partner of the
partnership, or an officer or director of the corporation, meets both
of the following conditions:
(A) The individual was a partner of any partnership, or an officer
or director of any corporation, whose license was revoked, is
currently under suspension, or was not renewed while under
suspension.
(B) The individual, while acting as a partner, officer, or director,
participated in any of the prohibited acts for which the license was
revoked or suspended.
(4) An individual who is serving or has served as the qualified
manager for any licensee that has had its license revoked, is
currently under suspension, or failed to renew while under
suspension.
(b) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025.
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SEC. 32.
SEC. 33. Section 7539 of the Business and Professions Code,
as amended by Section 91 of Chapter 312 of the Statutes of 2020,
is amended to read:
7539. (a) Any licensee or officer, director, partner, member,
manager, or qualified manager of a licensee may divulge to any
law enforcement officer or district attorney, or their representative,
any information they may acquire as to any criminal offense, but
they shall not divulge to any other person, except as otherwise
required by law, any information acquired by them except at the
direction of the employer or client for whom the information was
obtained.
(b) A licensee or officer, director, partner, member, manager,
qualified manager, or employee of a licensee shall not knowingly
make any false report to their employer or client for whom
information was being obtained.
(c) A written report shall not be submitted to a client except by
the licensee, qualified manager, or a person authorized by one or
either of them, and the person submitting the report shall exercise
diligence in ascertaining whether or not the facts and information
in the report are true and correct.
(d) A licensee, or officer, director, partner, manager, member,
qualified manager, or employee of a licensee shall not use a badge
in connection with the official activities of the licensee’s business.
(e) A licensee, or officer, director, partner, manager, member,
qualified manager, or employee of a licensee, shall not use a title,
or wear a uniform, or use an insignia, or use an identification card,
or make any statement with the intent to give an impression that
they are connected in any way with the federal government, a state
government, or any political subdivision of a state government.
(f) A licensee, or officer, partner, manager, member, qualified
manager, or employee of a licensee shall not use any identification
to indicate that they are licensed as a private investigator other
than the official identification card issued by the bureau or the
business card regularly used by the business. However, a licensee
may issue an employer identification card.
(g) A licensee, or officer, director, partner, manager, member,
qualified manager, or employee of a licensee, shall not enter any
private building or portion thereof, except premises commonly
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accessible to the public, without the consent of the owner or of the
person in legal possession thereof.
(h) A licensee shall not permit an employee or agent in their
own name to advertise, engage clients, furnish reports or present
bills to clients, or in any manner conduct business for which a
license is required under this chapter. All business of the licensee
shall be conducted in the name of and under the control of the
licensee.
(i) A licensee, or officer, director, partner, manager, member,
qualified manager, or employee of a licensee shall not knowingly
and directly solicit employment from any person who has directly
sustained bodily injury or from that person’s spouse or other family
member to obtain authorization on behalf of the injured person as
an investigator to investigate the accident or act that resulted in
injury or death to that person or damage to the property of that
person. Nothing in this subdivision shall prohibit the soliciting of
employment from that injured person’s attorney, insurance
company, self-insured administrator, insurance adjuster, employer,
or any other person having an indirect interest in the investigation
of the injury. This subdivision shall not apply to any business agent
or attorney employed by a labor organization. A licensee, or officer,
director, partner, manager, member, or qualified manager of a
licensee shall not pay or compensate any of their employees or
agents on the basis of a bonus, bounty, or quota system whereby
a premium is placed on the number of employer or client rule
violations or infractions purportedly discovered as a result of any
investigation made by a licensee.
(j) A licensee shall not use a fictitious business name in
connection with the official activities of the licensee’s business,
except as provided by the bureau.
(k) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 33.
SEC. 34. Section 7539 of the Business and Professions Code,
as amended by Section 92 of Chapter 312 of the Statutes of 2020,
is amended to read:
7539. (a) A licensee or officer, director, partner, or qualified
manager of a licensee may divulge to any law enforcement officer
or district attorney, or their representative, any information they
may acquire as to any criminal offense, but they shall not divulge
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to any other person, except as otherwise required by law, any
information acquired by them except at the direction of the
employer or client for whom the information was obtained.
(b) A licensee or officer, director, partner, qualified manager,
or employee of a licensee shall not knowingly make any false
report to their employer or client for whom information was being
obtained.
(c) A written report shall not be submitted to a client except by
the licensee, qualified manager, or a person authorized by one or
either of them, and the person submitting the report shall exercise
diligence in ascertaining whether or not the facts and information
in the report are true and correct.
(d) A licensee, or officer, director, partner, qualified manager,
or employee of a licensee shall not use a badge in connection with
the official activities of the licensee’s business.
(e) A licensee, or officer, director, partner, qualified manager,
or employee of a licensee, shall not use a title, or wear a uniform,
or use an insignia, or use an identification card, or make any
statement with the intent to give an impression that they are
connected in any way with the federal government, a state
government, or any political subdivision of a state government.
(f) A licensee, or officer, partner, qualified manager, or
employee of a licensee shall not use any identification to indicate
that they are licensed as a private investigator other than the official
identification card issued by the bureau or the business card
regularly used by the business. However, a licensee may issue an
employer identification card.
(g) A licensee, or officer, director, partner, qualified manager,
or employee of a licensee, shall not enter any private building or
portion thereof, except premises commonly accessible to the public,
without the consent of the owner or of the person in legal
possession thereof.
(h) A licensee shall not permit an employee or agent in their
own name to advertise, engage clients, furnish reports or present
bills to clients, or in any manner conduct business for which a
license is required under this chapter. All business of the licensee
shall be conducted in the name of and under the control of the
licensee.
(i) A licensee, or officer, director, partner, qualified manager,
or employee of a licensee, shall not knowingly and directly solicit
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employment from any person who has directly sustained bodily
injury or from that person’s spouse or other family member to
obtain authorization on behalf of the injured person as an
investigator to investigate the accident or act that resulted in injury
or death to that person or damage to the property of that person.
This subdivision does not prohibit the soliciting of employment
from that injured person’s attorney, insurance company,
self-insured administrator, insurance adjuster, employer, or any
other person having an indirect interest in the investigation of the
injury. This subdivision does not apply to any business agent or
attorney employed by a labor organization. A licensee, officer,
director, partner, or qualified manager of a licensee shall not pay
or compensate any of their employees or agents on the basis of a
bonus, bounty, or quota system whereby a premium is placed on
the number of employer or client rule violations or infractions
purportedly discovered as a result of any investigation made by a
licensee.
(j) A licensee shall not use a fictitious business name in
connection with the official activities of the licensee’s business,
except as provided by the bureau.
(k) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025.
SEC. 34.
SEC. 35. Section 7573.5 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
7573.5. Notwithstanding any other law, the powers and duties
of the bureau, as set forth in this chapter, shall be subject to review
by the appropriate policy committees of the Legislature. The review
shall be performed as if this chapter were scheduled to be repealed
as of January 1, 2025.
SEC. 35.
SEC. 36. Section 7576 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
7576. Notwithstanding any other law, the powers and duties
of the bureau, as set forth in this chapter, shall be subject to review
by the appropriate policy committees of the Legislature. The review
shall be performed as if this chapter were scheduled to be repealed
as of January 1, 2025.
SEC. 36.
SEC. 37. Section 7588.8 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
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7588.8. Notwithstanding any other law, the powers and duties
of the bureau, as set forth in this chapter, shall be subject to review
by the appropriate policy committees of the Legislature. The review
shall be performed as if this chapter were scheduled to be repealed
as of January 1, 2025.
SEC. 37.
SEC. 38. Section 7593.1 of the Business and Professions Code,
as amended by Section 23 of Chapter 376 of the Statutes of 2021,
is amended to read:
7593.1. (a) Each individual applicant, partner of a partnership,
designated officer of a corporation, member, officer, or manager
of a limited liability company, and a qualified manager shall submit
with the application one personal identification form provided by
the chief, with two legible sets of fingerprints, one set of which
shall be forwarded to the Federal Bureau of Investigation for
purposes of a background check, and personal description of each
such person, respectively. The identification form shall include
residence addresses and employment history for the previous five
years.
(b) The bureau may impose a fee not to exceed three dollars
($3) for processing classifiable fingerprint cards submitted by
applicants excluding those submitted into an electronic fingerprint
system using electronic fingerprint technology.
(c) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 38.
SEC. 39. Section 7593.1 of the Business and Professions Code,
as amended by Section 24 of Chapter 376 of the Statutes of 2021,
is amended to read:
7593.1. (a) Each individual applicant, partner of a partnership,
designated officer of a corporation, and a qualified manager shall
submit with the application, one personal identification form
provided by the chief, with two legible sets of fingerprints, one
set of which shall be forwarded to the Federal Bureau of
Investigation for purposes of a background check, and personal
description of each such person, respectively. The identification
form shall include residence addresses and employment history
for the previous five years.
(b) The bureau may impose a fee not to exceed three dollars
($3) for processing classifiable fingerprint cards submitted by
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applicants excluding those submitted into an electronic fingerprint
system using electronic fingerprint technology.
(c) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025.
SEC. 39.
SEC. 40. Section 7593.5 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
7593.5. (a) If the applicant for a license is a limited liability
company, the application shall state the true names and complete
residence addresses of each member, manager, and any other
officer who will be active in the business to be licensed. A copy
of the articles of organization issued by the Secretary of State shall
be supplied to the bureau upon request. The application shall also
state the name and address of the designated person to be actively
in charge of the business for which the license is sought. The
application shall be subscribed, verified, and signed by a duly
authorized member of the applicant under penalty of perjury.
(b) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 40.
SEC. 41. Section 7599.80 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
7599.80. Notwithstanding any other law, the powers and duties
of the bureau, as set forth in this chapter, shall be subject to review
by the appropriate policy committees of the Legislature. The review
shall be performed as if this chapter were scheduled to be repealed
as of January 1, 2025.
SEC. 41.
SEC. 42. Section 7599.345 of the Business and Professions
Code is amended to read:
7599.345. Notwithstanding any other law, commencing January
1, 2025, a licensee shall not conduct business under this chapter
as a limited liability company.
SEC. 42.
SEC. 43. Section 7602 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
7602. (a) (1) There is in the department the Cemetery and
Funeral Bureau, under the supervision and control of the director.
(2) The director may appoint a chief at a salary to be fixed and
determined by the director, with the approval of the Director of
Finance. The duty of enforcing and administering this chapter is
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vested in the chief, and the chief is responsible to the director. The
chief shall serve at the pleasure of the director.
(3) Every power granted or duty imposed upon the director
under this chapter may be exercised or performed in the name of
the director by a deputy director or by the chief, subject to
conditions and limitations the director may prescribe.
(b) Notwithstanding any other law, the powers and duties of the
bureau, as set forth in this chapter, shall be subject to review by
the appropriate policy committees of the Legislature. The review
shall be performed as if this chapter is scheduled to be repealed
on January 1, 2025.
SEC. 43.
SEC. 44. Section 7653 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
7653. (a) The bureau shall adopt, and may from time to time
amend, rules and regulations prescribing standards of knowledge
and experience and financial responsibility for applicants for
certificates of authority. In reviewing an application for a certificate
of authority, the bureau may consider acts of incorporators, officers,
directors, and stockholders of the applicant, which shall constitute
grounds for the denial of a certificate of authority under Division
1.5 (commencing with Section 475).
(b) Upon receipt of an application for a certificate of authority,
the bureau may cause an investigation to be made of the physical
status, plans, specifications, and financing of the proposed
cemetery, and any other qualifications required of the applicant
under this act, and for this purpose may subpoena witnesses,
administer oaths, and take testimony.
(c) At the time of the filing of the application required by this
section, the applicant shall pay to the Cemetery and Funeral Fund
the sum of seven hundred fifty dollars ($750) to defray the
expenses of investigation. In the event the sum shall be insufficient
to defray all of the expenses, the applicant shall, within five days
after request, deposit an additional sum sufficient to defray those
expenses, provided that the total sum shall not exceed nine hundred
dollars ($900).
SEC. 44.
SEC. 45. Section 7712.5 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
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7712.5. (a) The bureau shall adopt, and may from time to time
amend, rules and regulations prescribing standards of knowledge
and experience and financial responsibility for applicants for a
crematory license. In reviewing an application for a crematory
license, the bureau may consider acts of the applicant, including
acts of incorporators, officers, directors, and stockholders of the
applicant, which shall constitute grounds for the denial of a
crematory license under Division 1.5 (commencing with Section
475).
(b) Upon receipt of an application for a crematory license, the
bureau may cause an investigation to be made of the physical
status, plans, specifications, and financing of the proposed
crematory, the character of the applicant, including, if applicable,
its officers, directors, shareholders, or members, and any other
qualifications required of the applicant under this article, and for
this purpose may subpoena witnesses, administer oaths, and take
testimony.
(c) At the time of the filing of the application required by this
article, the applicant shall pay to the Cemetery and Funeral Fund
the sum of seven hundred fifty dollars ($750) to defray the
expenses of investigation. In the event the sum shall be insufficient
to defray all of the expenses, the applicant shall, within five days
after request therefor, deposit an additional sum sufficient to defray
such expenses, provided that the total sum shall not exceed nine
hundred dollars ($900).
SEC. 45.
SEC. 46. Section 7712.9 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
7712.9. Every crematory licensee operating a crematory
pursuant to a license issued in compliance with this article shall
pay an annual regulatory charge for each crematory of seven
hundred fifty dollars ($750). In addition to an annual regulatory
charge for each crematory, every licensee operating a crematory
pursuant to a license issued pursuant to this article shall pay an
additional charge of eleven dollars and fifty cents ($11.50) per
cremation made during the preceding quarter, which charges shall
be deposited in the Cemetery and Funeral Fund.
SEC. 46.
SEC. 47. Section 7729 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
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line 1
7729. The amount of the fees prescribed by this chapter shall
line 2 be fixed according to the following schedule:
line 3
(a) The application fee for a funeral director’s license shall be
line 4 three hundred eighty dollars ($380).
line 5
(b) The application fee for change of location of a funeral
line 6 establishment’s license shall be four hundred seventy dollars
line 7 ($470).
line 8
(c) The application fee for permission to assign a funeral
line 9 establishment’s license shall be five hundred sixty dollars ($560).
line 10
(d) The license renewal fee payable by a licensed funeral director
line 11 shall be three hundred eighty dollars ($380). The fee for a
line 12 delinquent renewal of a funeral director’s license shall be 150
line 13 percent of the timely renewal fee.
line 14
(e) The application fee for an embalmer’s license and the
line 15 examination on the state’s laws required under paragraph (2) of
line 16 subdivision (a) of Section 7646 for the license shall be two hundred
line 17 eighty dollars ($280).
line 18
(f) The renewal fee payable by a licensed embalmer shall be
line 19 one hundred ninety dollars ($190). The fee for a delinquent renewal
line 20 of an embalmer’s license shall be 150 percent of the timely renewal
line 21 fee.
line 22
(g) The application fee for a certificate of registration as an
line 23 apprentice embalmer shall be one hundred twenty dollars ($120).
line 24
(h) The fee for an application by a funeral establishment for
line 25 approval to train apprentice embalmers and for renewal of that
line 26 approval shall be one hundred ninety dollars ($190).
line 27
(i) The application fee for a funeral director’s examination shall
line 28 be one hundred ninety dollars ($190).
line 29
(j) The fee for a timely filing of an individual report or a
line 30 combined report on preneed trust funds shall be five hundred
line 31 dollars ($500). The fee for a late filing of any report on preneed
line 32 trust funds shall be 150 percent of the applicable timely fee.
line 33
(k) The application fee for permission to change the name
line 34 appearing on a funeral establishment’s license shall be three
line 35 hundred dollars ($300), and for permission to change the name on
line 36 any other license or certificate, shall be twenty-five dollars ($25).
line 37
(l) The application fee for a duplicate funeral director’s license,
line 38 a duplicate funeral establishment’s license, a duplicate embalmer’s
line 39 license, or a duplicate certificate of registration as an apprentice
line 40 embalmer, shall be fifty dollars ($50).
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line 1
(m) The fee for filing a report of a change of corporate officers,
line 2 managers, or preneed trust fund trustees shall be fifty dollars ($50).
line 3
(n) The application fee for a funeral establishment license shall
line 4 be seven hundred fifty dollars ($750).
line 5
(o) The license renewal fee for a licensed funeral establishment
line 6 shall be seven hundred fifty dollars ($750). The fee for a delinquent
line 7 renewal of a funeral establishment license shall be 150 percent of
line 8 the timely renewal fee.
line 9
SEC. 47.
line 10
SEC. 48. Section 7729.3 of the Business and Professions Code
line 11 is amended to read:
line 12
7729.3. The original cemetery broker’s license fee shall be
line 13 seven hundred fifty dollars ($750).
line 14
SEC. 48.
line 15
SEC. 49. Section 7729.4 of the Business and Professions Code
line 16 is amended to read:
line 17
7729.4. (a) The original cemetery broker’s license fee is
line 18 payable at the time of the filing of an application for an original
line 19 cemetery broker’s license.
line 20
(b) If the applicant fails the required written examination, they
line 21 may be permitted to take another examination upon the filing of
line 22 an application for reexamination and the payment of a
line 23 reexamination fee. This reexamination fee shall be one hundred
line 24 ninety dollars ($190).
line 25
(c) No part of any original cemetery broker’s license fee or
line 26 reexamination fee is refundable. It is deemed earned upon receipt
line 27 by the bureau, whether the accompanying application for a license
line 28 is complete or incomplete.
line 29
SEC. 49.
line 30
SEC. 50. Section 7729.5 of the Business and Professions Code
line 31 is amended to read:
line 32
7729.5. The annual renewal fee for a cemetery broker’s license
line 33 shall five hundred sixty dollars ($560).
line 34
SEC. 50.
line 35
SEC. 51. Section 7729.6 of the Business and Professions Code
line 36 is amended to read:
line 37
7729.6. If the licensee is a cemetery brokerage corporation,
line 38 the license issued to it entitles one officer only, on behalf of the
line 39 corporation, to engage in the business of a cemetery broker without
line 40 the payment of a further fee, that officer to be designated in the
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application of the corporation for a license. For each other officer
of a licensed cemetery brokerage corporation, through whom it
engages in the business of a cemetery broker, the annual renewal
fee, in addition to the fee paid by the corporation, shall be one
hundred ninety dollars ($190).
SEC. 51.
SEC. 52. Section 7729.7 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
7729.7. If the licensee is a cemetery brokerage copartnership,
the license issued to it entitles one member only of the
copartnership to engage on behalf of the copartnership in the
business of a cemetery broker, which member shall be designated
in the application of the copartnership for a license. For each other
member of the copartnership who on behalf of the copartnership
engages in the business of a cemetery broker, the annual renewal
fee, in addition to the fee paid by the copartnership, shall be one
hundred ninety dollars ($190).
SEC. 52.
SEC. 53. Section 7729.8 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
7729.8. The cemetery salesperson’s license fee shall be sixty
dollars ($60).
SEC. 53.
SEC. 54. Section 7729.10 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
7729.10. The annual renewal fee for a cemetery salesperson’s
license shall be fifty dollars ($50).
SEC. 54.
SEC. 55. Section 7729.11 is added to the Business and
Professions Code, to read:
7729.11. The fee for a timely filing of an annual report on the
endowment care fund and special care fund by a certificate of
authority shall be five hundred dollars ($500). The fee for a late
filing of an annual report on the endowment care fund and special
care fund shall be 150 percent of the applicable timely fee.
SEC. 55.
SEC. 56. Section 7730 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
7730. For a branch office broker’s license, the fee shall be one
hundred ninety dollars ($190).
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SEC. 56.
SEC. 57. Section 7730.1 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
7730.1. The cremated remains disposer registration fee shall
be one hundred ninety dollars ($190).
SEC. 57.
SEC. 58. Section 7730.2 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
7730.2. The renewal fee for a cremated remains disposer
registration shall be one hundred dollars ($100).
SEC. 58.
SEC. 59. Section 7730.3 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
7730.3. For change of name or of address of licensee on the
records of the bureau, the fee shall be twenty-five dollars ($25).
SEC. 59.
SEC. 60. Section 7730.4 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
7730.4. For transfer of a salesperson’s license on change of
employer, the fee shall be fifty dollars ($50).
SEC. 60.
SEC. 61. Section 7730.5 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
7730.5. For a duplicate license the fee shall be fifty dollars
($50).
SEC. 61.
SEC. 62. Section 7730.6 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
7730.6. (a) For reinstatement of a license within the fiscal
year, the fee shall be fifty dollars ($50).
(b) As used in this section, “reinstatement of a license” means
the reissuance of a canceled cemetery broker’s license, or a
cemetery salesperson’s license which was canceled during the year
for which it was issued upon the salesperson’s withdrawal from
the employ of a cemetery broker.
SEC. 62.
SEC. 63. Section 7730.7 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
7730.7. (a) The fee for a crematory manager examination and
reexamination shall be six hundred eighty dollars ($680).
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(b) The license fee to obtain a crematory manager license shall
be one hundred thirty dollars ($130).
(c) The renewal fee for a crematory manager license shall be
one hundred fifty dollars ($150).
SEC. 63.
SEC. 64. Section 7730.8 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
7730.8. (a) The fee for a cemetery manager examination shall
be eight hundred dollars ($800).
(b) The license fee to obtain a cemetery manager license shall
be one hundred thirty dollars ($130).
(c) The renewal fee for a cemetery manager license shall be one
hundred fifty dollars ($150).
SEC. 64.
SEC. 65. Section 7730.10 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
7730.10. Every cemetery authority operating a cemetery shall
pay an annual regulatory charge for each cemetery of seven
hundred fifty dollars ($750). In addition to an annual regulatory
charge for each cemetery, an additional quarterly charge eleven
dollars and fifty cents ($11.50) for each burial, entombment, or
inurnment made during the preceding quarter shall be paid to the
bureau and these charges shall be deposited in the Cemetery and
Funeral Fund. If the cemetery authority performs a burial,
entombment, or inurnment, and the cremation was performed at
a crematory located on the grounds of the cemetery and under
common ownership with the cemetery authority, the total of all
additional charges shall be not more than eleven dollars and fifty
cents ($11.50).
SEC. 65.
SEC. 66. Section 7730.11 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
7730.11. (a) The bureau shall establish the fee to obtain or
renew a hydrolysis facility license, which shall not exceed the
reasonable cost of license administration.
(b) Every licensee operating a hydrolysis facility pursuant to a
license issued pursuant to this article shall pay an additional charge
eleven dollars and fifty cents ($11.50) per hydrolysis made during
the preceding quarter, which charges shall be deposited into the
Cemetery and Funeral Fund.
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SEC. 66.
SEC. 67. Section 8000 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
8000. (a) There is in the Department of Consumer Affairs a
Court Reporters Board of California, which consists of five
members, three of whom shall be public members and two of
whom shall be holders of certificates issued under this chapter
who have been actively engaged as shorthand reporters within this
state for at least five years immediately preceding their
appointment.
(b) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.
(c) Notwithstanding any other law, repeal of this section renders
the board subject to review by the appropriate policy committees
of the Legislature.
SEC. 67.
SEC. 68. Section 8005 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
8005. (a) The Court Reporters Board of California is charged
with the executive functions necessary for effectuating the purposes
of this chapter. It may appoint committees as it deems necessary
or proper. The board may appoint, prescribe the duties, and fix the
salary of an executive officer. Except as provided by Section 159.5,
the board may also employ other employees as may be necessary,
subject to civil service and other law.
(b) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 68.
SEC. 69. Section 8030.2 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
8030.2. (a) (1) To provide shorthand reporting services to
low-income litigants in civil cases, who are unable to otherwise
afford those services, funds generated by fees received by the board
pursuant to subdivision (c) of Section 8031 in excess of funds
needed to support the board’s operating budget for the fiscal year
in which a transfer described below is made shall be used by the
board for the purpose of establishing and maintaining a Transcript
Reimbursement Fund. The Transcript Reimbursement Fund shall
be funded by a transfer of funds from the Court Reporters’ Fund
in the amount of three hundred thousand dollars ($300,000)
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annually. The board is authorized to transfer funds in increments
of one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000) for a total of three
hundred thousand dollars ($300,000). Notwithstanding any other
provision of this article, a transfer to the Transcript Reimbursement
Fund in excess of the fund balance established at the beginning of
each fiscal year shall not be made by the board if the transfer will
result in the reduction of the balance of the Court Reporters’ Fund
to an amount less than six months’ operating budget.
(2) If funds are appropriated to the Transcript Reimbursement
Fund from a source other than fees received by the board pursuant
to subdivision (c) of Section 8031, those funds shall not be subject
to the annual transfer limit of three hundred thousand dollars
($300,000) described in paragraph (1).
(b) Refunds and unexpended funds that are anticipated to remain
in the Transcript Reimbursement Fund at the end of the fiscal year
shall be considered by the board in establishing the fee assessment
pursuant to Section 8031 so that the assessment shall maintain the
level of funding for the Transcript Reimbursement Fund, as
specified in subdivision (a), in the following fiscal year.
(c) The Transcript Reimbursement Fund is hereby created in
the State Treasury. Notwithstanding Section 13340 of the
Government Code, moneys in the Transcript Reimbursement Fund
are continuously appropriated for the purposes of this chapter.
(d) (1) Applicants who have been reimbursed pursuant to this
chapter for services provided to litigants and who are awarded
court costs or attorney’s fees by judgment or by settlement
agreement shall refund the full amount of that reimbursement to
the fund within 90 days of receipt of the award or settlement.
(2) An applicant appearing pro se who has been reimbursed for
services provided to litigants under this chapter shall refund the
full amount reimbursed if a court orders the applicant’s fee waiver
withdrawn or denied retroactively pursuant to Section 68636 of
the Government Code, within 90 days of the court’s order
withdrawing or denying the fee waiver.
(e) Subject to the limitations of this chapter, the board shall
maintain the fund at a level that is sufficient to pay all qualified
claims. To accomplish this objective, the board shall utilize all
refunds, unexpended funds, fees, and any other moneys received
by the board.
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(f) Notwithstanding Section 16346 of the Government Code,
all unencumbered funds remaining in the Transcript
Reimbursement Fund as of January 1, 2025, shall be transferred
to the Court Reporters’ Fund.
(g) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 69.
SEC. 70. Section 8030.4 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
8030.4. As used in this chapter:
(a) “Applicant” means a qualified legal services project,
qualified support center, other qualified project, or pro bono
attorney applying to receive funds from the Transcript
Reimbursement Fund established by this chapter. The term
“applicant” includes an indigent person appearing pro se to
represent themself at any stage of the case and applying to receive
funds from the Transcript Reimbursement Fund established in
Section 8030.2.
(b) “Case” means a single legal proceeding from its inception,
through all levels of hearing, trial, and appeal, until its ultimate
conclusion and disposition.
(c) “Certified shorthand reporter” means a shorthand reporter
certified pursuant to Article 3 (commencing with Section 8020)
performing shorthand reporting services pursuant to Section 8017.
(d) “Developmentally Disabled Assistance Act” means the
Developmentally Disabled Assistance and Bill of Rights Act of
1975 (Public Law 94-103), as amended.
(e) “Fee-generating case” means any case or matter that, if
undertaken on behalf of an eligible client by an attorney in private
practice, reasonably may be expected to result in payment of a fee
for legal services from an award to a client, from public funds, or
from an opposing party. A reasonable expectation as to payment
of a legal fee exists wherever a client enters into a contingent fee
agreement with the client’s lawyer. If there is no contingent fee
agreement, a case is not considered fee generating if adequate
representation is deemed to be unavailable because of the
occurrence of any of the following circumstances:
(1) If the applicant has determined that referral is not possible
because of any of the following:
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line 1
(A) The case has been rejected by the local lawyer referral
line 2 service, or if there is no such service, by two private attorneys who
line 3 have experience in the subject matter of the case.
line 4
(B) Neither the referral service nor any lawyer will consider the
line 5 case without payment of a consultation fee.
line 6
(C) The case is of the type that private attorneys in the area
line 7 ordinarily do not accept, or do not accept without prepayment of
line 8 a fee.
line 9
(D) Emergency circumstances compel immediate action before
line 10 referral can be made, but the client is advised that, if appropriate
line 11 and consistent with professional responsibility, referral will be
line 12 attempted at a later time.
line 13
(2) If recovery of damages is not the principal object of the case
line 14 and a request for damages is merely ancillary to an action for
line 15 equitable or other nonpecuniary relief or inclusion of a
line 16 counterclaim requesting damages is necessary for effective defense
line 17 or because of applicable rules governing joinder of counterclaims.
line 18
(3) If a court appoints an applicant or an employee of an
line 19 applicant pursuant to a statute or a court rule or practice of equal
line 20 applicability to all attorneys in the jurisdiction.
line 21
(4) In any case involving the rights of a claimant under a
line 22 public-supported benefit program for which entitlement to benefit
line 23 is based on need.
line 24
(f) (1) “Indigent person” means any of the following:
line 25
(A) A person whose income is 125 percent or less of the current
line 26 poverty threshold established by the United States Office of
line 27 Management and Budget.
line 28
(B) A person who is eligible for supplemental security income.
line 29
(C) A person who is eligible for, or receiving, free services
line 30 under the federal Older Americans Act or the Developmentally
line 31 Disabled Assistance Act.
line 32
(D) A person whose income is 75 percent or less of the
line 33 maximum level of income for lower income households as defined
line 34 in Section 50079.5 of the Health and Safety Code, for purposes of
line 35 a program that provides legal assistance by an attorney in private
line 36 practice on a pro bono basis.
line 37
(E) A person who qualifies for a waiver of fees pursuant to
line 38 Section 68632 of the Government Code.
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(2) For the purposes of this subdivision, the income of a person
who is disabled shall be determined after deducting the costs of
medical and other disability-related special expenses.
(g) “Lawyer referral service” means a lawyer referral program
authorized by the State Bar of California pursuant to the rules of
professional conduct.
(h) “Legal Services Corporation” means the Legal Services
Corporation established under the Legal Services Corporation Act
of 1974 (Public Law 93-355), as amended.
(i) “Older Americans Act” means the Older Americans Act of
1965 (Public Law 89-73), as amended.
(j) “Other qualified project” means a nonprofit organization
formed for charitable or other public purposes, that does not receive
funds from the Legal Services Corporation or pursuant to the
federal Older Americans Act, and provides free legal services to
indigent persons.
(k) “Pro bono attorney” means any attorney, law firm, or legal
corporation, licensed to practice law in this state, that undertakes,
without charge to the party, the representation of an indigent
person, referred by a qualified legal services project, qualified
support center, or other qualified project, in a case not considered
to be fee generating, as defined in this chapter.
(l) “Qualified legal services project” means a nonprofit project,
incorporated and operated exclusively in California, that provides
as its primary purpose and function legal services without charge
to indigent persons, has a board of directors or advisory board
composed of both attorneys and consumers of legal services, and
provides for community participation in legal services
programming. A legal services project funded, either in whole or
in part, by the Legal Services Corporation or with the federal Older
Americans Act funds is presumed to be a qualified legal services
project for the purposes of this chapter.
(m) “Qualified support center” means an incorporated nonprofit
legal services center that has an office or offices in California that
provide legal services or technical assistance without charge to
qualified legal services projects and their clients on a multicounty
basis in California. A support center funded, either in whole or in
part, by the Legal Services Corporation or with the federal Older
Americans Act funds is presumed to be a qualified legal services
project for the purposes of this chapter.
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(n) “Rules of professional conduct” means those rules adopted
by the State Bar of California pursuant to Sections 6076 and 6077.
(o) “Supplemental security income recipient” means an
individual receiving or eligible to receive payments under Title
XVI of the Social Security Act (Public Law 92-603), as amended,
or payment under Chapter 3 (commencing with Section 12000) of
Part 3 of Division 9 of the Welfare and Institutions Code.
(p) “Vexatious litigant” means a person as defined in subdivision
(b) of Section 391 of the Code of Civil Procedure.
(q) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 70.
SEC. 71. Section 8030.6 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
8030.6. (a) The board shall disburse funds from the Transcript
Reimbursement Fund for the costs, exclusive of per diem charges
by official reporters, of preparing either an original transcript and
one copy thereof, or where appropriate, a copy of the transcript,
of court or deposition proceedings, or both, incurred as a
contractual obligation between the shorthand reporter and the
applicant, for litigation conducted in California. If there is no
deposition transcript, the board may reimburse the applicant or the
certified shorthand reporter designated in the application for per
diem costs. The rate of per diem for depositions shall not exceed
seventy-five dollars ($75) for one-half day, or one hundred
twenty-five dollars ($125) for a full day. If a transcript is ordered
within one year of the date of the deposition, but subsequent to
the per diem having been reimbursed by the Transcript
Reimbursement Fund, the amount of the per diem shall be deducted
from the regular customary charges for a transcript. Reimbursement
may be obtained pursuant to the following provisions:
(1) The applicant or certified shorthand reporter shall promptly
submit to the board the certified shorthand reporter’s invoice for
transcripts together with the appropriate documentation as is
required by this chapter.
(2) Except as provided in paragraph (3), the board shall promptly
determine if the applicant or the certified shorthand reporter is
entitled to reimbursement under this chapter and shall make
payment as follows:
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(A) Regular customary charges for preparation of original
deposition transcripts and one copy thereof, or a copy of the
transcripts.
(B) Regular customary charges for expedited deposition
transcripts up to a maximum of two thousand five hundred dollars
($2,500) per case.
(C) Regular customary charges for the preparation of original
transcripts and one copy thereof, or a copy of transcripts of court
proceedings.
(D) Regular customary charges for expedited or daily charges
for preparation of original transcripts and one copy thereof or a
copy of transcripts of court proceedings.
(E) The charges shall not include notary or handling fees. The
charges may include actual shipping costs and exhibits, except
that the cost of exhibits may not exceed thirty-five cents ($0.35)
each or a total of thirty-five dollars ($35) per transcript.
(3) The maximum amount reimbursable by the fund under
paragraph (2) shall not exceed thirty thousand dollars ($30,000)
per case per year.
(4) A vexatious litigant shall be ineligible to receive funds from
the Transcript Reimbursement Fund. However, a vexatious litigant
may become eligible to receive funds if the vexatious litigant is
no longer subject to the provisions of Title 3A (commencing with
Section 391) of Part 2 of the Code of Civil Procedure pursuant to
Section 391.8 of Code of Civil Procedure.
(5) Disbursements to cover the costs of providing transcripts to
all applicants appearing pro se pursuant to this section shall not
exceed two thousand five hundred dollars ($2,500) per case.
(6) If entitled, and funds are available, the board shall disburse
the appropriate sum to the applicant or the certified shorthand
reporter when the documentation described in Section 8030.8
accompanies the application. A notice shall be sent to the recipient
requiring the recipient to file a notice with the court in which the
action is pending stating the sum of reimbursement paid pursuant
to this section. The notice filed with the court shall also state that
if the sum is subsequently included in any award of costs made in
the action, that the sum is to be ordered refunded by the applicant
to the Transcript Reimbursement Fund whenever the sum is
actually recovered as costs. The court shall not consider whether
payment has been made from the Transcript Reimbursement Fund
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in determining the appropriateness of any award of costs to the
parties. The board shall also notify the applicant that the reimbursed
sum has been paid to the certified shorthand reporter and shall
notify the applicant of the duty to refund any of the sum actually
recovered as costs in the action.
(7) If not entitled, the board shall return a copy of the invoice
to the applicant and the designated certified shorthand reporter
together with a notice stating the grounds for denial.
(8) The board shall complete its actions under this section within
30 days of receipt of the invoice and all required documentation,
including a completed application.
(9) Applications for reimbursements from the fund shall be filed
on a first-come-first-served basis.
(10) Applications for reimbursement that cannot be paid from
the fund due to insufficiency of the fund for that fiscal year shall
be held over until the next fiscal year to be paid out of the renewed
fund. Applications held over shall be given a priority standing in
the next fiscal year.
(b) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 71.
SEC. 72. Section 8030.8 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
8030.8. (a) For purposes of this chapter, documentation
accompanying an invoice is sufficient to establish entitlement for
reimbursement from the Transcript Reimbursement Fund if it is
filed with the executive officer on an application form prescribed
by the board that is complete in all respects, and that establishes
all of the following:
(1) The case name and number and that the litigant or litigants
requesting the reimbursement are indigent persons. If the applicant
is an indigent person appearing pro se the application shall be
accompanied by a copy of the fee waiver form approved by the
court in the matter for which the applicant seeks reimbursement.
(2) The applicant is qualified under the provisions of this
chapter.
(3) The case is not a fee-generating case, as defined in Section
8030.4.
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(4) The invoice or other documentation shall evidence that the
certified shorthand reporter to be reimbursed was, at the time the
services were rendered, a duly licensed certified shorthand reporter.
(5) The invoice shall be accompanied by a statement, signed by
the applicant, stating that the charges are for transcripts actually
provided as indicated on the invoice.
(6) The applicant has acknowledged, in writing, that as a
condition of entitlement for reimbursement that the applicant agrees
to refund the entire amount disbursed from the Transcript
Reimbursement Fund from any costs or attorney’s fees awarded
to the applicant by the court or provided for in any settlement
agreement in the case.
(7) The certified shorthand reporter’s invoice for transcripts
shall include separate itemizations of charges claimed, as follows:
(A) Total charges and rates for customary services in preparation
of an original transcript and one copy or a copy of the transcript
of depositions.
(B) Total charges and rates for expedited deposition transcripts.
(C) Total charges and rates in connection with transcription of
court proceedings.
(b) For an applicant claiming to be eligible pursuant to
subdivision (j), (l), or (m) of Section 8030.4, a letter from the
director of the project or center, certifying that the project or center
meets the standards set forth in one of those subdivisions and that
the litigant or litigants are indigent persons, is sufficient
documentation to establish eligibility.
(c) For an applicant claiming to be eligible pursuant to
subdivision (k) of Section 8030.4, a letter certifying that the
applicant meets the requirements of that subdivision, that the case
is not a fee-generating case, as defined in subdivision (e) of Section
8030.4, and that the litigant or litigants are indigent persons,
together with a letter from the director of a project or center defined
in subdivision (j), (l), or (m) of Section 8030.4 certifying that the
litigant or litigants had been referred by that project or center to
the applicant, is sufficient documentation to establish eligibility.
(d) The applicant may receive reimbursement directly from the
board if the applicant has previously paid the certified shorthand
reporter for transcripts as provided in Section 8030.6. To receive
payment directly, the applicant shall submit, in addition to all other
required documentation, an itemized statement signed by the
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line 1 certified shorthand reporter performing the services that describes
line 2 payment for transcripts in accordance with the requirements of
line 3 Section 8030.6.
line 4
(e) The board may prescribe appropriate forms to be used by
line 5 applicants and certified shorthand reporters to facilitate these
line 6 requirements.
line 7
(f) This chapter does not restrict the contractual obligation or
line 8 payment for services, including, but not limited to, billing the
line 9 applicant directly, during the pendency of the claim.
line 10
(g) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
line 11 and as of that date is repealed.
line 12
SEC. 72.
line 13
SEC. 73. Section 8050 of the Business and Professions Code,
line 14 as amended by Section 2 of Chapter 214 of the Statutes of 2021,
line 15 is amended to read:
line 16
8050. (a) It is the intent of the Legislature to enhance the
line 17 regulation of licensed shorthand reporters and shorthand reporting
line 18 corporations pursuant to this section, by imposing specific penalties
line 19 in addition to other remedies permitted by this chapter that seek
line 20 to discourage practices that are inconsistent with the integrity and
line 21 impartiality required of officers of the court, to promote
line 22 competition based upon the quality and price of shorthand reporting
line 23 services, and to ensure consistent regulation of corporations owned
line 24 by certificate holders and those not owned by certificate holders.
line 25
(b) This section shall apply to an individual or entity that does
line 26 any of the following:
line 27
(1) Any act that constitutes shorthand reporting that occurs
line 28 wholly or partly in this state.
line 29
(2) Employs, independently contracts with, or recruits a licensed
line 30 shorthand reporter to report or transcribe deposition testimony in
line 31 a court proceeding or in a deposition.
line 32
(3) Contracts with a resident of this state by mail or otherwise
line 33 that requires either party to perform licensed shorthand reporting
line 34 wholly or partly in this state.
line 35
(4) Independently contracts with or is employed by an entity
line 36 that does any of the acts described in paragraphs (1) to (3),
line 37 inclusive.
line 38
(c) (1) This section does not apply to an individual, whether
line 39 acting as an individual or as an officer, director, or shareholder of
line 40 a shorthand reporting corporation, as defined in Section 8040, who
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possesses a valid license, issued pursuant to Section 8018 or a
valid registration issued pursuant to Section 8051, that may be
revoked or suspended by the board, or to a shorthand reporting
corporation that is in compliance with Section 8044.
(2) This section does not apply to a court, a party to litigation,
an attorney of a party, or a full-time employee of a party or the
attorney of a party, who provides or contracts for certified
shorthand reporting for purposes related to the litigation.
(d) An individual or entity described in subdivision (b) shall
not do any of the following:
(1) Seek compensation for a transcript that is in violation of the
minimum transcript format standards set forth in Section 2473 of
Article 8 of Division 24 of Title 16 of the California Code of
Regulations.
(2) Seek compensation for a certified court transcript applying
fees higher than those set out in Section 69950 of the Government
Code.
(3) Make a transcript available to one party in advance of other
parties, as described in subdivision (d) of Section 2025.510 of the
Code of Civil Procedure, or offer or provide a service to only one
party as described in subdivision (b) of Section 2025.320 of the
Code of Civil Procedure.
(4) Fail to promptly notify a party of a request for preparation
of all or any part of a transcript, excerpts, or expedites for one
party without the other parties’ knowledge, as described in
paragraph (5) of subdivision (b) of Section 2475 of Article 8 of
Division 24 of Title 16 of the California Code of Regulations.
(e) Nothing in this section shall be construed to prohibit a
licensed shorthand reporter, shorthand reporting corporation, or
an individual or entity described in subdivision (b), from offering
or providing long-term or multicase volume discounts or services
ancillary to reporting and transcribing a deposition, arbitration, or
judicial proceeding in contracts that are subject to laws related to
shorthand reporting.
(f) An individual or entity that violates this section shall be
subject to a civil fine not exceeding ten thousand dollars ($10,000)
per violation.
(g) The Attorney General, a district attorney, a city attorney, or
the board may bring a civil action for a violation of this section,
including an action for injunctive relief and any other appropriate
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line 1 relief, and shall be entitled, if they are the prevailing party, to
line 2 recover reasonable attorney’s fees.
line 3
(h) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
line 4 and as of that date is repealed.
line 5
SEC. 73.
line 6
SEC. 74. Section 8050 of the Business and Professions Code,
line 7 as added by Section 3 of Chapter 214 of the Statutes of 2021, is
line 8 amended to read:
line 9
8050. (a) It is the intent of the Legislature to enhance the
line 10 regulation of licensed shorthand reporters and shorthand reporting
line 11 corporations pursuant to this section, by imposing specific penalties
line 12 in addition to other remedies permitted by this chapter that seek
line 13 to discourage practices that are inconsistent with the integrity and
line 14 impartiality required of officers of the court and to promote
line 15 competition based upon the quality and price of shorthand reporting
line 16 services.
line 17
(b) This section shall apply to an individual or entity that does
line 18 any of the following:
line 19
(1) Any act that constitutes shorthand reporting that occurs
line 20 wholly or partly in this state.
line 21
(2) Employs, independently contracts with, or recruits a licensed
line 22 shorthand reporter to report or transcribe deposition testimony in
line 23 a court proceeding or in a deposition.
line 24
(3) Contracts with a resident of this state by mail or otherwise
line 25 that requires either party to perform licensed shorthand reporting
line 26 wholly or partly in this state.
line 27
(4) Independently contracts with or is employed by an entity
line 28 that does any of the acts described in paragraphs (1) to (3),
line 29 inclusive.
line 30
(c) (1) This section does not apply to an individual, whether
line 31 acting as an individual or as an officer, director, or shareholder of
line 32 a shorthand reporting corporation, as defined in Section 8040, who
line 33 possesses a valid license, issued pursuant to Section 8018, that
line 34 may be revoked or suspended by the board, or to a shorthand
line 35 reporting corporation that is in compliance with Section 8044.
line 36
(2) This section does not apply to a court, a party to litigation,
line 37 an attorney of the party, or a full-time employee of the party or
line 38 the attorney of the party, who provides or contracts for certified
line 39 shorthand reporting for purposes related to the litigation.
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(d) An individual or entity described in subdivision (b) shall
not do any of the following:
(1) Seek compensation for a transcript that is in violation of the
minimum transcript format standards set forth in Section 2473 of
Article 8 of Division 24 of Title 16 of the California Code of
Regulations.
(2) Seek compensation for a certified court transcript applying
fees other than those set out in Section 69950 of the Government
Code.
(3) Make a transcript available to one party in advance of other
parties, as described in subdivision (d) of Section 2025.510 of the
Code of Civil Procedure, or offer or provide a service to only one
party as described in subdivision (b) of Section 2025.320 of the
Code of Civil Procedure.
(4) Fail to promptly notify a party of a request for preparation
of all or any part of a transcript, excerpts, or expedites for one
party without the other parties’ knowledge, as described in
paragraph (5) of subdivision (b) of Section 2475 of Article 8 of
Division 24 of Title 16 of the California Code of Regulations.
(e) Nothing in this section shall be construed to prohibit a
licensed shorthand reporter, shorthand reporting corporation, or
an individual or entity described in subdivision (b), from offering
or providing long-term or multicase volume discounts or services
ancillary to reporting and transcribing a deposition, arbitration, or
judicial proceeding in contracts that are subject to laws related to
shorthand reporting.
(f) An individual or entity that violates this section shall be
subject to a civil fine not exceeding ten thousand dollars ($10,000)
per violation.
(g) The Attorney General, a district attorney, a city attorney, or
the board may bring a civil action for a violation of this section,
including an action for injunctive relief and any other appropriate
relief, and shall be entitled, if they are the prevailing party, to
recover reasonable attorney’s fees.
(h) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025.
SEC. 74. Section 8051 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
8051. (a) On and after July 1, 2022, an entity that is not a
shorthand reporting corporation may, wherever incorporated in
the United States, engage in the conduct described in subdivision
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(b) of Section 8050 if it is approved for registration by the board
after meeting all of the following requirements:
(1) The entity pays an annual registration fee to the board, in
an amount determined by the board, not to exceed five hundred
dollars ($500). The fee shall not exceed the board’s cost of
administering this section.
(2) The entity has designated a board-certified reporter-in-charge
who is a full-time employee of the registered entity and a resident
of California, and who holds a currently valid California license
at all times as a certified shorthand reporter where the certificate
holder has no restrictions on their license and is not subject to a
pending board accusation or investigation at the time of the entity’s
application for registration. The reporter-in-charge shall be
responsible to the board for an entity’s compliance with all state
laws and regulations pertaining to and within the scope of the
practice of certified shorthand reporting and any acts of the entity
pertaining to and within the scope of the practice of a certificate
holder shall be deemed acts of the reporter-in-charge. Nothing in
this paragraph shall be construed as permitting the board to restrict,
suspend, or revoke the license of a reporter-in-charge for conduct
committed or directed by another person unless the
reporter-in-charge had knowledge of or knowingly participated in
such conduct.
(3) The entity agrees in the registration to abide by the laws,
regulations, and standards of practice applicable to businesses that
render shorthand reporting services pursuant to Section 13401 of
the Corporations Code, except for the requirements of Sections
8040 and 8044.
(b) An entity shall provide the board with all of the following
information for consideration of initial registration pursuant to
subdivision (a):
(1) The name and certificate number of the entity’s certified
reporter-in-charge.
(2) Whether the entity, a controlling officer or parent corporation
of the entity, the entity’s reporter-in-charge, or any of its officers,
employees, or independent contractors, has been subject to any
enforcement action, relating to the provision of court reporting
services, by a state or federal agency within five years before
submitting the initial registration. If so, the entity shall provide
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the board a copy of the operative complaint with the initial
registration.
(3) Whether the entity, within five years before submitting the
registration, has settled, or been adjudged to have liability for, a
civil complaint alleging the entity or the entity’s reporter-in-charge
engaged in misconduct relating to the provision of court reporting
services for more than fifty thousand dollars ($50,000).
(4) Any additional documentation the board reasonably deems
necessary for consideration in the initial registration process.
(c) Within 90 days of receiving a completed application for
initial registration, including any disclosures made pursuant to
subdivision (b), the board shall either approve the entity’s
registration or deny the application upon a finding that a substantial
risk would be posed to the public, which shall be subsequently
provided to the applicant in writing with specificity as to the basis
of that finding.
(d) A registration issued by the board pursuant to this section
shall be valid for one year, at which time it may be approved for
renewal by the board upon meeting the requirements of subdivision
(a).
(e) A registered entity shall notify the board in writing within
30 days of the date when a reporter-in-charge ceases to act as the
reporter-in-charge and propose another certificate holder to take
over as the reporter-in-charge. The proposed replacement
reporter-in-charge shall be subject to approval by the board. If
disapproved, the entity shall propose another replacement within
15 days of the date of disapproval and shall continue to name
proposed replacements until a reporter-in-charge is approved by
the board.
(f) The board shall revoke the registration of an entity if the
board determines the entity:
(1) Engaged, in whole or in part, through officers, employees,
or independent contractors that are not certificate holders, in acts
that are within the scope of practice of a certificate holder, unless
otherwise permitted by law.
(2) Directed or authorized the reporter-in-charge to violate state
laws or regulations pertaining to shorthand reporting or offering
financial incentives to the reporter-in-charge for engaging in acts
that violate state law.

96

SB 1443
line 1
line 2
line 3
line 4
line 5
line 6
line 7
line 8
line 9
line 10
line 11
line 12
line 13
line 14
line 15
line 16
line 17
line 18
line 19
line 20
line 21
line 22
line 23
line 24
line 25
line 26
line 27
line 28
line 29
line 30
line 31
line 32
line 33
line 34
line 35
line 36
line 37
line 38
line 39

— 54 —

(g) In addition to revoking an entity’s registration as required
by subdivision (f), a registration issued under this section may be
revoked, suspended, denied, restricted, or subjected to other
disciplinary action as the board deems fit for violations of the laws
or regulations pertaining to shorthand reporting by the entity’s
officers, employees, or independent contractors, including the
issuance of citations and fines.
(h) The board shall consider suspending the registration of an
entity for a minimum of one year if the license of its
reporter-in-charge is suspended or revoked for violating this section
more than twice in a consecutive five-year period.
(i) An entity shall have the right to reasonable notice and
opportunity to comment to and before the board regarding any
determination to deny or revoke registration before that
determination becomes final. An entity may seek review of a board
decision to deny or revoke registration under this section either in
an administrative hearing under Chapter 5 (commencing with
Section 11500) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government
Code or through an action brought pursuant to Section 1085 of the
Code of Civil Procedure.
(j) A certificate holder shall not engage in the practice of
shorthand reporting on behalf of an entity that the reporter knows
or should know is not registered with the board and shall verify
whether a person or entity is registered with the board before
engaging in the practice of shorthand reporting on behalf of that
person or entity.
(k) The board shall create and make available on its internet
website a directory of registered entities. The board shall not take
action against a certificate holder solely for a violation of
subdivision (j) if the certificate holder reasonably relied on the
board’s directory stating that the entity was registered at the time.
(l) The board may adopt regulations to implement this section.
(m) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1,
2025, and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 75. Section 8051 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
8051. (a) On and after July 1, 2022, an entity that is not a
shorthand reporting corporation may, wherever headquartered in
the United States, engage in the conduct described in subdivision
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(b) of Section 8050 if it is approved for registration by the board
after meeting all of the following requirements:
(1) The entity pays an initial annual registration fee to the board.
Until January 1, 2025, the fee shall be five hundred dollars ($500).
On and after January 1, 2025, the fee shall not exceed five hundred
dollars ($500) or the board’s cost of administering this section,
whichever is less.
(2) The entity has designated a board-certified reporter-in-charge
who is a full-time employee of the registered entity and a resident
of California, and who holds a currently valid California license
at all times as a certified shorthand reporter where the certificate
holder has no restrictions on their license and is not subject to a
pending board accusation or investigation at the time of the entity’s
application for registration. The reporter-in-charge shall be
responsible to the board for an entity’s compliance with all state
laws and regulations pertaining to and within the scope of the
practice of certified shorthand reporting and any acts of the entity
pertaining to and within the scope of the practice of a certificate
holder shall be deemed acts of the reporter-in-charge. Nothing in
this paragraph shall be construed as permitting the board to restrict,
suspend, or revoke the license of a reporter-in-charge for conduct
committed or directed by another person unless the
reporter-in-charge had knowledge of or knowingly participated in
such conduct.
(3) The entity agrees in the registration to abide by the laws,
regulations, and standards of practice applicable to businesses that
render shorthand reporting services pursuant to Section 13401 of
the Corporations Code, except for the requirements of Sections
8040 and 8044.
(b) An entity shall provide the board with all of the following
information for consideration of initial registration pursuant to
subdivision (a):
(1) The name and certificate number of the entity’s certified
reporter-in-charge.
(2) Whether the entity, a controlling officer or parent corporation
of the entity, the entity’s reporter-in-charge, or any of its officers,
employees, or independent contractors, has been subject to any
enforcement action, relating to the provision of court reporting
services, by a state or federal agency within five years before
submitting the initial registration. If so, the entity shall provide
96

SB 1443
line 1
line 2
line 3
line 4
line 5
line 6
line 7
line 8
line 9
line 10
line 11
line 12
line 13
line 14
line 15
line 16
line 17
line 18
line 19
line 20
line 21
line 22
line 23
line 24
line 25
line 26
line 27
line 28
line 29
line 30
line 31
line 32
line 33
line 34
line 35
line 36
line 37
line 38
line 39

— 56 —

the board a copy of the operative complaint with the initial
registration.
(3) Whether the entity, within five years before submitting the
registration, has settled, or been adjudged to have liability for, a
civil complaint alleging the entity or the entity’s reporter-in-charge
engaged in misconduct relating to the provision of court reporting
services for more than fifty thousand dollars ($50,000).
(4) Any additional documentation the board reasonably deems
necessary for consideration in the initial registration process.
(c) Within 90 days of receiving a completed application for
initial registration, including any disclosures made pursuant to
subdivision (b), the board shall either approve the entity’s
registration or deny the application upon a finding that a substantial
risk would be posed to the public, which shall be subsequently
provided to the applicant in writing with specificity as to the basis
of that finding.
(d) A registration issued by the board pursuant to this section
shall be valid for one year, at which time it may be approved for
renewal by the board upon meeting the requirements of subdivision
(a).
(e) A registered entity shall notify the board in writing within
30 days of the date when a reporter-in-charge ceases to act as the
reporter-in-charge and propose another certificate holder to take
over as the reporter-in-charge. The proposed replacement
reporter-in-charge shall be subject to approval by the board. If
disapproved, the entity shall propose another replacement within
15 days of the date of disapproval and shall continue to name
proposed replacements until a reporter-in-charge is approved by
the board.
(f) The board shall revoke the registration of an entity if the
board determines the entity:
(1) Engaged, in whole or in part, through officers, employees,
or independent contractors that are not certificate holders, in acts
that are within the scope of practice of a certificate holder, unless
otherwise permitted by law.
(2) Directed or authorized the reporter-in-charge to violate state
laws or regulations pertaining to shorthand reporting or offering
financial incentives to the reporter-in-charge for engaging in acts
that violate state law.
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(g) In addition to revoking an entity’s registration as required
by subdivision (f), a registration issued under this section may be
revoked, suspended, denied, restricted, or subjected to other
disciplinary action as the board deems fit for violations of the laws
or regulations pertaining to shorthand reporting by the entity’s
officers, employees, or independent contractors, including the
issuance of citations and fines.
(h) The board shall consider suspending the registration of an
entity for a minimum of one year if the license of its
reporter-in-charge is suspended or revoked for violating this section
more than twice in a consecutive five-year period.
(i) An entity shall have the right to reasonable notice and
opportunity to comment to and before the board regarding any
determination to deny or revoke registration before that
determination becomes final. An entity may seek review of a board
decision to deny or revoke registration under this section either in
an administrative hearing under Chapter 5 (commencing with
Section 11500) of Part 1 of Division 3 of Title 2 of the Government
Code or through an action brought pursuant to Section 1085 of the
Code of Civil Procedure.
(j) A certificate holder shall not engage in the practice of
shorthand reporting on behalf of an entity that the reporter knows
or should know is not registered with the board and shall verify
whether a person or entity is registered with the board before
engaging in the practice of shorthand reporting on behalf of that
person or entity.
(k) The board shall create and make available on its internet
website a directory of registered entities. The board shall not take
action against a certificate holder solely for a violation of
subdivision (j) if the certificate holder reasonably relied on the
board’s directory stating that the entity was registered at the time.
(l) The board may adopt regulations to implement this section,
including emergency regulations during the years 2022 and 2023.
The executive functions delegated to the board pursuant to Section
8005 include the discretion to inform the public of information
that would be or is a public record regarding shorthand reporting
corporations operating in this state.
(m) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1,
2024, 2025, and as of that date is repealed.
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SEC. 75.
SEC. 76. Section 8710 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
8710. (a) The Board for Professional Engineers, Land
Surveyors, and Geologists is vested with power to administer the
provisions and requirements of this chapter, and may make and
enforce rules and regulations that are reasonably necessary to carry
out its provisions.
(b) The board may adopt rules and regulations of professional
conduct that are not inconsistent with state and federal law. The
rules and regulations may include definitions of incompetence and
negligence. Every person who holds a license or certificate issued
by the board pursuant to this chapter, or a license or certificate
issued to a civil engineer pursuant to Chapter 7 (commencing with
Section 6700), shall be governed by these rules and regulations.
(c) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025,
and as of that date is repealed. Notwithstanding any other law, the
repeal of this section renders the board subject to review by the
appropriate policy committees of the Legislature.
SEC. 76.
SEC. 77. Section 9812.5 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
9812.5. The director shall gather evidence of violations of this
chapter and of any regulation established hereunder by any service
contractor, whether registered or not, and by any employee, partner,
officer, or member of any service contractor. The director shall,
on their own initiative, conduct spot check investigations of service
contractors throughout the state on a continuous basis.
This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2024,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 77.
SEC. 78. Section 9830.5 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
9830.5. (a) Each service contractor shall pay the fee required
by this chapter for each place of business operated by them in this
state and shall register with the bureau upon forms prescribed by
the director. The forms shall contain sufficient information to
identify the service contractor, including name, address, retail
seller’s permit number, if a permit is required under the Sales and
Use Tax Law (Part 1 (commencing with Section 6001) of Division
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2 of the Revenue and Taxation Code), a copy of the certificate of
qualification as filed with the Secretary of State if the service
contractor is a foreign corporation, and other identifying data to
be prescribed by the bureau. If the business is to be carried on
under a fictitious name, that fictitious name shall be stated. If the
service contractor is a partnership, identifying data shall be stated
for each partner. If the service contractor is a private company that
does not file an annual report on Form 10-K with the Securities
and Exchange Commission, data shall be included for each of the
officers and directors of the company as well as for the individual
in charge of each place of the service contractor’s business in the
State of California, subject to any regulations the director may
adopt. If the service contractor is a publicly held corporation or a
private company that files an annual report on Form 10-K with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, it shall be sufficient for
purposes of providing data for each of the officers and directors
of the corporation or company to file with the director the most
recent annual report on Form 10-K that is filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission.
(b) A service contractor who does not operate a place of business
in this state but who sells, issues, or administers service contracts
in this state, shall hold a valid registration issued by the bureau
and shall pay the registration fee required by this chapter as if they
had a place of business in this state.
(c) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2024,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 78.
SEC. 79. Section 9832.5 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
9832.5. (a) Registrations issued under this chapter shall expire
no more than 12 months after the issue date. The expiration date
of registrations shall be set by the director in a manner to best
distribute renewal procedures throughout the year.
(b) To renew an unexpired registration, the service contractor
shall, on or before the expiration date of the registration, apply for
renewal on a form prescribed by the director, and pay the renewal
fee prescribed by this chapter.
(c) To renew an expired registration, the service contractor shall
apply for renewal on a form prescribed by the director, pay the
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renewal fee in effect on the last regular renewal date, and pay all
accrued and unpaid delinquency and renewal fees.
(d) Renewal is effective on the date that the application is filed,
the renewal fee is paid, and all delinquency fees are paid.
(e) For purposes of implementing the distribution of the renewal
of registrations throughout the year, the director may extend, by
not more than six months, the date fixed by law for renewal of a
registration, except that, in that event, any renewal fee that may
be involved shall be prorated in such a manner that no person shall
be required to pay a greater or lesser fee than would have been
required had the change in renewal dates not occurred.
(f) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2024,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 79.
SEC. 80. Section 9847.5 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
9847.5. (a) Each service contractor shall maintain those records
as are required by the regulations adopted to carry out the
provisions of this chapter for a period of at least three years. These
records shall be open for reasonable inspection by the director or
other law enforcement officials.
(b) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2024,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 80.
SEC. 81. Section 9849 of the Business and Professions Code,
as amended by Section 12 of Chapter 578 of the Statutes of 2018,
is amended to read:
9849. (a) The expiration of a valid registration shall not deprive
the director of jurisdiction to proceed with any investigation or
hearing on a cease and desist order against a service dealer or
service contractor or to render a decision to suspend, revoke, or
place on probation a registration.
(b) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2024,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 81.
SEC. 82. Section 9849 of the Business and Professions Code,
as amended by Section 13 of Chapter 578 of the Statutes of 2018,
is amended to read:
9849. (a) The expiration of a valid registration shall not deprive
the director of jurisdiction to proceed with any investigation or
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hearing on a cease and desist order against a service dealer or to
render a decision to suspend, revoke, or place on probation a
registration.
(b) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2024.
SEC. 82.
SEC. 83. Section 9851 of the Business and Professions Code,
as amended by Section 14 of Chapter 578 of the Statutes of 2018,
is amended to read:
9851. (a) The superior court in and for the county wherein any
person carries on, or attempts to carry on, business as a service
dealer or service contractor in violation of the provisions of this
chapter, or any regulation thereunder, shall, on application of the
director, issue an injunction or other appropriate order restraining
that conduct.
(b) The proceedings under this section shall be governed by
Chapter 3 (commencing with Section 525) of Title 7 of Part 2 of
the Code of Civil Procedure, except that the director shall not be
required to allege facts necessary to show or tending to show lack
of an adequate remedy at law or irreparable injury.
(c) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2024,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 83.
SEC. 84. Section 9851 of the Business and Professions Code,
as amended by Section 15 of Chapter 578 of the Statutes of 2018,
is amended to read:
9851. (a) The superior court in and for the county wherein any
person carries on, or attempts to carry on, business as a service
dealer in violation of the provisions of this chapter, or any
regulation thereunder, shall, on application of the director, issue
an injunction or other appropriate order restraining that conduct.
(b) The proceedings under this section shall be governed by
Chapter 3 (commencing with Section 525) of Title 7 of Part 2 of
the Code of Civil Procedure, except that the director shall not be
required to allege facts necessary to show or tending to show lack
of an adequate remedy at law or irreparable injury.
(c) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2024.
SEC. 84.
SEC. 85. Section 9853 of the Business and Professions Code,
as amended by Section 16 of Chapter 578 of the Statutes of 2018,
is amended to read:
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9853. (a) A plea or verdict of guilty or a conviction following
a plea of nolo contendere made to a charge substantially related
to the qualifications, functions, and duties of a service dealer or
service contractor is deemed to be a conviction within the meaning
of this article. The director may suspend, revoke, or place on
probation a registration, or may deny registration, when the time
for appeal has elapsed, or the judgment of conviction has been
affirmed on appeal or when an order granting probation is made
suspending the imposition of sentence, irrespective of a subsequent
order under Section 1203.4 of the Penal Code, allowing that person
to withdraw their plea of guilty and to enter a plea of not guilty,
or setting aside the verdict of guilty, or dismissing the accusation,
information, or indictment.
(b) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2024,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 85.
SEC. 86. Section 9853 of the Business and Professions Code,
as amended by Section 17 of Chapter 578 of the Statutes of 2018,
is amended to read:
9853. (a) A plea or verdict of guilty or a conviction following
a plea of nolo contendere made to a charge substantially related
to the qualifications, functions, and duties of a service dealer is
deemed to be a conviction within the meaning of this article. The
director may suspend, revoke, or place on probation a registration,
or may deny registration, when the time for appeal has elapsed, or
the judgment of conviction has been affirmed on appeal or when
an order granting probation is made suspending the imposition of
sentence, irrespective of a subsequent order under Section 1203.4
of the Penal Code allowing that person to withdraw their plea of
guilty and to enter a plea of not guilty, or setting aside the verdict
of guilty, or dismissing the accusation, information, or indictment.
(b) This section shall become operative January 1, 2024.
SEC. 86.
SEC. 87. Section 9855.9 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
9855.9. This article shall remain in effect only until January
1, 2024, and as of that date is repealed.
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SEC. 87.
SEC. 88. Section 9860 of the Business and Professions Code,
as amended by Section 22 of Chapter 578 of the Statutes of 2018,
is amended to read:
9860. (a) The director shall establish procedures for accepting
complaints from the public against any service dealer or service
contractor.
(b) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2024,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 88.
SEC. 89. Section 9860 of the Business and Professions Code,
as amended by Section 23 of Chapter 578 of the Statutes of 2018,
is amended to read:
9860. (a) The director shall establish procedures for accepting
complaints from the public against any service dealer.
(b) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2024.
SEC. 89.
SEC. 90. Section 9862.5 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
9862.5. (a) If a complaint indicates a possible violation of this
chapter or of the regulations adopted pursuant to this chapter, the
director may advise the service contractor of the contents of the
complaint and, if the service contractor is so advised, the director
shall make a summary investigation of the facts after the service
contractor has had reasonable opportunity to reply thereto.
(b) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2024,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 90.
SEC. 91. Section 9863 of the Business and Professions Code,
as amended by Section 25 of Chapter 578 of the Statutes of 2018,
is amended to read:
9863. (a) If, upon summary investigation, it appears probable
to the director that a violation of this chapter, or the regulations
thereunder, has occurred, the director, in their discretion, may
suggest measures that in the director’s judgment would compensate
the complainant for the damages they suffered as a result of the
alleged violation. If the service dealer or service contractor accepts
the director’s suggestions and performs accordingly, the director
shall give that fact due consideration in any subsequent disciplinary
proceeding. If the service dealer or service contractor declines to
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abide by the suggestions of the director, the director may
investigate further and may institute disciplinary proceedings in
accordance with the provisions of this chapter.
(b) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2024,
and as of that date is repealed.
SEC. 91.
SEC. 92. Section 9863 of the Business and Professions Code,
as amended by Section 26 of Chapter 578 of the Statutes of 2018,
is amended to read:
9863. (a) If, upon summary investigation, it appears probable
to the director that a violation of this chapter, or the regulations
thereunder, has occurred, the director, in their discretion, may
suggest measures that in the director’s judgment would compensate
the complainant for the damages they suffered as a result of the
alleged violation. If the service dealer accepts the director’s
suggestions and performs accordingly, the director shall give that
fact due consideration in any subsequent disciplinary proceeding.
If the service dealer declines to abide by the suggestions of the
director, the director may investigate further and may institute
disciplinary proceedings in accordance with the provisions of this
chapter.
(b) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2024.
SEC. 92.
SEC. 93. Section 9873 of the Business and Professions Code,
as added by Section 3 of Chapter 29 of the Statutes of 2019, is
amended to read:
9873. The fees prescribed by this chapter shall be set by the
director by regulation, according to the following schedule:
(a) (1) The initial registration fee for an electronic repair
industry service dealer or for an appliance repair industry service
dealer is not more than two hundred five dollars ($205) for each
place of business in this state. The initial registration fee for a
service contractor is not more than ninety-five dollars ($95) for
each place of business in this state.
(2) The initial registration fee for a person who engages in
business as both an electronic repair industry service dealer and
an appliance repair industry service dealer is not more than four
hundred five dollars ($405) for each place of business in this state.
The initial registration fee for a person who is a service contractor
and engages in business as either an electronic repair industry
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service dealer or an appliance repair industry service dealer is not
more than three hundred dollars ($300) for each place of business
in this state.
(3) The initial registration fee for a person who engages in both
the electronic repair industry and the appliance repair industry as
a service dealer and is a service contractor is not more than five
hundred dollars ($500) for each place of business in this state.
(4) A service dealer or service contractor who does not operate
a place of business in this state, but engages in the electronic repair
industry or the appliance repair industry, or sells, issues, or
administers service contracts in this state, shall pay the registration
fee specified herein as if that service dealer or service contractor
had a place of business in this state.
(b) (1) The annual registration renewal fee for an electronic
repair industry service dealer or for an appliance repair industry
service dealer is not more than two hundred five dollars ($205)
for each place of business in this state, if renewed prior to its
expiration date. The annual registration renewal fee for a service
contractor is ninety-five dollars ($95) for each place of business
in this state, if renewed prior to its expiration date.
(2) The annual renewal fee for a service dealer who engages in
the business as both an electronic repair industry service dealer
and an appliance repair industry service dealer is not more than
four hundred dollars ($400) for each place of business in this state.
(3) The annual renewal fee for a service dealer who engages in
the electronic repair industry and the appliance repair industry and
is a service contractor is not more than four hundred seventy-five
dollars ($475) for each place of business in this state.
(4) A service dealer or service contractor who does not operate
a place of business in this state, but who engages in the electronic
repair industry or the appliance repair industry, or sells or issues
service contracts in this state, shall pay the renewal fee specified
herein as if that service dealer or service contractor had a place of
business in this state.
(c) The delinquency fee is an amount equal to 50 percent of the
renewal fee for a license in effect on the date of renewal of the
license, except as otherwise provided in Section 163.5.
(d) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1,
2024, and as of that date is repealed.
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SEC. 93.
SEC. 94. Section 9873 of the Business and Professions Code,
as added by Section 4 of Chapter 29 of the Statutes of 2019, is
amended to read:
9873. The fees prescribed by this chapter shall be set by the
director by regulation, according to the following schedule:
(a) The initial registration fee for an electronic repair industry
service dealer or for an appliance repair industry service dealer is
not more than two hundred five dollars ($205) for each place of
business in this state. The initial registration fee for a person who
engages in business as both an electronic repair industry service
dealer and an appliance repair industry service dealer is not more
than four hundred five dollars ($405).
(b) The annual registration renewal fee for an electronic repair
industry service dealer or for an appliance repair industry service
dealer is not more than two hundred five dollars ($205) for each
place of business in this state, if renewed prior to its expiration
date. The annual renewal fee for a service dealer who engages in
the business as both an electronic repair industry service dealer
and an appliance repair industry service dealer is not more than
four hundred dollars ($400).
(c) The delinquency fee is an amount equal to 50 percent of the
renewal fee for a license in effect on the date of renewal of the
license, except as otherwise provided in Section 163.5.
(d) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2024.
SEC. 94.
SEC. 95. Section 18602 of the Business and Professions Code
is amended to read:
18602. (a) Except as provided in this section, there is in the
Department of Consumer Affairs the State Athletic Commission,
which consists of seven members. Five members shall be appointed
by the Governor, one member shall be appointed by the Senate
Committee on Rules, and one member shall be appointed by the
Speaker of the Assembly.
The members of the commission appointed by the Governor are
subject to confirmation by the Senate pursuant to Section 1322 of
the Government Code.
No person who is currently licensed, or who was licensed within
the last two years, under this chapter may be appointed or
reappointed to, or serve on, the commission.
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(b) In appointing commissioners under this section, the
Governor, the Senate Committee on Rules, and the Speaker of the
Assembly shall make every effort to ensure that at least four of
the members of the commission shall have experience and
demonstrate expertise in one of the following areas:
(1) A licensed physician or surgeon having expertise or
specializing in neurology, neurosurgery, head trauma, or sports
medicine. Sports medicine includes, but is not limited to,
physiology, kinesiology, or other aspects of sports medicine.
(2) Financial management.
(3) Public safety.
(4) Past experience in the activity regulated by this chapter,
either as a contestant, a referee or official, a promoter, or a venue
operator.
(c) Each member of the commission shall be appointed for a
term of four years. All terms shall end on January 1. Vacancies
occurring prior to the expiration of the term shall be filled by
appointment for the unexpired term. No commission member may
serve more than two consecutive terms.
(d) Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter,
members first appointed shall be subject to the following terms:
(1) The Governor shall appoint two members for two years, two
members for three years, and one member for four years.
(2) The Senate Committee on Rules shall appoint one member
for four years.
(3) The Speaker of the Assembly shall appoint one member for
four years.
(e) (1) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1,
2025, and as of that date is repealed.
(2) Notwithstanding any other law, the repeal of this section
renders the board subject to review by the appropriate policy
committees of the Legislature.
SEC. 96. Section 22.5 of this bill incorporates amendments to
Section 7520.3 of the Business and Professions Code proposed by
both this bill and Senate Bill 1495. That section of this bill shall
only become operative if (1) both bills are enacted and become
effective on or before January 1, 2023, (2) each bill amends Section
7520.3 of the Business and Professions Code, and (3) this bill is
enacted after Senate Bill 1495, in which case Section 22 of this
bill shall not become operative.
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Attachment 2

April 14, 2022
The Honorable Richard D. Roth
California State Senate
1021 O Street, Suite 7510
Sacramento, CA 95814

Bill:
Position:

SB 1443
Support

Dear Senator Roth:
On March 25, 2022, the California Board of Accountancy (CBA) voted to take a Support
position on Senate Bill (SB) 1443, as introduced on February 18, 2022.
SB 1443 would extend the sunset date of specified boards, bureaus and commissions
within the Department of Consumer Affairs for an additional year from January 1, 2024
to January 1, 2025. This extension would also apply to the authority for boards and
commissions to designate an executive officer.
The CBA has taken a Support position on SB 1443, which may assist the Legislative
committees that undertake the Sunset Review process by providing an additional year
to complete the various sunset hearings and associated workload that was impacted by
the truncated legislative sessions as a result of COVID-19.
If you have questions, please contact Patti Bowers, Executive Officer, at
(916) 561-1711 or patti.bowers@cba.ca.gov.
Sincerely,

Michael M. Savoy, CPA
President
c:

Members, California Board of Accountancy
Patti Bowers, Executive Officer
Kaitlin Curry, Consultant, Assembly Business and Professions Committee
Elissa Silva, Consultant, Senate Business, Professions and Economic
Development Committee
Kayla Williams, Consultant, Senate Republican Caucus
Bill Lewis, Principal Consultant, Assembly Republican Caucus

Attachment 3

September 7, 2022
The Honorable Gavin Newsom
Governor of California
State Capitol
Sacramento, CA 95814
RE: SB 1443 (Roth) – Signature Request
Dear Governor Newsom,
On behalf of the California Board of Accountancy (CBA), I am writing to
respectfully request your signature on Senate Bill (SB) 1443.
SB 1443 would extend the sunset date of specified boards, bureaus and
commissions within the Department of Consumer Affairs, including the CBA, for
an additional year from January 1, 2024 to January 1, 2025. This extension would
also apply to the authority for boards and commissions to designate an
executive officer.
The Sunset Review process provides the legislature with an oversight process to
ensure boards, bureaus, and commissions are fulfilling their mandated
responsibilities. Your signature on SB 1443 would assist the Legislative committees
that undertake the Sunset Review process by providing an additional year to
complete the various hearings and associated workload that was impacted by
the truncated legislative sessions as a result of COVID-19.
If you have questions about this letter, please contact Patti Bowers, Executive
Officer, at (916) 561-1711 or patti.bowers@cba.ca.gov.
Sincerely,

Michael M. Savoy, CPA
President
c:

Honorable Richard Roth, Senator, 31st District
Members, California Board of Accountancy
Patti Bowers, Executive Officer, California Board of Accountancy
Elissa Silva, Consultant, Senate Business, Professions and Economic
Development Committee

CBA Item III.B.1.
September 22-23, 2022

Recommendations for Appointment(s)/Reappointment(s) to the Qualifications
Committee
Presented by: Michael M. Savoy, CPA, President
Purpose of the Item

The purpose of this agenda item is to recommend that Timothy T. Jones, CPA,
(Attachment 1) be reappointed as a member to the California Board of Accountancy
(CBA) Qualifications Committee (QC).

Consumer Protection Objectives

This agenda item ensures that the CBA continues its mission of consumer protection by
appointing members that have the skills and knowledge to serve on the QC.

Action(s) Needed

It is requested that the CBA adopt the recommendation.

Background

The QC assists the CBA in its licensure activities by reviewing the experience of
applicants for licensure and making recommendations to the CBA. This responsibility
includes conducting work paper reviews, with the applicant or employer present, to
verify that the responses provided are reflective of the requisite experience for
licensure.

Comments

For all appointments to a committee, the CBA Vice President, Katrina L. Salazar, CPA
works with the current chair to ensure that the appointment will contribute to the
committee’s function and enable it to carry out its mandated activities. A matrix
identifying the present members’ areas of expertise is included as Attachment 2.
Vice President Salazar also confers with the CBA Executive Officer to verify that the
potential appointee has met the appropriate requirements for license renewal, including
continuing education requirements and peer review (if subject). A check is also made to
ensure there are no pending enforcement actions.

Recommendations for Appointment(s)/Reappointment(s) to the Qualifications
Committee
Page 2 of 2
For current members who are being reappointed, Vice President Salazar reviews prior
attendance records, verifies completion of mandatory trainings, and reviews the
evaluations that may have been completed by the current Chairperson, Vice
Chairperson, CBA Liaisons, and the Licensing Chief. The evaluation requests feedback
in the areas of interpersonal skills, communication, leadership, preparedness, and
participation. Should a member have attendance or performance issues, they may be
subject to review and removal from the committee, at any time, by action of the CBA.
Prior to making a decision to recommend Timothy T. Jones, CPA for reappointment to
the QC, Vice President Salazar performed all the steps previously mentioned. Timothy
T. Jones, CPA has demonstrated a high level of professionalism during the
performance of his duties and was selected to serve as Vice Chairperson of the QC. He
has the skills and knowledge to continue to serve on the QC, which will allow the QC to
assist the CBA with its Licensing Program.

Fiscal/Economic Impact Considerations

There are no fiscal/economic impact considerations.

Recommendation

Based on the information above, I recommend that Timothy T. Jones, CPA be
reappointed for two years to the QC, until September 30, 2024.

Attachments

1. Curriculum Vitae of Timothy T. Jones, CPA
2. California Board of Accountancy Qualifications Committee Skill Matrix
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ADMINISTRATION DIVISION

Units: Administration, Information and Planning, Information Technology$1
7.3M

California Board of Accountancy by the Numbers
Budget

Positions

Licensees

$17.9M

98.9

114K+

In-Person Meeting Updates
The remote meeting provisions of the Bagley-Keene Open Meeting Act continue
through July 1, 2023, with the signing of Senate Bill 189 by Governor Gavin
Newsom on June 30, 2022. The changes took effect immediately upon signing.
The CBA and its committees will continue with meeting in-person. Presently, CBA
and committee meetings are scheduled to be held at the CBA office at 2450
Venture Oaks Way, Suite 420, Sacramento, CA. Members of the public continue
to have the opportunity to participate in the meetings remotely through the
WebEx platform.
Legislation Information
Information on pending legislation the CBA has taken a position on or is
following may be found on the CBA website. A link is included to the various bills
the CBA is following and, if relevant, the position letter is provided. The
information can be found at https://www.dca.ca.gov/cba/aboutcba/pending-legislation.shtml or by looking under the “Quick Hits” section, and
clicking “Laws and Rules,” and then selecting “Pending Legislation.”
The Legislative session is now closed. Any bill passed by the Legislature before
September 1, 2022 is transmitted to the Governor for his consideration and
eligible for his signature or veto. If the Governor fails to act on any legislation in
his possession within 30 days, it will become law without the Governor’s
signature. (California Constitution Art. IV, Sec. 10(b)(2)).

Update on Regulations

Subject of Regulations

Status

Fee Increase
This proposal would increase the license renewal
and initial licensure fee to $280.

Approved. Fee increase will be
effective October 1, 2022.

Satisfactory Evidence
This proposal provides the option of receiving
educational documents and foreign
credential evaluations directly from an
applicant (in a sealed and untampered
envelope).

Under final review by the Office
of Administrative Law.

Continuing Education – Nano and Blended Learning/Blended Learning, Reduction of
Fraud hours/CE Model Standards
This proposal would allow licensees to receive
credit toward their continuing education (CE)
requirement by: 1) authorizing certain nano and
blended learning formats, 2) include four
additional technical subject areas; 3) increase
the allowable CE credit for specified activities, 4)
revising the non-technical courses, and 5) other
non-substantive changes for overall clarity.

The Rulemaking package was
filed with the Office of
Administrative Law and the notice
of proposed changes was
published in the California
Regulatory Notice Register on
August 19. There is a 45-day
comment period, which will
conclude on October 4, 2022.

Attest Experience Forms
This proposal would eliminate the second
signature on Certificate of Experience forms
and consolidate four experience forms to two
forms, one for each type of experience
requirement.

Documents are pending
review by DCA.
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Staffing Update
The CBA currently has 11 vacant positions. An updated organization chart is
attached for review.
Investigative CPAs
The CBA relies on highly qualified, specialized Investigative Certified Public
Accountants (ICPAs) to perform its most technical and complex investigations.
Currently, no new applicants have applied. There are four ICPA and/or
supervising ICPA vacancies. Recruitment efforts will continue via various
communication channels. Further, the CBA is exploring the use of an external
human resources company to assist with recruitment efforts.

Total Number of Positions

98.9

Vacancies (Attachment)
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CBA Survey Updates
Stakeholder Satisfaction Survey
Efforts to increase the volume of responses to the CBA Stakeholder survey are
demonstrably working, as more stakeholders have taken the survey since July1
than had responded the entire first six months of 2022. A total of 79% said staff
responded to their inquiry in a timely manner, up from 77%. Some of the
activities staff have been working on to increase stakeholder satisfaction
includes:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Enhancing the license renewal process.
Launching a new CBA website, with increased interactive features.
Enhancing our communication and call features.
Continuing to meet our 30-day application processing timeframe.
Addressing stakeholder comments regularly and timely.
Being available to engage with stakeholders on social media.

Staff assess feedback on an ongoing basis and continue to ensure stakeholder
satisfaction remains a high priority, consistent with CBA Executive Staff and CBA
Leadership directives. The Stakeholder survey may be accessed at
www.cba.ca.gov by clicking “CBA Stakeholder Feedback” under the “Quick
Hits” section.
CBA Connect Feedback
In June, the CBA released the CBA Connect Feedback Survey to request
feedback from licensees who completed their CPA renewal using CBA
Connect. Since its launch, 77% said they had a good or excellent experience
submitting their renewal application using CBA Connect, and 85% said they
were able to complete the application without needing assistance from CBA
staff.
Attest Experience Survey
In July, a new survey was launched with the purpose of gathering input
regarding the attest experience and general accounting experience tracks of
CPA licensure. The survey was designed with specific questions for different
segments of the accounting profession, such as a licensed CPA, hiring manager,
university faculty, or consumer. The survey is now closed and the CBA has
received over 3,300 responses, which will be presented to the Consideration of
CPA Experience Requirements Taskforce (CERT) at its September 15, 2022
meeting.
Business Modernization Project Update
Staff have created a tutorial video designed to walk licensees through the
process of setting up their CBA Connect account. The video can be found on
the CBA YouTube channel and on the CBA website under the Licensee tab.
Staff continues its work on the Business Modernization enhancements to the
License Renewal system (CBA Connect) and in building an Enforcement Case
Management System.
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September 2022

The CBA hosted a free, virtual webinar for
California CPAs titled, “The Future of the
Accounting Profession.” The event took
place on August 29, and was attended by
more than 450 individuals. The flyer used
for promotion of the event is pictured at
right.
CBA President Michael M. Savoy, CPA,
led the evening with a presentation on the
importance of continuing education to
maintaining high CPA standards. License
Renewal and Continuing Competency Unit
Manager Sarah Benedict then spoke about
CBA Connect, and Enforcement Chief
Dominic Franzella discussed the role of the
CBA’s Enforcement program.
The presentations were followed by a lively
panel discussion featuring an influential
lineup of accounting professionals.
President Savoy was joined on the panel
by Denise LeDuc Froemming, CPA,
President and CEO of the California
Society of CPAs (CalCPA); Dan Dustin,
Vice President of State Boards Relations
for the National Association of State
Boards of Accountancy (NASBA); and Marta Zaniewski, Vice President of State Regulatory &
Legislative Affairs at the American Institute of CPAs and Executive Director of the Alliance for
Responsible Professional Licensing. Panel topics were focused on where the industry is headed,
and what current CPAs can do to help ensure a bright future for the accounting profession.
The evening concluded with a question and answer session with the panel and staff. A recording
of the event can be viewed on the Communications and Outreach page of the CBA website.

PODCASTING

The fifth episode of the CBA’s “Accounting for California” podcast went live earlier this month. It
is the first installment to feature not one, but two guests. CBA Managers Suzanne Gracia and
Sarah Benedict teamed up to go in depth about CBA Connect, and how the new online license
renewal system benefits California CPAs. You can hear this, and all previous episodes, on the
CBA Podcasting page.
1

EXECUTIVE OFFICER BOWERS FEATURED IN NASBA
NEWSLETTER

CBA Executive Officer Patti Bowers was featured in the August
issue of EDigital, NASBA’s monthly newsletter for Executive
Directors. In the interview, she spoke about growing up and still
living in Sacramento, and why she loves the area so much. Ms.
Bowers talks about her family, especially her beloved grandsons,
and describes her career path leading toward her eventually
becoming Executive Officer. She also shares her favorite vacation
spot, and where you can find the best pizza in the world (hint: it’s the
same place!).
You may read the interview in its entirely, and see some photos of
Ms. Bowers and her family, beginning on page 4.

CBA DEPLOYS TWO SURVEYS

A survey to gather feedback from California licensees and other stakeholders regarding the
attest experience and general accounting experience tracks of CPA licensure was launched on
July 15, and was open for responses for one month. During that time, over 3,300 individuals
participated in the survey to share their opinion on the topic. This data will be valuable to the
Consideration of the CPA Experience Requirements Taskforce as it continues its deliberations
regarding the necessity of the CBA’s two experience tracks for CPA licensure.
The survey was promoted with an email to California licensees as well as social media posts.
The CBA would also like to thank CalCPA for their assistance by sharing the survey with its
membership.
Another survey designed by the CBA strives to obtain actionable information regarding the
experience licensees are having with CBA Connect. Licensees are prompted to complete the
survey after they submit their license renewal through the CBA Connect system. The survey was
launched in mid-June, and responses so far have been very positive, with many comments
complimentary of the new system.

CBA PARTICIPATES IN JOB FAIR

The CBA’s Christy Abate at the Tri-County Job Fair
on August 17, 2022

On August 17, the CBA participated in the TriCounty Job Fair in Rocklin, a suburb of
Sacramento. CBA Administration Unit Manager
Christy Abate represented the CBA at the event,
and conversed with many that stopped by the CBA
table. She handed out flyers regarding the open
Investigative CPA positions with the CBA, provided
background about the CBA, and discussed the
state hiring process and other available jobs within
the CBA with the job seekers. Participation in this
event resulted in the CBA being invited to another
Career Fair in October.
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SOCIAL MEDIA

The CBA social media pages saw some of their largest growth over the last three months,
gaining more than 100 followers each in June, July, and August. Previously, this had only
happened twice in the past 16 months. The CBA LinkedIn profile was the star of the group, its
followers increasing by more than 200 in the three-month period, an 11% gain. Much of the
increase can be attributed to several recent posts resonating with followers who shared them to
their own profiles, resulting in the CBA posts getting in front of new audiences.
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E-NEWS
E-News Subscriptions
Consumer Interest
Examination Applicant
Licensing Applicant
California Licensee
Out-of-State Licensee
Statutory/Regulatory
CBA Meeting Information & Agenda Materials
UPDATE Publication
Total Subscriptions

Total
5,187
3,278
4,001
11,034
2,759
8,888
4,387
8,894
48,428

EMAIL REGISTRATION
Licensee Email Registrations

Total

Percentage

Licensees With a Confirmed Email Address

22,419

21.1%

Licensees With an Unconfirmed Email Address

63,993

60.1%

Licensees With No Email Address on File

20,049

18.8%
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Approval of the 2023 Qualifications Committee Meeting Dates
Presented by: Michael Williams, CPA, Chair, Qualifications Committee
Purpose of the Item

The purpose of this agenda item is to provide the California Board of Accountancy
(CBA) with the proposed Qualifications Committee (QC) meeting dates for 2023.

Consumer Protection Objectives

The QC serves as an advisory committee to assist the CBA in its licensure activities and
consumer protection mandate, by examining the qualifications of applicants for certified
public accountant licensure and making recommendations to the CBA.

Action(s) Needed

The CBA may choose to approve or modify the 2023 QC proposed meeting dates and
locations.

Background

The 2023 CBA meeting dates (Attachment) are as follows:
•
•
•
•
•
•

January 26-27, 2023
March 23-24, 2023
May 18-19, 2023
July 20-21, 2023 (may change to July 27-28, 2023)
September 21-22, 2023
November 16-17, 2023

Comments

It is anticipated that the QC meetings will be held in-person, alternating between
southern and northern California. The proposed QC meeting dates are:
•
•
•

January 25, 2023
April 26, 2023
July 26, 2023

Northern California (CBA Office)
Northern/Southern California 1
Northern California (CBA Office)

This location will be Northern California if the CBA votes to conduct committee meetings in Sacramento (CBA Item
II.C.); otherwise, the location will be Southern California.

1
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•

October 25, 2023

Southern California

Fiscal/Economic Impact Considerations

There are no fiscal/economic considerations.

Recommendation

Staff recommend that the CBA adopt or modify the proposed meeting dates.

Attachment

CBA 2023 Meeting Dates/Locations Calendar2

2

The July 2023 CBA meeting may be rescheduled for July 27-28.
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Approval of the 2023 Peer Review Oversight Committee Meeting Dates
Presented by: Jeffrey De Lyser, CPA, Chair, Peer Review Oversight Committee
Purpose of the Item

The purpose of this agenda item is to provide the California Board of Accountancy
(CBA) with the proposed Peer Review Oversight Committee (PROC) meeting dates for
2023.

Consumer Protection Objectives

Pursuant to Business and Professions Code section 5076, the PROC is authorized to
act as an advisory committee for the CBA by providing recommendations and assisting
with the consumer protection mandate on any peer review activities associated with the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and the California Society of Certified
Public Accountants, to ensure the effectiveness of mandatory peer review.

Action(s) Needed

The CBA may choose to adopt or modify the 2023 PROC proposed meeting dates.

Background

The 2023 CBA meeting dates (Attachment) are as follows:







January 26-27, 2023
March 23-24, 2023
May 18-19, 2023
July 20-21, 2023 (may change to July 27-28, 2023 subject to CBA Item II.C.)
September 21-22, 2023
November 16-17, 2023

Comments

The PROC meetings will be held at the CBA Office in Sacramento. The proposed
PROC meeting dates are:





February 17, 2023
May 12, 2023
August 11, 2023
December 8, 2023

Approval of the 2023 Peer Review Oversight Committee Meeting Dates
Page 2 of 2

Fiscal/Economic Impact Considerations

There are no fiscal/economic considerations.

Recommendation

The PROC recommends that the CBA adopt or modify the proposed 2023 PROC
meeting dates.

Attachment

California Board of Accountancy 2023 Meeting Dates Calendar
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As of June 30, 2022

COMPLAINTS RECEIVED

FY 2021/22

4,414 Received
− Internal 1,384
− External 3,030

FY 2020/21

2,729 Received
− Internal 1,294
− External 1,435

FY 2019/20

2,295 Received
− Internal 1,506
− External 789

(12 months of data)

Complaints received as of June 30th

2,295
1,506

4,414
3,030

2,729
1,294 1,435

1,384

789

FY 2019/20

FY 2020/21

1

FY 2021/22

Internal
External

TOP 3 COMPLAINT TYPES RECEIVED
Fiscal Year 2021/22
2,308 (52%)
Unlicensed
Activity
4,414
Total
Complaints

819 (19%)
Renewal
Deficiency
327 (7%)
Peer Review
Related

Fiscal Year 2020/21
886 (32%)
Renewal
Deficiency
2,729
Total
Complaints

475 (17%)
Unlicensed
Activity
155 (6%)
CE Related

Fiscal Year 2019/20
1,010 (44%)
Renewal
Deficiency
2,295
Total
Complaints

348 (15%)
Peer Review
Related
171 (7%)
CPA
Applications

2

INVESTIGATIONS
The number of complaints assigned for investigations and closed.
Investigations

•

FY 2019/20

12 months of data

Investigations Assigned

2,295

2,729

4,414

Investigations Closed

2,199

2,692

3,126

Average Days to Close

82

113

97

The average number of days to close increased slightly from the last report, from
95 to 97.
FY 2021/22

Investigations Closed

•

FY 2021/22

FY 2020/21

12 months of data

Total Closed FY 2021/22

3,126

Closed within 0-6 Months

2,519

Closed within 6-12 Months

542

Closed within 12-24 Months

34

Closed >24 Months

31

Of the total 3,126 investigations closed in FY 2021/22, 2,519 or 81% were
closed within six months from the initial complaint investigation date. Further,
3,061 investigations or 98% were closed within one year.

INVESTIGATIONS PENDING
Investigations Pending

FY 2019/20

FY 2021/22

FY 2020/21

12 months of data

Total Investigations Pending

684

779

2,114

0-6 Months

446

686

2,060

6-12 Months

189

56

32

12-24 Months

32

12

21

>24 Months

2

4

1

Average Age of Open Cases (days)

169

110

57

•

Of the total 2,114 pending cases, 97% were less than six months old and
approximately 99% were less than one year old.

•

An investigation is ongoing for the case that is over 24 months old.
3

DISCIPLINE
As part of its mission of consumer protection, the CBA referred matters to the Attorney
General’s (AG) Office for imposition of discipline.
Discipline

FY 2019/20

FY 2021/22

FY 2020/21

12 months of data

AG Referrals

51

50

34

Accusations Filed

53

44

25

Statement of Issues Filed

1

2

2

Petitions for Revocation Filed

4

3

3

DISCIPLINE | AGE of COMPLAINTS PENDING at ATTORNEY GENERAL’S OFFICE
Pending at AG

FY 2019/20

FY 2020/21

FY 2021/22

12 months of data

Total Pending at AG’s Office

41

39

32

0-6 Months

12

18

11

6-12 Months

17

11

14

12-24 Months

11

10

7

>24 Months

1

0

0

DISCIPLINE | FINAL ORDERS
Disciplinary Action
−

FY 2019/20

FY 2020/21

FY 2021/22

12 months of data

Final Decision Orders

69

50

32

Stipulated Settlement

57

34

25

Proposed Decision

6

7

4

Default Decision

6

9

3

−

−

4

CITATIONS AND FINES
Citations

FY 2021/22

FY 2019/20

FY 2020/21

12 months of data

Total Citations Issued

174

376

459

Total Fines Assessed

$49,275

$117,800

$113,825

Fine Average
Average Number of Days from Receipt
of Complaint to Issuance of Citation

$286

$313

$248

110

192

206

CITATIONS AND FINES | FY 2021/22 TOP 3 VIOLATIONS
12 months of data
377 (67%)
Reg. 87(a)(1) 20/12
Requirement
77 (14%)
Reg. 52 Response
to the CBA

561
Total Violations

24 (4%)
BPC 5050(a)
Practice without a
Permit
Citation and Fine Appeals and Outcomes

FY 2021/22

Citation and Fine Appeals Received

74

Citations Modified

4

Citations Withdrawn

51

Citations Affirmed/Upheld

12

•

The number of outcomes (modified, withdrawn, affirmed/upheld) does not
reconcile with the amount of citations and fine appeals received, as some
appeals were received in the previous fiscal year, and the outcome did not occur
until the present fiscal year.

•

A citation may be withdrawn for reasons such as financial hardship, healthrelated matters, or submission of mitigating evidence demonstrating compliance.

5

UNLICENSED ACTIVITY
Complaints Received

FY 2021/22

FY 2019/20

FY 2020/21

12 months of data

Internal

66

58

32

External

76

417

2,276

Total

142

475

2,308

FY 2019/20

FY 2020/21

12 months of data

Practice without Permit

57

197

967

Individuals without a CPA License

41

224

1,293

Unregistered Firms

44

54

48

Total

142

475

2,308

FY 2019/20

FY 2020/21

12 months of data

Investigations Pending

65

144

1,709

-Referred to Division of Investigation

10

2

3

Total

75

146

1,712

FY 2019/20

FY 2020/21

12 months of data

Citations Issued

11

17

24

Closed for Compliance
Referred to District Attorney /
Local Law Enforcement
Total

173

382

727

2

2

3

186

401

754

Complaint Categories

Investigations

Outcomes

•

FY 2021/22

FY 2021/22

FY 2021/22

Of the total 2,308 unlicensed complaints received, 95% came from one
complainant. These complaints primarily involve individuals that do not have an
active CPA license issued in California, holding out as a CPA on a specific social
media platform.

6

PROBATION MONITORING
Monitoring Activity

FY 2021/22

Number of Licensees on Probation as of Last Report

120

New Probationers Since the Last Report

5

Number of Probationers Off Probation

5

Total Number of Probationers

120

Out-of-State Probationers

13

Total Probation Orientations Completed

19

Referrals to Revoke Probation

3

PROBATION MONITORING | VIOLATIONS DETECTED
CPAs disciplined for various violations may be placed on probation for an ordered
amount of time with required terms. To ensure probationers successfully fulfill their
probationary terms, the CBA Probation Monitoring Unit continuously reviews
individual probation files and identifies violations, notifies probationers, records all
monitoring activities, and communicates with the probationers to obtain compliance
with probation terms.
Violations detected include:
Probation Violation(s) Types

Detected

Cost Reimbursement

26

Obey All Laws

0

Submit Written Quarterly Report

25

Active License Status

1

Restricted Practice

0

Peer Review

1

Continuing Education

6

Administrative Penalty

5

Probation Monitoring Costs

3

Personal Appearance

2

Violation of Citation

1

TOTAL

70

7
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CALIFORNIA BOARD OF ACCOUNTANCY
LICENSING ACTIVITY REPORT
July 1, 2021 – June 30, 2022

Application Processing Snapshot
Table 1: Complete1 Application Processing Times as of June 30, 2022
Application Type

First-Time Uniform Certified Public
Accountant Examination
(CPA Exam)

17 days

CPA Initial License

13 days

Corporation Initial License
Application

21 days

Partnership Initial License
Application

18 days

Out-of-State Firm Registration
Application


Processing Time
Complete
Applications

9 days

Included in this report is the National Association of State Boards of Accountancy
(NASBA) Uniform CPA Examination (CPA Exam) Performance Summary for the second
testing quarter of 2022. There are two parts to each quarterly report: (1) a Californiaspecific report and (2) an all jurisdiction report. (Attachment)

Only applications deemed complete at the time of initial review (i.e., did not require additional
information/documentation) are used to calculate processing times.
1

Stakeholder Inquiries
Table 2: Inquiries Received in Fiscal Year 2021-22
Inquiry Type
Telephone2

2020-21
July-June
Received

2021-22
July-June
Received
38,577

32,286

Email

118,022

94,629

Total

156,599

126,915

Emails
Exams
18%

Renewals
54%

Initial Licensing
28%

2

Telephone inquiries are inclusive of those received by the Department of Consumer Affairs call center.

2

Uniform CPA Examination Statistics
Table 3: CPA Exam Applications by Fiscal Year
Examination Request
First-Time Test

2019-20
Approved

2020-21
Approved

2021-22
July-June
Received

2021-22
July-June
Approved

5,211

6,183

5,386

4,840

13,640

15,633

13,707

13,707

First-Time Test (Early Entry)

N/A

N/A

348

348

Repeat Test (Early Entry)

N/A

N/A

0

0

18,851

21,816

19,441

18,895

Repeat Test

Total


The first early-entry applications were received in January 2022. Dependent on their
specific application submission date, they will have until approximately July 2022 to
complete their education and September 2022 to submit their evidence of completion.



Staff identified 443 first-time CPA Exam applications with a deficiency where additional
documentation is required from the applicant to approve their application. Deficiencies
may include, but are not limited to, a shortage of accounting units or not including the
conferral date of a bachelor’s degree.



The number approved may be higher than received given applications received in the
prior year may not be approved until the following fiscal year.

3

Initial Licensing Statistics
Table 4: Initial Licensure and Permit Activity by Fiscal Year
License/Registration/Permit
Type
CPA – General Accounting
Experience
CPA – Attest Experience
Subtotal CPA
Partnership
Corporations
Out-of-State Firms
Subtotal Firms
Total Fictitious Name Permits
Total Licenses/
Registrations/Permits

2019-20
Issued

2020-21
Issued

2021-22
July-June
Received

2021-22
July-June
Issued

1,936

2,791

2,304

2,513

659

1,255

954

913

2,595

4,046

3,2623

3,426

39

60

51

48

144

243

233

223

44

67

61

69

227

370

345

340

81

107

76

66

2,903

4,523

3,683

3,832



On June 30, 2022, there were a total of 796 initial CPA applications with a deficiency
where additional documentation was required from the applicant to approve the
application. This includes active applications received in prior fiscal years. Deficiencies
may include, but are not limited to, shortage of education units, inaccurate information
reflected on experience forms, fingerprint clearance results not received from
Department of Justice, and incomplete applications.



The number issued may be higher than received given applications received in the prior
year may not be approved until the following fiscal year.

This total includes four licensing applications that were received without experience forms and those
have received a deficiency letter. At this time, the Initial Licensing Unit cannot determine whether these
four applications are for licensure with general accounting experience or attest experience, as the
applicant did not identify on the application the type of experience, and since the CBA did not receive an
experience form, the CBA is unable to determine where the experience type.
3

4

License Renewal Statistics
Department of Consumer Affairs continuing education (CE) extension waivers:


All licenses expiring between March 2020 and September 30, 2021 had until
January 31, 2022 to complete their CE requirements.



All licenses expiring between October 1, 2021 and October 31, 2021 had until
March 31, 2022 to complete their CE requirements.

Table 5: License Renewal Activity by Fiscal Year
License/Registration/Permit Type
CPA
Public Accountant (PA)
Subtotal CPA/PA
Partnership
Corporations
Out-of-State Firms
Subtotal Firms
Total Fictitious Name Permits
Total
Licenses/Registrations/Permits4

2019-20
Renewed

2021-22
July-June
Renewed

2020-21
Renewed

45,395

43,945

44,396

2

2

2

45,397

43,947

44,398

677

579

631

1,939

1,951

1,896

128

133

161

2,744

2,663

2,688

178

376

164

48,319

46,986

47,250

The 2019-20 and 2020-21 Licensing Activity Reports did not include Out-of-State Firms in the total firm
or total renewal count.
4

5

Table 6: License Renewal Application Review by Fiscal Year (Cohort Report)
Review Outcome
Deficient – Resolved Deficiency

2021-22
July-June

2020-21
1,323

1,040

0

260

240

139

1,563

1,439

Subtotal Compliant

20,428

37,508

Total Reviewed

21,991

38,947

Deficient – Outstanding
Enforcement Referral
Subtotal Deficient/Enforcement
Referrals



If staff identified a deficiency that could be corrected (e.g., missing signature) the
renewal was counted as Deficient – Outstanding. If the deficiency is corrected, it will
move to Deficient – Resolved Deficiency, if not, it will be moved to Enforcement Referral.
(The table reflects deficiencies and does not include licensees who have been granted
additional time to complete their CE requirements under DCA’s COVID-19 CE extension
waivers).



Licensees who failed to respond, or who had a deficiency that could not be corrected,
were referred to Enforcement.

6

Table 7: Continuing Education Audits by Fiscal Year (Cohort Report)
Audit Outcome
Compliant CE

623

697

Non-Compliant CE –
Outstanding

0

9

Non-Compliant CE –
Resolved

59

31

Enforcement Referral

73

39

0

101

7555

877

Audit in Process
Total Audits


2021-22
July-June

2020-21

To conduct fiscal year 2020-21 and 2021-22 audits, staff selected a random sample of
licensees from those who reported completion of the 80-hours on their CE Reporting
Worksheet. This was done with the assumption that those licensees did not intend to
use the COVID-19 CE waiver.

The Total Audits row for 2020-21 was reduced by seven licensees. This was due to the fact that
selected licensees either had since retired or went into inactive status.
5

7

Population Statistics
Table 8: Population Statistics by Fiscal Year
License/Registration/
Permit Type

June 30, 2021
Count

June 30, 2022
Count

58,525

65,966

4

2

Subtotal CPA/PA – Active

58,529

65,968

Accountancy Corporations

4,357

4,385

Accountancy Partnerships

1,357

1,326

790

859

6,504

6,570

Total – Active CPA/PA
and Firms6

65,033

72,538

CPA – Inactive

30,617

22,540

CPA – Delinquent

11,613

13,015

3,774

3,853

46,004

39,408

2,577

2,633

113,614

114,579

CPA – Active
PA – Active

Out-of-State Firm
Registrations
Subtotal Accountancy
Firms

CPA – Retired
Subtotal CPA –
Inactive/Delinquent/Retired
Total Fictitious Name
Permits7
Grand Total Licenses/
Registrations/Permits

The 2019-20 and 2020-21 Licensing Activity Reports included inactive licensees in the grand total.
The 2019-20 and 2020-21 Licensing Activity Reports did not include Fictitious Name Permits in the
Population Table.
6
7

8

Military and Refugee Statistics
The CBA provides assistance programs for past and present military personnel and their
spouses/domestic partners, as well as refugees, asylees, and special immigrant visa holders,
collectively referred to as “refugee.”
Table 9: Military and Refugee Inquiries as of June 30, 2022
2021-22
July-June

Inquiries
Email (Military)

338

Telephone Calls (Military)

55

Email (Refugee)

73

Telephone Calls (Refugee)

13

Total Inquiries

479

Table 10: Military and Refugee Applications Received and Approved
2021-22
July – June
Received

2021-22
July – June
Approved

Average
Processing
Time in
Days

1

13

13

6

CPA License (Military)

18

50

48

3

CPA Renewal (Military)

1

1

1

2

CPA Exam (Refugee)

0

4

4

5

CPA License (Refugee)

3

58

4

N/A9

Application Type
CPA Exam (Military)

2020-21
Approved

The previous Licensing Activity Report incorrectly indicated 7 refugee applications received and 5
refugee applications approved. The correct number of refugee applications received and approved for the
previous report is the same number as indicated in this report.
9
Only applications deemed complete at the time of initial review (i.e., did not require additional
information/documentation) are used to calculate processing times. In this case there were no complete
applications at the time of initial review.
8

9

Attachment

CPA Exam Performance Summary: 2022 Q-2

California
Overall Performance

Section Performance

Unique Candidates

3,812

New Candidates

828

Total Sections

4,708

Sections

Score

% Pass

First-Time

1,372

70.19

54.45%

Re-Exam

3,320

71.68

51.36%

AUD

1,311

70.56

47.67%

Passing 4th Section

568

Sections / Candidates

1.24

BEC

972

75.59

62.55%

52.25%

FAR

1,362

67.74

45.15%

71.24

REG

1,063

72.57

57.57%

Pass Rate
Average Score

Jurisdiction Ranking
Candidates

Sections

1

1

30

35

Pass Rate

Avg Score

Sections

Candidates

Average Age

% Pass

Page 1 of 2

CPA Exam Performance Summary: 2022 Q-2

California
Degree Type

Bachelor's Degree
Advanced Degree
Enrolled / Other

Candidates
2,891

Residency
% Total

Candidates

% Total

3,051

80.04%

75.8%

In-State Address

882

23.1%

Out-of-State Address

354

9.29%

39

1.0%

Foreign Address

407

10.68%

Gender

New Candidates vs Candidates Passing 4th Section

Notes:

1. The data used to develop this report was pulled from NASBA's Gateway System, which houses the Uniform CPA
Examination's Application and Performance information for all 55 jurisdictions.
2. The demographic data related to age, gender, and degree type is provided by the individual candidates and may
not be 100% accurate.
3. Some jurisdictions do not require candidates to report certain demographic data nor complete surveys gathering
such data on a voluntary basis.
Copyright © 2022 National Association of State Boards of Accountancy, Inc. All rights reserved.
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CPA Exam Performance Summary: 2022 Q-2

Overall
Overall Performance
Unique Candidates

Section Performance
29,514

/q Pass

0

7 ,002

First-Time

9,519

70.4

53.47%

38,040

Re-Exam

28,405

73.05

53.45%

AUD

10,709

71.66

49.13%

1.29

BEC

7,838

76.23

61.53%

53.43%

FAR

10,853

68.68

45.66%

72.38

REG

8,640

74.41

61.19%

New Candidates
Total Sections

Score

Sections

4,703

Passing 4th Section
Sections / Candidates
Pass Rate
Average Score

Top 3 Jurisdictions

Most Candidates

Highest Pass Rate

1. California

3,812

1. Wyoming

64.00%

2. New York

3,140

2. Wisconsin

62.84%

3. Texas

2,418

3. South Dakota

62.12%

Sections

11. .,.

56,928

---

i ""'i

Ii ""'

46,087
38,040

•

I

21.192

-~---

Q-1

Q-2
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•
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2 019
2020
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---

•

2022

. . . ___

•
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2019
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2022

Q-4

Q-3

Candidates

1 30.075 .
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---

•

34.28S 29.514

•

18.727

-~--Q-1

Q-2

43,169

41.104 41.359

I i ""'

,

•

Q-4

Q-3

Average Age
2~
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2019 0-4
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2021 0-1

2021 0-2

2021 0-3

2021 0-4

2022 O· l

2022 0 ·2

2021 0 -2

2021 Q-3

2021 0 -4

2022 0 -1

2022 0 -2

%Pass

2019 0 -3

2019 Q-4

2020 0 -1

2020 0 -2

2020 0 -3

2020 0 -4

2021 0 -1
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CPA Exam Performance Summary: 2022 Q-2

Overall
Degree Type

Residency

Candidates

% Total

Bachelor's Degree

20,136

68.2%

In-State Address

Advanced Degree

6,428

21.8%

Enrolled / Other

2,950

10.0%

Candidates

% Total

20,542

69.6%

Out-of-State Address

4,311

14.61%

Foreign Address

4,661

15.79%

Gender
lS,071

14,7281' .ill60

.

U,9-81 14· 13\1.1e2

ll,61S

1),'34

l),70S13,31112.971

13.185

ll.378
10,616 .llS
10

U .222

13,300
11,161

10.650
10, 161

•
•

9.365 9.332

6,714

Female
Male
Not Reporte<

S.832 6,12 1

2019 0-3

2019 0-4

2020 0-1

II

2020 0·2

2020 Q-3

2020 Q-4

2021 Q-1

2021 Q-2

2021 Q-3

2021 Q-4

2022 Q-1

2022 Q-2

New Candidates vs Candidates Passing 4th Section

10.535
9,304

8.953

8.583

8.738

8.217
7.714

7.020

8,010

7,768

7.610
7,001

6.718

6.414

5.284
4,607

III

3,974

3,849

3.223

2019 Q-3

2019 Q-4

2020 Q-1

2020 0·2

2020 0 · 3

2020 0 · 4

I

2021 Q-1

S.605

7.002

5.611
4,703

II I I I

•

New

•

Passed

3,788

2021 0 -2

2021 0 -3

2021 Q-4

2022 O·l

2022 0·2

Notes:
1. The data used to develop this report was pulled from NASBA's Gateway System, which houses the Uniform CPA
Examination's Application and Performance information for all 55 jurisdictions.
2. The demographic data related to age, gender, and degree type is provided by the individual candidates and may
not be 100% accurate.
3. Some jurisdictions do not require candidates to report certain demographic data nor complete surveys gathering
such data on a voluntary basis.
Copyright © 2022 National Association of State Boards of Accountancy, Inc. All rights reserved.
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CBA Item XI.A.
September 22-23, 2022
DRAFT
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS
CALIFORNIA BOARD OF ACCOUNTANCY
MINUTES OF THE
July 21, 2022
CALIFORNIA BOARD OF ACCOUNTANCY MEETING
California Board of Accountancy
2450 Venture Oaks Way, Suite 420
Sacramento, CA 95833
Telephone: (916) 263-3680
Call to Order, Roll Call, Establishment of Quorum, and Opening Remarks.
California Board of Accountancy (CBA) President Michael M. Savoy, CPA, called the
meeting to order at 10:44 a.m. on Thursday, July 21, 2022 at the CBA in Sacramento.
The CBA held the meeting via in-person and provided public participation via WebEx.
The CBA convened into closed session from 3:04 p.m. until 3:34 p.m. to deliberate on
the petition. The CBA reconvened into open session at 3:36 p.m. until 4:10 p.m. The
CBA convened into closed session from 4:16 p.m. until 4:28 p.m. President Savoy
adjourned the meeting at 4:28 p.m.
President Savoy read the following into the record:
The CBA’s mission is to protect consumers by ensuring only qualified licensees
practice public accountancy in accordance with established professional
standards. This mission is derived from the statutory requirement that protection
of the public shall be the highest priority for the California Board of Accountancy
in exercising its licensing, regulatory, and disciplinary functions. Whenever the
protection of the public is inconsistent with other interests sought to be promoted,
the protection of the public shall be paramount.
CBA Members
Michael M. Savoy, CPA, President
Katrina L. Salazar, CPA, Vice President
Yen C. Tu, Secretary/Treasurer
Nancy J. Corrigan, CPA

July 21, 2022
10:44 a.m. to 4:28 p.m.
10:44 a.m. to 4:28 p.m.
10:44 a.m. to 4:28 p.m.
10:44 a.m. to 4:28 p.m.
20586

CBA Members
Karriann Farrell Hinds, Esq.
Dan Jacobson, Esq.
Kristian Latta, CPA
Xochitl A. León
Luz Molina Lopez
Zuhdia “Dee Dee” Owens, CPA
Ariel Pe
Deidre Robinson
Joseph Rosenbaum, CPA
Evangeline Ward

July 21, 2022
Absent
10:44 a.m. to 4:28 p.m.
10:44 a.m. to 4:28 p.m.
Absent
10:44 a.m. to 4:28 p.m.
10:44 a.m. to 4:28 p.m.
10:44 a.m. to 4:28 p.m.
Absent
10:44 a.m. to 4:28 p.m.
10:44 a.m. to 4:28 p.m.

Staff and Legal Counsel
Patti Bowers, Executive Officer
Christy Abate, Administrative Services Manager
Michelle Center, Chief, Licensing Division
Elizabeth Coronel, Strategic Business Analyst, Department of Consumer Affairs (DCA)
Mary Kate Cruz Jones, Staff Services Manager, Executive Office, DCA
Theodore Drcar, Deputy Attorney General (DAG), Department of Justice (DOJ)
Emmanuel Estacio, Information Technology Support Analyst
Ann Fisher, Facilitator, DCA
Dominic Franzella, Chief, Enforcement Division
Helen Geoffroy, Legal Counsel, DCA
Patrick Ibarra, Information and Planning Officer
Alegra Keith, Assistant Human Resources Liaison
Amir Larian, Website Analyst
Rebecca Reed, Board Relations Analyst
Cesar Victoria, Television Specialist, Office of Public Affairs, DCA
Wayne Wilson, Special Projects Analyst
Committee Chairs and Members
Douglas Aguilera, CPA, Chair, Enforcement Advisory Committee (EAC)
Jeffrey De Lyser, CPA, Chair, Peer Review Oversight Committee (PROC)
Laura L. Ross, CPA, Vice Chair, PROC
Other Participants
Cameron Coy, Esq.
Jason Fox, Vice President of Government Relations, California Society of CPAs
(CalCPA)
Hamid Kabani, CPA 58074, Petitioner
Marcie Larson, Administrative Law Judge, Office of Administrative Hearings
Pat Joyce, The Accountant’s Coalition
I.

Public Comment for Items Not on the Agenda.
No public comments were received.
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II.

Report of the President.
A. Presentation from the California Society of Certified Public Accountants
Regarding Entry in the Accounting Profession.
Mr. Fox provided a presentation regarding entry into the accounting
profession which included the following topics:
•
•
•

Current Trends
Collaborative Responses
Profession Efforts

B. Discussion and Possible Action to Recognize the Mutual Recognition
Agreement Between the Institute of Certified Public Accountants in Ireland
and the United States International Qualifications Appraisal Board.
Ms. Center reported the purpose of this agenda item was to provide the CBA
an opportunity to discuss the Mutual Recognition Agreement of the Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in Ireland and to recognize its members as
having satisfied California’s Uniform Certified Public Accountant Examination
(CPA Exam) requirement upon successful completion of the International
Qualification Examination.
It was moved by Mr. Jacobson and seconded by Ms. Latta to recognize
the Mutual Recognition Agreement between the Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in Ireland and the United States International
Qualifications Appraisal Board as having satisfied the CPA Exam
requirement upon successful completion of the International
Qualification Examination.
Yes: Ms. Corrigan, Mr. Jacobson, Ms. Latta, Ms. Molina Lopez,
Ms. Owens, Mr. Pe, Mr. Rosenbaum, Ms. Salazar, Mr. Savoy, Ms. Tu, and
Ms. Ward.
No: None.
Abstain: None.
Absent: Ms. Hinds, Ms. León, and Ms. Robinson.
The motion passed.
C. Department of Consumer Affairs Director’s Report on Departmental Activities.
Ms. Cruz Jones provided a report on departmental activities which included
the following:
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•

•

•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

III.

Governor Newsom signed Senate Bill (SB) 189 on June 30, 2022
reinstituting the remote meeting provisions of the Bagley-Keene Open
Meeting Act through July 1, 2023 which were put into place during the
pandemic
DCA requested Boards and Bureaus continue to complete the Open
Meeting Survey to track the costs and attendance for all of DCA’s
board and bureaus’ meetings to capture the benefits of conducting
remote meetings as allowed under the prior executive order
DCA reminded Boards and Bureaus to follow current safety measures
and best practices when holding in-person meetings
Prior to meeting in-person or at a remote location, members are
required to submit vaccination verification to DCA’s Office of Human
Resources or be subject to Covid-19 testing
DCA held a Brown Bag Meeting with Executive Officers and Bureau
Chiefs to roll out changes to DCA’s regulation development and
approval process
Announcement that Nicole Le was hired as the Deputy Director of
DCA’s Office of Administrative Services
Board and Bureau Relations was experiencing a transition in coverage
as Carrie Holmes, Deputy Director of Board and Bureau Relations had
left DCA effective May 13, 2022 and Brianna Miller accepted another
position and would be leaving her role on June 10, 2022. During the
transition period, DCA’s Executive Office and Board and Bureau
Relations would continue to ensure continuity of services to the boards
and bureaus
The State Controller’s Office would have a delay in processing and
approving travel expense claims until the end of July due to the setting
up of the new fiscal year’s budget in the FI$Cal system
DCA was scheduled to hold its summer Board Leadership meeting on
July 26, 2022, which would provide an opportunity for leadership to
discuss important and emerging issues as a group
Reminder that all appointed/reappointed members would need to
attend the Board Member Orientation Training (BMOT) within one year
of appointment/reappointment. The remaining training for 2022 was
scheduled to be held on October 12, 2022 via WebEx

Report of the Vice President.
A. Recommendations for Appointment(s)/Reappointment(s) to the Enforcement
Advisory Committee.
It was moved by Ms. Salazar and seconded by Ms. Tu to reappoint Kathy
A. Johnson, CPA and Mehrnaz “Nasi” Raissian, CPA to the Enforcement
Advisory Committee.
Yes: Ms. Corrigan, Mr. Jacobson, Ms. Latta, Ms. Molina Lopez,
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Ms. Owens, Mr. Pe, Mr. Rosenbaum, Ms. Salazar, Mr. Savoy, Ms. Tu, and
Ms. Ward.
No: None.
Abstain: None.
Absent: Ms. Hinds, Ms. León, and Ms. Robinson.
The motion passed.
B. Recommendations for Appointment(s)/Reappointment(s) to the Qualifications
Committee.
There was no report on this agenda item.
C. Recommendations for Appointment(s)/Reappointment(s) to the Peer Review
Oversight Committee.
There was no report on this agenda item.
IV.

Report of the Secretary/Treasurer.
A. Update on the California Board of Accountancy’s Budget.
Ms. Tu provided an update of the CBA’s budget. Governor Newsom signed
the budget on June 30, 2022 and the CBA’s budget authority for fiscal year
2022-23 was finalized at $17,898,000.
Ms. Tu noted augmentations in late May increased last fiscal year’s budget
authority by $7,000 resulting in a final budget of $18,084,000. The
augmentations were in the categories of DCA Pro Rata and Personnel
Services.

V.

Report of the Executive Officer.
A. Presentation Regarding California Board of Accountancy Oversight of the
Uniform Certified Public Accountant Examination Prometric Testing Facilities.
Mr. Ibarra reported the purpose of this agenda item was to provide
information and to seek interest from CBA committee members to participate
in oversight activities of the CPA Exam Prometric Testing facilities.
B. Report of the Administration Division.
Mr. Ibarra provided an overview of this agenda item.
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C. Update on the California Board of Accountancy’s Communications and
Outreach.
Mr. Ibarra provided an overview of this agenda item.
VI.

Petition Hearing.
A. Hamid Kabani, CPA 58074/Kabani & Company, Inc., COR 4710 – Petition for
Reinstatement of Surrendered Certificates.
The CBA heard Hamid Kabani’s petition for reinstatement of surrendered
certificates.

VII.

Closed Session: Pursuant to Government Code Section 11126(c)(3), the
California Board of Accountancy will Convene into Closed Session to Deliberate
on the Petition.

VIII.

Report on the Enforcement Advisory Committee, Qualifications Committee, and
Peer Review Oversight Committee.
A. Enforcement Advisory Committee.
1. Report of the July 7, 2022 Enforcement Advisory Committee Meeting.
Mr. Aguilera reported the EAC conducted a meeting on July 7, 2022.
During the meeting, the EAC held three investigative hearings and
reviewed 60 case files.
2. Approval of the 2023 Enforcement Advisory Committee Meeting Dates.
It was moved by Ms. Tu and seconded by Mr. Rosenbaum to approve
the 2023 Enforcement Advisory Committee meeting dates.
Yes: Ms. Corrigan, Mr. Jacobson, Ms. Latta, Ms. Molina Lopez,
Ms. Owens, Mr. Pe, Mr. Rosenbaum, Ms. Salazar, Mr. Savoy, Ms. Tu,
and Ms. Ward.
No: None.
Abstain: None.
Absent: Ms. Hinds, Ms. León, and Ms. Robinson.
The motion passed.
B. Qualifications Committee.
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There was no report on this agenda item.
C. Peer Review Oversight Committee.
1. Discussion and Approval of the Draft 2022 Peer Review Oversight
Committee Procedures Manual.
Mr. De Lyser reported the purpose of this item was to provide the CBA an
opportunity to discuss and approve the draft 2022 Peer Review Oversight
Committee Procedures Manual.
It was moved by Ms. Tu and seconded by Ms. Corrigan to approve
the draft 2022 Peer Review Oversight Committee Procedures Manual.
Yes: Ms. Corrigan, Mr. Jacobson, Ms. Latta, Ms. Molina Lopez,
Ms. Owens, Mr. Pe, Mr. Rosenbaum, Ms. Salazar, Mr. Savoy, Ms. Tu,
and Ms. Ward.
No: None.
Abstain: None.
Absent: Ms. Hinds, Ms. León, and Ms. Robinson.
The motion passed.
IX.

Report of the Enforcement Chief.
A. Enforcement Activity Report.
Mr. Franzella provided an overview of this agenda item.

X.

Report of the Licensing Chief.
A. Licensing Activity Report.
Mr. Center provided an overview of this agenda item.

XI.

Meeting Minutes.
A. Adoption of the Minutes of the May 19-20, 2022 California Board of
Accountancy Meeting.
B. Acceptance of the Minutes of the September 23, 2021 Enforcement Program
Oversight Committee.
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C. Acceptance of the Minutes of the May 19, 2022 Committee on Professional
Conduct Meeting.
D. Acceptance of the Minutes of the May 19, 2022 Legislative Committee
Meeting.
E. Acceptance of the Minutes of the February 3, 2022 Enforcement Advisory
Committee Meeting.
F. Acceptance of the Minutes of the February 18, 2022 Peer Review Oversight
Committee Meeting.
It was moved by Ms. Latta and seconded by Ms. Salazar to adopt the
minutes of the May 19-20, 2022 CBA meeting and to accept items XI.B.
through XI.F., which included non-substantive edits that were noted
after the minutes were received.
Yes: Ms. Corrigan, Mr. Jacobson, Ms. Latta, Ms. Molina Lopez, Ms.
Owens, Ms. Salazar, Mr. Savoy, and Ms. Tu.
No: None.
Abstain: Mr. Pe, Mr. Rosenbaum and Ms. Ward.
Absent: Ms. Hinds, Ms. León, and Ms. Robinson.
The motion passed.
XII.

Other Business.
A. American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
1. Report on Meetings of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants Attended by a California Board of Accountancy
Representative.
a. Board of Examiners.
Ms. Salazar reported the Board of Examiners met on May 25, 2022
and the meeting focused on the CPA Exam Practice Analysis update
and a review of the exposure draft.
b. State Board Committee.
Ms. Salazar reported the committee met on June 9, 2022 and the
meeting focused on the CPA Exam operation update, CPA Exam
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content update, and some of the more operational aspects of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
B. National Association of State Boards of Accountancy.
1. Report of the National Association of State Boards of Accountancy
Director-at-Large.
There was no report on this agenda item.
2. Report of the National Association of State Boards of Accountancy Pacific
Regional Director.
There was no report on this agenda item.
3. Report on Meetings of the National Association of State Boards of
Accountancy Attended by a California Board of Accountancy Member or
Staff.
a. Continuing Professional Education Committee.
Ms. Salazar reported the Continuing Professional Education (CPE)
Standards Working Group, which is a corollary of the CPE Committee,
met on June 29 and July 13 and discussed the bi-annual review of the
Statement on Standards for CPE Programs and fields of study that
qualify for CPE. The committee will be bringing revised standards to
the CPE Committee and then to the NASBA Board and the AICPA for
review.
b. Computer-Based Test Administration Committee.
Ms. Corrigan reported the committee met three times since the last
CBA meeting to discuss the CPA Exam Evolution process. In June, the
committee, along the Executive Directors Committee, met to review the
CPA Exam Evolution process and issued a recommended policy that
the various jurisdictions might consider implementing. The issue was
concern over CPA candidates being caught in the transition process
and to minimize candidate disruption when the new CPA Exam is
implemented. The committee will continue to monitor the progress and
timing of specific events having to do with the implementation of the
new CPA Exam.
c. Relations With Member Boards Committee.
There was no report on this agenda item.
d. Report of the Western Regional Meeting Held June 7-9, 2022.
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Ms. Corrigan reported NASBA’s Western Regional Meeting was held
June 7-9, 2022 in Colorado Springs, Colorado. The Western Regional
Meeting included the following topics:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
XIII.

Principal place of business and how it was defined
Education rules of various jurisdictions and changes that were
needed in adapting to CPA Evolution
Issues with the CPA Exam candidate pipeline
CPA Exam date of score release versus the date a candidate
sits for the CPA Exam, which varies among jurisdictions
CPA Evolution Update
Anti-Regulation efforts to deregulate licensed professionals
Criminal conviction legislation
Private equity firms acquiring CPA firms and non-CPA
ownership of CPA firms
Cyber security issues
The Environmental, Social, and Governance reporting of climate
issues
United States Department of Labor’s enhanced study of audit
quality and more planned employee benefit plan oversight
Audits being performed under non-AICPA standards and nonCPAs performing audits
Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics (STEM)
legislation to include accounting as part STEM

Report on the Enforcement Program Oversight Committee, Committee on
Professional Conduct, and Legislative Committee.
A. Enforcement Program Oversight Committee.
1. Report of the July 21, 2022 Enforcement Program Oversight Meeting.
2. Overview of the Enforcement Process.
Mr. Pe reported staff provided an overview of the enforcement process
and an overview of the disciplinary guidelines.
3. Overview of the Role and Responsibilities of the Enforcement Advisory
Committee.
Mr. Pe reported Mr. Aguilera presented an overview of the roles and
responsibilities of the EAC.
B. Committee on Professional Conduct.
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1. Report of the July 21, 2022 Committee on Professional Conduct Meeting.
2. Discussion and Possible Action to Approve Legislative Proposals For
Inclusion in the Sunset Review Report to Amend Business and
Professions Code Sections 5018, 5070.1, 5093, 5093(b)(1)(A), 5094, and
5096.21.
Ms. Owens reported staff provided a presentation to approve legislative
proposals for inclusion in the Sunset Review report, including
amendments to the following:
•
•
•
•

Business and Professions Code section 5096.21 to eliminate the
Mobility Stakeholder Group
Business and Professions Code section 5070.1 to grant an
individual with a permanent restricted practice order approval for a
retired status license
Business and Professions Code sections 5018 and 5093(b)(1)(A)
to remove references requiring physical mailings to and from the
CBA
Business and Professions Code section 5093 and 5094 to update
CBA references for educational accreditation agencies consistent
with the Code of Federal Regulations

The CPC recommended the CBA approve the proposed
amendments to Business and Professions Code sections 5018,
5070.1, 5093, 5093(b)(1)(A), 5094, and 5096.21, including any
additional changes the CBA deems necessary and direct staff to
include it as part of its Sunset Review Process.
Yes: Ms. Corrigan, Ms. Latta, Ms. Molina Lopez, Ms. Owens, Mr. Pe,
Mr. Rosenbaum, Ms. Salazar, Mr. Savoy, Ms. Tu, and Ms. Ward.
No: None.
Abstain: Mr. Jacobson.
Absent: Ms. Hinds, Ms. León, and Ms. Robinson.
The motion passed.
3. Discussion of Policy Issues Regarding Early Entry to Sit for the Uniform
Certified Public Accountant Examination.
Ms. Owens reported the CPC engaged in a policy conversation to inform
the drafting of a rulemaking package pertaining to early entry for the CPA
Exam and concurs with staff recommendations.
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The CPC recommended the CBA:
Direct staff to initiate conversations with DCA legal counsel
regarding the drafting of a rulemaking package related to early entry
to the CPA Exam that includes:
•
•
•

Requirement to submit a certificate of enrollment
documenting enrollment, degree conferral (or expected
conferral date), and courses that are in process
Requirement to provide transcripts and/or foreign credential
evaluations documenting completed coursework and degree
conferral (if applicable) at the time of early entry application
Include the revocation of exam credits for applicants unless
they can provide evidence substantiating a reason consistent
with acceptable reasons outlined in CCR section 7.1

Yes: Ms. Corrigan, Mr. Jacobson, Ms. Latta, Ms. Molina Lopez,
Ms. Owens, Mr. Pe, Mr. Rosenbaum, Ms. Salazar, Mr. Savoy, Ms. Tu,
and Ms. Ward.
No: None.
Abstain: None.
Absent: Ms. Hinds, Ms. León, and Ms. Robinson.
The motion passed.
C. Legislative Committee.
1. Report of the July 21, 2022 Legislative Committee Meeting.
2. California Board of Accountancy 2022 Legislative Tracking Chart, 2022
Legislative Calendar, and Considerations for Taking Positions on
Legislation.
This was a written report only.
The LC did not take any action on this item.
3. Update, Discussion, and Possible Action on Legislation Which the
California Board of Accountancy Has Taken a Position.
a. Assembly Bill 646 – Department of Consumer Affairs: Boards:
Expunged Convictions.

20597

The LC did not take any action on this item. The CBA maintained its
Oppose, Unless Amended position.
b. Assembly Bill 1604 – The Upward Mobility Act of 2022: Boards and
Commissions: Civil Service: Examinations: Classifications.
The LC did not take any action on this item. The CBA maintained its
Watch position.
c. Assembly Bill 1662 – Licensing Boards: Disqualification from
Licensure: Criminal Conviction.
The LC did not take any action on this item. The CBA maintained its
Watch position.
d. Assembly Bill 1733 – State Bodies: Open Meetings.
The LC did not take any action on this item. The CBA maintained its
Support position.
e. Senate Bill 731 – Open Meetings: Remote Participation.
Mr. Jacobson reported Senate Bill (SB) 731 would require the
Department of Justice to expand the provisions regarding criminal
record relief, without requiring a petition or motion by a party for that
relief, to include an arrest and a conviction of a felony, if specified
conditions are met. The CBA had previously adopted a Watch position
on SB 731.
Mr. Jacobson stated staff recommended the CBA change its position
to Oppose, Unless Amended. Staff are concerned that this bill would
limit the CBA’s ability to consider financial felony crime convictions for
CPA licensure applicants. Dan Jacobson noted staff recommended
the CBA request the author ensure, or amend SB 731, if necessary, to
enable the CBA to continue its present authority to look at matters
beyond the seven-year period that is referenced in Business and
Professions Code section 480(a)(1).
The LC recommended the CBA change its position on SB 731
from Watch to Oppose, Unless Amended.
Yes: Ms. Corrigan, Mr. Jacobson, Ms. Latta, Ms. Molina Lopez,
Ms. Owens, Mr. Pe, Mr. Rosenbaum, Ms. Salazar, Mr. Savoy,
Ms. Tu, and Ms. Ward.
No: None.
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Abstain: None.
Absent: Ms. Hinds, Ms. León, and Ms. Robinson.
The motion passed.
f. Senate Bill 1387 – Gubernatorial Appointments: Report.
The LC did not take any action on this item. The CBA maintained its
Support position.
g. Senate Bill 1443 – The Department of Consumer Affairs.
The LC did not take any action on this item. The CBA maintained its
Support position.
4. Review and Possible Consideration of Positions on Legislation the
California Board of Accountancy is Monitoring.
Mr. Jacobson noted several bills previously on this list were removed as
they failed to meet legislative deadlines. Staff will continue to monitor the
bills listed through August 31, which is the last day for the Legislature to
pass bills.
No action was taken on this agenda item.
XIV.

Closing Business.
A. Agenda Items for Future California Board of Accountancy Meetings.
There were no items requested for future meetings.

XV.

Closed Session: Pursuant to Government Code Section 11126(e), the California
Board of Accountancy Will Convene into Closed Session to Receive Advice From
Legal Counsel on Litigation.
A. Lanfeng Zhao and ELZ Accountancy Corporation v. California Board of
Accountancy, Los Angeles Superior Court, Case No. 18STCP02951.
B. Michael D. Robinson v. California Board of Accountancy, San Francisco
County Superior Court, Case No. CPF-19-516602.

XVI.

Closed Session: Pursuant to Government Code Section 11126(c)(3), the
California Board of Accountancy Will Convene into Closed Session to Deliberate
on Enforcement Matters.
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There being no further business to conduct, President Savoy adjourned the meeting at
4:28 p.m. on Thursday, July 21, 2022.

__________________________________Michael M. Savoy, CPA, President

__________________________________Yen C. Tu, Secretary/Treasurer
Rebecca Reed, Board Relations Analyst, and Patti Bowers, Executive Officer, prepared
the CBA meeting minutes. If you have any questions, please call (916) 561-1718.
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CPC Item II.
CBA Item XI.B.
September 22-23, 2022
DRAFT
DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS
CALIFORNIA BOARD OF ACCOUNTANCY
MINUTES OF THE
July 21, 2022
COMMITTEE ON PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT MEETING
California Board of Accountancy
2450 Venture Oaks Way, Suite 420
Sacramento, CA 95833
Telephone: (916) 263-3680
Call to Order, Roll Call, Establishment of Quorum, and Opening Remarks.
Committee on Professional Conduct (CPC) Chair Zuhdia “Dee Dee” Owens, CPA, called
the meeting to order at 9:45 a.m. on Thursday, July 21, 2022. The CPC held the meeting
in person with the ability to attend via teleconference.
Chair Owens read the following into the record:
The CBA’s mission is to protect consumers by ensuring only qualified licensees
practice public accountancy in accordance with established professional
standards. This mission is derived from the statutory requirement that protection
of the public shall be the highest priority for the California Board of Accountancy in
exercising its licensing, regulatory, and disciplinary functions. Whenever the
protection of the public is inconsistent with other interests sought to be promoted,
the protection of the public shall be paramount.
CPC Members
Zuhdia “Dee Dee” Owens, CPA, Chair
Karriann Farrell Hinds, Esq., Vice Chair
Nancy J. Corrigan, CPA
Ariel Pe
Joseph Rosenbaum, CPA
Yen C. Tu
Evangeline Ward

July 21,2022
9:45 a.m. to 10:09 a.m.
Absent
9:45 a.m. to 10:09 a.m.
9:45 a.m. to 10:09 a.m.
9:45 a.m. to 10:09 a.m.
9:45 a.m. to 10:09 a.m.
9:45 a.m. to 10:09 a.m.

CBA Members Observing
Michael M. Savoy, CPA, President
Katrina L. Salazar, CPA, Vice President
Dan Jacobson, Esq.
Kristian Latta, CPA
Luz Molina Lopez
CBA Committee Chairs and Members Observing
Jeffrey De Lyser, CPA, Chair, Peer Review Oversight Committee (PROC)
Laura Ross, Vice Chair, PROC
Kathy A. Johnson, CPA, Vice Chair, Enforcement Advisory Committee
Staff and Legal Counsel
Patti Bowers, Executive Officer
Dominic Franzella, Chief, Enforcement Division
Michelle Center, Chief, Licensing Division
Patrick Ibarra, Information and Planning Officer
Helen Geoffroy, Legal Counsel, Department of Consumer Affairs (DCA)
Elizabeth Coronel, Strategic Business Analyst, DCA
Emmanuel Estacio, Information Technology (IT) Staff
Theodore Drcar, Deputy Attorney General (DAG), Department of Justice (DOJ)
Matt Woodcheke, DCA, Manager, Office of Public Affairs
Mary Kathryn Jones, Staff Services Manager, DCA
Amir Larian, IT Staff
Rebecca Reed, Board Relations Analyst
Peter Renevitz, Legislative Analyst
Wayne Wilson, Information Analyst
Other Participants
Jason Fox, Vice President of Government Relations, California Society of Certified
Public Accountants (CalCPA)
Denise Froemming, CPA, President and Chief Executive Officer, CalCPA
Pat Joyce, The Accounting Coalition
I. Public Comments for items not on the Agenda.
No public comments were received.
II. Approve Minutes of the May 19, 2022 Committee on Professional Conduct Meeting.
It was moved by Mr. Pe and seconded by Ms. Corrigan to adopt the minutes of the
May 19, 2022 CPC meeting.
Yes: Ms. Corrigan, Ms. Owens, Mr. Rosenbaum, Mr. Pe, Ms. Tu, Ms. Ward
No: None.
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Absent: Ms. Hinds
Abstain: None.
The motion passed.
III. Discussion and Possible Action to Approve Legislative Proposals For Inclusion in the
Sunset Review Report to Amend Business and Professions Code Sections 5018,
5070.1, 5093, 5093(b)(1)(A), 5094, and 5096.21 (Patrick Ibarra, Information and
Planning Officer).
Mr. Ibarra provided an overview of the agenda item to approve legislative proposals for
inclusion in the Sunset Review Report to amend Business and Professions Code
sections 5018, 5070.1, 5093, 5093(b)(1)(A), 5094, and 5096.21. Mr. Ibarra stated the
New Issues section of the Sunset Review Report provides an opportunity for the CBA to
inform the Sunset Review Committee of solutions to issues identified by the CBA, issues
identified from prior Sunset Reviews that have not been addressed, and issues raised by
the current Sunset Committee or other legislative committees.
It was moved by Ms. Tu and seconded by Mr. Pe to approve the proposed
amendments to BPC sections 5018, 5070.1, 5093, 5093(b)(1)(A), 5094, and 5096.21,
including any additional changes the CBA deems necessary and direct staff to
include it as part of its Sunset Review Process:
•
•
•
•

Business and Professions Code section 5096.21 to eliminate the Mobility
Stakeholder Group.
Business and Professions Code section 5070.1 to grant an individual with a
permanent restricted practice order approval for a retired status license.
Business and Professions Code sections 5018 and 5093(b)(1)(A) to remove
references requiring physical mailings to and from the CBA.
Business and Professions Code section 5093 and 5094 to update CBA
references for educational accreditation agencies consistent with the Code
of Federal Regulations.

Yes: Ms. Owens, Ms. Corrigan, Ms. Rosenbaum, Mr. Pe, Ms. Tu, Ms. Ward
No: None.
Absent: Ms. Hinds
Abstain: None.
The motion passed.
IV. Discussion of Policy Issues Regarding Early Entry to Sit for the Uniform Certified Public
Accountant Examination. (Michelle Center, Chief, Licensing Division).
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Ms. Center provided an overview of the agenda item to engage in a policy discussion to
inform the drafting of a rulemaking package pertaining to early entry for the Uniform CPA
Examination (CPA Exam). She stated it is important to consider the goal of allowing
applicants to start their CPA Exam prior to meeting the educational requirements along
with the responsibility to maintain examination security. She clarified that these policies
for those that meet the requirements will reduce the exposure of test items to test takers
who will not qualify. These changes will also reduce the need for the CBA to revoke CPA
Exam credit for passed sections. Ms. Center also recommended that the future
rulemaking package include the revocation of exam credits for applicants that do not
submit satisfactory evidence of meeting the education requirements unless they can
provide evidence substantiating a reason consistent with those outlined in CCR section
7.1.
It was moved by Ms. Tu and seconded by Mr. Rosenbaum to direct staff to initiate
conversations with the Department of Consumer Affairs legal counsel regarding
the drafting of a rulemaking package related to early entry to the CPA Exam that
includes:
•
•
•

Requirement to submit a certificate of enrollment documenting enrollment,
degree conferral (or expected conferral date), and courses that are in
process.
Requirement to provide transcripts and/or foreign credential evaluations
documenting completed coursework and degree conferral (if applicable) at
the time of early entry application.
Include the revocation of exam credits for applicants unless they can
provide evidence substantiating a reason consistent with acceptable
reasons outlined in CCR section 7.1.

Yes: Ms. Owens, Ms. Corrigan, Mr. Rosenbaum, Mr. Pe, Ms. Tu, Ms. Ward
No: None.
Absent: Ms. Hinds
Abstain: None.
The motion passed.
IV. Agenda Items for Future CPC Meetings.
None.
There being no further business to be conducted, Ms. Owens adjourned the meeting at
10:09 a.m. on Thursday, July 21, 2022.
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CBA Item XI.D.
September 22-23, 2022

DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS
CALIFORNIA BOARD OF ACCOUNTANCY
MINUTES OF THE
January 26, 2022
QUALIFICATIONS COMMITTEE
TELECONFERENCE MEETING
Call to Order, Roll Call, Establishment of Quorum, and Opening Remarks.
Michael Williams, CPA, Qualifications Committee (QC) Chair, called to order the
regularly scheduled meeting of the California Board of Accountancy (CBA) QC at 10:05
a.m. on January 26, 2022. Pursuant to the provisions of Governor Gavin Newsom’s
Executive Order extending Government Code section 11133, N-1-22, dated January 5,
2022, a physical meeting location is not being provided.
Chair Williams read the following into the record:
The CBA’s mission is to protect consumers by ensuring only qualified licensees
practice public accountancy in accordance with established professional
standards. This mission is derived from the statutory requirement that protection
of the public shall be the highest priority for the California Board of Accountancy
in exercising its licensing, regulatory, and disciplinary functions. Whenever the
protection of the public is inconsistent with other interests sought to be promoted,
the protection of the public shall be paramount.
Members
Michael L. Willams, CPA, Chair
Timothy T. Jones, CPA, Vice-Chair
Jeffrey T. Baginski, CPA
Pradeep Budhiraja, CPA
Brad Holsworth, CPA
Angela Honzik, CPA
Hanzhao Meng, CPA
José Palma, CPA
Nasi Raissian, CPA
Kimberly Sugiyama, CPA

January 26, 2022
10:05 a.m. – 10:32 a.m.
10:05 a.m. – 10:32 a.m.
Absent
10:05 a.m. – 10:32 a.m.
10:05 a.m. – 10:32 a.m.
10:05 a.m. – 10:32 a.m.
10:05 a.m. – 10:32 a.m.
10:05 a.m. – 10:32 a.m.
10:05 a.m. – 10:32 a.m.
Absent

CBA Member
Yen Tu
CBA Staff and Other Participants
Michelle Center, Licensing Chief
Suzanne Gracia, Examination Unit Manager
Michael Lieberman, Initial Licensing Unit Manager
Jennifer Huddy, Licensing Coordinator
Diane Edwards, Licensing Analyst
Amir Larian, Information Technology Associate
Elizabeth Coronel, Department of Consumer Affairs
I. Report of the Committee Chair (Michael Williams, CPA).
A. Approval of the October 20, 2021, Qualifications Committee Minutes.
It was moved by Ms. Raissian and seconded by Mr. Palma to approve the
minutes of the October 20, 2021 QC meeting.
Yes: Mr. Williams, Mr. Jones, Mr. Holsworth, Ms. Meng, Mr. Palma, and Ms.
Raissian.
No: None.
Abstain: Mr. Budhiraja and Ms. Honzik.
Absent: Mr. Baginski and Ms. Sugiyama.
There were no public comments.
The motion passed.
II. Report of the California Board of Accountancy Liaison (Yen Tu).
A. Report on the November 18-19, 2021 and January 20-21, 2022 California Board of
Accountancy Meetings.
CBA Member, Yen Tu, provided an update to the QC members.
Member Tu noted the CBA will hold its next meeting via video conference on March
24-25, 2022.
There were no public comments.
III. Report of the Licensing Chief.
A. Licensing Activity Report (Michelle Center, Licensing Chief).
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Ms. Center provided an overview of the Licensing Activity Report (LAR) covering
July 1, 2021 through September 30, 2021.
There were no public comments.
B. Report on Qualifications Committee Subcommittee Meetings (Michelle Center,
Licensing Chief).
Ms. Center summarized the outcomes of the virtual subcommittee meetings on
October 20, 2021 and December 8, 2021.
There were no public comments.
C. Report on the Business Modernization Project (Suzanne Gracia, Examination Unit
Manager).
Examination Unit Manager and Business Modernization Project (Biz Mod) Subject
Matter Expert, Ms. Gracia provided an update on the activities related to Biz Mod.
There were no public comments.
IV. Public Comment for Items Not on the Agenda.
Having no further business to conduct, the QC meeting adjourned at 10:32 a.m.

___________________________________
Michael Williams, CPA, Chair
Qualifications Committee
Prepared by: Katrina Martinez, Licensing Coordinator
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CBA Item XII.B.3.b.
September 22-23, 2022
Report of the Computer Based Test Administration Committee
Written Report Only – Prepared by Nancy J. Corrigan, CPA
Mission of the Computer Based Test Administration Committee (CBT) – Promote
effective and efficient administration and operation of the Uniform CPA
Examination.
The CBT met on July 27, 2022 in a joint meeting with the Standards-Setting and
Professional Trends Advisory Committee (SSPTAC) to review the CPA examination
Exposure Draft (ED) and provided comments for National Association of State Boards
of Accountancy (NASBA) to provide in response to the ED. Accountancy boards,
educators, practitioners and other stakeholders have until September 30, 2022 to
provide such comments.
The CBT met on August 2, 2022 to discuss possible future use of digital governmentissued identification for candidates to use upon entering CPA examination testing
centers. More information was needed in order for the CBT to thoroughly consider this
matter, understanding that digital identification is starting to be used for other
applications. At this meeting, we received an update on the responses from State
Boards/Jurisdictions regarding the CPA Evolution Transition Credit Policy and the letter
issued on June 1, 2022. Many State Boards/Jurisdictions are generally accepting and
adopting the policy and others are continuing to consider it. CBT will continue to monitor
this. CBT also reviewed and adopted for recommendation to the Uniform Accountancy
Act Committee (UAA) universal terminology in connection with candidate’s notice to sit
in connection with the transition to the new CPA examination in 2024. That terminology
will be issued to State Boards/Jurisdictions upon its final acceptance.
The CBT met on August 31, 2022 and received an update on the CPA Evolution
Transition Credit Policy, and were informed that twenty-six State Boards/Jurisdictions
had adopted it as presented in the letter dated June 1, 2022 with four State
Boards/Jurisdictions reporting that their adoption was pending. Many State
Boards/Jurisdictions will be considering the adoption of the policy at upcoming board
meetings. We further considered the possible future use of digital government-issued
identification for candidates to use upon entering CPA examination testing centers, and
the CBT decided that this is incompatible for such use at this time and any further effort
on this topic was discontinued by the CBT.

CBA Item XII.B.4.
September 22-23, 2022

Discussion and Approval of Staff Responses to the National Association of State
Boards of Accountancy’s Focus Questions
Presented by: Deanne Pearce, Assistant Executive Officer
Purpose of the Item

The purpose of this agenda item is to provide the California Board of Accountancy
(CBA) an opportunity to review and comment on proposed responses to the National
Association of State Boards of Accountancy (NASBA) Regional Director’s Focus
Questions (Attachment).

Consumer Protection Objectives

NASBA assists the CBA with achieving its mission to protect consumers by creating a
forum for state boards of accountancy to discuss relevant issues, ideas, and opinions,
regarding consumer protection and the accounting profession.

Action(s) Needed

The CBA will be requested to review and approve the proposed responses, including
any edits or additional information members may wish to include.

Background

NASBA has informed staff that it uses the Focus Questions to help NASBA Regional
Directors stay apprised of each state’s policies and procedures and to see where
improvements or adjustments might be made. The eight Regional Directors will review
the Focus Questions during their September regional conference calls and will discuss
responses received during the regional breakout sessions at the NASBA annual
meeting October 30–November 2, 2022, in San Diego, and then present their findings to
NASBA.

Comments

The responses to the NASBA Focus Questions were prepared by staff from the
Enforcement, Licensing, and Administration Divisions. The answers to these focus
questions are due by Monday, October 3, 2022.

Fiscal/Economic Impact Considerations

There are no fiscal/economic impact considerations.
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Recommendation

Staff recommend that the CBA approve the proposed responses, and provide any edits
or additional information members may wish to include.

Attachment

NASBA Focus Questions and Proposed Answers

Attachment

NASBA Regional Directors’ Focus Questions 2022
The input received from our Focus questions is reviewed by all members of NASBA’s
Board of Directors, committee chairs and executive staff and used to guide their actions.
We will be reviewing the questions during our semi-annual regional conference calls in
September, and your responses during our regional breakout sessions at the 115th
Annual Meeting in October.
What is your first and last name?
Patrick Ibarra
What state are you from?
California
CPA Evolution
Has your Board identified any rules that need to be updated, other than education
or examination rules, to implement CPA Evolution? (For example, calculation of
conditional credit on date of score release rather than date of test administration.)
Yes - X
No
Comment (if applicable):
The CBA is actively working on draft regulations that address necessary changes for
the implementation of the Uniform CPA Examination aligned with CPA evolution. It is
anticipated that the draft regulations will include such topics as the exam section
transition policy, extension of current exam credits during transition and the date to
begin calculation of the 18-month credit period.
Are there any areas where NASBA could provide assistance?
Yes - X
No

Comment (if applicable):
NASBA staff have been assisting CBA by providing feedback on draft regulatory
language and answering questions as they arise. The CBA anticipates the need to
continue to work with NASBA staff in this same fashion.
Is your board working with any other organizations in your jurisdiction, such as
state CPA societies, to highlight upcoming changes resulting from CPA
evolution?
Yes - X
No
Comment (if applicable):
The CBA is sharing information about the changes coming due to CPA Evolution in a
variety of ways. In addition to information on the CBA website and social media
channels, the CBA has included discussion of CPA Evolution in multiple outreach
presentations given to university accounting students over the past 18 months. The
CBA also partnered with the California Society of CPAs (CalCPA) for many of these
outreach events, both in the promotion and the production.
The CBA also invited representatives from CalCPA to give a presentation at the July
CBA meeting to discuss the pipeline of new accountants entering the profession. CPA
Evolution was referenced heavily in the presentation.
College & University Outreach
What does your board do and/or plan to do regarding college and university
outreach activities?
Board meetings on campus - X
Coordinated activities with state societies - X
On-campus presentations – X
Other (comment, if applicable):
The CBA maintains relationships with many members of college and university faculty
throughout the state. Partnering with these schools, the CBA has produced or
participated in outreach events for their students, with the goals of promoting the
accounting profession, understanding the requirements to sit for the CPA Exam and
apply for a CPA license, and encouraging them to pursue obtaining a CPA license after
graduation. While all of the outreach events have been virtual for the past two years, a
return to in-person events could be forthcoming.
Principal Place of Business
How do your jurisdiction’s laws and rules differ from the Uniform Accountancy
Act (UAA)* with respect to mobility and principal place of business? (Click to
reference Section 3q of the UAA.)
Answer/Comment:
California defines principal place of business via regulation as follows: “Principal place

of business” shall mean the office location designated by the licensee for the purposes
of practice privilege. Unlike the UAA that expands the definition to the area of
reciprocity, California’s definition is limited to use for purposes of practice
privilege/mobility only.
NASBA Assistance
Are there any issues or concerns that your board would like to notify NASBA
about?
Answer/Comment:
None.
How can NASBA be of assistance to your Board at this time?
Answer/Comment:
NASBA’s Board of Directors would appreciate as much input on the above
questions as possible. How were the responses shown above compiled? Please
check all that apply.
Input only from Board Chair
Input only from Executive Director
Input only from Board Chair and Executive Director
Input from all Board Members and Executive Director
Input from all Board Members
Input from some Board Members
Other:

CPC Item IV.
CBA Item XIII.A.3.
September 22-23, 2022

Discussion and Possible Action to Initiate a Rulemaking to Add California Code of
Regulations, Title 16, Sections 54.3 – Sale or Transfer of Licensee’s Practice and
54.4 – Discontinuance of Licensee’s Practice
Presented by: Dominic Franzella, Chief, Enforcement Division
Purpose of the Item

The purpose of this agenda item is to provide the California Board of Accountancy
(CBA) the opportunity to initiate a rulemaking to adopt regulations regarding the sale,
transfer, or discontinuance of a licensee’s practice.

Consumer Protection Objectives

Consumer protection is enhanced by requiring licensees, when selling, transferring, or
discontinuing a practice, to follow specified procedures regarding notification,
disclosure, retention, and disposal of client records.

Action(s) Needed

The CBA is being asked to review and approve proposed regulatory text, and direct
staff to initiate a rulemaking to adopt regulations regarding the sale, transfer, or
discontinuance of a licensee’s practice.

Background

In November 2015, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA)
Professional Ethics Division released for comment an exposure draft with new and
revised ethical interpretations proposed by the Professional Ethics Executive Committee
(PEEC) of AICPA. The exposure draft that provided guidance related to a licensee’s
obligations concerning the confidentiality and return of client files when the licensee
either transfers, sells, or discontinues their practice, or the licensee acquires a practice.
The CBA reviewed and discussed the AICPA Professional Ethics Division’s exposure
draft. The CBA approved a comment letter (Attachment 1) that was submitted to the
AICPA on April 7, 2016, requesting that it establish an effective date for the
implementation of the proposed changes to the AICPA Code of Professional Conduct
(Code) that would allow the CBA time to amend its regulations to avoid any potential
conflict between the AICPA Code and the California Code of Regulations (CCR).
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After receipt of comment letters and due deliberation at its July 2016 committee
meeting, in October 2016, the PEEC adopted several interpretations from the exposure
draft to the AICPA’s Code (Attachment 2). New Interpretation, 1.400.205 – “Transfer of
Files and Return of Client Records in Sale, Transfer, Discontinuance or Acquisition of a
Practice”, requires an amendment to the CCR.
Revised Interpretation, 1.700.050 – “Disclosing Client Information in Connection With a
Review or Acquisition of the Member’s Practice”, required an amendment to the CBA’s
statutes. This amendment was incorporated in Business and Professions Code (BPC)
section 5063.3(a)(4), effective January 1, 2018.
1.400.205
Section 1.400.205, went into effect on June 30, 2017. When a licensee sells, transfers,
or discontinues all or part of their practice, the licensee should take certain steps to
notify their clients and maintain the confidentiality of any client files the licensee
possesses. In addition, as the “Confidential Client Information Rule” requires that the
licensee obtain consent from a client prior to disclosing any confidential client
information, a licensee who sells or transfers their practice to a successor licensee
would be required to obtain the client’s consent before transferring any client files.
Additionally, despite a licensee taking best efforts, there may be situations in which the
licensee is unsuccessful in contacting a client, in which case, client files should be
retained in a confidential manner. There may also be situations in which the client does
not respond to the licensee’s request for consent to transfer files or to arrange for the
return of client records. In these situations, the licensee may presume that the client
consents to the transfer of client files to a successor licensee if it does not respond to
the licensee within 90 days.
A licensee that discontinues their practice should take certain steps to notify their clients
and maintain the confidentiality of any client files the licensee possesses and make
arrangements to return any client records that the licensee is required to provide to the
client.
California Code of Regulations
At its January 2017 meeting, the CBA approved the proposed regulatory text for CCR,
title 16, sections 54.3 and 54.4 (Attachment 3). CCR section 54.3 identified the steps a
licensee must take to notify, obtain consent, and retain documents when transferring or
returning a client’s files or records, and CCR section 54.4 identified the steps a licensee
must take if they discontinue their practice.
On July 20, 2021, the CBA filed a Notice of Proposed Action (Notice) with the Office of
Administrative Law (OAL) and the Notice was published in OAL’s California Regulatory
Notice Register on July 30, 2021, which began a required 45-day public comment
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period. The Notice was also posted on the CBA website, and an informational letter
outlining the proposed regulatory changes was mailed to CBA licensees.
A public hearing to discuss the proposed regulations was held on September 16, 2021;
however, as a result of a mailing issue regarding the letter sent to CBA licensees, the
CBA could not be assured that all licensees received proper notice of the hearing.
Therefore, CBA staff took steps to initiate another mailing and conduct a second public
hearing. The second public hearing was held on January 6, 2022. During the public
comment periods, the CBA received comments from over 70 individuals, with various
concerns regarding the proposed regulations. The comments included:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

General questions with the rulemaking
Objection to the seven-year record retention period
Method of notification
Concerns with the 90-day notice period to wait for clients’ objections
Party responsible for providing notice
Definitions of various terms
Concern regarding notice to clients impacting value of practice
General objections

At its January 2022 meeting, the CBA approved a motion to withdraw the initial
rulemaking package for the proposed adoption of CCR sections 54.3 and 54.4, in order
to allow staff time to evaluate and give proper consideration to the comments received,
and to work with the California Society of CPAs (CalCPA) and other stakeholders in
addressing the feedback and ensure the final regulatory text provides an effective
framework for the sale, transfer, or discontinuance of a licensee’s practice.
The CBA filed a Notice of Decision Not to Proceed with OAL on February 4, 2022,
which was published in OAL’s California Regulatory Notice Register on February 18,
2022.

Comments

Since the withdraw of the rulemaking package, staff have been working in collaboration
with the Department of Consumer Affairs (DCA) to revise the proposed regulatory
language in an effort to ensure the final regulatory text addresses the feedback
received, and provides an effective framework for the sale, transfer, or discontinuance
of a licensee’s practice. Additionally, staff discussed the proposed changes with
CalCPA.
California Code of Regulations Proposed Language
Staff are proposing changes to the original proposed regulatory text that was approved
by the CBA at its January 2017 meeting. The 2017 text is noted in single underline and
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proposed changes are noted in double underline and double strikethrough in
Attachment 4. As the CBA is being asked to initiate a rulemaking based on the newly
developed regulatory text, Attachment 5 includes the final proposed regulatory text in
single underline, which would be the basis for the new rulemaking.
The proposed regulatory text addresses many of the comments received during the
comment periods for the previous rulemaking package and incorporates changes to
remain consistent with the language in the AICPA Code. The changes include the
following:
•
•

•
•
•

•
•

Removed the term “files” throughout the text, as the CBA’s existing regulatory
terminology considers “records”, as set forth in CCR sections 68 and 68.1, to
include documents that the AICPA would refer to as “files”.
CCR sections 54.3, subsection (a), and 54.4, subsection (a), were modified to
allow licensees to send a written notice regarding the sale, transfer, or
discontinuance of the practice by various forms of communication rather than
limiting the requirement to first-class mail.
CCR section 54.3, subsection (a), was modified to allow licensees the ability to
keep the notice of sale or transfer of the practice in either digital or paper format.
CCR section 54.3, subsection (a), was amended to reduce the time a licensee
must retain the notice of sale or transfer of the practice and client’s consent or
objection from seven to four years.
CCR sections 54.3, subsection (d), and 54.4, subsection (b), were amended to
reduce how long a licensee must retain client files from the date of sale, transfer,
or discontinuance of the licensee’s practice from seven to four years, or if the
client’s files include audit documentation as defined in section 68.2, for the time
period set by section 68.3, whichever is longer.
CCR sections 54.3, subsection (f), and 54.4, subsection (d) were added to define
“electronic transmission”.
CCR sections 54.3, subsection (g), and 54.4, subsection (e) were added to clarify
what the CBA considers “client records”.

CalCPA Suggestions
CalCPA provided a suggestion related to the proposed regulatory language. The
suggestion is to replace “successor licensee” with “another person, firm, or entity
(successor firm),” as the language would be consistent with language in the AICPA
Code.
Staff addressed CalCPA’s feedback by updating the proposed regulatory language to
replace “successor licensee” with “another person, as defined in section 5035 of the
Business and Professions Code.”
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Per BPC section 5035, “‘Person’ includes individual, partnership, firm, association,
limited liability company, or corporation, unless otherwise provided.” Staff, in
consultation with DCA Legal Office, determined that this existing regulatory definition of
“person” was sufficient to address CalCPA’s concerns.
Additionally, CalCPA noted the AICPA Code and the proposed regulatory language do
not address the sale, transfer, or discontinuance of a licensee’s practice due to
unplanned events (e.g., illness, death). At this time, staff plan to explore options on how
to address this issue and bring the matter back to the CBA for discussion at a future
meeting.
Notification to Licensees
Pursuant to BPC section 5018, the CBA is required to mail all licensees a copy of the
proposed changes to the rules of professional conduct at least 30 days prior to the date
named for the public hearing. Staff will work with DCA to ensure all licensees receive a
copy of proposed language as required.

Fiscal/Economic Impact Considerations

There are no fiscal/economic impact considerations.

Recommendation

Staff recommend that the CBA make a motion to:
Approve the proposed regulatory text for sections 54.3 and 54.4 as presented in
Attachment 5, direct staff to submit the text to the Director of the Department of
Consumer Affairs and to the Business, Consumer Services, and Housing Agency for
review, and if no adverse comments are received, authorize the Executive Officer to
take all steps necessary to initiate the rulemaking process, make any non-substantive
changes to the package, and set the matter for a hearing. If no adverse comments are
received during the 45-day comment period or during the public hearing, authorize the
Executive Officer to take all steps necessary to complete the rulemaking and adopt the
proposed regulations at sections 54.3 and 54.4 as noticed.

Attachments

1. CBA Comment Letter to AICPA Professional Ethics Division
2. AICPA Code of Professional Conduct, New and Revised Ethical Interpretations, October
2016
3. Previously adopted (2017) proposed regulatory text for CCR sections 54.3 and 54.4
4. Proposed regulatory text for CCR sections 54.3 and 54.4 with changes to the proposed
language originally adopted by the CBA in 2017 noted in double strikethrough and double
underline
5. Proposed regulatory text for CCR sections 54.3 and 54.4 in single underline
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Attachment 1

April 7, 2016
Lisa A Snyder, Director of the Professional Ethics Division
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA)
RE: AICPA Professional Ethics Division proposed Omnibus Proposal, November
25, 2015
Dear Ms. Snyder:
On behalf of the California Board of Accountancy (CBA), I am pleased to submii
our response on the exposure draft regarding the Omnibus Proposal of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) Professional Ethics
Division proposing revisions to the Code of Professional Conduct Interpretations,
dated November 25, 2015.
Upon release of the final revisions to the Code of Professional Conduct, the CBA
will determine if any changes may be required to CBA Regulations. If any
regulatory changes are required, the approximate timeframe for implementation
is 12 to 18 months.
The CBA currently requires written notification of commissions and fees to a
licensee's clients. Title 16, California Code of Regulations (CBA Regulations)
section 56(c) requires written disclosure on letter head of the licensed firm or
signed by the licensee.
The CBA supports transparency and protection of confidential information. CBA
Regulations section 54.1 prohibits disclosure of confidential information. CBA
Regulation section 54.1 (a)(4) provides an exception to prohibited disclosure of
confidential information made by a licensee or licensee's duly authorized
representative to another licensee in connection with a proposed sale or merger
of the licensee's professional practice.

Lisa A. Snyder
April 7, 2016
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CBA Regulation section 58 requires licensees to comply with all applicable
professional standards; should the proposed interpretations become final,
licensees will be required to comply with the proposed professional standards,
and current CBA Regulations, which may be in conflict with professional
standards. Some of the areas of the Exposure Draft that may require expansion
of exemptions in the CBA regulations are:
• Notification in writing of the sale or transfer of a licensee's practice
• Require arrangements are made to return any client records that the
licensee is required to provide to the client
• In the case of a discontinuance of a licensee's practice without a sale or
transfer of the practice to a successor firm, the licensee should:
o Notify each client in writing
o Make arrangements to return clients records
• Ensure the acquiring practice is satisfied the selling firm (predecessor
firm) has notified all clients of the sale or transfer
As a result of the 12 to 18 month timeframe to implement new regulations, the
CBA requests that the AICPA establish an effective date for the implementation
of the proposed changes to the Professional Code of Conduct at least two years
from the release of the final exposure draft in order to allow the CBA time to
revise its regulations. If implementation is not delayed, a conflict may be created
for California licensees between following the Professional Code of Conduct and
CBA Regulations.
The CBA appreciates the opportunity to respond to this exposure draft and your
continued efforts to refine professional standards while striving to enhance
protection of consumers.
Sincerely,

Katrina L. Salazar, CPA
President
c: Members, California Board of Accountancy
Patti Bowers, Executive Officer

Attachment 2

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
Code of Professional Conduct

New and Revised Ethical Interpretations promulgated by the
Executive Committee of the
Professional Ethics Division of AICPA
October 2016

THE NEW AND REVISED INTERPREATIONS CONTAINED IN THIS DOCUMENT ARE
EFFECTIVE ON OCTOBER 31, 2016 UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED. THE TECHNCIAL
CORRECTIONS ARE EFFECTIVE IMMEDIATELY.
Ethics interpretations are promulgated by the executive committee of the Professional Ethics
Division to provide guidelines about the scope and application of the rules but are not intended to
limit such scope or application. Publication in the Journal of Accountancy constitutes notice to
members. A member who departs from such guidelines shall have the burden of justifying such
departure in any disciplinary hearing.
The Professional Ethics Executive Committee (PEEC) has adopted the following:




New interpretation “Transfer of Files and Return of Client Records in Sale, Transfer,
Discontinuance or Acquisition of a Practice” (ET sec. 1.400.205) 1 under the “Acts
Discreditable Rule” (ET sec. 1.400.001)
New interpretation “Disclosure of Commissions and Referral Fees” (ET sec. 1.520.080)
under the “Commissions and Referral Fees Rule” (ET sec. 1.520.001).
Revised interpretation “Disclosing Client Information in Connection With a Review or
Acquisition of the Member’s Practice” (ET sec. 1.700.050) under the “Confidential Client
Information Rule” (ET sec. 1.700.001)

Additionally, PEEC has added cross references to a nonauthoritative question and answer to the
“Compliance with Standards Rule” (ET sec. 1.310.001 and 2.310.001) and made a technical
correction to the “Conflicts of Interest for Members in Public Practice” interpretation under the
“Integrity and Objectivity Rule” (ET sec. 1.110.010).

1

All ET sections can be found in AICPA Professional Standards.

Text of New “Transfer of Files and Return of Client Records in Sale, Transfer,
Discontinuance or Acquisition of a Practice” Interpretation
(Defined terms are hyperlinked and italicized.)
1.400.205 Transfer of Files and Return of Client Records in Sale, Transfer,
Discontinuance or Acquisition of a Practice
Sale or Transfer of Member’s Practice
.01 A member or member’s firm (member) that sells or transfers all or part of the
member’s practice to another person, firm, or entity (successor firm) and will no
longer retain any ownership in the practice should do all of the following:
a. Submit a written request to each client subject to the sale or transfer,
requesting the client’s consent to transfer its files to the successor firm and,
notify the client that its consent may be presumed if it does not respond to the
member’s request within a period of not less than 90 days, unless prohibited
by law, including but not limited to the rules and regulations of the applicable
state boards of accountancy. The member should not transfer any client files
to the successor firm until either the client’s consent is obtained or the 90
days has lapsed, whichever is shorter. The member is encouraged to retain
evidence of consent, whether obtained from the client or presumed after 90
days.
b. With respect to files not subject to the sale or transfer, make arrangements to
return any client records that the member is required to provide to the client
as set forth in the “Records Request” interpretation [1.400.200] unless the
member and client agree to some other arrangement.
.02 In cases in which the member is unable to contact the client, client files and records
not transferred should be retained in a confidential manner and in accordance with
the firm’s record retention policy or as required by applicable legal or regulatory
requirements, whichever is longer. When practicing before the IRS or other taxing
authorities or regulatory bodies, members should ensure compliance with any
requirements that are more restrictive.
Discontinuation of Member’s Practice
.03 A member who discontinues his or her practice but does not sell or transfer the
practice to a successor firm, should do all of the following:
a. Notify each client in writing of the discontinuation of the practice. The member
is encouraged to retain evidence of notification made to clients. The member
is not required to provide notification to former clients of the firm.
b. Make arrangements to return any client records that the member is required
to provide to the client as set forth in the “Records Request” interpretation
[1.400.200] unless the member and client agree to some other arrangement.
.04 In cases in which the member is unable to contact the client, client files should be
retained in a confidential manner and in accordance with the firm’s record retention
policy or as required by applicable legal or regulatory requirements, whichever is
longer. When practicing before the IRS or other taxing authorities or regulatory
bodies, members should ensure compliance with any requirements that are more
restrictive.
Acquisition of Practice by a Member

.05 A member who acquires all or part of a practice from another person, firm, or entity
(predecessor firm) should be satisfied that all clients of the predecessor firm subject
to the acquisition have, as required in paragraph .01, consented to the member’s
continuation of professional services and retention of any client files or records the
successor firm retains.
.06 A member will be considered in violation of the “Acts Discreditable Rule” [1.400.001]
if the member does not comply with any of the requirements of this interpretation.
Effective Date
.07 This interpretation is effective June 30, 2017. Early implementation is allowed.
Nonauthoritative questions and answers related to form of communication and
transfer of client files to another partner in the firm are available in the FAQ
document at www.aicpa.org/InterestAreas/ProfessionalEthics/Resources/Tools/
DownloadableDocuments/Ethics-General-FAQs.pdf.

Text of Revised “Disclosing Client Information in Connection With a Review or
Acquisition of the Member’s Practice” Interpretation
(Defined terms are hyperlinked and italicized.)
[Additions appear in bold italic and deletions are stricken]
1.700.050 Disclosing Client Information in Connection With a Review or
Acquisition of the Member’s Practice
.01 For purposes of the “Confidential Client Information Rule” [1.700.001], a review of a
member's professional practice includes a review performed in conjunction with a
prospective purchase, sale, or merger of all or part of a member’s practice. Such
reviews may threaten a member's compliance with the “Confidential Client
Information Rule.” To reduce the threat to an acceptable level, a member must take
appropriate precautions (for example, through a written confidentiality agreement
with the prospective purchaser) to help ensure that the prospective purchaser does
not disclose any confidential client information obtained in the course of the review.
.02 Members who perform such reviews shallshould not use to their advantage or
disclose any confidential client information that comes to their attention during the
review. [Prior reference: paragraph .04 of ET section 301]
.03 Members who obtain client files as the result of acquiring all or part of another
member's professional practice should not disclose any confidential client
information contained in such files. Members should refer to the “Transfer of
Files and Return of Client Records in Sale, Transfer Discontinuance or
Acquisition of a Practice” interpretation under the “Acts Discreditable Rule”
[1.400.205] for guidance related to client files obtained through acquiring a
practice.
[See Revision History Table]

Text of New “Disclosure of a Commissions and Referral Fees” Interpretation
(Defined terms are hyperlinked and italicized.)

1.520.080 Disclosure of Commissions and Referral Fees
.01 The member should make the disclosures required by paragraphs .03 and .04 of the
“Commissions and Referral Fees Rule” [1.520.001] in writing.

Effective Date
.02 Effective for commission or a referral fee arrangements entered into on or after
January 31, 2017.

Text of Revised “Compliance With Standards Rules”
[Additions appear in bold italic]

1.310.001

Compliance With Standards Rule
.01 A member who performs auditing, review, compilation, management consulting, tax, or
other professional services shall comply with standards promulgated by bodies
designated by Council.
.02 See appendix A “Council Resolution Designating Bodies to Promulgate Technical
Standards.” [Prior reference: paragraph .01 of ET section 202]

A nonauthoritative question and answer regarding use of standards that have not been
established by a body designated by AICPA Council is available in the FAQ at
www.aicpa.org/InterestAreas/ProfessionalEthics/Resources/Tools/
DownloadableDocuments/Ethics-General-FAQs.pdf.
2.310.001 Compliance With Standards Rule
.01 A member who performs auditing, review, compilation, management consulting, tax, or
other professional services shall comply with standards promulgated by bodies
designated by Council.
.02 See appendix A,“ Council Resolution Designating Bodies to Promulgate Technical
Standards.” [Prior reference: paragraph .01 of ET section 202]
A nonauthoritative question and answer regarding use of standards that have not been
established by a body designated by AICPA Council is available in the FAQ at
www.aicpa.org/InterestAreas/ProfessionalEthics/Resources/Tools/
DownloadableDocuments/Ethics-General-FAQs.pdf.

Technical Correction to Paragraph .04 of the Conflicts of Interest for Members in
Public Practice Interpretation
Edits To Be Made in the October 2016 Update
(Additions Appear In Bold Italics)

.04 The following are examples of situations in which conflicts of interest may arise:
a. Providing corporate finance services to a client seeking to acquire an audit client
of the firm, when the firm has obtained confidential information during the course
of the audit that may be relevant to the transaction
b. Advising two clients at the same time who are competing to acquire the same
company when the advice might be relevant to the parties’ competitive positions
c. Providing services to both a vendor and a purchaser who are clients of the firm in
relation to the same transaction
d. Preparing valuations of assets for two clients who are in an adversarial position
with respect to the same assets
e. Representing two clients at the same time regarding the same matter who are in
a legal dispute with each other, such as during divorce proceedings or the
dissolution of a partnership
f. Providing a report for a licensor on royalties due under a license agreement while
at the same time advising the licensee of the correctness of the amounts payable
under the same license agreement
g. Advising a client to invest in a business in which, for example, the immediate family
member of the member has a financial interest in the business
h. Providing strategic advice to a client on its competitive position while having a joint
venture or similar interest with a competitor of the client
i. Advising a client on the acquisition of a business which the firm is also interested
in acquiring
j. Advising a client on the purchase of a product or service while having a royalty or
commission agreement with one of the potential vendors of that product or service
k. Providing forensic investigation services to a client for the purpose of evaluating or
supporting contemplated litigation against another client of the firm
l. Providing tax or personal financial planning services for several members of a
family whom the member knows to have opposing interests
m. Referring a personal financial planning or tax client to an insurance broker or other
service provider, which refers clients to the member under an exclusive
arrangement
n. A client asks the member to provide tax or personal financial planning
services to its executives, and the services could result in the member
recommending to the executives actions that may be adverse to the
company. [Prior reference: paragraphs .198–.199 of ET section 191]
o. A member serves as a director or an officer of a local United Way or similar
organization that operates as a federated fund-raising organization from
which local charities receive funds. Some of those charities are clients of the
member’s firm. [Prior reference: paragraphs .186–.187 of ET section 191]
p. A member who is an officer, a director, or a shareholder of an entity has
significant influence over the entity, and that entity has a loan to or from a
client of the firm. [Prior reference: paragraphs .220–.221 of ET section 191]

Attachment 3
Proposed CBA Regulations Section 54.3 and 54.4
§ 54.3. Sale or Transfer of Licensee’s Practice.
A licensee that sells or transfers all or part of the licensee’s practice to a successor
licensee and will no longer retain any ownership in the practice shall comply with all of
the following:
(a) send a written notice regarding the sale or transfer of the practice via first class mail
to the last known address of each client that may be subject to the sale or transfer. The
notice shall contain, at a minimum, the following: a request for the client’s consent to
transfer that client’s files or records to the successor licensee and a notice that the
client’s consent will be presumed if it does not notify the licensee that it objects within 90
days from the date of the written notice. The licensee may not transfer any client files or
records to the successor licensee until either the client’s consent is obtained or the time
indicated in the licensee’s written notice has lapsed without any objection from the
client, whichever is shorter. The licensee is required to retain a copy of the written
notice and any document reflecting the client’s consent or objection to the transfer. The
written notice and any document reflecting a client’s consent or objection to the transfer
of the client’s files shall be retained for not less than seven years from the sale or
transfer of the licensee’s practice;
(b) if a client objects to the transfer of their files or records to the successor licensee, the
licensee shall return the client’s records promptly or as agreed upon with the client; and,
(c) with respect to files or records not subject to the sale or transfer, a licensee shall
return the client’s files or records promptly or as agreed upon with the client.
(d) If the licensee is unable to contact a client, that client’s files or records, if not
transferred or returned, shall be retained by the licensee for a period of not less than
seven years from the date of sale or transfer of the licensee’s practice. After the sevenyear retention period required by this subdivision, the licensee shall dispose of or
arrange for the disposal of client records that are no longer to be retained by the
licensee by shredding, erasing, or otherwise modifying the personal information in those
records to make it unreadable or undecipherable through any means.
NOTE: Authority cited: Sections 5010, 5018 and 5063.3, Business and Professions
Code. Reference: Sections 5018 and 5063.3, Business and Professions Code, Section
1798.81, Civil Code.
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§ 54.4. Discontinuance of Licensee’s Practice.
(a) In the case of a discontinuance of a licensee’s practice without a sale or transfer of
the practice to a successor licensee, a licensee shall send a written notice via first class
mail regarding the discontinuance of the practice to the last known address of each
client. The licensee shall also return the client’s files or records promptly, or as agreed
upon with the client.
(b) If the licensee is unable to contact a client, that client’s files or records shall be
retained for a period of not less than seven years from the date the licensee’s practice
discontinues. After the seven-year retention period required by this Section, the
licensee shall dispose of or arrange for the disposal of client records that are no longer
to be retained by the licensee by shredding, erasing, or otherwise modifying the
personal information in those records to make it unreadable or undecipherable through
any means.
NOTE: Authority cited: Sections 5010, 5018 and 5063.3, Business and Professions
Code. Reference: Sections 5018 and 5063.3, Business and Professions Code, Section
1798.81, Civil Code.
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Attachment 4
The California Board of Accountancy has illustrated changes to the regulatory text in the
following manner: 2017 previously adopted proposed text is underlined; changes to be
considered are noted in double underline and double strikethrough
Proposed CBA Regulations Section 54.3 and 54.4
§ 54.3. Sale or Transfer of Licensee’s Practice.
A licensee that sells or transfers all or part of the licensee’s practice to a successor
licenseeanother person (“successor person”), as defined in section 5035 of the Business
and Professions Code, and will no longer retain any ownership in the practice shall
comply with all of the following:
(a) sSend a written notice regarding the sale or transfer of the practice via first class mail
to the last known address of each client that may beis subject to the sale or transfer. The
notice shall be sent via first-class or certified mail to the last known address of the client,
or via electronic transmission as provided in this section. The notice shall contain, at a
minimum, the following: a request for the client’s consent to transfer that client’s files
orits records to the successor licenseeperson, and a notice that the client’s consent will
be presumed if it does not notify the licensee that it objects within 90 days from the date
of the written notice. The licensee may not transfer any client files or records to the
successor licenseeperson until either the client’s consent is obtained, or the time
indicated in the licensee’s written notice90 days has lapsed without any objection from
the client, whichever is shorter. The licensee is required to retain a copy of the written
notice, and any document reflecting the client’s consent or objection to the transfer. of its
records, in either written or electronic format, The written notice and any document
reflecting a client’s consent or objection to the transfer of the client’s files shall be
retained for not less than sevenfour years from the date of sale or transfer of the
licensee’s practice. Any written or electronic copy of the notice specified in this section,
and any document reflecting the client’s consent or objection shall be a legible,
complete, and accurate reproduction of the original business record;
(b) iIf a client objects to the transfer of their files orits records to the successor
licenseeperson, the licensee shall return theany client’s records promptlywithout delay,
or as agreed upon with the client; and,
(c) wWith respect to client files or records not subject to the sale or transfer, a licensee
shall return theany client’s files or records promptlywithout delay, or as agreed upon with
the client.

(d) If the licensee is unable to contact a client, that client’s files or records, if not shall not
be transferred or returned, and shall be retained by the licensee for a period of not less
than sevenfour years from the date of sale or transfer of the licensee’s practice, or if the
client’s records include audit documentation as defined in section 68.2, for the time
period set by section 68.3, whichever is longer.
(e) After the seven- year retention period required byindicated in this subdivision (d), the
licensee shall dispose of or arrange for the disposal of client records that are no longer
to be retained by the licensee by shredding, erasing, or otherwise modifying the personal
information in those records to make itthe records unreadable or undecipherable through
any means.
(f) For the purposes of this section, “electronic transmission” means the transmission of
a document by electronic means to the electronic mail address at or through which a
client has authorized or consented to such communication method. Proof of such
authorization and consent for electronic transmission shall be demonstrated through a
written confirmation of such agreement from the client. As part of that agreement, at the
time of giving consent to electronic transmission, the client shall provide their electronic
mail address for the purpose of receiving electronic notice or documents from the
licensee.
(g) “Client records” shall have the meaning set forth in section 68 and shall include
working papers as defined in section 68.1 if considered part of the client’s records as
specified by section 68.
NOTE: Authority cited: Sections 5010, 5018 and 5063.3, Business and Professions
Code. Reference: Sections 5018 and 5063.3, Business and Professions Code, Section
1798.81, Civil Code.

§54.4. Discontinuance of Licensee’s Practice.
A licensee that discontinues its practice but does not sell or transfer the practice to
another person (“successor person”), as defined in section 5035 of the Business and
Professions Code, shall comply with all of the following:
(a) In the case of a discontinuance of a licensee’s practice without a sale or transfer of the
practice to a successor licensee, a licensee shall sSend a written notice via first class
mail regarding the discontinuance of the practice to the last known address of each client
as provided in this section. The notice shall be sent via first-class or certified mail to the
last known address of the client, or via electronic transmission as provided in this section.
The notice shall contain, at a minimum, the date of discontinuance of the practice and, if
the licensee maintains any client records, the date and method of delivery or return of any
client records. The licensee shall also return theany client’s files or records,
promptlywithout delay, or as agreed upon with the client. The licensee is not required to
provide notification to former clients.
(b) If the licensee is unable to contact a client, that client’s files or records shall be
retained for a period of not less than sevenfour years from the date the licensee’s practice
discontinues, or if the client’s records include audit documentation as defined in section
68.2, for the time period set by section 68.3, whichever is longer.
(c) After the seven-year retention period required byindicated in this Sectionsubdivision
(b), the licensee shall dispose of or arrange for the disposal of client records that are no
longer to be retained by the licensee by shredding, erasing, or otherwise modifying the
personal information in those records to make itthe records unreadable or undecipherable
through any means.
(d) For the purposes of this section, “electronic transmission” means the transmission of a
document by electronic means to the electronic mail address at or through which a client
has authorized or consented to such communication method. Proof of such authorization
and consent for electronic transmission shall be demonstrated through a written
confirmation of such agreement from the client. As part of that agreement, at the time of
giving consent to electronic transmission, the client shall provide their electronic mail
address for the purpose of receiving electronic notice or documents from the licensee.
(e) “Client records” shall have the meaning set forth in section 68 and shall include
working papers as defined in section 68.1 if considered part of the client’s records as
specified by section 68.
NOTE: Authority cited: Sections 5010, 5018 and 5063.3, Business and Professions Code.
Reference: Sections 5018 and 5063.3, Business and Professions Code, Section 1798.81,
Civil Code.

Attachment 5
The California Board of Accountancy has illustrated changes to the
regulatory text in the following manner: new proposed text to be considered
is underlined
Proposed CBA Regulations Section 54.3 and 54.4
§ 54.3. Sale or Transfer of Licensee’s Practice.
A licensee that sells or transfers all or part of the licensee’s practice to another person
(“successor person”), as defined in section 5035 of the Business and Professions Code,
and will no longer retain any ownership in the practice shall comply with all of the
following:
(a) Send a written notice regarding the sale or transfer of the practice to each client that
is subject to the sale or transfer. The notice shall be sent via first-class or certified mail
to the last known address of the client, or via electronic transmission as provided in this
section. The notice shall contain, at a minimum, the following: a request for the client’s
consent to transfer its records to the successor person, and a notice that the client’s
consent will be presumed if it does not notify the licensee that it objects within 90 days
from the date of the written notice. The licensee may not transfer any client records to
the successor person until either the client’s consent is obtained, or the 90 days has
lapsed without any objection from the client, whichever is shorter. The licensee is
required to retain a copy of the written notice, and any document reflecting the client’s
consent or objection to the transfer of its records, in either written or electronic format,
for not less than four years from the date of sale or transfer of the licensee’s practice.
Any written or electronic copy of the notice specified in this section, and any document
reflecting the client’s consent or objection shall be a legible, complete, and accurate
reproduction of the original business record;
(b) If a client objects to the transfer of its records to the successor person, the licensee
shall return any client records without delay, or as agreed upon with the client; and,
(c) With respect to client records not subject to the sale or transfer, a licensee shall
return any client records without delay, or as agreed upon with the client.
(d) If the licensee is unable to contact a client, that client’s records shall not be
transferred, and shall be retained by the licensee for a period of not less than four years
from the date of sale or transfer of the licensee’s practice, or if the client’s records
include audit documentation as defined in section 68.2, for the time period set by
section 68.3, whichever is longer.
(e) After the retention period indicated in subdivision (d), the licensee shall dispose of or
arrange for the disposal of client records that are no longer to be retained by the

licensee by shredding, erasing, or otherwise modifying the personal information in those
records to make the records unreadable or undecipherable through any means.
(f) For the purposes of this section, “electronic transmission” means the transmission of
a document by electronic means to the electronic mail address at or through which a
client has authorized or consented to such communication method. Proof of such
authorization and consent for electronic transmission shall be demonstrated through a
written confirmation of such agreement from the client. As part of that agreement, at the
time of giving consent to electronic transmission, the client shall provide their electronic
mail address for the purpose of receiving electronic notice or documents from the
licensee.
(g) “Client records” shall have the meaning set forth in section 68 and shall include
working papers as defined in section 68.1 if considered part of the client’s records as
specified by section 68.
NOTE: Authority cited: Sections 5010, 5018 and 5063.3, Business and Professions
Code. Reference: Sections 5018 and 5063.3, Business and Professions Code, Section
1798.81, Civil Code.

§ 54.4. Discontinuance of Licensee’s Practice.
A licensee that discontinues its practice but does not sell or transfer the practice to another
person (“successor person”), as defined in section 5035 of the Business and Professions
Code, shall comply with all of the following:
(a) Send a written notice regarding the discontinuance of the practice to each client as
provided in this section. The notice shall be sent via first-class or certified mail to the last
known address of the client, or via electronic transmission as provided in this section. The
notice shall contain, at a minimum, the date of discontinuance of the practice and, if the
licensee maintains any client records, the date and method of delivery or return of any client
records. The licensee shall also return any client records, without delay, or as agreed upon
with the client. The licensee is not required to provide notification to former clients.
(b) If the licensee is unable to contact a client, that client’s records shall be retained for a
period of not less than four years from the date the licensee’s practice discontinues, or if the
client’s records include audit documentation as defined in section 68.2, for the time period set
by section 68.3, whichever is longer.
(c) After the retention period indicated in subdivision (b), the licensee shall dispose of or
arrange for the disposal of client records that are no longer to be retained by the licensee by
shredding, erasing, or otherwise modifying the personal information in those records to make
the records unreadable or undecipherable through any means.
(d) For the purposes of this section, “electronic transmission” means the transmission of a
document by electronic means to the electronic mail address at or through which a client has
authorized or consented to such communication method. Proof of such authorization and
consent for electronic transmission shall be demonstrated through a written confirmation of
such agreement from the client. As part of that agreement, at the time of giving consent to
electronic transmission, the client shall provide their electronic mail address for the purpose
of receiving electronic notice or documents from the licensee.
(e) “Client records” shall have the meaning set forth in section 68 and shall include working
papers as defined in section 68.1 if considered part of the client’s records as specified by
section 68.
NOTE: Authority cited: Sections 5010, 5018 and 5063.3, Business and Professions Code.
Reference: Sections 5018 and 5063.3, Business and Professions Code, Section 1798.81,
Civil Code.

